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Note to non-Australian readers:

ANZAC: Australia and New Zealand Army Corps, World War 1
contingent.

ANZAC Day: 25 April. A national holiday to commemorate ANZAC
troops landing in Gallipoli, Turkey in 1915.

Argyle diamond: from Western Australia’s Argyle diamond
mine.

Cuddle: hug, also colloquial for sexual intercourse.

CWA: Country Women’s Association.

Fair dinkum: colloquial for genuine, real, ‘I kid you not’.

Flat: apartment.

Franger: colloquial for condom.

Digger: colloquial for soldier.

RSL: Returned and Services League, serves the interest of
members, veterans, ex-service community and members of the
Australian Defence Force.

Stubby: beer, Australian beer bottle shape.

TAB: Totalisator Agency Board, betting organisation.

 

 

Wherefore Love’s Shadow?

 

Chapter 1

 

He was now further than ever from having what he wanted most in
life: someone to love and someone to love him. He had found love a
fickle bitch, so very different from what he had imagined. Love
remained out of reach like someone’s desperate grasping at leaves
in a wind gust. He had been a tumbleweed on the highways and byways
of sex with disillusionment as a destination. He was always a step
behind love, incomplete without that special someone. He was alone
and lonely. There is no true love for me, he had decided long ago.
Only a shadow of love. Fake love, the whore’s moaning in sham
ecstasy. Wherefore love’s shadow? Why not the real thing?

 

He had believed himself to be a good and decent man who deserved
love. He had never expected a great love, the grande affair, the
unforgettable one or the lightning bolt of love at first sight. He
yearned for the real thing and if it didn't come his way, then at
least someone to walk joyfully and contentedly beside him on a
sunlit path to happiness. Not for always; just for a long while but
long enough to replace emptiness with a love to remember. Her
affection and tenderness would make his despair but a mere memory.
Surely that wasn’t asking the universe for too much? He knew the
sinister side of love and had experienced what lurked in the
shadows. He was done with betrayal, deceit, lust and shallow casual
encounters. Wherefore love’s shadow? Maybe he had to suffer love’s
imitation so as to recognize the real thing when it touched
him?

***

 

Certainly no love to be found here, not here in his lonely
island sanctuary. This picture post card paradise, at first a safe
retreat from a violent past, had become a prison. He ached for
nothing more than a shadow to merge with his own in a tender
embrace. He would be happy even with less right now. He would be
overjoyed just see a shadow other than his own. Someone to share
his pain.

And then this nasty complication: this boy, now man from a long
forgotten encounter, had caught up with him and with an awful
vengeance. He had not seen it coming and he blamed none but
himself. He had meant well at the time but others had
disagreed.

Safe. You are safe now, he assured himself. Safe at home where
he belonged with the security his isolation accorded him. He had
spent the previous two nights and a day and a half in the Sydney
General Hospital after a brutal assault, a payback for a dutiful
act on his part years earlier.

 

Right now, even the slightest pressure on his spine hurt like
hell. He hugged the pillow because he couldn’t lie on his back.
Three codeine forte painkillers and two valiums would soon see him
through the night and give him painless and the dreamless sleep he
wished. Until then, concentrating on the injuries and focusing on
the pain itself took the edge off it. He would feel better in the
morning. Rain drummed softly on the tin roof and helped him drift
into sleep. He was chasing shadows and dream shadows hunted him.
They were shadows from a violent past and none looked like the
shadows he would welcome.

At daybreak, the sound of wind rushing through the surrounding
bush was too soft to bother him. He only woke when a cool breeze
blew the mustiness of damp earth through wooden shutters and made
him shiver under a thin blanket. A noisy bird chorus greeted the
rising sun that cast blurred shadows on the opposite wall. Bloody
birds. This was the first morning back in his safe haven, a
Whitsunday island in Australia’s Great Barrier Reef to where he had
returned to rest and to heal body and mind.

The seagrass matting near the bed looked sodden. The water stain
in the corner had spread, a reminder that he still had not repaired
the leaking roof after the last storm. Or the one before that. It
had always leaked. Let it for now. He’d definitely have to mend it
before next cyclone season.

Wind from the North-East brought drizzle, then light rain and a
gently rolling surf. But there wouldn’t be a morning swim this
day-not for a while. Small compensation: he wouldn’t have to set up
the stinger net for a few weeks. He lay still for as long as he
could and ignored a full bladder. Rolling over to his left brought
instant pain. He breathed in sharply through clenched teeth and
rose slowly, carefully taking his weight on the right arm and sat
on the edge of the bed already short of breath. Moving about with
four cracked ribs and a bruised spine hurt as did every breath. The
thought of returning to Sydney was as painful as the throbbing in
his side. He had unfinished business there and elsewhere, urgent
business. He switched on the satellite phone for he had to be on
call. A few days rest, then a return and dealing with the
unpredictable events his actions had triggered.

 

His present troubles, like other assignments, had started with a
phone call.

“Get your arse down here!” An all too familiar voice had
ordered. Harsh, like a shovel scraping on concrete.

He knew how to needle the caller. “Yes, sir!”

“Don’t call me sir!”

The caller then asked about the fishing and he as usual, issued
an invitation to come up and find out.

“Hate Queensland sun. See you, Will”.

“Bye, Kel.”

 

Down here was Sydney, Australia and the year 2005. The caller,
Kelvin Arthur Gillespie was a powerful and wealthy man. Will Parker
was his highly paid security man, his minder. Whatever resources he
needed to get a job done, Gillespie provided them. He never
questioned expenses and didn’t want to know how Parker came by the
results. Whatever it took. Gillespie had his unquestioned trust,
loyalty and a commitment that had grown strong over the years. The
current assignment was very different. Gillespie was in serious
trouble. Doing the man’s bidding this time had been tricky and the
dangers, with vast sums of money and lives at risk, were all too
real. There was a nagging doubt in Parker’s mind. Was he supping
with the devil? With much too short a silver spoon?

 

Both men called Sydney home, but had little else in common.
Gillespie’s upbringing, so it was said, had been one of privilege
whereas Parker had grown up in a Sydney working-class suburb. His
name then had been Will Pearson. He had scraped through High School
and much to his parents relief, qualified for the New South Wales
Police Force. There was none prouder than his parents who came to
see him graduate.

“Doesn’t he look smart and dashing,” his mother announced to no
one in particular.

“Which one is your son?” someone asked. She pointed to a tall,
athletic recruit.

“The one with the broad shoulders.”

The formal graduation photograph took pride of place on the
mantelpiece. It showed a handsome, tanned face with a finely
chiselled nose, hazel eyes and a strong chin.

“He is the spitting image of your father,” Mrs. Pearson declared
and her husband agreed.

“It’s nice to see him following in his footsteps. He was a good
cop.”

 

Pearson served his probationary year in Dubbo, New South Wales
but country life was not for him and he was glad to get back to
Sydney, away from a predatory landlady who had stolen his
innocence. The first week on the job in Darlinghurst ended with
free drinks with another newly transferred constable and superior
officers. Senior Sergeant David Murray beckoned him aside.

“Your share for the week, Willie boy,” he said and thrust an
envelope into Pearson’s hip pocket. Pearson handed it back with a
sheepish grin. ”I don’t need this.”

He stood uncertain, alone and apart. When he tried to rejoin the
group, stupid idiot comments made it clear that he was on the outer
already. Police corruption was real whether he ignored it or not.
Like it or not, he knew that sooner or later he would have to make
more moral choices. After a month on the job, he knew whom to
trust, who was on the take and how to keep out of trouble, which
was much harder than he ever imagined.

Drug use and dealing was rampant but as an ordinary copper
walking the beat, he couldn’t really do much about that. He knew
that his friend James Ng was a regular cannabis smoker. Pearson had
re-established a friendship with the Ng family, Vietnamese boat
people and saw them often, now that he was back in the
neighbourhood. He had warned James that the drug squad would soon
make a special effort to arrest a few street pushers who came too
much to the public’s attention.

Prostitution likewise was none of his business and he ignored
the working girls, disgusted by their trade and habits. If he
ignored them, they wouldn’t.

“Tell him, Chantel,” one of them said.

“We know what we are and we don’t need you to remind us. Every
day,” Chantel spat the words at him with venom as she walked
towards him.

“It’s money for services rendered,” she insisted. “Better than a
bent cop.”

“I’m not on the take.” Pearson’s protest made the girls
laugh.

“Yeah, right!” said Chantel: “Lilywhite. Fuck off!”

She returned to her doorway, lit a cigarette and chin high,
looked up and down the footpath for customers.

He hadn’t sought such aggravation and certainly didn’t need
pointless confrontation. He put on a polite face. “How are you,
Chantel,” Pearson greeted her next time and walked on. Over coming
days, he nodded at the others one by one, stopped and questioned
unfamiliar faces especially when they looked too young. Pearson saw
many come and go.

First thing, it was on a Wednesday, the duty sergeant called
them together, clipboard in hand. On a day other than a Monday,
this was bad news. He cleared his throat and straightened his tie.
This was going to be really bad. He read from his clipboard:

“Senior Constable Jackson was killed in a traffic accident late
last night.”

There was a hubbub of mild cursing and mumbled outburst. Some
turned and spoke quietly to their mates. There was more.

“Constable Emery was also in the car and is listed as critical
after the high speed pursuit crash.”

He let them sit in stunned silence for a moment.

“I’m sorry to have to do this. But work must go on. I need two
volunteers to do late doubles.”

No one volunteered, not even when he offered half a day off and
a $20 cab fare to attend the funeral.

“No one? OK. Constables Pearson and Clarke please report to
Detective Turner at 20.00.”

 

It could have been me! The raw, ugly realities of the downside
of a policemen’s life twisted Pearson’s guts. He felt numb and
walked his beat aimlessly. He didn’t care about double parked cars
and stepped over two early morning drunks. He ignored “Coffee
officer?” and walked eyes cast down past the girls, found a vacant
park bench and shut his eyes. Doubts about his life had snuck up on
him recently. He was an honest cop but the public did not care or
respect him for that. He only mattered when people were in trouble.
Clearing up other people’s mess, that’s what police are for, he
concluded. And getting killed chasing joyriders! He didn’t look
forward to doing a late double to make up the numbers in Detective
Turner’s rotten drug squad. A new experience for little extra pay
he didn't need and no thanks for an often violent job.

 

Around midnight, they smashed into a second floor flat where
three men sat at a kitchen table measuring out doses and counting a
pile of cash. James Ng was one of them. Had he not warned him?
Stupid! James didn’t acknowledge him and avoided eye contact. Two
detectives had him face the wall, about to frisk him when James
spun around, karate chopped one in the throat and darted through
the kitchen into the hallway and out the open front door. Pearson
ran after him and saw James sidestep a constable guarding the door,
trip and tumble head first down the concrete stairs.

Pearson ran to comfort his friend. James had come to rest face
down on the landing, still conscious. When he turned his head,
Pearson saw James’s broken and bleeding nose and glazed over eyes.
Pearson helped him sit up and pressed a handkerchief over his nose
to still the blood flow.

“Ah, that’s kind of you, Constable,” said Turner. “And so
unnecessary.” He scruffed James by the neck and pulled him
upright.

“What’s this then. A knife?” Turner said taking one out of
James’s pocket.

“You don’t need this where you’re going. Get downstairs.”

James took a step forward. Turner kicked him viciously in the
back and James toppled. His face hit the concrete steps halfway
down and bounced twice.

“Bring him up,” Turner ordered. “By the legs.”

Pearson watched in horror as two officers pulled James up the
stairs. Like a rag doll, his head bobbed at every step and left a
bloody trail. Blood flowing from his ears, nose and mouth formed a
crimson puddle. They pulled him to a standing position and shoved
him down the stairs again. Pearson gagged, just made the toilet and
threw up.

The others were busy counting the money. Turner pocketed half
and sealed the remainder in an evidence bag. Pearson had turned a
blind eye to payoffs but was aghast when sachets of heroin were
similarly divided. Turner rang for an ambulance.

Back at the station, the detective split up the take between
members of the raiding party and kept a bundle for himself. Half
the heroin became evidence and Pearson could only guess as to the
destination of the remainder. Glad to be ignored and no longer
needed, he went home and drank until he passed out. He woke around
noon and rang the station to say that he would not be in for the
rest of the week.

“You better bring a medical certificate!”

“Get stuffed.”

 

Richard Jackson stood with his mother at his brother’s grave.
Pearson was shocked at his colleague’s appearance. Richard had gone
completely bald and his face had deep lines that hadn’t been there
at the start of the week. Poor Richard.

“He’s taking it very badly,” a bystander felt obliged to
explain. Pearson had seen such a rapid deterioration before. His
Uncle Bert’s hair had turned grey overnight at the news of his son
killed in action in Vietnam. That was the closest Pearson had come
to personal grief. And now a colleague’s death.

 

He stood in front of his bathroom mirror and didn’t like the
reflection. He was 19 and looked ten years older. If a year had
done this to him, he’d look like an old man at 30. No grey hairs
yet but time to get a haircut. There was a small patch on his chin
without whiskers. Nothing to be concerned about. But there was, at
far as Gino, the barber was concerned.

“I don’t want you to worry,” he said.

“That’s a stupid thing to say. Now I am worried,” Pearson
snapped.

“You have a small patch of alopecia in your scalp.”

“What’s that?”

“Your hair falling out. And you have alopecia on your chin
too.”

“What causes that?” Pearson wondered.

Gino ignored the question and kept on clicking his scissors.

“Didn’t you hear?”

“Yes, I heard. Many things. Stress can cause it. Don’t worry
about it. Worry makes it worse.”

“Thank you, Doctor Gino.”

 

James Ng had gone into a coma during the night the flat was
raided, never regained consciousness and died three days later.
Pearson attended the funeral service but was too ashamed to face
his mate’s parents. Their younger son Ian fronted him in the
funeral parlour car park.

“You knew him didn’t you?”

“Yes. From school,” Parker replied.

“You’re a liar. You played 8 ball with him last week. I saw you
at basketball too,” Ian contradicted and looked Pearson in the
eye.

”Where you there when he was busted?”

“No.”

“Liar. You’re fucking scum,” Ian shouted and spat at him.

“You were his mate and you let them kill him.”

Ian’s parents intervened. Mrs. Ng spoke to Ian and he calmed
down. She spoke in Vietnamese and the son translated.

“My mum says you are as bad as all the other corrupt police. You
are to blame.”

“I’m not corrupt. Please, Mrs. Ng, believe me. I tried to help,
but it was too late. I’m not corrupt. I’m just a constable. There
is nothing I can do that would make the slightest difference to
what goes on,” Pearson protested.

Mrs. Ng understood what he had said and asked her son to
translate again. “Mum says it’s better to light a candle than to
curse the darkness. And I’m telling you, if you come near us again,
I’ll kill you. Cuntstable.”

 

There he stood, hated and tarnished by the brush of corruption.
He was deeply ashamed of serving with officers on the take and
bitter about the Ng family not understanding. He hated the drug
squad with a vengeance and despaired at not finding a way to pay
them back. He didn’t want to resign. That would be an admission of
defeat. He didn’t want to continue, especially not at Kings Cross
where, in the public’s eye, all officers were corrupt. The sergeant
laughed him out of his office and tore up Pearson’s transfer
request.

 

Thoughts and plans to avenge his friend’s death took hold.
Imagining ways of punishing Turner for killing James and how to
even the score preoccupied him much of the time. So much so that
his parents worried at the change in his personality. He no longer
stopped by Friday nights and his father went to the football alone.
He forgot his mother’s birthday. The face of the smiling recruit on
the mantelpiece now bore only a distant resemblance to their son.
Recent events of which they knew little, for he would not talk
about them, had carved deep lines in their son’s face. A worry
frown and a jaw set in anger spoke of bitterness in his heart.

At the station, those who didn’t know him well didn’t care and
those who did, withdrew when he snapped at them. Pearson went to
see the Police Association representative for help but the reaction
was icy and indifferent. He was entitled to advice on industrial
matters, legal assistance, representation at disciplinary hearings
and promotional appeals.

“Beyond that, if you know what I mean, sorry.”

“Get fucked, all of you!”

His sergeant disciplined him formally when his mates complained
about being let down by his frequent absences and uncooperative
manner. A doctor thankfully put him on three weeks stress leave and
recommended a counsellor who didn’t want to know as soon as Pearson
mentioned corruption. Fuck you too!

Pearson bypassed his sergeant and sought an appointment with the
inspector. A dressing down, a reminder of procedures to be followed
and lines of communication to be observed, was what he got for his
troubles and the run-around now wherever he went. The sergeant put
him on night patrol. Things went much better, at least until the
night when Pearson made up the numbers in a brothel raid. Those
hapless patrons, who did not have $100 cash or did not want to
explain why they had to make a withdrawal from a Kings Cross ATM,
had their names taken. Many paid up as did the brothel manager. The
combined take was $5,300 and Pearson was offered none of it. The
sergeant was busy the next day receiving visitors whose names, for
a consideration, would go unmentioned. There was no escaping
corruption and the working girls delighted to remind him.

 

“Hey look, here comes Constable Lilywhite!” one of the
prostitutes called out.

“Sourpuss. He does look down at the mouth!” Chantel agreed and
with hands on hips, stopped Pearson from walking on.

“Didn’t you get your share last night?”

Pearson didn’t bite.

“Grumble bum. What’s the matter? You need a good root, that’s
what you need copper.” Chantel poked her fingers into his
chest.

“Fuck off, you old tart,” Pearson retaliated, much angrier than
intended.

“How much did youse make last night?” she demanded to know.

“Nothing.”

“Nothun! Bullshit! I heard youse took five grand.”

“Don’t know. Don’t care,” Pearson said.

“I think he’s depressed,” was Samantha’s verdict. “Has been for
a while,” and cupping her breasts, walked up to him and
whispered:

“Give you a freebie, Constable.”

“No thanks, Sam. That’s not what I need.”

 

Pearson had no need for sex, or love or affection. Paid for or
otherwise, he simply was not in the mood for female company and had
not been on a date for more than six months. And that had been a
blind date. Women did not interest him or rather it was the other
way round, he had come to realize. Women were not attracted to this
young constable, not in his present state anyway. Pearson dismissed
the idea of marrying a nurse as a hopelessly romantic illusion.
Romance and marriage would have to wait. It was not for him and
wouldn’t last anyway. Sour grapes, perhaps? Life was complicated
enough as it was.

 

Quite unexpectedly, help came in a phone call one Saturday
afternoon.

“A friend says I might be of use in certain matters.”

“Ah, yeah. And who might you be?”

“A retired inspector. I’ll wait downstairs while you make up
your mind.”

“You might as well come up.”

 

Pearson shook his hand. “What would you be doing if you weren’t
here?” Pearson wanted to know.

“Call me Angus. I’d be at the pub with your dad,” he
replied.

“Is that so,” Parker said and laughed, the first time in
weeks.

“What’s troubling you, son?”

“In a word, corruption. A friend paid with his life because of
it. I joined to do good. I want to be respected by the public. I
want to maintain self-respect too. Cops make thousands shaking
people down and even more from the drug trade. I don’t know whether
to stay and take it, or fight or just quit,” Pearson revealed.

“You have few options. Just keep asking for a transfer. You
might get a station that deserves you. Then again, you might be
unlucky and worse off.”

“That’s why I stopped asking. It means the drug squad gets away
with murder.”

“A death in custody?”

“After an arrest. A mate showed me the report.”

“No joy there?”

“None at all,” Pearson replied. “Accidental death. All cut and
dried.”

“If you try to fight corruption from the inside and on the
quiet, you will fail. Word will get out and no one will talk to
you. If you persist, they’ll give you a hard time. You’ll get
threats and then if you don’t back off, you’ll get beaten up.”

“Or worse?”

“Yes. Don’t go that way, Will. Or resigning and becoming a
whistleblower. You’ll end up disillusioned and bitter.”

 “Tell me Angus, what did you do?”

“I was lucky. I worked my way up in a station and helped clean
out the stable. It took years.”

“What would you do, if you were in my shoes?”

“Stay. Face it: there will always be greed and corruption. And
there are always opposing forces. It’s a question of balance and
timing. When corruption becomes intolerable, the stench gets a
government voted out of office. Wait for the wheel to go full
circle. Greed brings its own destruction. The more they have, the
more they want, the more chances they’ll take. That’s how they get
undone.”

“I take your point about staying and waiting.”

“It’s a question of when, not if,” Angus suggested.

“Precisely. Circumstances, timing, patience, opportunity. I feel
better already.”

“I wish you luck,” Angus said. “Got anything wet in your
fridge?”

 

Pearson felt better about himself and the world, much to his
parents’ relief. He had lit a candle and no longer cursed the
darkness and ongoing evil around him. Sergeant Murray was happy too
when the transfer requests stopped. In return, he promised to keep
Pearson off vice and drug squad raids.

“It won’t sit well with them. They like you. You know that?” the
sergeant complained.

“Yeah,” Pearson nodded. “Because they get my share.”

“Shut up about that! Now, I’m assigning you to a gaming squad
raid.”

“Fair go, sergeant,” Pearson grumbled. “I don’t want to go!
Don’t make me, please.”

“Too late. I’ll be there too. There’s a bit of overtime, Willie
boy,” Murray  promised.

“Alright then. When?”

“Next Tuesday.”

“On a public holiday?”

“So?”

Pearson shrugged his shoulders. “As long as it’s the last
time!”

“Promise. Meet me at the Penrith RSL car park, 12 o’clock. Wear
something casual.”

 

Pearson sat with his sergeant in an unmarked car near the back
door of the RSL Club.

“Where is the rest of the squad?” Pearson wanted to know.

“Somewhere in the car park.” Murray looked at his watch for the
tenth time and got out of the car for a smoke.

 

“So what are we waiting for?”

“Won’t be long. Here they come,” the sergeant said. “Let’s
go.”

They strolled over to a group of men standing in a circle and
mingled.

“Just watch,” the sergeant cautioned. “Act natural. Can you see
any of the squad?”

“Sorry. Can’t see anyone I know,” Pearson replied.

“I’ll the back in a minute,” Murray replied. He spoke to a man
in the crowd and returned with a big smile.

“Well, Willie  boy, this is your day. Considering this is
your first raid, you’ve been authorised too make the arrests. How
do you like that?”

“I don’t mind.”

“Let money change hands a few times, then pounce on the man
spinning the coins. The fellow I was talking to, will give you the
nod.”

“He’s one of ours?”

 

Pearson worked his way to the centre as the call went out:

“Come in spinner!”

He watched the man toss two coins and everyone rushed towards
the coins, heads bowed and watched them land. “Heads!” the spinner
declared and people paid out and collected their bets. After 25
spins, Pearson got the nod, walked over and held the new spinner by
the shoulder.

 “Police! You are all under arrest!” he announced
loudly.

The reaction was not what he expected. Not resistance or
protest, but howls of laughter.

“It’s ANZAC Day you idiot!” someone shouted in the crowd.

ANZAC Day? What about ANZAC Day?

“Come here,” the spinner whispered. “It’s legal to play Swy on
ANZAC Day.”

“Swy? What’s Swy?”

“Two-up. The World War I diggers called it Swy. It’s from the
German number zwei, meaning two. Two coins,” the spinner
explained.

“Sure made a fool of myself,” Pearson mumbled.

“No harm done,” the spinner replied, laughed and whispered a
suggestion.

 

The old-timers continued their gambling on coin tosses. They had
seen Murray play the same trick many times. When they wound up the
school, Pearson pounced again.

“Righto! I’m arresting youse all. You are going to gaol,
directly to jail. Do not pass go. Do you want to stop at the bar on
the way?” Pearson shouted and everybody laughed and adjourned.

 

The sergeant smiled and Pearson’s grimaced.

“Very funny, Sergeant.” Pearson emptied his glass and pointed at
it. “Your shout.”

“My pleasure.”

“What shall we drink to?”

“Crime and punishment,” Pearson replied.

“You’re too fucking serious,” Murray snapped. “Lighten up!”

 

 

Pearson’s patience was rewarded when the NSW State Government
announced the establishment of a Police Integrity Commission in
response to the latest inquiry into police corruption. The new
commissioner promised to ‘get it right this time’ and to ‘get rid
of the rotten apples in the barrel.’ Pearson took up the
commissioner’s invitation to inform on corrupt officers. There was
no response to his phone call for more than a week. Was he getting
the run around again?

The weather didn’t look all that promising but he still went for
a jog to start the week. He was soaked by the time he turned the
first corner. He ran through the park, walked cautiously down the
slippery stone steps and ran along the foreshore. On the way home,
he paused at the top of the steps as usual, to catch his breath. He
heard the footfall of a runner but took no notice until he heard a
voice.

“Police. Follow me.” She let him catch up and once by her side,
said: “I’m Debbie. There is a parcel in your rubbish bin. Stay
back.”

She quickened her pace and Pearson couldn’t help but admire her
fitness and style. He turned into the park while she continued on
the footpath, crossed the road and disappeared. He ran home,
quickly dried himself and took a bag of rubbish downstairs. There
was an unusual model mobile phone in the parcel and a handwritten
note, ‘Switch it on now’. The mobile phone rang while he was having
breakfast.

“Hi. It’s me, Debbie. Look out the window. Third-floor, second
window from your left.” Pearson saw a curtain being pulled back and
Debbie waving to him.

“Hi, Debbie. What now?”

Debbie’s voice was serious:

”Listen carefully. We have checked you out. You are clean. I’m
Federal Police and I will be running you from now on if you are
certain that you want to go ahead. You’ll be protected but I must
tell you there are no guarantees.”

“AFP? Why the Federal Police in a State Commission?”

“It’s an extra safeguard to satisfy those who believe that the
NSW Police Force should not investigate itself.”

 “Fair enough. Count me in, Debbie. I’m sick of the
bastards.”

“Good,” Debbie replied: “We’ll talk mostly by mobile. Yours
looks like an ordinary mobile but isn’t. For your safety, it
doesn’t record numbers dialled or the calls coming in. All calls to
and from it, go through our own network. We record all your
calls.”

Pearson listened in amazement as Debbie explained that in
stand-by mode, the mobile worked like an ordinary telephone. When
switched off, it picked up and automatically transmitted voices
within earshot for recording. Pearson liked the final safeguard
Debbie’s phone offered. It had a tiny charge that would cause its
electronics to fuse when the battery compartment was opened.

“We know where you are even after you switch off the phone. It
has an inbuilt radio beacon that transmits constantly. This is
important: the hash key is your panic button. When you press it
once, it sends out an alert meaning you want us to listen in
real-time. Press it twice if you want a meeting. When you are in
extreme danger, press it three times. We’re never more than two
minutes away.” Debbie ended the call with a request. “Keep this
evening free. I will call you later to tell you where to meet
me.”

 

They waved goodbye and Debbie drew the curtains. It was a signal
that all was well. Half drawn signified caution.

“Curtains fully open means extreme danger. Get out,” she had
warned.

 

I’m a dog now. There’s nothing lower than a dog. He had turned
informer, a man more hated and despised than any other in the
force. He couldn’t live with himself otherwise. He had also
unknowingly charted the journey for his remaining days. It was
going to be a wild ride on an unfamiliar road with incredible,
explosive and unforeseen consequences.

 

He left the flat at seven and as instructed, waited on the
footpath. A taxi drew up with, much to Pearson’s surprise, Debbie
the driver.

“You are an amazing woman. Is there no end to your talents?”

She wasn’t into flirting and they spent the next half hour
discussing ways and means of Pearson become a corrupt cop.
Entrapment was Debbie’s idea. The plan called for him to start off
small, gradually becoming more important to his station by
contributing to the brotherhood’s revenue stream. Ultimately, if
things went their way, he would become indispensable to the point
where he could direct much of the illegal trade and amass evidence
for the task force.

He had to become better at corruption than the brotherhood. He
would have to find opportunities for the drug squad to extort
money, new ways of offering protection, new standover tactics and
novel ways of relieving drug dealers of their stock and selling it
back to them. He would create money-making opportunities from leads
given to him by the task force and the Australian Federal Police
with Debbie busy all the while collecting evidence.

Pearson returned to the dayshift and went back on the beat. In
an odd way, he looked forward to seeing the girls. Samantha was
there.

“Where have you been? You been sick or what?”

“I’ve been away. Night shift”, Pearson explained.

“It’s done you good. You look younger. How old are you? You
getting enough?” Samantha asked with cheek and went on: “Got a new
girlfriend? She hot?”

“No, Sam. That’s not it. I’ve had personal issues.”

“I meant what I said about the freebie. Whenever you like,”
Samantha reminded him, her tongue darting between parted lips.
Pearson ignored the offer.

“Don’t see Chantel. She still around?”

“She overdosed,” Samantha said and sniffed up a few tears.

“I’m really sorry to hear that.”

Pearson walked away. He didn’t want Sam to see how much he
really cared.

 

No opportunities came Pearson’s way to demand a share of
anything. So, at the end of the second week back on the job, he
sought out Sergeant Murray who was drinking with the regulars. They
ignored him. He followed Murray into the toilet and in a flippant
tone, as best he could, asked:

“What does a constable have to do around here to get
promoted?”

The sergeant looked at him askance.

“You short of money?”

“Not at the moment. But I want to get married one day, but not
on a constable’s wages.”

“You should have thought of that earlier,” the sergeant remarked
and rejoined the others at the bar. Pearson let the matter rest
there. He had baited the book. Be patient.

 

Pearson was getting annoyed and frustrated when he had nothing
to tell Debbie after a fortnight. Then he had a small success.
Someone had slipped $50 into his locker! This was a tiny share of
the overall weekly take but progress nevertheless. There had to be
a way of becoming more important so as to gain their trust.

After weeks of frustration, an opportunity came his way. The NSW
Government announced it intended to intensify the war on drugs. The
Darlinghurst precinct too had to become more effective in getting
drugs off the streets. This meant more work for everybody and the
more successful they were, the less they made. The immediate effect
was a reduction in everybody’s cut as drug-trafficking diminished.
Pearson’s little bonus dried up. Word got round that the drug squad
wanted to let the whole thing blow over. Detective Turner’s plan
was ridiculed. Pearson saw an opening and had an idea. Debbie
submitted Pearson’s proposal, which was as simple as it was
ingenious. The task force liked it and gave the go ahead.

 

Pearson asked Murray to arrange a meeting with the drug squad
detective. The sergeant wanted to know more but Pearson did not
budge, saying only that it was important.

“This better be good!” Murray snapped as they sat down in the
pub’s beer garden.

“Don’t fuck with me,” Turner threatened but listened with
growing interest to Pearson’s proposal and agreed. “Clever
boy.”

 

Pearson’s proposal called for dealers to be arrested and where
needed, to plant trafficable quantities on them to increase the
conviction rate. Turner made out that the idea was his own, but
Pearson got the behind the scenes credit. The Police Commissioner
was pleased with the quick results and the Minister for Police
spoke highly of the station’s efforts to rid society of drug.

The next phase of Pearson’s plan made it known that new dealers
could establish themselves to replace those arrested. Within a
week, there were three new dealers who, on paying a one-off $50,000
concession each, had the green light to sell their own and the drug
squad’s stockpiled heroin. They station was back in the money. Ten
cannabis licences were snapped up for $10,000 each. Amphetamine
dealerships came at low $2,000 promotion specials. Ten dealers took
up the offer and Pearson collected a $5,000 bonus. Those officers
on the take treated him with much increased respect and he decided
to push harder.

He called at the drug squad offices and walked in on Turner
unannounced, mobile phone in hand to provoke him. He sat down and
demanded:

” My weekly cut goes from $50 to $500.”

“Switch off that frigging phone.”

“It’s off, Derek,” Pearson said and put it in his pocket.

”How can you afford a nice phone like that?” Turner asked. “On
your pay?”

“Don’t change the subject. I’m not asking for a raise. Derek,
I’m telling you.” Pearson stared him down.

“That’s Sergeant Turner to you, Constable.” The detective’s face
turned crimson.

“Not in here, Derek. We’re making more money than ever and there
is plenty more to be had.” Pearson wasn’t backing down. “I’ll be
earning my keep.”

That’s more than I can say about myself, Turner felt like
saying. Pearson’s scheme had put him back in the good books with
his inspector, Colin Denison, who was doubly pleased with recent
arrests and having his cut restored.

“OK, $500 it is. Now you can afford the mobile.”

“The phone cost me nothing. It was a gift,” Pearson said. “I’ve
got a spare if you want one.”

“Don’t do me any favours, Constable,” Turner replied.

Pearson wasn’t intimidated: “Suit yourself.”

 

He rose without being dismissed, paused in the doorway and
looked back at the sergeant. He shut the door, walked back and bent
forward with straight arms resting on the sergeant’s desk.

“You’re stuffed without me and you know it. I’ve got ideas and
you know they’ll work. You and I are going for a drive in the
morning. I’ll bring your new mobile, Sergeant. Sir.”

Pearson was right, Turner had to admit. His new woman was
costing him a bundle in their one-bedroom love nest. What he made
on the side paid for the rent, the food and a few presents to keep
her sweet. But if he was going to retire on the coast, he needed
money and lots of it.

 

 Pearson drove the unmarked car, with Murray and Turner in
the back to Bondi beach to watch the surf and talk. He put to the
detective the proposition that only a few of the arrested dealers
should be convicted. Understandably, the police could argue, with
the extra workload there had been errors and some of the evidence
would not stand up in court. Pearson suggested that for a fee,
physical evidence could get lost and statements doctored. Murray
looked at Turner. “Worth giving a go, don’t you think?”

Turner nodded in agreement.

Pearson started the car and said: “It’s my idea. I’m entitled to
know precisely who’s going to avoid conviction and what they paid
for the privilege. I don’t want to be diddled. We’ll cut it three
ways only.”

 

The two sergeants look to each other and said as one: “Can’t be
done.”

“Leave it to me, Derek. I’ll have to explain to Willie boy how
it works.”

“Only as much as he needs to know. How do you like my new
mobile?” Turner showed him his new gadget.

“It’s a little beauty. It doesn’t record dialled numbers and
incoming calls don’t register either. No one knows who’s talked to
whom,” Turner explained with satisfaction. “No bills to pay either.
Nice and safe. You’ve got one for your Sergeant, haven’t you,
Willie?”

 

Frightening and productive. That’s how Debbie assessed the
contacts the two sergeants cultivated. She didn’t tell Pearson that
Turner’s calls revealed a secret meeting room which was
subsequently bugged. His corrupt network included his own
inspector, officers in the vice squad, a magistrate and two
barristers. He had regular contact with six dealers. The task force
had names for all his callers and their hands full keeping tabs on
them. Turner had contact with three others who used disposable
mobiles to contact him. Because Turner used only first names, their
identity remained a mystery.

The task force had a sizeable list of Murray’s contacts also.
Taped conversations revealed his connection with Turner. Murray had
a flat from which his young lover distributed drugs to street
dealers. He was a barman at the hotel where most of the
Darlinghurst police officers drank.

 

Pearson pressed Debbie for names and wanted to know just how far
the investigation had penetrated the corrupt circle.

“I can’t disclose names. It’s for your protection. Prevents
slip-ups. But I can tell you this: we’ve moved up the ladder.”

“How far?”

“Inspector and that’s where we are stuck for the moment. He is
super cautions and uses different public phones to contact people
we dearly want to identify. We can tell that he is calling mobile
phones from the number of coins used.”

“Not much point then in giving him one of your mobile phones,”
Pearson commented.

“He wouldn’t go for that anyway. We need to find a way of taping
his calls from public phones.”

“It must be bloody inconvenient to carry that much change. Why
doesn’t he use prepaid phone cards?” Pearson wondered.

“That gives me an idea,” Debbie said. “We can doctor a card in
such a way that the call is relayed through our system. We can get
a court order for that.”

“So how do we get him to use the card?” said Pearson stroking
his chin.

They sat in silence in Debbie’s car for a while longer. He
turned and looked at her.

“This is what, the second or third time we’ve met and all I know
about you is your name, that you’re fit and very good at your
job.”

Debbie laughed: “And that’s how it’s going to stay.”

Pearson wasn’t put off: “How come?”

“Because the less you know about me, the safer I am. And what
you don’t know about me can’t be forced out of you.”

She thought for a moment and added: “But I’ll do this much for
you. When all this is over and if you’re ever in deep shit, call
the Australian Federal Police in Canberra. Choose a codeword.”

“Make it Eleanor—it’s my mother’s name.”

“Eleanor it is. Now before we go, the task force wants you to
move up. Try getting assigned to the drug squad. Once you’re there
we’ll raise the stakes to flush out the bigger players.”

 

Debbie dropped Pearson off around the corner from the hotel
where he decided to have a quick drink before going home. This had
been their second face-to-face meet. He still knew nothing about
her personal life. She was average in height, had brown hair or was
it darker than that? She wasn’t exactly thin but then she wasn’t
chubby either. She looked 25 but could be older or younger. She
wore make up or was it a natural tan? She was plain but attractive
at the same time. She was a nameless face in a crowd, nondescript
and anonymous. Ideal qualities for an undercover cop.

 

“Oi! Constable!” Both sergeants and the regulars were there
already, well primed. Most of the officers on the take spent their
extra cash on drinking, gambling and sex. Turner greeted him and
paid the next round.

“To your good health, Constable.”

“To you good health, Inspector.” Pearson replied.

Turner chuckled, turned around, leaned against the bar and
called out:

“The constable here wants a promotion!”

“We’ll drink to that,” a few called out.

“To senior constable,” Sergeant Murray declared. “All
agreed?”

“And transferred to the drug squad!” Pearson said, his cheek
loudly applauded. He stayed and drank with the mob till closing
time.

“We’ll see,” Murray cautioned. “Let’s not be too ambitious.”

 

“You’re in.” The two sergeants agreed that Pearson could best
serve their purpose in the drug squad. Debbie was also pleased. She
explained Pearson’s next move, a dangerous manoeuvre designed to
boost his standing and reputation.

 

Turner opened a hand delivered envelope and read the enclosed
typed note: ‘Pearson is a dog. Watch your back. A friend.’ He
turned pale and went to see Murray.

“If this is true, we’re fucked.”

“Rubbish,” Murray replied. “He is in it too deep to rat on us. I
can trust my judgment. Believe me, he’s no dog.”

“Then what’s the point of dobbing him in. Is it jealousy for the
promotion?” Turner wondered. “Let’s check him out. Just in
case.”

 

The deception had worked. Debbie monitored Turner’s phone call
to Malcolmson, an inspector in the Internal Affairs Department.
Turner couldn’t afford a genuine investigation, as it would draw
unwelcome attention irrespective of the allegation being true or
false. He negotiated a $5,000 fee to have Pearson put under
surveillance immediately for a week. Turner had acted pretty much
as expected, having little choice but to enlist the help of another
corrupt officer. Debbie added Malcolmson to the corrupt list.

She kept him and two others, civilians by the look of them,
under surveillance. They took turns watching Pearson who routinely
went to work and home. On the third day of the surveillance,
Pearson was at the station when Debbie said “go”, the next step in
their deception.

Pearson told the desk he would be doing the rounds, back by
midday. He walked to his bank as planned and waited in a queue at
the ATM to withdraw $50. Debbie was in position to see Malcolmson
arrive.

“Malcolmson is watching you. He is in the white Commodore parked
across the road from you. Don’t look in his direction.”

“Got him,” Parker confirmed when he saw the vehicle in a 
shop window reflection.

“After you’ve withdrawn your cash, wait for Johnson. You’ll see
him coming shortly from your right. Jeans, white T shirt, short
blue jacket and baseball cap. Let him walk past and follow. Leave
your mobile on.”

 

Pearson followed Johnson who sat down at a vacant footpath
table, motioning him to join.

“Shake hands. Look at the menu. Do you have the envelope?” he
asked. “Smile. You can’t see Malcolmson, I can. When I ask you,
hand me the envelope.”

He explained: “Turner and Murray don’t know me. I’m a Federal
cop under deep cover with Customs. They’ll contact one of our bad
eggs, to check me out.”

There was only one $50 note in the bulky envelope, a wad made up
of sheets of newspaper. He finished the coffee and when Johnson
gave him the nod, Pearson slid over the envelope from which Johnson
withdrew the $50 note.

“Malcolmson is watching. He’ll follow me. Go back to the
station.”

Johnson pocketed the envelope, shook Pearson’s hand and walked
away. Pearson took the long way back to the station and was
relieved when Debbie’s call came.

“Malcolmson is tailing Johnson to the city. Don’t turn, you’re
being followed on foot. I can see you both. Young bloke, mid 20s,
tan, tall, jeans, grey jumper, nice bum. Go back the station and
act normal. You’ve done well.”

He felt like saying nice bum, my arse but ended the conversation
laughing.

 

Pearson was at home when Debbie called.

“Say nothing. We think that someone might have bugged your flat
today. Careful what you say.”

“That’s news to me.”

“Charlie saw someone acting suspiciously,” Debbie replied.

“That’s very interesting.”

“Don’t look for the bug. Do nothing that makes them suspicious,”
Debbie said. “I’m given you Charlie as a new backup because I’m
having a couple days off. Nothing else will change. By the way,
Turner rang one of Customs’ bad apples to find out whether Johnson
was on the take. The net is getting bigger and the corrupt list
longer. You’ve done good.”

“That’s fine, Mum. Meant to ask you about your headaches,”
Pearson said and paused. “I’m glad someone’s watching over
you.”

“I don’t think that anyone is watching you at night, because of
the bug. Ring me back now.”

“That’s good. Bye then.”

Pearson then phoned Debbie. “Pete, how are you?”

“Good. Set up a pretend meeting with me for eight o’clock
tomorrow morning. Your flat.”

“Sure. Come to my place. That suits me better. Tomorrow morning.
Before work. Eight’s OK,” Pearson said.

“Stay in your flat until eight, then leave. If someone’s
watching, that will tell us that the flat is definitely bugged.
Just act normal.”

“See you tomorrow.”

 

He left for work the next morning by bus as it had started to
rain. He answered his mobile. It was Charlie:

”We’ve done a scan. Your flat is definitely bugged. Someone’s
was hanging round waiting for your contact.”

“Interesting. Anyone we know?”

“Hard to tell from up here. I’ve got him on camera though. He’s
on the move. Gotta go. Meant to tell you that Debbie says go ahead
with the Dubbo sting.”

“Great. Bye.”

 

Dubbo was the Federal Police’s codename for a marihuana
plantation. Six months into the surveillance, the crop had been
harvested, dried and could be trucked to Sydney within days. The
Feds wanted to discover the warehouse, the distributor, the dealers
and who was financing the operation.

Pearson went to see Turner and requested a meeting with Murray.
They met in Turner’s office just before knock off time. Murray
looked happy and rubbed his hands in anticipation when he saw
Turner’s beaming face.

“What’s up?” he asked of Turner.

“Ask him,” was the reply.

Pearson offered the bait:

“How would you like to hijack a truckload of dope?”

The sergeant and the detective looked at each other, saying
almost as one: ”Shit!”

Pearson nodded and waited.

“A truckload?”

“From the country,” Pearson replied, deliberately vague.

“Whereabouts?” Murray wanted to know.

“Yeah, how do you know?” the detective added.

They were sniffing the bait.

” I’ll tell you more when I know more. For now, this is what’s
going to happen.”

“No way!” Turner maintained. “I decide what goes down, not you,
Willie boy!”

Pearson looked him in the eye, held his gaze until the detective
blinked and looked away.

Got you!

 “This is what we’re going to do.”

“We?” Murray said. “You can’t tell … ”

“Shut up! Let him talk,” Turner interrupted.

“This is what we do,” Pearson explained. ”We set up a random
breath test on the highway, accidentally find the dope, take the
truckie into custody and the truck to the Roads Department depot.
We then take the driver to the warehouse and meet the distributor.
We threaten to take him into custody for conspiracy, trafficking or
whatever. He can’t afford to let the shipment go-he’s probably
already paid a deposit.”

Pearson looked at the detective.

“Go on,” he said. “What then?”

“We ransom the load for-I don’t know. What’s a truckload worth?’
Pearson asked?

“A bloody lot of money!” the sergeant offered. “He won’t be in a
position to pay for the lot straight away.”

The detective laughed: “We’ll take a deposit and he can pay the
rest on lay-by!! Terrific-let’s do it.”

“Not so quick mate,” Pearson cautioned. “We’ll ask the truckie
to phone home to say that we have the truck and that it’s about to
be confiscated as evidence. What’s a semi worth?”

“Geez you’re dangerous,” admitted Murray, happy to take a
backseat position. “So that’s it?”

“Almost”, said Pearson. “After we ransom the truck, we put the
screws on the distributor. We get the names of his dealers and we
go on their payroll from then.”

“And the distributor coughs up for every truckload. Brilliant,”
the detective said. “Let’s do it.”

“Before you go,” Pearson insisted: “This is what’s in it for me.
Whatever we get for the truck is mine. I take a quarter of what we
get for the load. My weekly cut goes from $500 to $1000.”

“Did all this come from your customs buddy?” Turner wanted to
know as Pearson walked out the door. Parker froze.

“What Customs buddy? I have no Customs buddy.”

“Yes you do. We know who he is. We’ve had you followed.”

“Why did you do that?” Pearson asked. “Don’t you trust me?”

“Someone dobbed you in. Jealous we reckon. But you’re in the
clear, Constable. Dismissed.”

“See you at the pub,” Murray called out.

 

Pearson breathed a sigh of relief and had a couple of quick
beers with the sergeants. He phoned Charlie on the way home to tell
him that the surveillance had come to an end, but he didn’t answer
his mobile. Strange.

Pearson called him again from home. Still no answer. There was
somebody knocking on his front door. He looked through the spy hole
at a stranger.

“Who is it?”

“Charlie.”

Pearson opened the door, grabbed Charlie by the arm and pulled
him in. He slammed the door and whispered: “What the fuck are you
doing here?”

“Don’t worry. I’ve got to…”

He couldn’t finish the sentence. Pearson had punched him hard in
the guts. Charlie was on the floor writhing in agony. Pearson
kneeled next to him and hissed:

“You stupid bastard. The bug.”

“Don’t worry about it,” Charlie said. “Help me up.”

 

Pearson helped him to the kitchen table. “Sorry mate. Are you
saying the bug’s gone?”

“As good as. I’ve jammed it so we can talk.”

“Fair enough,” Pearson said and walked over to the window. The
curtains in the flat opposite were fully drawn back. Trouble!
Shit!  Had Debbie told Charlie about the signal? What now?

“I’ve tried a couple of times to get you on your mobile. I meant
to recharge it. Better do it now,” Pearson said and left the
room.

The bastard’s lying about the bug. Does he know about Debbie’s
signal?

Pearson went to the bedroom for the recharger, unholstered his
pistol and put it under his police hat on the hall table. He
returned to the kitchen with the recharger and picked up his
mobile.

Only one way to find out.

Charlie couldn’t see him pressing the hash button once. Nothing.
He pressed back. Then twice to arrange a meeting. Nothing. Back.
Then three times: his panic button. Nothing. NOTHING! 

Charlie’s phone hadn’t rung. He was on his own. No backup and
someone in his kitchen whom he couldn’t trust. He had to play
along.

“What’s your number Charlie,” Pearson asked. He entered all the
digits Charlie called out but changed the last one. A phone rang,
someone answered and Parker hung up.

“Bloody phone,” Pearson cursed. “Maybe the memory numbers
work.”

He searched the memory and found Eleanor, the Federal police
number, his last lifeline. He crossed his fingers and started the
charade when the operator answered: “What name please?”

“Hi, Debbie. It’s me. Will. Can I speak to Eleanor, please.”

“Are you in danger?”

Pearson laughed: “You can say that again.”

“How many?”

“Only one, as far as I know.”

“What is your last name?”

“Pearson.”

“Is Eleanor your emergency code?”

“Yes, I told Debbie on the quiet,” Pearson said.

“I need time to check your file. Can you stall?”

“Don’t take forever,” Pearson pleaded, turned to Charlie
said:

“Eleanor’s my sister. She’s giving the baby a bath. Shouldn’t be
long. Charlie, help yourself to a beer. Get one for me while you’re
there.”

The operator said: “The phone in the flat is not answering.
Charlie’s phone is not answering. If the person with you says he’s
Charlie, then he is not our Charlie. Put the phone down but don’t
switch it off. We are ten minutes from your flat.”

“I’m glad to hear that. Thanks, Debbie,” Pearson said and put
the phone on the kitchen bench. His hands were clammy and his knees
trembled. He twisted the top off the stubby.

“Thanks, Charlie. To your good health.”

“And yours.”

“Do you want to watch the news? It’ll be on in a minute,”

Pearson looked at the clock, eight minutes were nearly up. He
turned to Charlie during an ad break:

“So what did you come for?”

“You know that Turner had you under surveillance?”

“So I heard this afternoon. Turner said I was in the clear.”

“He was having you on, pal. He wants to make sure. That’s why we
bugged the place.” Charlie finished the stubby, hurled it at the
tiled kitchen wall and sent glass flying everywhere.

“You’re a dog Pearson. I know, because you mentioned the bug.
You’re cactus,” Charlie said and pulled a gun.

“Don’t be stupid,” Pearson warned. “Put the gun away. You can’t
expect to kill a cop and get away with it.”

“Maybe I’ll get lucky. The daily double!”

Charlie saw the puzzled look on Pearson’s face.

“Your mate from the Feds. Got him too. And about the bug? Still
here,” Charlie said laughing his head off.

 

There was a knock on the door.

“Whoever it is, tell them to fuck off.”

Charlie held the gun to Pearson’s back as he marched him out of
the kitchen. Pearson moved as close as he could to the hall table.
Charlie suspected something when Pearson reached under the hat, but
he was too late. Pearson swung around and put the pistol to
Charlie’s forehead.

“Drop your weapon, you shit! Open the door.”

Charlie opened the door a crack. It smashed into his face. He
staggered back and trying to steady himself against the hallway
table, toppled over and fell sideways.

“Down your weapon. Hit the floor. Now, now, now!”

Pearson crouched and placed his pistol on the floor, then lay
face down.

“Look away. Don’t look at me.”

“You!” the other figure shouted at Charlie. “Stay down. Don’t
look at me.”

There were three of them wearing black balaclavas. One pointed a
pistol at Charlie, the other threatened Pearson. The third man
checked out the flat, weapon drawn.

 “All clear.”

“Which one of you is Pearson?”

“I am.”

“Get up slowly. Go to the kitchen, sit down,” and turning to the
other two said: “Cuff this one. Take him to the bedroom. Stay with
him.”

Pearson picked up the mobile: “Are you there operator?”

“Yes.”

“Thanks for saving my life. He was going to kill me.”

“I am glad we got there in time. Put Ralph on.”

Ralph talked for a few moments and ended the call.

 

“How are you, Will?”

“Pleased to me you, Ralph. “

“When did you last speak to Charlie?” Ralph asked.

“This morning. He thought the flat was bugged.”

“How did he know?”

Pearson explained how he and Debbie had set a trap and that
Charlie had observed someone acting suspiciously. Ralph opened the
bedroom door and called out: “You two stay. Something’s happened to
Charlie. Get your weapon, Pearson.”

They ran down the stairs, across the courtyard and quickly up to
the second floor flat. Ralph listened at the door. Nothing.

“Phone Debbie’s number,” Ralph whispered. They heard the phone
ring but no one answered.

Ralph gave the door two hard kicks and the door frame
splintered. They searched the flat with weapons drawn but there was
no one there. Pearson switched off the mobile when another call to
Charlie’s phone went unanswered.

“Charlie has his mobile with him. Always,” Ralph said.

“He had time to open the curtains, so he wasn’t surprised in the
flat.”

“Curtains?” asked Ralph.

“He drew back the curtains as a warning to me. That was our
signal.”

“Will: do you reckon our friend Charlie knows something?”

“Definitely. I’ll make him talk,” Pearson replied. “You go on
ahead to the flat. I’ll be there in a minute.”

 

Pearson cut a plastic milk bottle in half with a bread knife
then went downstairs, around the corner and entered the lane behind
the block of flats.

 

“Our friend Charlie won’t talk. He’s got no ID on him, only his
mobile and car keys,” Ralph said to Pearson.

“Bring him into the kitchen. He’ll talk.”

They sat Charlie on the lino floor and handcuffed his left hand
to a cupboard handle, then likewise his outstretched right hand.
Charlie squirmed but couldn’t move right or left.

“Let’s go and find his car,” Ralph said.

 

“Look at this, Charlie. Guess what I have in here.”

Pearson upended the milk carton and the discarded syringes he
had picked up in the lane, spilled out.

“Do you play darts, Charlie? No? Me neither.”

He picked up a syringe and held it to Charlie’s face.

“Who do you think used this one last? Point’s a bit blunt. I
reckon this one’s been shared. Often.”

He picked up another one. “Nice and sharp. Is this blood?”

Pearson held up a third syringe.

“Which one first, Charlie? The Hep C? The one with the HIV?
Maybe this one’s clean? Anyone for tetanus? Or blood poisoning?
Read a story in the paper the other day. You can get AIDS from even
the smallest needle stick.”

Charlie watched as Pearson withdrew a syringe plunger. He tore a
finger width strip from a newspaper page, twisted and pushed it
into the syringe as a makeshift dart feather.

Pearson knelt in front of Charlie and unbuttoned his shirt.

“Dart practice. Your navel for a bullseye.”

“You’re fucking mad,” Charlie screamed. “You wouldn’t.”

Pearson aimed wide and threw the syringe dart. It lodged in the
cupboard door. He walked over and pulled it out.

“Missed.”

He aimed again and let it fly. It landed between Charlie’s
legs-in a puddle.

“You dirty bugger,” Pearson yelled. He prepared another needle
and aimed. It bounced off the kitchen tiles and landed in the
sink.

“Bad shot. Try again.”

“For God’s sake. Cut it out!” Charlie shrieked. “I’ll tell you
what you want to know. Let me clean myself up.”

“Where’s the real Charlie?”

Pearson concentrated on twisting a new strip and inserted it
into another syringe.

“Please put it down.”

Pearson toyed with the needle and placed on the kitchen
table.

“He’s in the Tudor Inn Motel in Darlinghurst. He followed me to
your flat but hadn’t seen my partner. We only knocked him about a
bit.”

“He’s alive?” Pearson asked.

“Yes. We wouldn’t kill a cop.”

 

Ralph, who had been listening in the hallway came into the
kitchen. “Phew! What’s that smell? He didn’t shit himself?”

“Afraid so and piss. Did you find his car?” Pearson asked.

“Easy. We tried the remote key on every car in the street until
we found it. ”

“Come on, Charlie. Let’s get you cleaned up.”

They released him from his handcuffs, let him shower and gave
him a mop and bucket.

“Giss a smoke,” Charlie said. He sat barefoot with a towel
around his waist. When he noticed the milk carton and syringes, he
got the shakes so badly that he couldn’t light the cigarette. “I’ll
tell you everything. Just get that crazy bastard and the needles
out of here. I’m Theo, by the way. I am a cop from Newcastle.”

He told them that Turner had called on them to bug the flat
because the surveillance had uncovered nothing.

“Were you recording or just listening?” Ralph asked.

“Listening and voice activated recording. For two days only.
That’s all Turner could afford. The tapes get posted to his
house.”

“All right, Theo,” Ralph said. “This is what we’ll do. You’ll
put on a pair of Will’s jeans. You’ll then take us in your car to
the motel. You’ll get your mate to open the door. Any trouble,
you’re dead. And your mate. Am I making myself clear?”

 

Pearson went with them to the car and took the tape recorder to
the flat. There were three stubbies in the fridge. He drank one and
munched a packet of corn chips for his tea.

The real Charlie arrived an hour later by cab. The knuckles on
his right hand looked swollen. Pearson didn’t need to ask why and
offered him an ice pack.

“Will the real Charlie please stand up,” Pearson said.

“I can. Can’t say the same for the other two. Pleased to meet
you, Will.”

“Things went alright then at the motel?”

“Yes, Theo behaved himself. He and his mate are in custody.
Ralph’s trying to figure out a way of keeping them away from Turner
without arousing suspicion.”

“I’ll have to keep a straight face tomorrow, won’t I,” Pearson
said. “So what happened this morning?”

Charlie explained that he had seen someone watching the flat and
enter the building after Pearson had left for work and
investigated.

“The door to your flat was open. I watched from the second floor
laundry. That bloke Theo was in your flat for a couple of minutes
only. I followed him downstairs and down the street. His mate had
been waiting in a car and jumped me. I laughed when they told me I
was under arrest. They didn’t think it was a joke when they found
out I was a cop too.”

“So there you were in a car with two other cops. You knew they
were up to no good and they knew you knew!  What a hoot.”

“It got pretty serious real quick,” Charlie said. “They took me
to their motel. They were in deep shit. They couldn’t let me go and
couldn’t keep me too long either. Theo decided to speed things up
and trap you.”

“It nearly worked,” Pearson said. “He knew that I was working
undercover as soon as I mentioned the bug.”

“Yeah. Sorry, Will. I blew your cover. I really should have
called for backup first.”

“The curtains were open. That really saved both of us.”

“I did that as a warning to you just in case I didn’t come back
to the flat,” Charlie explained.

“Speaking of your flat, Ralph busted the front door.”

“That’s all right. That’s the least of our worries. Have you got
the tape recorder here? We’ll record over the tape from the moment
before Charlie knocked on your door. Put the recorder on record
after I leave. Then just do what you usually do. There is one mini
tape left. Use that if you have to. Turner will suspect
nothing.”

 

Charlie phoned the next day and asked him to bring the tapes to
the flat after work. Ralph was there also and greeted him with a
big smile.

“Thought you’d like to know about the two Newcastle coppers.
They’ll be on ice until Debbie springs the trap. That can’t be
until the inspector’s in it. You know what that means, I
don’t.”

“That might not be for a week or two.”

“No problem. Turner is unlikely to want to contact them,” Ralph
said.

Charlie had his say too: “And if he tries to, they won’t be
there. They will have been reassigned. All you need to worry about
now is getting on with the Dubbo sting and netting the
inspector.”

 

The hijacking went off a week later as planned. Pearson’s idea
had netted them a bundle. His share alone came to $75,000. Debbie
was delighted. The sting had laid bare the operation and revealed
more corrupt officers Murray and Turner had brought it to
assist.

 

“What’s going to happen to all the money in my bank account?”
Pearson wanted to know.

“What money?” Debbie replied. “I don’t know how much money
you’ve got and I don’t care.”

“It’s dirty money. I’ve spent none of it.”

“Listen to me, Will. We don’t want to know. You’re taking risks
for no reward from us so far. By the way, you have immunity from
prosecution, short of murder. Better to spend the money than having
it sitting in an account. Buy yourself a dream – and a safe place
before all this corruption shit hits the fan.”

“I’m not sure that I can keep this up for much longer. I want to
call it quits now.”

“You can’t. Not until we have the inspector. He still makes
calls from public phones to protect his contacts. Somehow you’ll
have to get him to use a special phone card. It will bypass Telstra
and route all his calls through our exchange.”

 

It was Friday night and Turner, Murray and Pearson met at the
pub before going out to dinner. Pearson acted bored and added
little to the conversation.

“Is something the matter?” Turner wanted to know. Pearson stared
into his glass and finishing his beer mumbled: “Don’t know.”

“What do you mean you don’t know?” Murray said frowning.

“Well, seems like every time I come up with a money making idea,
the Inspector cops his share for doing nothing.” Pearson
whinged.

Turner reassured him: “There’s nothing we can do about that.
Denison is in and he’ll stay in. If you’ve got a proposition,
Willie boy, let’s talk about it.”

“I just think that he doesn’t appreciate my efforts,” Pearson
whined. “I really don’t.”

“Tell you what we’ll do. Let’s all have dinner tomorrow night if
he’s free,” Turner offered.

 

Pearson met the sergeants and the inspector for dinner. “I
propose a toast to our good Constable. A man above suspicion,”
Murray said.

“I’ll drink to that,” Turner agreed: “Worth every penny
spent.”

The Inspector looked at Pearson who shrugged his shoulders.
Pearson floated the idea of going into the telephone card business.
He proposed to sell forged Telstra prepaid telephone cards in pubs
at discounted prices. He explained that fake $10 cards could be
manufactured for $1 each and sold through an interstate dealer
network. Pearson proposed that Denison, Turner and Murray invest
$10,000 each.

Denison wanted to know whether the cards really worked.

“Try this one,” Pearson said and offered him a sample, actually
a genuine Telstra card.

“Let me get this straight”, Murray said. “For our $30,000 we get
30,000 cards which you sell to your dealers for how much?”

Pearson replied: “$2 each. They on-sell them for $5. I’ll put in
$10,000 myself. Give me and the printer two weeks to get organised.
We’ll make a killing.”

His partners were delighted when he paid them each $5,000 a week
later. So profitable was the scheme, he assured them, that he had
invested a further $10,000 himself. Greed did the rest and his
three partners contributed $30,000 more without hesitation. Debbie
laughed when Pearson told her of the nonexistent cards, fictitious
sales and paying his business associates nonexistent profits out of
the funds they had invested themselves.

”I’m thinking of paying them $1,000 a week to show them how well
the sales are going. Is that enough?” Pearson wondered.

“It’ll keep them interested. Milk them for more. Talk them into
financing $20 cards. Promise them $5 a card”.

Pearson thought about it.

“I have $45,000 of their money left. If I pay them still $1,000
a week, I can keep this going forever as long they keep
investing!!”

“No need to,” Debbie said. “Here is the special phone card for
Denison. We’ll let him use it for a week. That should tell us who
his contacts are. I’ll spring the trap after the next weekend.
You’ll be arrested with all the others.”

 

Pearson collected another $10,000 each from Denison, Turner and
Murray. It was all over when Inspector Denison used the doctored
phone card and disclosed contact with two solicitors, a barrister,
a magistrate, a judge and an Assistant Commissioner. The arrests
made headline news. Many officers besides Denison, Turner and
Murray faced corruption charges. Pearson, said a newspaper article,
would face extradition to South Australia on a charge of conspiracy
and fraud in connection with the manufacture and distribution of
fake Telstra phone cards.

 

Pearson met Debbie for the last time. “As from today Bill
Pearson exists only in police pay records. You will be on the
payroll for another year and your file will be current. You’ll be
on stress leave at half pay for another year and on your own after
that. If anyone accesses your file, a red flag will alert us.”

“Do I keep my mobile phone?” Bill asked. “I like the free
calls.”

Debbie shook her head. “It won’t be any good where you’re
going”, she laughed. “You’ll love the satellite phone and the
laptop that goes with it.”

“Where am I going?”

“Not to South Australia. That was just a bit of disinformation
to explain why you won’t be prosecuted here. We’ve picked Edward
Island in the Whitsundays where you’ll become a park ranger to
justify your on-going pay to the bean counters. You’ll have to pay
for the lease. Don’t leave the island for a few months until the
dust settles. Whatever you need to make it home, we’ll
arrange.”

Bill’s face beamed. “I’ll bring a hammer.”

 

Debbie handed him the computer and satellite telephone. “We will
e-mail you every Friday for the first six months. Simply reply ‘OK’
to say that all is well. The satellite phone has programmed
numbers. Use 1 to contact our supplier for anything you need. Use 2
to contact me. For emergencies use 3.”

 

“That’s it then? “ Bill said. “Sad to have to leave you.”

“We’ll still stay in touch. When your money’s run out or you
want to go back to civilisation, take one of the jobs we have on
offer.”

 

Pearson said goodbye to his parents. They knew his new identity
but not his whereabouts. He had a new passport and later, when he
wanted it, a position as security officer on a cruise ship. He had
$115,000 cash after paying the lease for Edward Island and two
smaller islands. He was now Will Parker and would become, as the
lease stipulated, a park ranger and wildlife observer.

He had avenged James Ng’s death and helped catch a few corrupt
people. It had been a dirty fight in which he had lied, cheated,
tricked people, connived and conspired to fight corruption. On
reflection, he had made a lot of money out of corruption, extortion
and drugs. Had it been worth it? Was he really any better than
those he helped trap? He took comfort in Mrs. Ng words: “It’s
better to light a candle than curse the darkness.”

Would he take up such a fight again given a choice? No, he
decided. Next time, walk away. Leave well enough alone. It’s none
of your business.

 

He was leaving Sydney for Queensland with hardly a regret. His
parents might miss him but they had each other. Apart from them,
nobody would miss him. Nobody had come to say farewell and good
luck. No one but his parents to welcome him back.

At the airport, when he could no longer stand seeing people hug
and kiss, he turned his face away and watched aircraft take off and
land. He had not been close to anyone for, well never really, he
admitted to himself. One-night-stands didn't count. Perhaps the cop
in him, seeing the seedy side of life every day, had put him off
women?

Now starting afresh might just lead to someone to love and
someone to love him. Somewhere, there was a true love for him,
surely? Not just a shadow of love. Not shadow but substance: the
real thing. Wherefore love’s shadow? He deserved better. Perhaps
not the great love, the grande affair, the unforgettable one or the
lightning bolt of love at first sight. But please then, the next
best thing. Surely that wasn’t asking the universe for too much?
Less loneliness, a little love, some happiness and joy. Wherefore
love’s shadow? He had seen love’s shadow. He would recognize the
contrast, the real thing, his true love when she touched him. He
lived in hope. The sun was bright in Queensland.

 He was still looking for love in all the wrong places.

 

 

Chapter 2

 

His island was a picture postcard. The helicopter was now close
enough for him to make out individual features. There were short
stretches of beach and small bays too shallow for anything but the
smallest yachts to anchor safely. The incoming tide washed over
shallow fringing reefs that gave way to rocky outcrops, huge
granite boulders the size of a house. Dense scrub fringed the
foreshore and covered the island as far as the eye could see. Some
of the flat land had been cleared and farmed many years ago but
nature had reclaimed these intrusions, now barely visible. The
pilot followed the only break in the reef and landed on a wide
sandy beach on the western side near a jetty.

“Where do you want to make camp?” the pilot wanted to know as
they carried his few belongings up the beach.

“Let’s have a look. The house can’t be that far.”

They found an overgrown path and followed it from the jetty to a
clearing on a low rise overlooking the two nearby small islands.
The house was in a grove of mature mango and avocado trees. Vines
covered the roof and waist high shrubs and weeds had grown around
doors and windows. Surprisingly, the glass in only one window had
been smashed since the last occupant had left more than three years
ago. The house had been used occasionally by wildlife rangers.

The front door was unlocked. There was no furniture in the
living area and the bunks in the small bedroom were not all that
inviting. Two camp stretchers in the larger bedroom offered little
comfort. They set up camp near the house in what remained of the
front lawn.

Parker wave goodbye to the pilot who headed for the Hamilton
Resort, the nearest inhabited island and civilisation. A hundred
and forty paces took him to the end of the beach where he watched
the setting sun. He sat still, eyes closed. The solitude brought
peace of mind and he drifted off. A surprisingly cool breeze woke
him from his reverie. Running through the soft sand soon warmed him
up. His growling stomach reminded him that he hadn’t eaten all day.
He returned to his camp and cooked an omelette, made toast and
drank two cans of warm beer. Tomorrow, he decided, fish would be on
the menu.

 

A child’s scream woke him in the middle of the night. A
screaming child? No, just a bush stone curlew’s screeching and
plaintively squawking had  startled him and woke him again
later in the night and at dawn. He listened for a while to other
unfamiliar birdsongs and the sound of the surf’s invitation. A swim
to the end of the beach and back left him exhausted. He made
himself a promise to get fitter as he jogged back to the house. The
hibiscus shrubs either side of the front door would look even
better after pruning. It made walking in and out very pleasant and
drew attention away from the house’s otherwise plain exterior.

***

 

A year on and renovations to the house were complete. A
container load of furniture had brought new luxuries. Bachelor
meals on the run, TV dinners and meals for one had disappeared.
Vegetables grew quickly in the easily tilled, friable soil. He had
cookbooks and took pride in creating nutritious meals.

He had found and repaired a diesel generator, a source of pride
and luxury. It came in very handy now for the house warming with
cold champagne from his new fridge. He set a table for six and sat
in each chair making polite conversation. All agreed that it was a
job well done. He bid his guests adieu. “Please drop in any time.”
and retired to his bedroom where a small air-conditioner gave him
restful sleep.

Working, if that’s what it was, as a park ranger and wildlife
observer, kept him busy when he didn’t feel like working on the
house. Parks and Wildlife officers spoke highly of his efforts and
comprehensive reports. The inventory of the island’s birdlife was
complete. His biggest thrill was watching olive ridley turtles lay
their eggs and their hatchlings scamper to avoid swooping birds.
There were still many butterflies to be caught, identified and
catalogued.

Life was peaceful and orderly. Debbie’s weekly e-mails had come
to an end as planned. A fishing trawler brought monthly supplies
and took him to Hamilton Island for weekends and enjoyment of what
was on offer. He was cautious and avoided regular contact with
other than the boat’s crew and his suppliers. Two years had gone by
since he had left Sydney. Isolation, boredom and a life without a
real purpose had become too much to bear and it was now time to
move on

 

Debbie followed up his phone call with e-mail. She assured him
that his new identity had remained secure. While there was a small
but manageable risk, it was safe for him to seek employment. There
was a position still open as a security officer on a cruise ship
sailing Australian waters and Pacific Islands and Parker
accepted.

The new job was a breeze and the money good. Parker was at his
busiest in port, inspecting passengers for familiar faces and
likely troublemakers. Surveillance cameras recorded passengers
arriving dockside, checking in and he could track their movements
anywhere in the ship. Parker was topside casually scrutinising the
passenger list for names from his past life and watching passengers
come and go.

“Preparing the form guide, are we?” his security mate asked.

  “Form guide? What’s that?”

“Oops!  No one’s has told you about the muffqueteers
then?”

“No, who are they? No, don’t tell me. I can guess,” Parker
chuckled.

“There is a meeting in the staff mess tomorrow after lunch. Come
if you like.”

 

The chief steward introduced Parker to the meeting.

“All agreed? Welcome, Will, to the muffqueteers.”

He handed out a printed sheet. The first column listed 47
females. The second column was headed ‘par’, the third ‘scored’ and
the last column ‘bonus points’. The meeting discussed and agreed on
a par score for each name on recommendations from the Assistant
Purser who had preselected and assessed the chosen single
women.

“What’s a par five?” Parker whispered to his neighbour.

“Just like golf. A difficult hole,” he winked. “You’ll soon get
the hang of it.”

 

Parker did. The form guide listed points for the degree of
difficulty expected in bedding the women named before the voyage
ended. It was fun searching for those listed and rating them
himself. A typical ‘par 5’ was a first class passenger, an elegant
woman, refined, seemingly unattainable and one who preferred the
company of other females and retired after a nightcap  -
difficult to approach, hence the high score. Low scores, holes in
one, were easy pick-ups. He scored with the low pars but didn’t
enjoy the experience. He singled out a more difficult target but
gave up when the woman stared him up and down. Others were
outscoring him by a mile. Predictably there were a number of ticks
against the par 1’s and par 2’s on the scoresheet posted on the
noticeboard.

“That’s typical for the first week. The par fives get desperate
in the last week,” someone said. “No bonuses yet.”

“How do I enter my score?” Parker asked.

“Only after you bring the lady’s hanky with proof.”

“Proof?”

 “Think about it.”

“Now you tell me. Fair go!”

 

Shagged out-that’s how Parker looked and felt by journey’s end.
He needed a week’s rest. During the second journey, he scored bonus
points from double scoring threesomes and double points for white
on black. He could have scored highly with threesomes with another
male but no, that was definitely not his scene. At the end of the
third cruise, his fellows voted him “Most improved muffqueteer.”
Parker accepted the honour gracefully but the whole sexual
athletics scene had become distasteful. He felt shabby and wanted
no more of it and felt better already for the decision.

He made the rounds after the bars closed. This was a time when
people were vulnerable, when drunks were a danger to themselves, as
were lonely people. He patrolled the promenade stern deck last, the
most likely spot for people falling overboard or for those wanting
to end it all.

It was a romantic starry night, the last on the home run. A
middle-age woman walked out of the shadows and stood next to him at
the rail. She was impeccably dressed and wore expensive jewellery.
Chanel perfume. Definitely a par 5. She had a glass in one hand and
an unlit cigarette in the other.

“Light me up, sailor.”

“Glad to be of service, Madame,” he said and lit her cigarette.
Her hand touched his. Her breath was strong with whisky.

“Take me to my cabin,” she demanded unbuttoning her blouse a bit
more.

“I’m on duty, Madame,” he replied courteously.

“And that duty includes service to passengers, does it not?” she
asserted and grabbed his crotch with one hand and stuffed money
into his shirt pocket. “Fuck me.”

“I am not a whore.” He took the $100 note out of the pocket and
stuffed it  in her bra. He politely excused himself, bid her
goodnight and with a mock salute, continued on his round.

“Bloody poofter,” she yelled.

 “Try D deck.”

 

A tourist attraction? Is that what I have become? A stud
screwing whoever comes along? Yes, he had been a willing player. He
had been with scores of women: young, old, plain, kinky, beautiful,
sexy, playful, some desperate, many lonely. The cruise sex
smorgasbord offered diversions and perversions that now made him
shudder. He felt ashamed and disgusted at the bagful of tricks and
his track record.

Wherefore love’s shadow? Ha! He had been walking in the shadow
of love because it was there. Others took what the shadow offered
in a search for amusement, novelty, thrill or whatever. He was now
far, very far from what he wanted: love and if not the real thing,
then the next best thing but not love’s shadow. The muffqueteers
were in hysterics when he declared himself a born again virgin with
time off for bad behaviour. Was he turning gay? No, he declared and
shunned the gay scene as just another diversion in the shadow.

“Abstinence!” someone called out. ”Been there, done that! You
won’t last.” He joined the uproarious laughter but his onboard
fucking days were over. Almost. When the need arose, he flirted,
courted and found attractive sex partners. Such brief affairs ended
in port with mutual satisfaction, smiling goodbyes and sincere
promises to write. He had never been in love, not even with Simone,
his Dubbo landlady, as he had come to realize. Lust he knew, but
how did it feel to love someone, to be loved? Romance and the
lightning bolt that told him that ‘this was the one’ was unlikely
to hit him on a cruise ship. But then again why not? He was looking
in all the wrong places.

 

The ship’s library and reading room became his tranquil retreat.
He organised “mystery lectures” where passengers talked about their
interests. A physics professor explained multiple universes,
quantum mechanics and Heisenberg’s uncertainties. Love your
psychiatrist-Freud’s cigar explained. Who was Shakespeare? Really?
Taking part in a literature discussion group, little by little,
made Parker a social person again. He was invited to lead a
discussion on the subject of this choice.

He chose the topic that had been on his mind: love. Where to
start? Quotes from the romantic poets? Famous love stories? No, too
mundane. He walked up and down the deck, nodding here and there,
passing time in idle chitchat. Love, perhaps love will come my way,
he mumbled. His musings triggered a memory, a catchy tune. He was
humming a John Denver song. He copied and printed the lyrics to
“Perhaps Love” from one of the many Internet sites Denver fans
devoted to his memory.

Reading Denver’s memories of love struck him hammer blows. He
had nothing worth remembering. Parker had no one at home to welcome
him. Denver had a memory of love but Parker had only shadows. No
one waiting, not a soul pining for his company. He had no one
missing him and no one to miss. Parker realized a brutal truth:
There is no ‘you’ in my life.

Denver’s words swam before his eyes. Tears smudged the ink and
stained his shirt cuffs in ugly shades of purplish black.

“Fuck you John Denver! Fuck you! Fuck you!! Fuck you!!!”

 He ripped the lyrics to shreds and tossed them away.
Jealous rage overcame him. Sand in teeth. Irritating anchovy bones.
The tongue sucks and sucks and sucks. Still there. Dry shell grit
in the throat. An itch scratched to bleeding.

You lucky bastard! Denver, you lucky bastard! I want love’s
ecstasy, pain, suffering and whatever else you offer or deny.
Bitch. What’s wrong with me? With all the action I’ve ever had, why
has there never been that electrifying tingle down my spine when a
hand caresses my cheek or soft lips kiss the back of my neck? I’ve
read about it. So why isn’t it happening to me? Wherefore love’s
shadow? Wherefore love’s fucking shadow?

I’m done with love’s shadow. I want the real thing. You hear? I
want the real thing.

 

The whisky from the first swig burnt his throat. The second less
so. He hadn’t hit the bottle since James Ng’s death. Johnnie Walker
walked right in and kept striding. He started to erase the pain,
the memory of love’s shadow and numbed the ache of loneliness.
Johnnie, another stride please. Come closer. One more to numb a
troubled mind. He finished the bottle and staggered to bed.

He fell into an edgy sleep. Words whirled around in his brain.
Love. Memory. You! What is your name? Find me. It must rhyme. Make
it rhyme. What scar? Star rhymes with scar. Doggerel. Make it
rhyme. My memory of love. Write it down. OK, OK. Where’s my pen.
Need a pen. Paper, need paper. Now. Write it down. Scar rhymes with
star.

“We have to talk.”

He screamed and woke himself. Who said that? The alarm clock
figures danced an eerie green jig: 55::5577   Squint,
focus!  5:5577. Ah, that’s better. Can’t be. The turbulent
brain tried again. 5:577  Wrong. Try again. 5:57. Go to
sleep.

 

Easy now. Rest. Speak softly.

Who are you? What do you want?

I’m the sub.

Sub? What sub?

The collective subconscious mind, also yours. I prefer sub – we
don’t pretend up here.

We?

The others are busy at the moment.

 Do you want to get back to him later?

They say they will.

Do you mind not talking about me behind my back? What’s this all
about?

I am helping you write a poem.

I am writing a poem? Who says?

You did.

Me? Speak for yourself.

I do and you.

This is confusing.

 I am used to your confusion.

 I think I’m going out of my mind.

No, Will, that’s a song. Have you changed your mind? Do you want
to write a song now?

I don’t want to do anything. I want to sleep.

Sorry mate, a poem it will have to be. You’ve suppressed me too
long.

News to me.

Your conscious self is blotto. Let’s go, do some cosmic
poetry.

A poem about what?

You. It’s about you.

Me?

No, you. The other you.

What other you?

Think about it. You are incomplete. Half a circle. You need a
memory of your love to make a complete circle. You need a soul
mate, companion, lover.

Not a love’s shadow. Please no shadow. If I can’t have the real
thing, let me be.

Fear not. It will happen. Get going! Speak to her from the
heart. Start with you.

Fine. You. You. You. You. I can’t get started.

A common problem even for a sub. Want help? I’ll connect you to
the universe. Universe?

Yes.

Parker wants a word.

Hello Parker!

Who am I talking to?

The universe.

Really?

I’m real. I am.

Are what?

Just am. Always have been. Ever since…

The Big Bang! Hey, you’re the Big Bang.

Haven’t heard that one. Boom, Boom! Joke, joke. Gotcha.

A universe with a sense of humour, that’s all I need. This is
serious. I need a serious universe.

Easily done Parker. If you don’t like me, there are others.

Other what?

Universes.

Bullshit.

Fair dinkum!

You’re an Australian universe! 

Look, Will, said the sub, this is unproductive.

Excuse me, the universe snapped, I haven’t finished.

We have to get on with Parker’s doggerel, the sub insisted.

Sub! The universe cautioned in absolute zero tone. Never mind
your poem. I’ll introduce Parker to Werner if you like.

Werner who?

Heisenberg. Quantum mechanics specialist.

Services his own car, does he? Is this a new Korean four-wheel
drive?

Funny. Ha, ha!  He says to tell you that I have an infinite
number of parallel universe brothers and sisters who can help.

Are they more sincere than you?

Forget them, I’m on your case.

Wouldn’t mind a quick chat with Werner what’s his name?

Heisenberg.

Yes, him.

Sorry Parker, he speaks only the universal language of
mathematics. But ask anyway. I’ll translate.

How do I get to a parallel universe?

Which one? The one with your true love?

There is a true love, a you for me? Yippee!  Tell me, tell
me, tell me, please!

He says you can’t find true love by looking for it.

That’s weird. It is a paradox.

Weird. Stranger is the world of sub atomic particles. The
experimenter influences the outcome of the experiment.

Therefore, I can find my true love.

No. You’ll only find someone who is what you want her to be.
She’s not herself.

She’s a figment of my imagination?

You got it in one.

So how do I find her?

By not looking, dummy! 

Look Werner, put him out of his misery, the universe said.

Werner says you’ll have to wait till you run into each other.
She’s not looking for love, you’re not looking. Bingo!

Fair go, Werner. I’d like little bit more certainty than that in
my life.

Don’t get him going on this uncertainty principle stuff! 
Please don’t. I can’t cope, the universe pleaded.

I want a memory of love. Please: a sweet memory of love. No
more, no less. Werner, do your stuff for me. He’s not
answering.

He heard you.

Thank you, Werner.

He’s not here. Just slipped out.

I’m afraid to ask.

Don’t worry. It’s still me, the universe.

Yes but which one?

It doesn’t matter in which one you are because you are in the
one you are in. Until you are in another. And then you are still in
the one you’re in.

I get it. I can only be in one universe. There are more others
of me in other universes but we don’t know each other. But let me
get this right: my true love and I have to be in the same universe
to be together? Right?

Right!

And once we are together our actions will keep us together?

Perhaps. Simply put, in any given situation, each possible
action creates a different universe.

So what’s Werner doing?

He’s out crunching cosmic numbers.

Can we please now get on with the poem. Will, get on the
phone.

Who am I calling?

Just listen. Someone’s on the line already.

Universe Poets Society, Melanie speaking. How may I help
you?

I would like to talk to somebody about a poem, please.

One moment sir, I’ll put you on hold.

Don’t do that. I’m in a hurry.

Sorry, sir. You need to know about our membership special.

I don’t want to join your fucking society.

Please, sir. It’s in the manual. You’ll get me the sack.

This call may be recorded for quality assurance purposes and
training.

My card, sir.

F.U.P.S.? That was quick. What the fuck is a F.U.P.S.?

If I might just interrupted you there, said a new voice.

Another!  It’s getting crowded in here. You are?

The super, friend of the sub.

Super what?

Super ego.

My conscience?

Pleased to meet you. Cut out the fucking swearing! 

OK, Mr. F.U.P.S. What are you doing in my dream?

I am the universal poet.

Why didn’t you just say so?

I did. Fellow of the Universe Poets Society. F.U.P.S for
short.

 

I came with speed to fill your need. I’d come faster but for a
steed. A steed, my kingdom for a steed.

You pinched that one. A horse, my kingdom for a horse.

No, I didn’t. I helped Willthebard with that line.

Who the ….is Willthebard?

Say it slowly. Will the Bard.

Salutations, F.U.P.S, you called?

No, William, I didn’t. You well be?

Well I am.

Look William, I am sort of busy at the moment.

So please: When thou hear’st the bugle’s call, then time be it
your arse to haul. If needed still, we’ll call you, Will.
Adieu.

Yeah, please go! Go! urged Parker.

How couth! No foul’ Piss off’. Good boy! said the super to the
sub.

 

I’ll make another start. How’s this:

You are for me.

A bit plain, F.U.P.S. mumbled.

What is her name?

Don’t know.

Ask.

What’s in a name? That which we call….

WILLIAM !!!! BUTT OUT!

 What is your name?

 Doesn’t sit right. Comment appelez vous? How do you call
yourself? Don’t be too literal in the translation.

 What are you called?

 For now will do.

You carve my name.

On what? F.U.P.S. wondered. Stone, clay, bark? I propose:

My name be carved in bark of beech.

You’ve rowed me up shit creek!  What’s rhymes with
beech?

 Doesn’t have to rhyme.

Fine. Beech isn’t even Australian.

What do you want? Gum trees? Blood Gum. Hoop Pine? Casuarina? My
name be carved in blood of gum??? I think not.

OK. Let the beech stand-for now. No wait. Araucaria
bidwillii.

Gesundheit.

Bunya tree.

Never heard of it. Bunya bark, Bunya bark. Nice alliteration.
Has a nice ring to it. Not allowed.

What’s not allowed?

Ringbarking. Boom, boom.

Pulease!!!

F.U.P.S.: What do you know about time and distance?

One flies the other one’s far away. That’s what stands between
you. Consider patience too.

What do you think of this F.U.P.S.?

 

In time and over distance great,

Love has to wait.

 

Hmm. What kind of love are you after?

Passionate and lasting.

 

In time and over distance great,

Love enduring has to wait.

 

I’ve waited a long time. Let’s make it past tense.

 

You are for me.

What are you called?

My name be carved in bunya’s bark.

In time and over distance great,

Love enduring had to wait.

 

Where will I find her?

Between the sheets! 

What? Who said that?

Don’t worry, said the sub. That’s just your libido rising.

 

Tatt, tatt, terrae!!   Tatt, tatt, terrae!! 
Tatt, tatt, terrae!!

 

There‘s a great surprise gone. (I’ve used that line before).

The Stratford smith of words his arse he hauled,

at your beck. As called.

 

Will wants to know where and how to find love. Please none of
your used lines—whither, whys, wherefores and other erstwhile juicy
plums, now prunes. We know their flesh.

 

Lend me an atlas (by necessity)

To pilot passion’s carriage straight.

A chart to love’s own constellation.

 

That was quick. Love’s own constellation. Venus? There is no
constellation Venus, F.U.P.S. argued.

If pick you will, I say pig’s swill

For preference I would eat,

Than suckle from a witch’s teat.

 

What does he mean by that, F.U.P.S.?

He’s telling me that I’ve run dry.

Witch’s tits are dry?

And cold. Love the rhyme, William. My regards to Anne.

 

Out of nowhere came:

This love I found

Will not be bound

By shackles fate or man imposed.

 

The lovers fight with paper sword

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

 

And let the coins fall as they may,

No more will children be his prey.

Defeated by the coins of chance.

 

I hate to interrupt all this waxing, the nervous system said.
Systems update, please. Liver: report.

Ethanol metabolism overloaded but coping.

What’s this ethanol crap? This is insulting. I am Johnnie
Walker, I’ll have you know. Black label. Smoked peat, single malt,
distilled and bottled by Scottish virgins.

Ethanol is ethanol. Anaesthetic, tranquilliser, disinhibitor.
Misleading advertising, contradicted the nervous system.

 Will!! Ignore the misfiring ganglions and their nervous
synapses. Would you like some more?

Shut up Johnny, highland hawker, the universe boomed. He’s
legless as it is.

When you’re ready, we’ll continue the systems update.
Subconscious:  How are you holding up?

Suppression level low, happy to be so active.

Brain activity?

Theta waves, stabilising at 4 Hz and continuing for the next
hour.

Did you copy this, Werner? Yes, I agree. He will remain in a
highly suggestive state. Yes, plenty of time to get the transfer
under way.

Who’s getting transferred and what’s all this Greek jabber?

The transfer refers to you. When you were totally shitfaced,
your brain ticked over at two cycles per second. Johnny nearly
killed you. At the moment you are in a highly suggestive state but
still capable of growth. It’ll take you a while before you’ll
understand what’s going on. A few hours from now you’ll be fully
functioning and logical at 12 to 14 Hz. Well, nearly so. You’ve
lost a few million brain cells thanks to Johnny here.

So at the moment, I’m not really having this conversation.

Yes and no, said the universe.

I’d like to finish my poem just the same. I don’t have time to
waste.

Time is my specialty, said the universe. I was born with it.
Would you like some more? No?

OK, this is where we are.

 

 

You are for me.

What are you called?

My name be carved in bunya’s bark.

 

In time and over distance great,

Love enduring had to wait.

Lend me an atlas (by necessity)

To pilot passion’s carriage straight.

A chart to love’s own constellation.

 

The lovers fight with paper sword

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

 

This love I found

Will not be bound

By shackles fate or man imposed.

 

And let the coins fall as they may,

No more will children be his prey.

Defeated by the coins of chance.

 

I know the rest, said Will.

Farewell, Willthebard. You’ve done good.

Done good? Methinks thy language strange.

 

F.U.P.S. added:

The lovers bond, resolve inured,

A slice of heaven thus secured.

 

What do you mean by that? Sounds like a prediction.

It is. Now go for it Will, the killer punch. Complete the
circle. The ending man, urged F.U.P.S.

I know, I know, I know, I know.

 

So you’ll stay mine? Send me a sign.

Make it a shooting star.

 

I’m frightened F.U.P.S. I have a scar to add.

What scar?

The scar in the tree. Scar rhymes with star. Make it rhyme, make
it rhyme. Scar rhymes with star.

You’re repeating yourself. You’re having a panic attack.

Desperate times, desperate measures. Help me sub, help me.

Yes, help him sub, F.U.P.S. agreed. Give him a lifeline.

Universe? You there?

Forever and a day. Anything I can do for you sub?

I’d like to use a lifeline.

Ask the audience? Call a friend? 50/50 not much use here.

 

I’ll phone a friend.

Who do you want to call?

Siggy.

Dialling now.

Who’s Siggy?

Siggy’s my Dad.

What does he do?

He’s a shrink.

 

Freud speaking.

Dr Freud: This is the universe. I have sub on the line, he needs
your help to finish Will’s poem.

Hallo Papa! 

Hallo sub!

Vot seems to be da trouble Vill?

I’m troubled by a scar in a tree. Scar that rhymes with star.
Scar rhymes with star. Make it rhyme, make it rhyme. Scar rhymes
with star.

He jests at scars that never felt a wound.

Who said zat?

I, Willthebard.

Help me out here sub. Who iss dat Willsebard?

The world’s greatest playwright.

I see. And how long hass he hat dis delusion?

About four centuries.

Dat’s the worst case of megalomania I haff ever seen.

What sub says is true Herr Professor, the universe said.

 

I sink a preliminary consultation vould do no harm, Herr
Willsebard.

Maybe later?

Back to da patient: my diagnosis iss dat Vill suffers from acute
poemitis aggravated by anxiety and alcoholic stupor. I recommend
immediate free association. Now Vill: Say da first ding dat comes
in your mind ven I say star.

Scar. Star rhymes with scar. Star rhymes with scar. Make it
rhyme, make it rhyme. Star rhymes with scar.

Geez, Dad. You could have done better. You’ve got him going
again. He’s having another panic attack.

 Vill, Vill. Listen to me. Venn I snap my fingers you vill
feel calm. Relax.

Now tell me Vill. Wot do scars mean to you?

He doesn’t know the answer to that, Dad.

Sorry, sub. Can you help?

He’s worried about the scar in the tree.

Dat iss serious.

Not necessarily so Dad. The scar will heal.

Can we please cut to the chase, said F.U.P.S.

Who iss he?

 I’ll explain later Dad.

 

In our tree, I’ll be a scar, suggested F.U.P.S.

Iss he a poet?

Yes, Dad.

Vot is your name?

I’m the Universal Poet. My card.

F.U.P.S.? Dis iss a joke, no?

I’ll explain later, Dad. Get off the grass.

F.U.P.S. explain the last line to me. I don’t get it, said the
universe.

Scars from injuries. Love hurts. No pain, no gain.

Vot do you say, sub?

This scar is sweet pain. It’s a sign of their love. It’s their
tree, they can do what they like with it. There is no latent
content. Ignore what F.U.P.S. says. I’ve seen many trees with
carved names. Hearts with cupid’s arrow. Lovers do that. The scar
outlives them.

Vell done sub. I concur viss da manifest interpretation. The
scar will heal. It iss da memory of sweet pain. Da memory of sweet
love.

 

We’re all done here now, the universe declared. I’d like to read
Will’s poem before you go.

 

For you.

You are for me.

What are you called?

My name be carved in bunya’s bark.

 

In time and over distance great,

Love enduring had to wait.

Lend me an atlas (by necessity)

To pilot passion’s carriage straight.

A chart to love’s own constellation.

So you’ll be mine?

Send me a sign,

Make it a shooting star.

 

The lovers fight with paper sword,

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

 

This love I found will not be bound,

By shackles fate or man imposed.

 

And let the coins fall as they may,

No more will children be his prey.

Defeated by the coins of chance.

 

The lovers bond, resolve inured,

A slice of heaven thus secured.

 

So you’ll stay mine? Send me a sign.

Make it a shooting star.

 

In our tree, I’ll be a scar.

 

OK, OK. Write it down. Where’s my pen. Need a pen. Paper, need
paper. Now. Write it down. Scar rhymes with star. Concentrate.
Where is the bloody light switch? Write me down. Gotta write it
down! 

 

He woke and opened his eyes to a room spinning. Closing his eyes
stopped the spinning. Now the room moved: from left to right and
back. Instantly. Left to right and back, left right back. Left
right back. Faster and faster. Opening his eyes started the
carousel. Round and round and round and round. Whoa!! Chunder time.
Time to drive the porcelain bus. He rose and staggered to the
bathroom.

 

Ready, Werner? Yes, I know timing is critical. What’s Will
doing? He’s in the toilet, praying. How do I know why. Yuk!!! He’s
throwing up, hands-on….his driving the porcelain bus!  Who’s
here with me? There’s F.U.P.S., Freud, Johnnie Walker. Not sure
about Willthebard.

Will’s at the basin now, water running. He’s found the light
switch. What a mess. His is splashing water everywhere. He’s
spitting out mouthfuls. He’s groping for a towel, wipes his eyes,
mouth. Get ready. On my count…

 

What’s going on, what’s going on? Someone asked.

Shush!

Werner: he’s putting the towel down.

 

Phew, this is bad. I’m seeing double. Will looked into the
mirror again and snapped his eyes shut. He squeezed his eyes shut
tight, really tight, squinted and looked.

THREE ! THERE’S THREE OF ME!!!TRIPLETS!!! HELP!!!! Thank
God I’m dreaming. He smacked himself in the head. That hurt. And
made his ears ring. He closed his eyes again and stole a glance.
Still there! He looked again with his right eye.

OK. Some of you’ve gotta go. Eenie, meeni, miney, mo, I’ll spin
round and you-must-go!! and pointed to the reflection on the right.
Nothing. Nothing. NOTHING!!!  SHIT!

Werner: on my count: 3, reaching for the mirror: 2, nearly
there: 1, touching, touching…

Soft glass? Funny!  Parker touched the mirror, but fingers
didn’t meet. Hells bells!  Try again. He moved his fingers
more slowly and the image’s finger caught up. The image quivered as
he lifted his hand. He moved his hand more slowly and pressed
harder, harder…..and closed his eyes.

Werner !! go, go, goooo!!!

He took a big breath and pulled back his hand. Open eyes. The
distorted image wobbled and !POP!

 Thank God for that! Gone!

Smile! The face in the mirror smiled without delay. He frowned,
that worked too. The glass was hard to the touch. Good. He leaned
forward for a closer look and touched the black bruises on his
cheekbone. His fingers were black too. Ah, shit!  His shirt
sleeves were wet and ink stained. And the trousers vomit soiled.
Bugger! Bugger!  Bugger!

 

He walked back to his bed. The alarm clock showed 3:07. That’s
funny! Last time I looked it was nearly six o’clock. Time running
backwards? Left the light on, bugger it. He flopped down and fell
into a dreamless sleep.

 

Jetzt wandert er den Pfad zum Liebchen.

Sind Sie es, Herr Heisenberg? Freud asked.

Yes, said the universe, that was Werner. Would you care to
translate Professor?

Now he iss valking da pass to true luff.

 

What were you and Heisenberg up to? F.U.P.S. asked.

Helping him do what he does so well: tinkering, twiddling,
tweaking, and tuning bubble universes.

And the pop?

That was Werner blowing a bubble.

Bubble?

Care to tell us more?

No, not really. Best to let it run.

Come on! 

OK, then. I have a new sibling universe. Werner has given Will
two chances to find what he wants. True love. Not just a shadow of
love. The real thing.

Pardon me intruding, said the brain. We have a legless drunk
here. He won’t remember much of this.

I’ll take care of it, said the universe.

 

Someone’s hammering on my brain. Stop the fucking hammering.
It’s not your brain, stupid. Someone’s banging on your door. Famous
last words. How ordinaire, the sub sighed and exited.

 

“Coming!”

Will opened the door.

“Geez. You look like shit.”

“I feel like shit.”

“You’re a mess, clean yourself up. You’re late for work.”

 

Parker stood under the shower. One minute hot, one minute cold.
Do it again. And again. Once more. The fog lifted and his hand was
steady enough for a wet shave. He poked at the mirror.

Why am I doing this?

 

He woke the computer from sleep mode to print more copies of
John Denver’s lyrics for the discussion group. There was another
printing job in the queue. He pressed OK and waited for the printer
to finish.

He read the poem with trembling hands. Did I write this? Must
have!   There wasn’t enough time now to think about it
and he went on his rounds.

 

“I’ve chosen ‘Perhaps Love’ sung by John Denver and Placido
Domingo,” Parker announced to the discussion group. “I’ve printed
the words to get us rolling.”

He pressed “Start” on the portable CD player and all heard
Denver’s folksy natural voice and Domingo’s operatic tenor singing
the instantly recognisable and memorable song.

 

“I’ve heard this song many times but seeing the words in
print…”

People turned to look at who said that.

 “Hi. I’m Peter.” He paused and choking back tears said:
“Hanging on. That’s how I feel about love right now. By the
fingernails.”

“I have nothing now,” a middle-aged woman in a K Mart printed
cotton dress confided with a smile.

 “I don’t know that song. I don’t know how love feels,” a
teenage girl admitted. “How does love feel? I want to know.” She
looked at Parker and asked:

” What’s your line, Will?”

“I’ll go last if that’s OK with everybody,” Will said.

“We’ll remind you of that. I’m Bev. I can relate to the song.
I’m looking for a safe place. I’ve been through a lot. You’d think
that a 40 year-old woman would have found a safe anchorage by
now.”

 

There was a hubbub of conversation as strangers shared and
compared their feelings and memories of love with the lyrics. Then,
one by one, people fell silent as an elderly man read the last
verse aloud in a gentle, accomplished voice. He put his glasses
away and snapped the case shut.

“Please don’t stop on my account,” he said.

“That was beautiful. Please, please read it from the start. For
Angie,” the teenager pleaded.

“Sure girl,” he said. “I’m Basil and this is my wife Enid.”

Basil stood up and flawlessly recited Denver’s song.

 

“You did that from memory!” Angie exclaimed in amazement. “I
love you for that,” and clapped her hands.

Others joined in polite applause. The dinner chimes sounding
surprised them all. “Is that the time?”

“What is your wish,” Parker asked. “Do you want to continue
after dinner? I’m happy to meet again at nine.”

 

“I’m Cecily- the one who has nothing.”

She hooked her arm under his and led him towards the first class
dining room.

“I can only join you on the captain’s says so,” Parker
hesitated.

“My brother wouldn’t refuse, but I’ll ask him anyway.”

She walked to the captain’s table and whispered into his ear.
Captain Saunders beckoned him over. “You’ve met my sister I see.
Care to join us?”

“Yes, sir. It would be a pleasure.”

 

Parker excused himself at 9 o’clock. The Captain had a puzzled
look on his face when Cecily told him about the discussion
group.

“I’ll be joining him after dinner,” Cecily said to her brother.
“See you for breakfast?”

 

The discussion had started without them. There were a few new
faces. Parker took advantage of a momentary lull in the
conversation to introduce Cecily by name.

“For me, love meant letting go of worldly things. I did. I’ve
made a vow of poverty. I’m Sister Cecily.”

Parker admitted: “I was going to say that I don’t know what love
feels like, but that would be a copout. I really want to be able to
one day say that I had a true love, a real love. Someone to
remember forever. That is my wish. I’ll be looking for her.”

“I lost a son. I have only a faint memory of my son’s love. How
stupid of me to let him go. All I had to say was ‘stay’,” whispered
an elderly man. He looked into the distance and wiped tears from
his face. “I apologise. I usually don’t get this emotional. Eric is
my name. I haven’t seen my son for 30 years. Could be a grandfather
for all I know. We were so close.”

 

Parker looked his watch. “I have to lock-up shortly and do my
rounds. You’re welcome to join me on the promenade deck.”

There was Angie, arms outstretched on the railing, waiting.
Parker stood next to her and looked into the darkness.

“You ought to be in bed.”

“Yeah, right.”

“I didn’t mean it that way.”

“What way is that, Willie?”

“Look, Angie girl,” Parker said as sincerely as he could.
“You’re too young to hang around people like me.”

“I’m 17 you know.”

“Not until your next birthday. I’ve checked.” He hadn’t.

“That’s not fair.”

 

Parker wanted to put his arm around her shoulder but didn’t.

“I’ll take you to your cabin.”

 “You gonna tell me how love feels. Show me maybe? Would
you, Will?”

There I am, knocking back bonus points.

“Triple points, bingo.”

“What?”

“Your first time’s got to be special. Wait till you meet someone
you love. And,” Parker confided: “Don’t tell me any different. I
can tell.”

“No you can’t. Thank you, I can find my way from here,” Angie
said with pouted lips, as they walked down the stairs to her
deck.

“I didn’t mean to offend,” Parker said.

“No need to apologise. Goodnight then,” Angie said and kissed
him on the cheek. “You haven’t checked. Have you?”

“Your age?”

“Yeah.”

“Did.”

“Did not. Sweet 16—soon,” Angie said with a mischievous smile
and walked away, hips swinging.

“Jail bait,” Parker hissed loud enough for her to hear.

“Yeah, whatever.”

 

Parker lay awake thinking about how he and others had reacted to
the song. Searching for love was leading him in unexpected
directions. He had never given any thought to the love between his
parents. Eric’s revelation had touched him deeply. Would he feel
that deeply about his children? Sleep on it.

 

Basil sat with his wife on the promenade deck in the fresh air
and morning sun. Enid was in a wheelchair, a mohair travel rug
draped over her legs.

“How are you, Enid?” Parker asked.

“I’m afraid she can’t hear you. She’s had a stroke and is quite
deaf now.”

“But you read the song to her last night.”

“She can’t hear but she can see and feel.”

Basil’s eyes turned misty as he stroked her hand tenderly and
adjusted the rug for a third time, then took a lace handkerchief
from his jacket pocket. Parker looked away as Basil wiped the
tiniest bit of spittle from the corner of her mouth. He had never
experienced such tenderness. Intimacy was something unfamiliar and
he felt embarrassed at Basil’s open display of affection and
caring. He rose quietly not wanting to intrude any further into
their love.

 

Eric came to see him later the same day. “Can you show me how
the internet works, please?”

Parker took him to the library terminal. Searches in the white
pages and on missing persons websites looked promising. He chose
not to tell Eric about his access to government online databases.
If his son had died, he didn’t want him to find out that way. Or
about any criminal record.

 

Parker didn’t tell him either about the ship’s state-of-the-art
information technology. Such was the concern about terrorism that
he could be in touch instantly with State and Federal authorities
and databases to check out suspicious persons.

At first, he had felt very self-conscious using activity logger
software. It worked in stealth mode and secretly tracked all
keystrokes and activities of the ship’s networked computer users.
It was interesting to see the web sites passengers and crew
accessed. But he soon tired of looking over people’s shoulders and
their private pleasures. Of much greater interest was e-mail
traffic. It revealed soft corruption and low-level fraud in various
ports. A quiet word to the offenders and alerting customs soon put
a stop to it.

The last duty at the end of each trip was the meticulously
checking and loading of supplies. He signed off on all delivery
dockets, a boring but necessary chore. That had put an end to
pilferage at the docks and fraudulent supplier documentation as far
as his ship was concerned. That was his business and he was pleased
that he had been able to make a difference.

 

The end of the sixth voyage came and the ship departed for the
northern summer with a core group of employees. Parker longed for
his Edward Island solitude and manual work. A week off after each
of the previous trips had not been long enough to keep his house in
good repair.

After six month at sea, there was a lot of work waiting for him.
He no longer needed the noisy generator. He had dipped into his
savings to install large solar panels and considerable backup
battery power to run a modern home. He had demolished the lean-to
and replaced it with a weatherboard shed workshop.

Debbie was pleased to hear from him and that he liked the
shipboard life, the four weeks on, one-week off roster. Apart from
dealing with the occasional drunk and quarrelling couples, there
was nothing much to do, he said. He was looking forward to doing it
all over again in the next season. At the end of the fourth cruise
year, he noted in his diary: “Occupied new bungalow.”

Debbie thought it safe for Parker to see his parents. It was an
emotional reunion when they joined the cruise. They were pleased to
have their son back. The haggard look, the deep lines in his face
they remembered from his Sydney days, had all but disappeared. He
was tanned and looked handsome and free of care. They spent each
season’s last cruise with him and a month on Edward Island. He
looked at his parents in a new light. They had married 40 years
ago. When they sat together, their bodies touched often. He was
embarrassed to see them kissing and holding hands like teenagers.
After lunch, his father suggested Will go and catch some fish.

Will couldn’t help stirring them.

“Are you having afternoon delight?”

“Don’t be rude!”

“I don’t mind him knowing dear,” his father said.

“I do!” his mother protested.

 

After cruising seven years, Parker was ready for a change and
looked forward to saying goodbye to his seafaring days. The last
voyage for the season had started uneventfully. Parker was
surprised, but not too concerned, when the captain wanted to see
him in his office. Saunders had a serious look on his face.

“There have been complaints about a Mr. Whitcombe and the
teenager Bryce.”

“I wonder if you could be a bit more specific, please, Sir?”
Parker asked.

“People are embarrassed at the gentleman’s familiarity with the
boy. If I need to take action, I will.”

“Do I have approval to search their cabin?”

“Yes and you have authority to contact whoever you need to. Come
back to me as quickly as you can.”

Parker spoke to the restaurant supervisor who told him that
Whitcombe and the young man usually ate early. He wasn’t aware of
any complaints. They pair kept to themselves. He knew that the
waiters didn’t like Whitcombe, but couldn’t be specific. Parker sat
with the supervisor who pointed out Whitcombe as he entered the
dining room.

Parker had seen the look on Whitcombe’s face before: a contrived
casualness meant to disguise the vile face of men he had seen
gutter crawl at the Cross. And he remembered too the resignation in
the faces of their targets. Whitcombe put his arm around Bryce’s
shoulders to steer him towards the buffet. The touch looked
innocent but Parkers understood the misgiving others had
voiced.

Parker let himself into the cabin and searched their luggage.
The 56-year-old Cyril Whitcombe had a fashionable Upper North Shore
address. A brother was listed as his next of kin. Bryce Dewar’s
brand new passport on the other hand, showed an inner-city address.
He was almost 16 but looked older. His next of kin was care of the
Macquarie Boys’ Home. Whitcombe had paid for both tickets by credit
card.

Parker observed them on the ship’s closed circuit TV cameras. He
recoiled at Whitcombe’s uncalled for touch to the boy’s lower back.
They walked towards the bow in rainsqualls that kept others away.
Whitcombe must have felt unobserved and unashamedly risked being
caught in a compromising situation. The camera recorded the
undisguised lust as Whitcombe pawed the boy. Parker was disgusted
at the lecher prepping his victim. Parker saw in a close-up Bryce’s
face and rain or perhaps tears in the boy’s face.

The camera recorded Whitcombe, arm around the boy’s waist,
returning to their cabin. The wet T-shirt clung to the boy’s body
like a second skin. Whitcombe stroked a long, wet strand of hair
out of Bryce’s face and let his flat hand fleetingly caress his
chest, then pushed him playfully through the open door. He turned
around and looked both ways down the passage. Whitcombe’s casual
expression changed into a lascivious grin as he undid his belt
buckle and closed the door.

Parker entered Whitcombe’s cabin quietly to the sound of a
shower running. He was revolted at what he saw through the half
open bathroom door, stepped in and flattened Whitcombe with a solid
jab to the midsection. Bryce helped Whitcombe to his feet, draped a
towel around him and sat him on the double bed.

Parker had expected gratitude but saw only ugly anger as bared
teeth distorted the boy’s chubby, pimply face into undisguised
hatred. Parker left without speaking, collected the videotapes and
took them to the captain’s office. He listened to Parker’s account
of the incident but declined to view the tapes.

“We are due in Auckland at 7AM. I want them both picked up by
the New Zealand police. The company will pay for the boy’s airfare
home. Economy. Please be discreet.”

 

Parker made fall use of the electronic communication facilities
for the first time. Whitcombe had prior convictions and was on the
NSW police paedophile watch list. Bryce was a Ward of the State.
Parker wanted to scream. How is it possible for a Ward of the State
to have permission to accompany a known offender on a cruise ship
holiday?

He waited a good hour to calm down before returning to
Whitcombe’s cabin accompanied by the purser. He left it to him to
tell Whitcombe about being put ashore in Auckland and possible
arrest. Bryce broke down and wept when told he was returning to
Sydney on his own.

Two plainclothes Auckland policemen boarded the ship to
interview Whitcombe. He departed under escort by one of the
officers who bundled him into a waiting car while the other stood
with Bryce at the railing. The boy screamed at Parker as the car
disappeared: “You ruined my life! He was going to have me adopted.
Now I’m gonna be put back into care.”

Parked felt sorry for him. What he had to say would fall on deaf
ears now but he felt compelled to warn Bryce anyway.

“He wasn’t going to have you adopted, you idiot. He would have
had you for a year and traded you for another 15 year old. Then
passed you on to his mates. And when they’re finished with you,
they would have kicked you out to work the streets. With luck you
might have lived to see 20.”

But Bryce was far too angry for advice. He stepped into the car,
looked over his shoulder and yelled: “I’ll get you. Promise. You
interfering bastard.”

 

Parker reported the incident by e-mail to the NSW Child
Protection Unit. He had done the right thing, hadn’t he? He had not
interfered but intervened because he owed a duty of care to his
passengers. He handed the printed and signed report to his captain
and felt a little better when Saunders shook his hand.

At the end of the cruise, the captain and crew gave him a
surprise farewell party. Parker left the ship in good spirits with
no regrets. As he had no intention of ever returning to Sydney,
Parker never gave Whitcombe and the boy a second thought.

Parker had not found love on the ship because he had stopped
looking. He didn't quite know why he had stopped searching for real
love. He took solace from his poem, convinced that the predictions
would come true.

“In time and over distance great, love enduring had to wait.” He
was about to return to Brisbane and start his new job. Not very
far, so love had to wait. He would not be looking for love for he
didn't know where to look. So far, he had looked in all the wrong
places.

***

 

The Galaxy Gold Coast Resort and Casino manager was happy to
have Parker join their security staff. The job was undemanding and
the 10 days on, 10 days off roster suited him. Towards the end of
his third year on the job, the resort manager became concerned
about discrepancies after stocktaking and assigned him to
investigate. The auditors suspected that employees pilfered stock.
Not just a can of coke or a few bottles of wine. Parker concluded
that pilfering could not account for the size of the discrepancy.
Missing stock, truckloads of it, could not be attributed to
pilfering. Fraud was a more likely explanation and he was right. He
found that a hotel accounts clerk, three suppliers and their
deliverymen had conspired in a simple but clever fraud.

  The clerk had made out dockets for fictitious minibar
liquor consumption and other minibar stock “charged” to vacant
rooms. He did this to balance consumption and supply in case
someone asked. He then ordered replacement stock for liquor
actually consumed and a supplementary order for the fictitious
consumption. The delivery paperwork showed both orders delivered
and signed for but only the goods on the first order were actually
delivered. The conspirators had worked that scheme for three years
netting them an estimated $250,000. Parker widened his
investigation and found that the bar manager was also involved. The
linen supplier and contract laundry were also investigated after
Parker’s simple calculations showed that linen and towels laundered
and paid for, based on known room occupancy, were double of what it
should have been. The contract laundry manager had worked a clever
scheme of submitting false invoices but had come undone when he
forced to submit higher and higher invoices to pay off the many
conspirators.

 

There was no shortage of female company, staff, suppliers or
casino customers for casual sex. That was the casual sex Parker had
left behind for good on the cruise ship. Well almost so. Parker had
not had sex for over a year since a last frantic grope and drunken
rump after the ship farewell party. True love was still
unrealistic, a hopeless nostalgic dream from which he had awoken
long ago. The poem lay forgotten now in a bottom drawer, but he
couldn’t bring himself to tossing it out.

He accepted an occasional invitation to dinner, a party or
function for company and fun but never romance or a blind date. He
was on duty when he noticed a red haired woman looking at him,
deliberately, invitingly from across the reception room. He wasn’t
interested and looked away. But she had known how to play him. Oh
how she had known!

He heard raised voices from the hallway between the function
room and the casino offices and investigated. Two of his security
staff had restrained a man and now escorted him off the premises.
The redhead sat slumped on the floor, her dress torn. She was
sobbing.

“You OK?”

“Yes,” she replied but not very convincingly.

“Is there anything I can do? I’m in charge of security.”

“Maybe call me a cab. I don’t think I want to drive home.”

Parker looked at his watch. He could leave the function and call
it a day.

“I can drive you home or to a doctor if you like.”

“No need for that. I’m fine, really. I don’t want to make a
fuss.”

“I sort of feel responsible,” Parker felt obliged to say.

“Just take me home. I’m OK. Just embarrassed at Brian getting
carried away,” she replied.

“Brian?”

“The chap who…. He just had too much to drink.”

“I see.”

 

Parker drove the woman’s car home and parked it in the driveway.
He declined an invitation to come inside as the cab he had ordered
was already at the kerb. Don’t get involved the tiny voice within
had warned. He heeded it and thought no more about her. Had he
checked the casino security surveillance camera, he would have
thought otherwise.

A courier delivered parcel took him by surprise the next day. A
bottle of Penfolds Grange Hermitage wine was a very expensive
gesture. “From the damsel in distress,” said the little gift card
with a mobile telephone number. He liked her style and sent her a
text message invitation for a BYO dinner. They had that dinner,
drank the Grange Hermitage and that was that until they met the
following weekend, at a supermarket liquor outlet. By accident,
Parker thought.

“Penfolds shopping?”

“You asking me out?”

“I am?” Parker replied.

“If not you, then me,” the redhead said cheekily.

“It’s your turn anyway,” Parker sparked.

“Tonight, my place,” Justine offered.

“OK. I know where you live but not your name!”

“Justine Cooper.”

“What about the man…What’s his name?” Parker asked.

“Brian?”

“Yes, Brian the man at the casino.” 

“Not your worry.”

“Aha.”

It had been a pleasant evening until the phone rang. Whoever was
calling was away on business, it seemed.

“Brian,” she explained: “likes to keep in touch. Sorry for the
interruption.”

“Her doesn’t mind you entertaining?”

“I am my own woman. I entertain whoever I like.”

Then the phone rang again. There was tension in her voice now,
she became angry. When it rang again, she answered and slammed down
the receiver, then took it off the hook and switched off the
mobile.

“My ex. Sorry for that,” Justine apologised and broke into
tears. “He hassles me.”

Parker clasped her hands. “I’ll protect you.”

“Are you afraid to give me a hug?”

“No!”

“I could really use one, right now.”

“Brian won’t mind?”

“We’re done. And anyway, you’d be so much better at it than he,”
Justine challenged.

 “A hug then it is,” Parker conceded.

“One hug will do. Thank you, knight to my rescue.”

 

He put her out of his mind but she didn’t go away. Justine
called him from the casino high-roller suite. She looked stunning
in the most next to nothing dress Parker had ever seen and still
looked decent. She was alluring, desirable and very bored sitting
alone and sipping a glass of champagne as the roulette players
placed their bets. Justine’s eyes found him and they held each
other’s gaze longer than he wanted. She stood up, walked over to
the roulette table. A seated player, on feeling her hand on his
shoulder, touched her knee and ran his hand up the inside of her
thigh. She giggled and kissed him sensually but ever so briefly on
the neck. She turned suddenly and caught Parker watching them. The
look she gave him was an unmistakeable invitation and reinforced
when her tongue flicked over bright red lips. Confusion in Parker’s
mind turned to anger when the man took her hand and placed it in
his lap.

Let go of her you shit or I’ll rip your face off!! She’s mine.
He wanted to touch her, feel her silken skin, caress her all over
and have her. All mine-stay away! Justine looked at him and
laughed. She was mocking him? Had she noticed his jealousy?

Parker watched and waited, wanting her to move away from his
rival. He followed her into the foyer and they locked eyes again.
No woman had looked at him that way. He had seen that look in
others. An offer of intimacy, a look that said I’m yours. It
declared I want you and I know you want me. He was hooked and she
knew it.

“So where do we go from here?” Parker asked.

“Come,” she simply replied, took his hand and led him to the
lift.

“Can’t you make it go faster?” she begged.

 

Justine made him possess her, gave him whatever he wanted. The
hours passed in a blur of exhausting excitement interrupted by
little deaths and more passion. Justine pleased him and he
responded in techniques remembered from his shipboard encounters.
They surprised each other in new ways that heightened mutual desire
and satisfaction.

“Don’t let this ever end,” Parker demanded.

“I’ll be yours,” Justine promised.

 

He woke when he heard the shower run. There was a warm glow from
Justine’s thighs as she snuggled up. She started caressing him with
renewed, ignited passion, frantic for his touch.

 “I need a shower,” Parker said in anticipation of an even
more intense and abandoned restraint in their encounter.

“I want you to know all of me.”

“And you of me,” Justine replied and panted: “I am a slut. Be
quick or I’ll start without you.”

 

He hummed a familiar tune in the shower. Thank you John Denver.
He wiped the misted over mirror and liked what he saw. A smile and
a genuine, long sought happiness.

His elation shattered like glass on concrete. A small plastic
clip lock bag on the black marble vanity table turned his smile
into a grimace of disgust. The unmistakable smudges of a white
powder on the smooth surface chilled his heart. It had not been
passion or sensuality-just the highs of cocaine induced ecstasy.
The redhead had perverted what he wanted to be the start of real
love. Not the real thing here. No love memories to cherish from
this mess of anger, regret and despair. Just crushed hope and
illusion. Wherfore a shadow of love? You fool! You stupid, stupid
fool.

He stood at the foot of the bed, fists clenched and jaw set.
Justine writhed between the sheets oblivious of his rage. Her face
glistened in the soft bedside light when she turned and begged:
“Finish me off. Come to me now.”

Parker turned his back to her. He didn’t want her to see his
anger and disgust and that he still had a full erection still.

“Coke! You bitch! Coke! What are you doing!!!!” he screamed.

“Your dick’s not mad at me. I don’t think you should be either.
I don’t snort the stuff, you know,” she declared.

“Next you are going to tell me it’s for my benefit?” Parker
challenged.

“It is. I wanted you so much from the first day I saw you. I
played hard to get and what we had was your reward. It was just an
experiment. I’m no druggie. Please come back to bed.”

“So the roulette little scene?”

“I wanted to make you jealous. He means nothing to me,” Justine
lied.

 

Parker hesitated but melted when Justine pulled back the sheets
and beckoned. It might be their first and last encounter. But what
the heck, he might as well enjoy the moment. The sight and feel of
this woman’s body and its pleasures soon dulled his anger.

“If you don’t snort the stuff, like you said,” Parker wondered,”
What did you do with it?”

“I put it where it’s moist and warm and where it makes me
super-sexy. You’ve tasted it, sweetheart.”

The redhead lured him out of despair and seduced him into
cautious hope. Justine banished the shadow of love and took him
into a sun that blinded Parker. He was oblivious to the very deep
shadows this bright sun cast.

 

Much to Parker’s delight, they had a lot in common. The more
time he spent with Justine, the more he grew to like her. Justine
loved what he wanted. She shared the simple pleasures of going to
watch a football match. He grew to like shopping with her for
herself and him. She had expensive taste and the money to pay for
it, so it seemed. Justine was very good at surprising him.
Protesting at spending so much only spurred her to greater
extravagance. She easily conquered his resistance and he
relented.

“Who is paying for all this?” Parker griped.

“Amex! Silly. And my investments.”

It became their private joke and he acquiesced to what pleased
his woman. Justine showered him with gifts and dazzling weekend
trips to Singapore. She countered his plea to let him pay by
pulling out the Platinum Amex card. On Parker’s birthday, she gave
him two presents: a small envelope with an Amex card in his name
and a home made gift card. He was entitled to an unconditional
experience of his choice. He was too busy thinking about what that
meant to look at the card in more detail. He would have noticed an
odd ‘From’ date.

“Unconditional?” Parker asked.

“Yes. Whatever you fancy.”

“Right now only you!”

“And later?”

“Still you. I’m not sharing you with anyone else,” Parker
said.

“You can always change your mind,” Justine teased: “Remember, no
conditions imposed.”

“Justine, you are a wicked woman but I love you,” he blurted
out.

Justine’s reaction threw him. She broke into tears and pushed
him away when he put his arms around her to console his woman now
so distressed.

“What’s wrong?” Parker needed to know. “What’s upset you?”

“I’m OK. It’s just that you caught me off guard. I didn’t
realise how much I mean to you.”

 

Parker had unexpectedly run into a Fraud Squad detective who was
part of the team investigating the liquor and linen supplier scams
that would soon go to trial. He excused himself and walked over to
Justine who was meeting him at the end of his shift. She was on
edge and asked to be taken home. She met Parker’s gentle concern
and probing with silence and her good night peck on the cheek was a
real turnoff and undeserved, he decided.

A message from the Public Prosecutor’s Office ‘Urgent meet
today. My office. R. Mair.’ greeted him at the start of the next
days shift. If the tone was cool and insistent, the reception was
frosty. He was taken aback at being questioned.

“You were observed last night at the casino in company of one
Justine Devlin,” Robert Mair, the Public Prosecutor stated.

“Justine Cooper, you mean?”

“No, Justine Devlin. You’ve been pegging Brian Devlin’s missus.
Her husband is charged with fraud and conspiracy to defraud. You
remember the casino laundry fiddle, don’t you?” Mair said with
undisguised sarcasm.

“She told me she was divorced. So what?”

“So what? You have no idea. You may have compromised the whole
case!” he shouted.

 

Over the next hour, Parker learnt that he had been under
surveillance since the night he had first met Justine and driven
her home. Mair confronted him with telephone intercepts, Amex
statements, airline tickets and a pile of receipts. Worryingly also
a lease contract for a BMW car and a rented car space at the
casino. The police had a diary of his movements over recent
weeks.

“And there is the bank account with a credit of $9,573.45 in
your name. How do you explain that?”

“I can’t,” Parker confessed. “All I can tell you is that I fell
in love with someone who I thought loved me.”

“You’ve been had, pal,” Mair said. “Conned, hook, line and
sinker. Brian Devlin’s barrister is going to have a field day with
you. No, that’s not true. He is going to wipe the floor with you,”
Mair said and his face red with anger continued: “We strongly
believe that the defence will accuse you of conspiracy with Justine
Devlin to implicate her husband in the fraud and…,” Mair charged
but Parker interrupted.

“Remember, I discovered the con. I called in the fraud squad. Do
you think I would be so stupid as to draw attention to a crime I am
supposed to have committed?” Parker protested.

“Consider this: A young, sexy woman with expensive taste and an
extravagant lifestyle dumps her husband for a younger man, you. The
defence will contend that the two of you worked the laundry scam
and when that wasn’t enough for both your needs, she embezzled his
company and then went for the jugular by taking the lot, And he’s
in jail. The jury will buy that. Devlin will go free,” Mair
speculated.

“Sounds plausible,” Parker admitted. “I saw her take cocaine,
once. That will go against me too?”

“Sure. Have you anything else that connects you to Justine?”

“An Amex card.”

“Hand it over.”

Mair studied the card and compared it with documents in front of
him.

“Lucky you. The ‘From’ date on the card is a month before you
were first observed. We know all of Justine’s movements.”

“So I was in her sights right from the start of the
investigation?” Parker wondered: “If you check the video
surveillance for the night I first met her, you’ll probably see
that the supposed assault was a con to hook me.”

 

“You were well and truly hooked,” Mair replied in a conciliatory
tone. “You poor sod. So this is where we are: There is a chance
that Devlin can beat the charge if you and Justine Devlin testify.
You were never a suspect. So we simply won’t call you. We’ll
present only the evidence-the paper trail connected with the fraud
and witnesses and convict him that way,” Mair said.

“So Justine went through this entire charade with me to get her
husband off?” Parker wondered.

“A double cross to get him off. That’s our explanation. She
would have perjured herself to implicate you and backed off only
when she saw you with the detective.”

“I fell for her. No, that’s nor correct. I coveted her. She made
me jealous and reeled me in. She lied, cheated, charmed me, had
fantastic sex with me. She conspired and would even perjure
herself. What a woman.” Parker smiled but there was a sarcastic
edge to his voice when he admitted: “Yep, some woman.”

“People do the most amazing things for love,” Mair said.

“Don’t I know! She must love her husband very much. I envy him.
She’ll do anything for love,” Parker replied. “Now I
understand!”

“Understand what?”

“Why she broke up with me for want of a better word. I told her
I loved her. She would never betray someone she loves. She’ll
always stand by her man. She won’t betray someone she loves.”

“Or someone who loves her?” Mair speculated.

A lucky man to have that woman’s love, Parker thought. Real
love. Unconditional true love. A forever love come hell or high
water. A memory to cherish for life. Real love for them, but not
for me. Only fucking shadows of love. Wherefore love’s shadow?
Never again!

 

Once clear of Mair’s office, Parker, screaming obscenities, ran
and ran  until his lungs burnt. People stared at him and gave
the madman a wide birth. He had to get Justine out of his system.
Not only her but all women. He ran and ran until the pain in his
side said ‘stop’. He was oblivious to his surroundings and walked
until the body pain eased. But the pain in his heart remained. He
had nobody with whom to share his anguish, the hurt and
disappointment and was angry at himself. He had been stupid,
stupid, stupid to lift the lid on the laundry swindle. He had
meddled-again. No, that was not true. He had done his duty. But how
naïve, how dumb, dumb, dumb to fall for a woman who had dangled
sex, hooked and played him like a fish. His instinct had let him
down. She knew as much or more about conning others than he did and
she deserved a toast. They could have made a splendid con couple.
But then she already had a conman in her life. Ha, ha, ha.

I am so stupid and naïve and innocent. He had been, once upon a
time in Dubbo, a young constable who had fallen for Simone, his
landlady. Divorced, 26, sexy and very desirable. He thought it was
love when she came on to him, played with his feelings and teased
him with words and glimpses of a gorgeous body. He had fallen for a
rapacious and indiscriminate woman who soon tired of him.

“Not love! Lust is what you feel for me,” she had replied to his
confession of love. When his budget did not stretch to another
dirty weekend in Sydney, someone else took his place. He was
jealous, heartbroken and disillusioned. Love had left a sour taste
in his mouth, a bitter memory. He would be more wary in the future.
Yeah right!

He went to the nearest pub and drank. Here’s to you Justine, you
cunning bitch. And you Simone. Fucken women. Can’t trust you.
Another toast. To my  true love wherever you are. Fucken
women. Another toast. To abstinence. Fucken women. He called a cab,
while he still could, gave the cabbie $50 and promised him another
$50 to wait and take him home when he had drunk enough. That done,
he ordered up and drank himself legless to forget the insulting
hurt, love, disappointment and everything else. He never shouted
loud enough for others to hear his curses, whispered a last fucken
women and slipped from the barstool.

 

He was back at work when a telephone call made him sit up: “Get
your arse down here!” was what the caller had shouted and hung up.
Parker soon found out who wanted his arse and people laughed. He
would either be fired or promoted for he had come to the attention
of the Chairman of the board, Kelvin Arthur Gillespie.

Brian Devlin was found guilty of conspiracy and fraud. Under
proceeds of crime legislation, his assets were confiscated and
sold. Brian Devlin was in gaol and Justine? Parker didn’t care. The
redhead was quite capable of looking after herself.

 

Parker returned to Sydney after a ten-year absence. A new
security pass gave him access to the company head office penthouse
office suite with a foyer designed to impress. He introduced
himself to the receptionist, Miss A. Webb and asked why the
Chairman wanted to see him.

“Mr. Gillespie likes people who protect his wealth,” Miss Webb
hinted.

“I’m in the clear then?” Parker concluded and smiled.

“Oh yes. You’re in. And one day you’ll be out.”

Parker let her cryptic comment ride. Or was it a warning?

“Do you mind if I have a look at the paintings while I
wait?”

“I’ll guide you,” she offered.

Here she goes again, Parker thought. Another odd remark and that
enigmatic smile. Ignore it!  But the devil rode him and with a
like smile, he said: “As long as you guide me in the right
direction.”

She reacted with the briefest scowl and a spark of irritation in
her eyes. She instantly recovered her cool, professional self and
faced him squarely.

 “Let me explain who these people are,” she offered as they
stood in front of a large oil portrait.

“This is Mr. Gillespie’s father. He was a prospector and mining
engineer in WA after the war.” The adjacent painting was of a much
older man. “That’s him again,” she explained. “It was painted from
a photograph taken the week before he died. He was a wealthy man
who had developed many of his leases. He left Mr. Gillespie a very
solid foundation.”

 “Miss Webb, please ask Mr. Parker to come in,” the
intercom announced.

 

Gillespie sat at an oversized desk in a vast room with Circular
Quay and Sydney Harbour for a stunning backdrop. He looked up, rose
and farted.

“Feel better now?” Parker blurted out, to which Gillespie
replied: “Yes, much.”

Gillespie was tall and fat, 60ish. His face was big. He had a
prominent nose and a square chin as if hewn with an axe. A generous
mouth and full lips hinted at secret appetites, excesses and
pleasures, Parker concluded. Gillespie’s brow was deeply creased
and he had strong furrows in acne-scarred cheeks. The teeth
fascinated Parker. They were large and square with slight, dark
gaps between them that reminded him of Alexander Pearce, the
Tasmanian convict turned cannibal in the silent movie he had seen
as a child. He felt warned but Gillespie’s brown and gentle eyes
diverted him.

The white shirt needed ironing. The silk tie was knotted badly.
The navy pants had cigarette ash on them. The word crumpled came to
mind.

“Stop looking me up and down. Cut it out. Me boss, you slave,”
Gillespie barked. “Got it?” Gillespie’s tone was conciliatory when
he continued: “I need people with integrity and honesty. Don’t like
people pinching my money.”

He cleared his throat repeatedly, but the voice was still rough
and throaty. “I hear you to let a woman con you. Bad move. On the
positive side, the cruise people liked you. You come highly
recommended by the Premier’s Department no less. There is nothing
in your file about employment before you took up cruising,”
Gillespie said and paused.

 

Parker shrugged his shoulders. Gillespie glowered at him.

 “Anything I should worry about?”

“Not in the least. It’s a question of self protection,” Parker
smiled.

“Self protection,” Gillespie mumbled and let the matter rest
there to Parker’s relief.

“Tell me more about the hotel fraud. I’m interested in how you
think.”

Parker explained: “I can think like a crook. White-collar crime
is easier than burglary. It gets you into the money, not just once.
If you’re rally clever, you can get away with it by covering your
tracks. But there is always a paper trail. I chase the paper
trail.”

Gillespie understood. “So we paid for stock ordered but not
delivered.”

“That’s what happened. But that wasn’t all. They stole your
money twice. Once, when we paid inflated prices. Your employees got
kickbacks. The second time by approving false invoices. It needs
insiders to work.”

“This went on for years though. Why wasn’t it picked up
earlier?” Gillespie said angrily.

“They started small and were found out only when they got too
greedy,” Parker explained.

Gillespie swivelled in his chair, stood up and looked out the
window, then turned abruptly and fronted Parker. “You could have
got yourself a piece of the action. Why didn’t you?”

“I hate crims,” Parker replied, fists clenched without meaning
to. “And I don’t want to get rich that way.”

Gillespie returned to his desk, squared up the papers in front
of him and laid them to one side. ”I’m taking you off the casino
payroll. You’ll be on a yearly contract on my personal staff. Do
good, keep your mouth shut and you’ll get rich. You can go
now.”

“What’s my next job?” Parker asked.

“Wait for my call. Piss off!”

“Yes, sir!” Parker countered.

“Don’t call me sir!” Gillespie threatened.

“Goodbye then, Mr. Gillespie,” Parker said.

“You can call me Kel. Piss off, Will.”

“Piss off yourself, Kel.”

They broke into laughter. Gillespie stood up, shook Parker’s
hand and walked him to the door. “Take care of Mr. Parker, would
you please, Miss Webb?”

 

“You two seem to get on all right,” she chuckled and handed him
an envelope.

“You heard?”

“I hear everything,” Miss Webb replied.

There she goes with another odd comment. She’s no ordinary
receptionist Parker decided. In the envelope was a five-page
contract, a credit card and a sealed envelope. Parker started
reading but Miss Webb interrupted.

“Just insert your fee and sign.”

Parker was startled. “What do I ask for?”

“Whatever you think you’re worth,” she said not helping him at
all.

Parker weighed it up. Too much and Gillespie might not sign. Too
little and he would cheat himself. He filled in the blank space
thinking that $75,000 should be acceptable and signed.

“He’ll accept that,” Miss Webb said to Parker’s relief and
signed.

“You know that for sure?” Parker asked.

“I know that. And a whole lot more and then some,” she said.
Parker didn’t know what to make of yet another unfathomable remark
and ignored it. He looked at a dozen framed photographs dotted
around the foyer. He recognized Gillespie senior but none of the
others.

“Who are these people?”

“Gillespie victims. He calls it the family scoreboard.”

Parker thought this another odd thing to say and wouldn’t let it
bother him.

“Seriously though, I need contact and bank details. Use this
form and the self-addressed envelope.”

“So that’s it then? Parker said. “Where to from here?”

“Anywhere you like. You are on call 24 hours a day. You’ll need
a satellite phone. Use the credit card for whatever you need to get
a job done. There is no limit on it and it can’t be traced back to
you. Please sign this receipt.”

Parker handed her the signed receipt, slipped the credit card
into his wallet and put the sealed envelope in his back pocket.

“Goodbye, Miss Webb.”

“Goodbye, Mr. Parker.”

“You’re not a receptionist are you?”

“It’s one of my duties. Mr. Gillespie calls me his right hand
man.”

 

He opened the envelope and counted the money in the lift: 
$5,000 cash. A handwritten note said: ‘Thanks. K.’

 

Miss Webb and her cryptic remarks! You’ll need a satellite
phone, she had advised. Now how the hell did she know that?

 

 

Chapter 3

 

Off to the big smoke. Parker flew to Sydney to renew his
contract for the third time. “Nice to see you, Mr. Parker,” Agnes
Webb said with a smile.

“Same here, Miss Webb.”

“Go right in. He’s in a very good mood.”

Gillespie was seated in a lounge chair, looked up, said hello
and placed a slim file on the coffee table.

“Sit down. You’ve earned your keep. Thanks.” Gillespie’s voice
was sincere.

“You’re off audit. I need you for another job.”

Parker had in his first two years with Gillespie built around
his own expertise a team of accountants who conducted random
internal audits and tested security and asset protection systems
throughout the group. Gillespie had implemented the necessary staff
reassignments, some sackings and a few prosecutions they had
recommended. Over recent months, Parker had withdrawn from the
team’s everyday functions to concentrate on wider issues of
security, employment and staff morale.

Because Gillespie didn’t take kindly to others taking the
initiative, Parker refrained from mentioning a replacement.

 

“So, people don’t like me much. You say in the report that fear
is a poor motivator and that I must let people participate more.
You’ve been round the country for the last year. So what needs to
change, Will?”

“Build trust and loyalty in your senior people.”

Parker saw a brief flash of anger in Gillespie’s face but he
remained silent. Interesting! You have trust and loyalty
issues!

“We’ve recommended reforms. Approve them and reap the benefits,”
Parker advised.

Gillespie picked up the report file opened it, then closed it,
put it down and pushed it aside.

“Not now.” He looked Parker square in the eye. “Keep this to
yourself. The New South Wales Government will put a casino licence
out to tender soon. I intend to bid and win.”

Parker knew better than to ask how Gillespie had found out.

“This is a billion-dollar project. It will employ hundreds of
people. Firstly find out all you can about the tender committee.
The committee must be convinced that our operation in Queensland is
squeaky clean.”

Parker noticed that Gillespie had averted his gaze and looked at
the file in front of him. He’s going to tell me more lies!

Gillespie continued: “There’s nothing there to worry about.
Money-laundering will not take place in my casinos.”

Indeed! The opposite is more likely: There is money-laundering
and I am to keep my nose out of it! You lying shit!

“Secondly, check out other tenderers. Take this file, it will
get you started.”

“Gee Kel, that’s a big job. How long are you giving me?” Parker
asked.

“Just get on with it. Whatever it takes. Did you hear that, Miss
Webb?” The intercom squawked:

“Yes, Mr. Gillespie.”

Parker put on a happy face, shook hands and left.

 

“Look at me, Bill,” his mother used to say when she doubted him
telling the truth. Bill could not look at her and lie. Gillespie’s
body language had contradicted what he had said. Imagination? Trust
your instinct.

He didn’t relish the prospect of having to watch his back again.
But whether he liked it or not, he was in too deep. Too late to
back out now.

Parker took out a six-month lease on a large, centrally located
furnished apartment for living and office space. He had within a
week a fully equipped home office with a desktop computer, laptop,
a fax, copier and satellite phone.

Parker phoned Debbie for a meeting. She was surprised to hear
from him and not at all interested in seeing him. After all, his
file was closed. Parker came straight to the point and told her of
his new assignment.

 

Debbie was impressed with his new office that Parker proudly
showed her. “This is my third year with Gillespie after leaving the
cruise ship," he explained. "I need an assistant for my present
assignment for the next three months at least. Then full-time as a
member of the internal audit team as a security consultant. If
you're interested, you can name your own salary. You'd be
travelling a fair bit."

"I'm flattered, Will. I've been with the Feds for 15 years. I
need time to think about it.”

"That’s fine by me," Parker assured her. "Have dinner with
me?"

"I would love to have dinner with you, Will. May I bring a
friend?"

 

Debbie introduced Lexie Floyd, a recent commerce graduate with a
computer science major. Parker got the impression that Debbie had
already decided to turn down the position and steered the
conversation towards Lexie’s job prospects.

“I need a research assistant who understands computers, company
structures, banking and someone who is naturally nosey. This
wouldn’t be your first job. If you don’t mind me asking?”

“Not at all. I am 26, which makes me a mature age student. I
started work in the Transport Department as a data entry operator,
did some programming courses and progressed to systems analyst. My
gran left me some money which made it possible for me to go to
Uni,” Lexie said.

Parker looked at Debbie for a reaction.

“It’s up to you two.”

“You’d be working for me to start with. There is a permanent job
later maybe. Can you start next week?”

Lexie nodded.

 

Parker told her about Gillespie’s intention to bid for the
casino licence. Her first assignment was to find out the tender
committee members' names.

“This is the file Gillespie gave me. Start from there,” Parker
said.

"You want a complete background check on all committee members.
For what purpose?”

Parker had to allay her reservations. "We need to know who's
vulnerable, personally and financially. There is a great deal at
stake. We want to make sure of a level playing field, that's all.
Let's see what you can find out."

 

Lexie wasn’t going to be a pushover. Parker sat at the dining
table and wrote out a list of jobs for her. He stole a furtive
glance at his assistant. Lexie was at least 10 years younger than
Debbie, taller and decidedly prettier. And much more stylish with
blond tips in her hair and dressed in a very fashionable suit. She
drew attention to herself with her confidence and appealing figure.
Not ideal qualities for what he needed, but something they could
work on.

 

Lexie gave him the list of names half an hour later.

“Crikey! That was quick. How did you do that?”

“There is an Internet Café at the Laundromat. I’ll be quicker
once we have our own internet connection. The NSW Government home
page has the New South Wales Contracts Control Board's annual
report with names and positions. With the exception of a Police
Force nominee, all are public servants from various government
agencies.”

Parker agreed with Lexie’s suggestion to subscribe to a credit
reference bureau.

“What next?”

"What do you know about the corporate world?”

"Not that much, but I suspect that this will change rather
quickly," Lexie replied.

"I want you to investigate Gillespie’s company that will bid for
the casino licence. And that includes all senior management and
major shareholders. Do a corporate search of the holding company,
subsidiaries and all other affiliated companies in which Gillespie
has a controlling interest.”

“Gillespie? Are we investigating him?” Lexie was taken aback.
“Gillespie himself?”

"Exactly. Because that's what his competitors will do. They will
try to do their best to find weaknesses. Whatever they can find, we
will have to find first to forewarn Gillespie,” Parker
explained.

"Brilliant," said Lexie. “And we will have the jump on
them."

“Be prepared for the shit to hit the fan if Gillespie finds out
that we're investigating him. Don’t let him intimidate you; he
will. I’ll take the flak."

Parker showed her the shopping list. “We will be known as ‘Bunya
Planning Services’. Use the address here but only if you absolutely
have to. Get Telstra to reconnect the phone. Then get a post office
box at the GPO, an Internet connection and set up a Bunya.com.au
web site. Make it look like an agricultural consultant site. Built
the site around the words agronomy services, feasibility studies,
finance, leasing, taxation advice, silviculture establishment and
maintenance. Rent a safe deposit box at my bank for Bunya. Then set
up an online bank account for me.”

"I'll make a start on the company search. What will you be
doing?" Lexie asked.

"I'll start nosing around for likely casino competition. Is your
passport up-to-date? We might have to go overseas.”

“It is.”

“But first, we’ll go to the bank to organise your pay. How much
do you think you need for petty cash?”

 

Parker and Lexie sat down at the end of the second day to review
progress. The credit bureau revealed Deputy Chairman Robinson’s
unsatisfactory credit rating. Another had been denied a personal
loan two years ago, but had no adverse entries since. Robinson,
they agreed, needed investigating.

“How vulnerable do you think he is to outside influence?”

"Depends on his debts," Parker thought. "Dig deeper. We need to
know the reasons for the poor rating. Is he a punter?”

“Horses? I’ve never been to the races. You reckon I might see
him there?”

“You never know. I’ll give you $1000 to bet with. If he’s there,
get to know him.”

“How?” Lexie wondered.

“Use your initiative,” Parker suggested.

“Like get a photo first?”

“Or maybe somehow meet him during the week and then just happen
to run into him on Saturday?”

“Devious! What will Gillespie do about Robinson?”

"That will depend on whether he has connections that could
influence him. What will Gillespie do? Don’t know, don't care and
neither should you," Parker said and that was that.

“I’ve been thinking. The tender committee needs more financial
and investigation expertise,” Lexie guessed. “I reckon the Feds
will buy into it, either directly or by having a nominee. Debbie
might be able to help us out of with that.“

“Good idea. Maybe the Security and Exchange Commission as well?”
Parker wondered. “Gillespie needs to know that.”

“How would you and Debbie like a few days on Hamilton Island?”
Parker asked with a smile.

“We’d love that. She deserves a holiday.”

“OK. We’ll review progress there. Good luck at the races. I’ll
be in touch.”

“What if I lose?” Lexie asked anxiously.

“Doesn’t matter.”

“What if I win?”

“You give me back my thousand and keep the rest.”

“Goodie!”

The AFP getting involved? Debbie seemed eager to use her
connection with Debbie. Was she showing initiative or did she have
an agenda?

 

Parker flew to Brisbane for a closer look at the casino
operation. The Galaxy manager met him at the airport. Brad Goldner
knew of Gillespie’s forthcoming bid for the casino licence and was
anxious to co-operate. Or so he said.

“You can be sure of one thing,” Parker said as they sat in a
limousine on the way to the resort. “The tender committee will go
through your operation with a fine tooth comb. If you have people
with a shady past on your payroll, get rid of them now. Gillespie’s
other main worry is money-laundering. The committee is really hung
up on this.”

“Where do I come in?” Goldner asked.

“I have unrestricted access to all areas of the casino: people,
computers, records, you name it. If there is anything dodgy that
you know of, tell me now. Do you understand? No slip ups. Your
operation has to be squeaky clean.”

Parker looked at Brad whose face had turned ashen. What’s going
on?

Goldner took the initiative: “I’ve got to speak to Gillespie.
Why don’t you just check in and take it easy for the rest of the
day. We’ll meet in the morning.”

Parker thought about it. “Fine, but I want to make an early
start. I want to talk to all the floor managers, starting with the
Chief Floor Manager first thing tomorrow.”

“I’ll see if he’s free,” Goldner said.

“No, Brad. He will meet me at nine. Your office.”

Goldner stared out the window. His knuckles had turned white.
There were beads of sweat on his forehead. He didn’t wait for the
chauffeur to open the door and let himself out. Parker watched him
disappear in a hurry. He had spooked Goldner without meaning to. Oh
dear!

He followed the chauffeur to the reception desk and checked
in.

“Welcome Mr. Parker. Miss Webb has authorised your stay in the
Directors’ Lodge.”

“That’s very nice of her,” Parker replied and followed the
chauffeur. Director’s Lodge no less! Parker rested for an hour then
showered and shaved.

The dining room was frantically busy and rather than wait for
table, he decided on a drink at the bar. He ordered a beer and
asked for the room service menu. Fish or steak? Might as well have
crayfish on Gillespie. He couldn’t decide on whether to have sweets
or not. The bartender noticed him squirming and fiddling with this
cuffs. He hadn’t touched his second beer.

“Something wrong, sir?”

“What?” Parker looked at him.

“Your beer.”

“The beer’s fine.”

He picked up the menu, started reading again but the feeling
wouldn’t go away. A cold shiver ran down his spine.

Someone’s watching!

He picked up his beer, sipped and studied reflections in the bar
mirror. There were people standing behind him but no one
suspicious. Others were seated along the opposite wall. Perhaps he
was imagining things.

“How are you, Constable?”

He froze, then swivelled in his chair. He sized her up
instantly: in her 20s, good figure, nice hair, good clothes.

“Constable?” he said with a nervous laugh,” I’m not a
policeman.”

This was the encounter he had dreaded. Someone had recognised
him after all these years. He was relieved a little to see that she
didn’t have male company by the look of it.

No immediate threat.

“You mightn’t be one now, but I knew you when you were.”

“I doubt that,” Parker finished his beer and rose. She touched
him gently on the forearm.

“Relax. Samantha. Remember me, Chantel’s friend? Give you a
freebie, Constable. I followed you from the foyer.”

“Ah, Sam from the Cross.” Parker looked her up and down. She
looked decidedly respectable.

“That was a few years ago.”

“You’ve done well for yourself.”

“Yeah, I have,” said Sam sarcastically. “From a street hooker,
to an escort girl, to a married man’s kept piece.”

She looked at her feet, then at Parker with sad eyes. The
corners of her mouth turned down.

”All in ten years and am not even 26.”

“You started young.”

“My stepfather started me young. So what have you been up
to?”

“Oh, nothing much. Did time in South Australia. Got off with
good behaviour. Since then I’ve worked in security. Pretty simple
life really.”

“So you’re on holidays?” Sam asked.

“No such luck! You waiting for someone?”

“Yeah. Loverboy,” she replied matter-of-fact. “A drink, a quick
shag at the flat and back here for supper. I’ve got $50 for the
pokies to keep myself amused until knock off time.”

“That doesn’t sound too bad a life really. You working?” Parker
asked.

“No, I’m not on the game if that’s what you’re asking. Just the
odd job playing the tourist wife.”

She looked around, then at the clock behind the bar for the
third time in as many minutes. The barman shrugged his shoulders in
response to her quizzical look. She was getting edgier by the
minute.

“I won’t be a moment.” Samantha rose and spoke to the
barman.

He dialled a house number and handed her the phone. Parker
couldn’t hear what was she said but noticed her getting more
agitated. She replaced the receiver, looked around, fiddled with
her bracelet, looked at the clock again and returned to Parker.

“He’s left.” She was biting her lip and looked into the
distance, opened her handbag and then closed it.

“You been stood up?” Parker said trying to make light of the
situation.

“No. It’s more serious than that. Jake had a stand-up row with
his boss and decked him.”

“What! In the office?”

“In the middle of the casino,” Samantha burst out laughing.
“Serves Goldner right, that shit, for sucking Jake in.”

“Never mind. What are you drinking?”

Parker ordered her bourbon and coke and another beer himself.
Samantha rummaged through an oversize handbag and having found her
mobile, excused herself and disappeared into the ladies’
toilet.

“I’ll be gone a couple of minutes,” Parker said to the barman.
“If the lady comes back before me, ask her to wait.”

“That’s no lady. She’s Jake’s bit on the side.” The barman
pointed to the drinks. “Do you want to pay for this now?”

Parker dropped $20 on the bar and walked to the front of house
and asked to speak to Goldner. The receptionist told him that he
had gone home after treatment in the first aid room.

“It was really embarrassing. Jake Harmsen flattened him in front
of everybody and then took off.”

“I may want to speak to both of them. I need their mobile and
home phone numbers.”

Parker wrote the numbers in his pocket diary and returned to the
bar. Samantha had finished her first drink and half the next. She
hadn’t quite managed to clean herself up. The smudged mascara and
red eyes said it all.

“Shout you dinner, Constable?” Samantha voice was teary.

“My name’s Will.”

“Shout you dinner, Will?” there was now a little bit of cheek in
her voice.

“That’s better,” Parker said. “My shout. Let’s have dinner
in.”

“And nookies.” She apologised when Parker frowned. “Only
kidding.”

 

Samantha headed straight for the minibar in his suite and helped
herself to a Jack Daniel mini bottle and coke.

“Come right in Samantha. Make yourself at home.”

“Don’t mind if I do,” Samantha said as she opened a packet of
chips and started munching.

“You’ll spoil your appetite!”

“Never,” Samantha said with a full mouth and helped herself to a
Mars bar.

“You’re just a big kid,” Parker said.

“I can be if you want me to.”

“I give up,” Parker laughed and poured himself a beer. They
worked out their room service dinner menu and wine. “We have
expensive tastes,” Parker noted.

“Specially when someone else pays,” Sam replied.

Sam’s mobile ringing interrupted a pleasant scene. She picked it
up, hesitated and switched it off.

“Fuck him,” she said and looked at Parker. “Where was I?”

She started channel flicking and found in-house movies.
“Boring.”

She found the house TV program and with a mischievous smile
selected the pay TV adult channel.

“Can I charge this to your room? Please, please, please?”

Her exuberance was infectious and overwhelming. Parker was
grateful when room service knocked on the door and wheeled in their
order. He put away the newspaper he had been reading from cover to
cover while Samantha watched TV. She took hold of the trolley and
pushed it into the dining alcove, then went into the kitchen where
she rummaged through cupboards and drawers.

“Candles!”

“Can we please sit down and eat?” Parker begged.

“In a minute. Be patient!”

Samantha switched off the TV, found the dimmer switch and
fiddled with it until the lighting was just right. Parker gave up,
sat back and waited till she found the right CD to suit the mood.
She lit the candles, said grace, bon appetite and tucked in.

“Porn always gives me an appetite.”

Parker couldn’t help but admire the elegant way she had set the
table and her refined table manners. She noticed him assessing her
and said with a flash of anger:

“Just because I’m a tart doesn’t mean I haven’t been brung up
proper,” she quipped and burped. They both burst out laughing and
toasted each other.

“I know what you need for dessert,” Samantha offered.

“Coffee and port,” Parker replied.

They sat next to each other on the lounge, feet up on the coffee
table. Parker watched the news but restless Samantha busied herself
in the bathroom. She opened the door a crack and asked for one of
his shirts.

Without bothering to ask, Samantha dimmed the lights and hopped
into bed.

“Do you know what I need, Will? Seriously.”

“What?”

“A cuddle.”

Samantha sat, her arms folded around her drawn up knees.
Hushpuppy eyes. She looked so innocent, so vulnerable and so very
sexy in his unbuttoned shirt. He slipped under the covers and
Samantha snuggled up and nestled her head on his naked chest. She
started talking, reassured by the comforting embrace. About a
stepfather who had abused her when she was in year 8. She had been
too ashamed to tell her mother. He brought some mates home once,
but Sam kneed him hard in the balls and yelled so much abuse, that
he never tried again.

“My mum knew but pretended she didn’t. She tried to stop him
once and ended up in casualty.” She started sobbing. “But he still
had me whenever he felt like it. I let him because he promised not
to touch my sister. He lied. When you saw me at the Cross, I was
only 15, but I never took drugs. I saved and offered him a thousand
to leave my sister alone. He came to the Cross to collect.”

Sam turned and looked at him.

“But he didn't stop. I have never told this to anyone. I spent
another thousand on a gutterbreak. Do you know what that is?”

“No.”

“Three men jumped him in the street. One sat on him and the
other held his legs across the gutter. The third jumped from the
footpath. His left leg snapped like a dry twig. His right ankle
made a crunching noise like a dog crushing a bone. He screamed like
a stuck pig. The pig.”

“You watched?”

“Sure. I wanted to see him suffer. Best thousand I’ve ever
spent.”

“Did you ever see him again?”

“Yeah. In hospital. I offered to pay for the crutches. That was
only fair, what do you reckon?”

“I would have done the same,” Parker agreed.

“He told me to get fucked. I told him if he ever touched my
sister or my mum again, he’d end up in a wheelchair. He hobbled for
two years. Serves him right.”

The alcohol had loosened her tongue and Parker was thankful that
he didn’t have to pump her for what interested him. After working
the streets for three years, she had saved enough for a deposit on
a small flat. She joined an escort service.

“I made a shitload of money then. I had the looks, I was clean,
and I gave what men wanted. It wasn’t always sex. I had regulars
who wanted to show me off. They were mostly single men. Some only
wanted to talk and some just watched me do what they fantasized. I
made real easy money from phone sex with my regulars. ”

“Where did you meet Jake?”

“On holidays two years ago. Yeah, tarts go on holidays. What’s
wrong with that? He came onto me at the casino but I wasn’t
interested.”

She had felt flattered at his advances just the same. He asked
for and she gave him her phone number. They met in Sydney for
dinner a few weeks later.

“I told him that dinner was fine but that my rate was $400 for a
short time and $2,000 for the night, cash and that I had no limits
to my services. He was no different from all the other married men.
I gave him what his wife wouldn’t.”

Samantha caught up with him again a year later. Jake offered to
set her up in a flat exclusively for him but she still needed an
income and wouldn’t move until then.

“You went back on the game?”

“No silly!” She laughed. “Jake keeps me. I’m also a runner for
him and a few others at the casino. Money for jam.”

“Runner? Doing what?”

“I go on overseas holidays as the businessman’s secretary. The
last couple of trips, I’ve made on my own.”

Parker was tempted to pump her for more but didn’t have to.
Samantha babbled on about how much she liked the Cook Islands, the
trips to Hong Kong and Singapore. She’d been to Fiji and looked
forward to a trip to Malaysia soon. She was like a little girl
telling her parents about a school excursion. After two more Jack
Daniels and Coke and when she had talked herself out, she nodded
off.

Parker slid his arm from under her. Sam was awake when he
returned from the bathroom and planted a smacker full on his
lips.

“What was that for?” Parker asked as Sam got out of bed.

“For being such a good listener and the cuddle.”

Sam called out from the bathroom with the door ajar: “Don’t you
want to know what I do on my trips?”

“As long as you’re not a drug mule, I don’t care.”

 “Na, I’m not stupid. Told you I don’t do drugs. Ask me,
ask me. Guess!”

“Haven’t a clue. Let’s go back to sleep.” Parker yawned.

“Don’t be a spoilsport. OK, I’ll tell you. Money!” She
boasted.

“Money?”

“Money, cash. We shift heaps. I am the businessman’s wife or
secretary or colleague to make the trip look more legit. Jake takes
turn with two others but I don’t sleep with them.”

“You be careful. Customs will get you when they see you making
too many trips.”

“No they won’t. I’ve got three passports and we never use the
same airport twice running. Even been to New Zealand on a cruise
ship. Fewer baggage checks but too slow.”

“So what happens to the money?” Parker asked as casually as he
could.

“We put it in a bank, silly!  Different ones, different
cities. We go sightseeing for a few days and do it all over again a
month later. Piece of piss,” Samantha boasted and hopped back into
bed.

She turned sideways and pulled his arm across her. Parker moved
his hand away from her breast and rested it on her hip.

“Be a spoon with me,” she whispered.

Samantha wriggled closer until her back touched his growing
erection.

“Surprise, surprise!  Your dick has a mind of its own!”

“Go to sleep Sam. I want to respect you in the morning.”

“Suit yourself,” Sam said and switched off the lights.

Parker moved to his side of the bed and after a few minutes
whispered:

 “You asleep?”

“Yep and happy.”

I wish I could say that.

Sam was not or would ever be his sweet memory of love.

 

He half opened his eyes when Samantha’s thrusting roused him.
She was straddling him, grinding slowly and sensuously. He didn’t
want her to stop.

“Finish me. Now!”

Samantha reached for his hands and helped him massage her
breasts. That did the trick and he moaned.

“Stop. Stop!”

But Samantha arched her back and pushed deeper and faster.

“Not till I come too,” she gasped and fell on him, spent.

 

“That was hard work. I thought you’d never come,” Samantha
said.

“You took advantage of me when I wasn’t looking.”

“Too right,” Samantha confided.” No point in wasting a girl’s
best friend.” She noticed Parker’s puzzled look.

“A girl’s best friend. An early morning erection.”

“Geez, you’re wicked,” Parker exclaimed. “I had this beautiful
dream earlier. Butterfly wings all over and a velvet glove had hold
of me and…”

“Not butterflies, sweetie. Did it feel like this?”

Samantha’s parted lips brushed his skin and breathed out very
softly as she moved from his shoulder to his throat and past his
nipples.

“Yes, this is wonderful.” Parker wanted more. “Wow! Just like my
wet dream.”

“Spider kisses.”

“Keep going Sam. Go down. I love spider kisses.”

“Don’t be greedy. By the way, it wasn’t a dream.” She stopped
and laughed. Her tongue darted out and licked her lips.

”You tasted yummy. Salty and of cinnamon,” she said and made for
the bathroom. “Seconds can kill you. Did you know that?” she
asked.

“Seconds? What next? Thirds?” Parker replied.

“If you’re up to it, why not? You’re one ahead anyhow.”

 

Parker ordered room service breakfast. He took his turn in the
bathroom and by the time he had finished, Sam had stacked the
previous night’s dishes on the trolley and set the breakfast table.
Packer was first to break the silence.

“I enjoyed your company very much Sam. Do you still respect
me?”

Samantha didn’t answer. She finished her coffee and stared past
him.

“Is something the matter?”

“Jake’s left three messages. He wants to meet me at the flat at
eight. How am I going to explain me not being there?”

“Don’t worry Sam. Tell him that you’re having a breakfast
meeting with Will Parker at the casino. Then let me speak to
him.”

“I don’t understand where you come in,” Sam said.

“Trust me. Ring him now.”

 

Sam spoke to Jake briefly and handed Parker the mobile.

“Jake. Listen! Just settle down. Don’t do anything silly.”

Samantha looked worried.

“No, you’re not in trouble. Not yet anyway. I’ve cancelled the
meeting with Goldner.”

“Yes, Samantha will come with me to the flat. Not till ten
o’clock though. Be there.”

 

“You better explain yourself buster,” Sam said. “You’ve led me
on.”

“No, I didn’t. You found me. I had no idea about you and Jake.
Remember I told you about me working in security? Well, I’m the
casino chief security man. I asked Goldner yesterday for a meeting
with him and the Chief Floor Manager. I didn’t know his name until
I met you.”

“But Jake won’t be at the meeting.”

“It’ll be very interesting to see what Goldner has to say about
that,” Parker smirked.

“I can wait here for you and we can drive to the flat together,
if that’s what you want,” Samantha suggested.

“Good idea. The meeting with Goldner won’t take long. And don’t
answer the phone, or the door.”

 

Parker took the stairs to the mezzanine floor for a good view of
the foyer and reception area. At ten minutes past nine, Goldner
appeared. He walked around the foyer searching, then went outside
and returned moments later. He picked up the house phone, turned
around searching and waited for an answer. He slammed down the
receiver and spoke to the receptionist. Goldner paced around the
foyer again and disappeared from view. Parker took the lift to the
ground floor strolled to reception.

“Good morning. Will Parker to see Mr. Goldner.”

“Oh Mr. Parker!  I’m glad you’re here. He’s livid!”

“Whatever for?” Parker said and winked.

 

He walked into Goldner’s office not bothering to knock and came
straight to the point. “Where’s Jake?” And looking at his watch
continued: “He’s late.”

“You’re bloody late yourself. Fifteen bloody minutes.”

Parker sat down and looked at the fingernails of his left hand,
then found more interesting features to examine minutely on his
right. He looked up at Goldner who had taken off his
sunglasses.

“Wow. What a shiner,” Parker burst out laughing at the bruise
and swelling above Goldner’s cheek.

“Come on Brad. What are we waiting for? Where’s Jake?”

 

Goldner looked at his writing pad for an answer. He swivelled in
his leather chair and looked out into his private courtyard.

“I didn’t hear what you just said.”

Goldner yelled: “He won’t be fucking coming.”

“Not my fault,” replied Parker putting up its hands in mock
surrender.

“Yes, it bloody is,” Goldner shouted.

Parker had provoked him enough. “Take it easy. No need to get
all worked up,” Parker reassured him. “Over somebody missing a
meeting.”

He couldn’t see Goldner’s face as he leant forward with elbows
on the desk, hands cradling his face and forehead.

“If there’s more to it than that, tell me now. Brad! Look at
me!” Parker demanded. But Goldner said nothing.

“This won’t go away. It will only get worse,” Parker urged. “I
know about the money-laundering. Start at the beginning. Now,”
Parker threatened.

“Look. I didn’t choose to get into this. It started two years
ago. I had been in the job less than a month. I signed for a
courier delivered suitcase. There was a $1 million sitting in my
office. Do you have any idea how much money that is? Eight kilos of
$100 notes, more than three reams of paper. With the suitcase came
an envelope with a key to the safe. My predecessor had conveniently
forgotten to hand it over. Ha! He knew all about it and landed me
right in it.”

Parker felt sorry for him, but only for a moment. Goldner had
been at a crossroad. Like himself as a rookie cop, he had to choose
a path.

Goldner told him of an envelope in the safe with instructions on
how to proceed and if he chose to decline, a letter of resignation
ready for him to date and sign. “Hell. What was I to do? I was 35
years old. I came to Australia with a wife and three kids who
wanted to see their grandparents. My wife wants to see her family
in Taiwan at least twice a year. I had to go for it.”

“So since then, you’ve bought yourself an expensive house, have
you? Kids in private schools? Two cars? Your’s a BMW?” Parker
finished the story for him.

“Not a BMW, a Mazda MX5.”

“Same diff. Expensive.”

Parker sat back in silence. He wanted Goldner to stew some more
and waited for him to reach breaking point. Goldner started
sweating. He rose from his chair, stood by the glass door and
looked out into the courtyard again and resumed his seat. He took a
deep breath.

“I can’t take any more of this. What are you going to do?”

“Seems to me that I have three choices. I can tell Gillespie
about what’s been going on or I can call in the police. In either
case, you’re ratshit.” Parker paused.

“And the third option?”

“Continue as is, well nearly so.” Parker left him dangling.

“You bastard!!  You’re going to cut yourself in, aren’t
you!” Goldner shrieked. “Never. I won’t be stood over.”

“Please yourself. I’m going back to my room. Ring me there. In
two minutes. Or else,” Parker said, stood up and walked out.

 

Parker knocked on the door. “It’s me, Will.” Samantha opened the
door.

“You looked like the cat that ate the canary,” she said.

“More like the man who put the cat amongst the pigeons without
meaning to.”

Samantha was watching porn again.

“I give up! Please turn down the volume a bit. I’m expecting an
important call.”

Parker let the phone ring ten times, picked up receiver and
spoke first.

“What’s your decision?”

Parker listened to Goldner’s answer and said: “I’ll get back to
you. Stay in your office.”

 

He turned to Samantha, who stretched out on the lounge, was busy
absorbing the on screen action.

“If you can tear yourself away from…Hmm, so that’s how they do
it,” Parker chortled. “Interesting camera angle.”

“Haven’t you ever had a threesome?” she asked.

“Not one of those.”

“Interested?”

“No. Definitely not my scene.”

“Hey Will!  Do you think she’s for real? Ooh, aah, ooh,
aah. I’m coming. Yep, she’s faking it. Hmmmm. Not me.”

She turned over and looked up at him with hands cupped under her
chin and with a lewd smile licked her fingers.

“Kentucky fried? No? Too busy?”

She got off the lounge, picked up her G-string and stuffed it
into Parker’s trouser pocket.

 “Take away!”

Parker was lost for words.

Samantha picked up her handbag, opened the minibar and took what
was left. “It’s all paid for.”

“Get a move on. Let’s put Jake out of his misery.”

 

Samantha let herself into the flat to a verbal torrent of abuse
from Jake. Parker blocked him giving Samantha a backhand to the
face. Two quick left jabs to the jaw and a gentle right-hander to
his nose sat Jake on his backside, tears and blood streaming down
his face.

“Would you like Sam to get you an ice pack?” Parker asked
solicitously. Jake nodded.

“Now that you know what happens to shits who punch ladies up,
let me tell you who I am. Will Parker, pleased to meet you Jake.
You already know why I’m here.”

Samantha returned from the kitchen with a packet of frozen peas
and a wet tea towel. She wiped the blood off Jake’s face very
tenderly. He leaned back on the kitchen chair, looked at the
ceiling and held the frozen packet against his face.

“Let me know when you’re ready to talk.”

“I can talk,” Jake said meekly.

“Let’s all hope that you can also listen. There’s a lot at stake
for Goldner and you and your mates. Goldner has already made up his
mind. Your turn now Jake.”

“What did Brad say?”

“Never mind Brad. He’ll do as he’s told. What I want to know
from you is that you’re going to co-operate. Is that right?”

“Yes.”

“Take the rest of the day off. Tomorrow morning, you apologise
to him publicly. I will start the rumour that Brad jobbed you.
You’ll confirm it.”

“I’ll keep my job?” Jake asked in a shaky voice.

“Yes and so will Goldner.”

“I don’t get it. What’s in it for you Parker?”

“None of your business.”

“Yeah, Jake. Give it a rest.” Sam put the boot in.

“I’ve got a meeting with Goldner shortly. I’ll square things
with him. In the meantime you to stay here and wait for my
call.”

 

Parker knocked on Goldner’s door and walked right in.

“A bit early for a drink?” Goldner ignored him but put the glass
and bottle away. He shut the door of his private bar and faced
Parker square on.

“How much?”

“A $50,000 down payment and $10,000 from every run.” Parker’s
voice was firm and the manner unyielding.

“Too much! Too fucking much, mate! How the fuck am I going to
raise $50,000?” Goldner objected.

“From the next batch.”

“You’re crazy. I can’t touch the money.”

“Let’s sit down and think this over.” Parker offered. “Tell me
how they pay you.”

“$20,000 in cash for every run.” Goldner said.

“How is it split up?”

“The carriers get half for travel, accommodation and their
fee.”

Park looked at him in amazement. “Your cop is $10,000!”

“You’ve got to understand. Not all of it. There are expenses.”
Goldner tried to justify his cut but Parker was unconvinced.

“Tell you what we’ll do. I’m not greedy. Pay me $10,000 now and
$5000 from each of the next ten runs and I’ll leave you alone.”

“That adds up to 60!” Goldner protested

“So it does,” Parker smirked. “End of negotiations.”

“I suppose you want the ten thou today?” Goldner said.

“Yes, after you tell me how you keep track of all this
cash.”

 

Half an hour later, Parker had in his hands photocopies of
Goldner’s private journal, downloaded and printed transaction
statements and fund transfer details for five accounts. Goldner
said the scheme worked well and appeared foolproof. He had ten
couriers working for him, not all of them casino employees. It was
safe for couriers to make five trips each a year washing $60
million annually he estimated. The mules deposited the cash in
Thailand, Malaysia, Bangkok, Singapore, Hong Kong and in the Cook
Islands.

“Why six banks in different countries?”

“So that couriers don’t go to the same country twice in the same
year.”

“$60 million. That’s not all that much money to launder. There
must be others like you. Organisers,” Parker speculated.

Goldner’s hands started to tremble and he put them out of
Parker’s sight.

“Don’t go there. Please don’t. You’re right but they have
nothing to do with the casino.”

“OK, Brad. We’ll leave it at that then. For the moment.”

Goldner was relieved to hear that Jake had changed his mind.
People with his experience were hard to replace. “And I need him in
the laundry.”

“You can always recruit me,” Parker offered.

“You’re too bloody expensive. You’d soon push me aside to run
the operation yourself,” Goldner speculated.

“Worth thinking about. Only kidding.” Parker laughed.

Goldner opened the safe and handed Parker $10,000 cash. Parker
thanked him politely and reminded Goldner:

 “I’ll collect my first $5,000 in person, just tell me
when.”

 “You flying back today?” Goldner wanted to know.

Parker nodded. “By the way, as far as Jake’s concerned, there is
no change. If he asks you about what went on between us, just say
it’s business as usual.”

“What about Gillespie? What are you going to say to him?”
Goldner asked anxiously.

“I won’t mention what I’ve found out from you. I’ll tell him
only to review the high roller action.”

Goldner turned pale and his knees buckled. “Shit. How long have
you known?”

“Since our last audit,” Parker lied. There’s too much money
going overseas for our liking.”

Goldner wasn’t overly concerned. “Someone walks in with one
million and goes home with three. Who’s to prove that he didn’t
win? ”

“I know that money is laundered. Your mules go overseas with a
fat casino cheque, their supposed winnings. That is the start of an
audit trail.” Parker dangled the bait and Goldner swallowed it.

“We can cope with that. We’ll make a few changes to cover our
tracks. Don’t worry,” Goldner assured him.

They shook hands in the foyer. Parker went to his room and made
himself a coffee. He had tricked Goldner, a spur of the moment
thing, into admitting funny goings-on in the high-roller gaming
suite. Now he had something for Gillespie to act on and something
to draw attention away from Goldner’s activities. He would not tell
Gillespie about the couriers. An ace up the sleeve to use when and
how? He couldn’t quite figure that one out. Not yet anyway.

 

Samantha answered Jake’s mobile phone.

“Where’s lover boy?” Parker asked.

“Here at the flat. You really worried him.”

“Don’t like men beating up women.”

“Do you want to speak with him?”

“No. I want you to do me a favour.”

“You want another freebie, Constable?”

“No thank you Sam. I want you to tell me when Jake or you make
the next delivery.”

“I can do that.”

Parker gave her his mobile number, said goodbye and as an
afterthought said: “I’m also here for you if you need me. You do
great sex.”

 

Parker packed his bags and walked to the taxi rank outside the
casino’s front door. He was on Hamilton Island at midday and landed
by helicopter on his island before nightfall. It was good to be
home.

 

Parker met Debbie and Lexie at Hamilton Island airport. He had
hardly said hello to Debbie when Lexie, like a kid with a new toy,
couldn’t wait to tell him about Robinson.

“Guess how much he owes his bookie?”

“$10,000.”

“No.”

“$15,000.”

“Warmer,” Lexie teased.

“All right, I give up. How much?”

“$23,000,” Lexie said triumphantly.

“You’ve done well. I want to know how you did all that. But
let’s not talk shop now. I want to show you the island.”

 

Parker hired a car and took them sightseeing for the rest of the
day and booked them into a beachfront motel in time for dinner.
Lexie couldn’t stop talking about the view, look at this, look at
that. Debbie hardly spoke but seemed to be enjoying herself
nevertheless. They had adjoining suites with a common lounge
room.

Debbie was on the balcony enjoying the sunset and a beer. Parker
got a stubby for himself and joined her.

“Cheers!”

They sat without talking for a while and waved to Lexie in the
pool. Debbie was first to break the silence.

“You’ll find out sooner or later if you haven’t already guessed.
Lexie is more than a good friend.”

“That’s cool. You’d tell me if she’s working for the Feds?”

 Debbie’s answer was slow in coming. “She works for you.
But that doesn’t mean I can’t help,” she replied and looked
away.

“This casino licence thing is getting tricky and messy. I can’t
afford to have the Feds getting involved, not yet anyway. I want
your promise that you won’t pressure Lexie.”

“Promise,” Debbie replied.

“You talking about me?” Lexie interrupted. “You two ready for
dinner? I’ll have a quick shower and see you in a minute.”

 

They had a very relaxed dinner as Debbie loosened up. Parker
ignored the little intimacies the two women exchanged.

“Who’s for the casino?” Parker asked over coffee.

“Gillespie paying?” Lexie wanted to know.

“A hundred each,” Parker offered. “For research.”

“Done.”

They returned to the motel around midnight, happy and a little
drunk.

“Let’s have breakfast together and plan our day,” Parker
suggested.

“Can we go scuba diving please? Or paragliding?” Lexie wanted to
know.

“What about you Debbie? Interested?” Parker said.

“Let’s see what the weather’s like tomorrow.”

They spend three days together as tourists having a good time.
Parker hired a yacht and sailed close enough to Edward Island to
see the jetty. Parker looked at Debbie with a knowing smile.

“Wouldn’t it be nice to have an island like that?” he
hinted.

“Does anyone live there?” Debbie asked.

“Not as far as I know,” he replied with a wink.

Lexie overheard them and said: “There’s a boat tied up at the
jetty.”

Parker’s heart missed a beat. Apart from the supply boat, in all
the years on the island, nobody had ever called. He didn’t know
what to make of the cabin cruiser. He wasn’t expert yachtsman
enough to navigate the narrow opening and came about for another
look and continued around the island for another look. Three hours
later, the boat was gone.

“Will,” Debbie called out. “I feel like a coffee. Can you show
me how to work the stove?”

“Coming,” Parker said and went below.

“You look worried.”

“I don’t know what to make of the cabin cruiser. I couldn’t make
out a name.”

“I did. Boomer II, Hamilton Island.”

“I’ll check it out that when we get back,” Parker said.

“No, I’ll do it,” Debbie insisted. “It’s my job. If someone
knows who and where you are, they’re in deep shit. You’ll still be
safe.”

“I hope so. For my sake.”

 

As soon as Parker had tied up the yacht, Debbie took off while
Parker and Lexie gathered up their belongings. Lexie looked at
Parker questioningly.

“I’ll explain later, not here. Don’t worry.”

Debbie rang around six to say that she would not be back in time
for dinner. Parker was relieved a little to hear that she had made
progress and that he was not to worry.

“That was Debbie. She won’t be joining us a dinner.”

“So are you going to tell me what’s going on?”

“Yes, Lexie, but only as much as you need to know. Debbie and I
worked together a few years ago and I had to disappear. Someone may
have accessed my secure file.”

“Has it something to do with the boat?” Lexie asked.

“It appears so. The question is why now?”

“It must be something very recent,” Lexie speculated. “Something
you’ve done has caused somebody grief.”

Parker thought about the risk he had taken pressuring Goldner.
It hadn’t been for the money itself. The intention had been to find
out what would happen to the money-laundering after his
intervention. Had he spooked Goldner and those behind the operation
too much?

“Well have you?” Lexie said.

“Have I what?”

“You haven’t been listening. Have you caused someone grief
lately?”

“Yes, but I can’t go into that now. It may not be connected with
the boat.”

“Looks like we’re back at work, Lexie? Tell me about
Robinson.”

“I couldn’t find a photo of him on the net. Found one of him
though in the printed annual report. He chairs a couple of
subcommittees. I figured if he’s into horseracing, he’d probably
place his bets at the TAB during the week. I phoned the switchboard
at 12.30 and hung up before he answered. Got his answering machine
at 1PM.”

“Clever move. And you went to the nearest TAB pub?”

“Sure did. He was there. To make a long story short, we met at
the races last Saturday. He lost big time. But that didn’t seem to
worry him. He kept saying his credit was good.”

“You said he was in for $23,000.”

“He’s a show off. Likes to impress the ladies. He lost more than
that last year he boasted and paid it all back.”

“That’s something worth knowing. Did he say anything about the
casino licence?”

Lexie thought about it. “Not as such. He said he was on
subcommittees. I didn’t want to look too nosy, so I didn’t
ask.”

“Sound move. So how much of my thousand is left?”

“All gone. I bet on Robinson’s tips. What a loser! Made him feel
sorry though.”

Parker looked at his watch. “What do you want to do for dinner?
I’d rather have room service and speak to Debbie here.”

“That’s OK by me. I can show you what I’ve dug up on Gillespie’s
companies.”

 

Parker looked at the database Debbie had drawn up.

“It’s not complete yet. So far I’ve listed the New South Wales
registered firms.”

“There’s a heap of companies. All lot of work ahead of us.
What’s that last column with all the numbers?”

“Each firm’s BSB numbers from their websites.”

Lexie looked at Parker. She explained: “The first four digits
identify the bank and the others the account holder.”

“Ah, now I know what you mean. I still deposit cheques over the
counter,” Parker said. “So I use the same number for online
banking?”

“Yes. Once your account is online, you can transfer money in and
out. You can view the transactions, print the details or have the
statement sent to you.”

“When will my account be online?” Parker asked.

“You should have your client number shortly. You need that to
activate the account.”

“You’re very patient with me, thanks Lexie.”

Parker handed Lexie the fund transfer account details and
statements Goldner had downloaded and printed.

“I want to compare the BSB numbers you have listed with
these.”

Lexie read through the documents quickly and made a few margin
notes.

“Some of those numbers aren’t Australian.”

“They’re overseas accounts. Can you separate them, like in
subgroups?”

“I’ll split them up. There’s also a lot of cash, and I mean
millions deposited. Do you want that broken down as well?”

“Yes, please,” Parker requested.

“I’ll do the statements first. There are a few BSB numbers and
some IBAN.”

”IBAN?”

It took a few moments of Google search to confirm that it meant
International Bank Account Number. Lexie pointed out the last line
on each page of the photocopies.

“Good one, Will. That’s the bank’s website from where the
statements were downloaded. We have a name, account and country as
well. Give me the account password and I’ll make us very rich,”
Lexie said.

“And very dead.”

“Only kidding,” Lexie stood up and arched her back.

“Gee I’m starved.”

 

They hadn’t heard from Debbie by the time they had finished a
large seafood platter and a bottle of Chardonnay. Parker cleared
away the dishes.

“How do you want me to deal with funds coming in and going out?”
Lexie asked.

“What do we have in the way of entries?”

“For cash, the name of the bank where it was deposited, the
amount and a date.”

“Any other deposits?”

“Yes, transfers in. We have an account number, the amount, date
and a description,” Lexie said and handed Parker the statement.

” The description is coded.”

“Yes and you can forget about trying to decipher it. We don’t
need it. We’re tracking the money forwards.”

“Money transferred out shows a date, amount and the last five
digits of the account as a description. I’d love to know where the
money ended up,” Parker said and handed the statement back.

“Don’t forget. We have a list of names and account numbers to
where funds were transferred. I’ll try to match these with the
statements.”

“That should do it. You’ll be able to tell me exactly what came
and out and were it all ended up,” Parker said confidently.

“Let’s hope so. You might not have statements for all the
accounts to which money was transferred. And some of it may have
been in cash,” Lexie cautioned.

“I’m sure you’ll trace it all.”

“And what are you going to do while your slave works overtime
and her fingers to the bone?”

“This doesn’t have to be done all tonight. I wouldn’t mind
having a read of Gillespie’s list of companies,” Parker
replied.

“I’ve bought you a portable printer. Won’t be a minute.”

“Not tonight. I want to talk about money-laundering while we
wait for Debbie.”

“Money-laundering. Is that what this is all about?”

“To start with,” Parker said. “Let’s say I make a lot of cash
from illegal activities in Australia. I can’t spend or invest it
here, not the millions I make. Now this is what I think takes
place. Cash is taken out of the country and deposited in banks that
aren’t overly fussy. It’s laundered and comes back into the country
clean.”

“How do you take it out?”

“By couriers I trust. By air and sea. People coming in and
returning home. Australians going on holidays.”

“Why can’t you just bank the money?” Lexie asked.

“Too much supervision and reporting obligations. Banks are no
good to me. Australian financial institutions have to report
transactions over $10,000,” Parker explained.

“Take it to the casino. Buy chips and cash them in later for a
cheque,” Lexie suggested.

“A possibility but difficult because of supervision from
government inspectors.”

“Pretend I won it at the races?” Lexie said. “I can prove I did
with my betting slips. But that wouldn’t work when millions of
dollars are involved.”

“So Lexie: I have a safe way of taking dirty millions out. How
do I bring clean money back into the country?”

“It would be pointless to bring back cash even in foreign
currency. You still couldn’t spend or invest it without attracting
attention. So it has to be in some other form.”

Lexie paused and offered another suggestion. “Leave the money
overseas! Buy yourself a house, farm, businesses. Invest it, bring
the cash back as dividends.”

“Nice one Lexie especially if the dividends are franked. No tax
payable here.”

“And if you have accounts in tax havens…..” Lexie
speculated.

“Better still,” Parker agreed.

“Say I want some of the money back in Australia. How do I get it
back legitimately especially if it’s not all my money? What if I am
a contract launderer?”

“Let me ask you this, Will. Where is a good place to hide a
book? Where would you hide the tree?”

“Hide the book in a library!”

“And a tree in a forest,” Lexie added.

“So you suggest I bring the money back through a bank?”

“Yes, my own bank or something like a bank. What if my
Australian finance company takes out big loans from my Cook Island
bank?”

“That’s brilliantly, Lexie. It would be legitimate and what’s
more, I could charge myself interest, a legitimate tax deduction. I
can invest in the stock market or whatever I like. My Australian
mates borrow money from my Cook Island bank too.”

“Make it a 30 year interest only loan. The capital is never
repaid and used for whatever they like.” Lexie said.

“And it wouldn’t be petty cash either.” Parker looked at his
watch. “I wonder what’s keeping Debbie?”

“Why don’t you call it a night, Will? I’ll sit up and watch
tellie for a while. I’ll wake you if Debbie has something
important.”

“OK. Good night then, Lexie.”

“Good night, Will.”

 

Parker heard Debbie and Lexie talk in the sitting-room. It was
morning and they were making toast. Can’t be all bad. He showered,
shaved and put on a gaudy shirt and board shorts.

“Are you having a day off?” Debbie wanted to know.

“Depends on what you have to tell me.”

“Fair go. Can we finish breakfast first?” Lexie objected.

 

Parker and Debbie sat down after breakfast to take stock of the
situation while Debbie was busy with the database. “I was with the
local plods till two this morning. The cabin cruiser belongs to a
Stephen Quick.”

“Quick. I don’t think I know anyone by that name,” Parker
said.

“The cops got him out of bed and interviewed him. Said he worked
for Parks and Wildlife but couldn’t prove it. ”

“What was he doing on my island?”

“We asked him that. Just visiting he said, but we weren’t
convinced. Turns out he has a record. Mostly burglaries from boats
and unoccupied holiday homes,” Debbie said. “He admitted to
overhearing fishermen talking about deliveries to your island.
That’s how he knew you were away.”

“I was going to treat you two girls to a helicopter ride. Might
as well do it today and find out if anything’s been nicked.”

“I’ll come,” Lexie said. “Much better than boring old data
entry.”

 

Lexie and Debbie sunbaked on the beach while Parker and the
helicopter pilot walked up to the house. The digital camera and his
laptop had been taken. The floor safe had remained undiscovered.
There was nothing else in the house that linked him to Bill
Pearson. The fridge was empty and the pantry also cleaned out.
Parker was relieved. Better to lose a bit of gear than having my ID
compromised.

They were back on Hamilton Island by late afternoon. Parker gave
Debbie the list of stolen items for the police. She was back at the
motel an hour later. Lexie and Parker were astonished at her
success.

“The grog was gone. Didn’t think you’d mind considering,” Debbie
laughed. “The little shit kept the camera and laptop for
himself.”

“I think we should celebrate,” Lexie said. “Not much point going
back to work. All agreed?”

“Tell you what,” Parker offered. “Why don’t you two celebrate?
If Lexie prints out Gillespie’s list, that will keep me busy. I
really don’t feel like celebrating.”

“Sure?”

“Yes, you two have fun on me.”

 

Parker was happy to have time to himself and read through
Gillespie’s list. He wasn’t concentrating though. There was a
nagging thought in the back of his head. Something that Debbie had
said? The police had recovered his camera and laptop but he still
couldn’t relax. When people lie they also tell you something that’s
true. What had Quick said? Parks and Wildlife. That was a lie – or
was it? Maybe he had not acted alone? With someone from Parks and
Wildlife? Shit!  The department was the last link in the chain
linking him to Pearson. And the laptop! E-mail with
Debbie.34@afp.gov.au was the next link. Shit! Shit! Shit. The
thought of someone unravelling his past scared him. What now? He
switched on the laptop and checked the files in his e-mail
directory. All had been opened the day before-but not by him.
Shit!!!  He was angry at himself and added a password to the
laptop’s start up.

 

 Parker hurriedly scribbled a note to Debbie and went out
into the street to hail a cab. The police sergeant reluctantly
agreed to take him to Quick’s house. No, he hadn’t questioned him
about an accomplice. Quick had been the only one in the house when
he and Debbie had questioned him.

Parker and Sergeant Kingston waited in the car outside Quick’s
house. An hour later, it was getting dark and the sergeant more
restless. Parker was nearly ready to call it quits when a car
turned into the driveway. He remained in the car. The sergeant
entered Quick’s house but was back before long. Kingston said
nothing and with wheels spinning, took off.

 “Slow down. You’ll get booked for speeding.”

“Sorry, didn’t mean to.”

He slowed down and drove in silence for a while. Kingston
apologised for not thinking about an accomplice. “I really should
have taken out a search warrant. At least you’ve got your property
back. Do you want to take this further?”

“No, I’m happy to have my things back. Who else was in the
house?”

“A Brisbane woman. Works for Parks and Wildlife. An orni
something.”

“Ornithologist?”

“Yes.”

“The question is Sergeant Kingston: what are Quick and a bird
zoologist up to on Edward Island?”

“Stupid! Bugger, bugger, bugger!” Kingston smacked the steering
wheel repeatedly. “Obvious now. Catching birds.”

“I hope you’ve got a name?”

Kingston nodded. “She won’t be going anywhere tonight. The first
passenger flight’s not till 7AM. Ask Debbie to meet me at the
station at 10.”

“You’ll have a busy night ahead of you?”

“You can say that again. I’ll drop you off at your motel. Then
organise two search warrants. One for Quick’s house and another for
his cabin cruiser.”

“Hopefully not a wild goose chase!”

“Ha, ha, ha. Didn’t know we had geese on the island.”

 

When Debbie and Lexie hadn’t returned by midnight, Parker went
to bed. They came in late, noisy and happy. He didn’t want to spoil
their good mood and remained in his room. When he returned from
breakfast in the dining room, Debbie was reading the morning
paper.

“We need to talk.”

“You look worried. What’s up?”

Parker told her about the events of the previous night and his
concern that his file at Parks and Wildlife might have been
compromised.

“I’ll go and see Kingston now. Wait for me here. Don’t worry.
You’ll be safe, promise.”

 

Parker read the remainder of Gillespie’s list of companies.
Lexie came out of the bedroom and with a ‘How are you, Will’ headed
for the swimming pool. “Where’s Debbie?” she asked towelling
herself dry a few minutes later. Parker told her all the news.
“Well, looks like everybody’s working. I’ll just grab a quick
shower.”

Lexie worked solidly on the database till lunchtime. Debbie
phoned in to say that she would be joining them for lunch and
assured Parker again that there was no immediate cause for
alarm.

 

“You look pleased with yourself,” Lexie said to Debbie.

“Not half as much as the sergeant. They raided Quick’s house and
boat. To make a long story short, Quick’s in the lock-up and so is
his lady friend. Carol Longley works for Parks and Wildlife. They
have been charged with trapping and trafficking protected birds.
She knew from Will’s studies where to set the traps. Parks staff
will arrive later today to take her back to the island to release
the birds.”

“Did they have birds at the house?” Parker asked.

“Oh yes and aviaries in the bush as well. They have been
trapping for a fortnight while she was on leave. Not just on Edward
Island. I’ll be having words with Parks management about security
of your file.”

“See if you agree. Let’s wrap up our work here today and
tomorrow morning will go on a yacht cruise for the rest a week and
then home,” Parker offered. Lexie thought this a wonderful idea but
Debbie had urgent work in Brisbane.

“I want to erase your file at Parks, the sooner the better. I’ll
also have your file with us transferred to the Attorney General. It
makes it near impossible then for anyone to access your past.” She
looked at her watch and with a sad expression said: “Sorry guys.
Gotta run.”

Parker excused himself to allow them a few moments of privacy.
Debbie knocked on his door a few minutes later, gave him a hug and
departed. They waved to Debbie from the balcony and watched her
leave in a cab.

 

Parker phoned Kingston to leave a message for the Park’s staff
to contact him to coordinate transport to the island. He didn’t
want strangers to nose around. Meeting Carol Longley was an
acceptable risk to take. She already knew his name and where he
lived. Parker invited Lexie to the island but she declined,
preferring instead to play online detective.

Parker met up with Parks staff and Carol Longley at the marina.
He would have preferred a helicopter rather than making their way
to Edward Island in a large cabin cruiser. When his saw 12 cages
piled on the deck, he understood.

They released over 100 birds back into the wild on the two small
islands nearest his. Parker was glad that none had been taken from
Edward Island but was anxious about the fate of those birds which
might have been trapped or netted as long as two days ago. He
stayed behind while Carol led her colleagues into the bush. They
arrived four hours later with nets and empty cages for evidence.
Parker could tell from their faces that none had enjoyed the
experience and didn’t want to know how many birds had died.

No one spoke on the return trip through a choppy sea. Parker was
only too glad to be back on dry land and seeing the end of a sad
experience. Lexie soon cheered him up and they had a wonderful
dinner together. They didn’t mind Debbie interrupting to report
that she had taken care of his file and all was well.

Lexie’s face glowed as she listened. Parker couldn’t help a
smile and decided that the yacht cruise would have to wait. There
was a scene of love’s memory being played out and he excused
himself. He envied Lexie who had someone waiting for her at the
airport. He went back to his room, packed his bags and was ready to
turn in when Samantha phoned to say that she was off to Malaysia in
the morning on her first solo trip. Jake was on a separate run to
Bangkok. Time to collect from Goldner. And to keep him honest.

 

There was a message from Debbie at the Brisbane airport. It
suited Parker to part company with Lexie there and then. “You catch
up with Debbie. I’ll meet you at the office tomorrow. That OK by
you?”

“See you for lunch.”

Parker felt like saying having a sleep in but couldn’t say the
words in jest. The jealousy he felt wasn’t Lexie’s fault. They
walked to the taxi rank together and went their separate ways.

 

Parker asked Goldner’s secretary to announce him. He was sitting
at his desk and didn’t bother looking up when he spoke.

“What do you want?”

“Ten thou. Twice five,” Parker replied and leaned against the
door. “Cash. Now.”

“How the fuck do you know…” Goldner didn’t finish the sentence.
“Never mind.” He opened the safe, counted the money and tossed it
on the desk.

“Thank you, Brad. For being so very honest. I knew I could trust
you.”

“You can cut out the sarcasm, you shit. Just take the fucking
money and piss off.” He turned and walked out into his little
courtyard for a smoke. He sat staring into the small pond with his
back turned. Parker stood and watched him finish his cigarette.

“There’s no need to get all worked up. It’s only money.”

“Yes, and it’s all coming out of my pocket. I can’t afford to
keep this up,” Goldner pleaded.

“Do you want to renegotiate?” Parker offered.

“Negotiate? What with?”

“Something you’ve got. Let’s say I’ll give you back half of
what’s on the desk and forget about what you still owe me.”

“I don’t have anything worth that much.”

“Oh yes you do,” Parker said with a knowing smile and watched
Goldner sweat. “I’ll spell it for you: K.E.G.I.L. KEGIL Investment
Services.”

 

Goldner gulped and swallowed. His Adam’s apple bobbed up and
down as his face turned red, then white. His eyes bulged. He
stepped into the courtyard and puked and kept spewing on the
sandstone paving until he dry-wretched, hands on knees. Parker
picked up a towel from Goldner’s bathroom and tossed it to him.
Goldner wiped his face and the vomit that had splashed on his
shoes. He went to the bathroom and washed his face and hands. He
steadied himself against the doorjamb.

“I need a drink.”

Parker watched in silence as Goldner helped himself to a bottle
from the drinks cabinet. He didn’t bother with a glass. His hands
shook too much.

“How the hell did you find out about KEGIL?” Goldner waved his
arms about. “No, I don’t want to know.”

“I’ll tell you anyway. It’s part of the money trail,” Parker
revealed.

Goldner was a miserable sight but he was by no means finished.
His lips tightened and he squinted.

“Do you have any idea what you…?”

Parker cut him short.

“You’ve said that before. Don’t threaten me. Last time I told
you that you had three choices-Gillespie, the police and me. Now
you have only two choices – the police or me. Choose. Now.”

“You’re not bluffing, are you? You’ll take everybody down. You
must have a death wish.”

Goldner shook his head as tears started to roll and he
sobbed.

“What do you want to know?”

“The client number and password for the KEGIL account.”

“I give you KEGIL, but no more. Doesn’t matter how much you
threaten me. I want to live.”

“Go online now. What’s the client number?”

“24381173”

“And the password?”

“KEGIL spelled backwards. Then 1,3,5,7,9 then KEGIL.”

“I’ll enter the password,” Parker said.

 “Don’t you trust me?” Goldner protested.

“No. And if the password is changed, I want to know. I give you
my word that I won’t tamper with the account. No one will know I
peeked.”

Parker entered the password and watched the account come up. He
printed out transactions for the last six months and the account
transfer details. He couldn’t believe what he saw. Tens of millions
had changed hands, often to and from an account ‘Amphora’. He
couldn’t be certain as to who was the more frightened now and just
hoped that it didn’t show as much in his face as it did in
Goldner’s.

“If this goes wrong, we’re both history,” Parker admitted.

“Ratshit you said last time,” Goldner remembered.

“Gillespie wants the new casino licence above everything else.
That’s your safety net and mine. The worst that can happen is for
you to lose your source of extra income,” Parker reassured him.
“Just act normal.”

“Let’s hope you’re right.”

“Now tell me about Amphora.”

“Jesus!! You might as well kill me. Please, please don’t touch
Amphora. They’re killers.” Goldner was scared out of his wits. “You
are buying into something that’ll make you come undone. You’re
sticking your nose in…” Goldner shouted but Parker cut him
short.

“I’m doing my job. That’s all.”

“God help you. And me.”

 

 Parker was in the apartment reading through the
photocopied pages of Goldner’s journal he kept it in a small, neat
hand. It showed funds transferred in and out by date, bank, account
number and amount. AW had approved all authorisations. Who is
AW?

 

Lexie breezed in happy and energetic. Parker put the paperwork
aside.

“Hi!”

“Hi! Debbie says hello. I’ll go and check the post office box.
Anything you want?”

“I could do with some manila folders. Some large envelopes would
be useful too. And I want you to laminate two copies of a poem for
me, please.”

Lexie read the poem and looked at Parker. “Hm. Nice but too
cryptic for me. Do you know what it means?”

“Sort of.”

“What finished size do you want?”

“Small enough to carry in a wallet,” Parker replied.

“Credit card size? Na. That’s too hard to read. I’ll take care
of it.”

 

She returned from her errand with the stationery, lunch for
herself, two take-away cappuccinos and a letter.

“I think this is the Netbank Client Number,” Lexie said as she
opened the envelope. ”Good. I’ll set up your account after
lunch.”

“We really need another laptop,” Lexie suggested. “We can write
e-mails to each other and you can do your own thing.”

“I agree, let’s go shopping after work. Now show me how to go
online.”

“Hey! What do you think?” Lexie asked and handed him the
laminated poems.

“Nice touch. The queen of hearts on the reverse side.”

“And the king of hearts for a love match on the other,” Lexie
said.

She logged on and asked Parker to suggest a password: “Something
other than your name or your date of birth. Or bunya or reversing
it. Adding a few digits to make it more difficult to crack will
only delay a hacker, but not stop him.”

“Use Eleanor and 1949.”

“That’s OK and we’ll change it every now and then. The bank
gives you the option off authorising a password change. Your
mother’s maiden name was?”

“Cutler.”

That done, Lexie clicked on ‘view accounts’.

“Your credit balance is $3,689.87.”

“I’ll put some more in later,” Parker said.

 

He handed Lexie the photocopied journal pages and KEGIL
statements.

“This is the money-laundering trail.”

“You’re kidding! Where did you get this? The casino?”

Parker nodded. Lexie read through the paperwork quickly.

“Goodie. I’ll put all this into our spreadsheet. We have account
number and names, well sort of names, for all transfers but we
don’t have the statements for any of the receiving bank
accounts.”

“How many?”

“Three. One in the Cook Islands, one in Luxembourg and one in
the Cayman Islands.”

“Tax havens?”

“Yes,” Lexie agreed. “And anonymity. This is where we’re at: We
have money piling up in overseas bank accounts and cleared to,
let’s call them holding accounts. We know the name of the bank, the
account holder’s name, the account number and amounts of
transferred funds. Now watch this!”

“Sorting BSB and IBAN numbers?”

“Yes. We click anywhere on the column, choose data, then
ascending order or ascending order. Which?”

“Ascending, please.”

They eagerly scanned the column looking for a match.

“Bingo! We have a match. Same account numbers. Different
names?”

 “KEGIL Investment Services. That’s one of the names in the
list you gave me. I guessed it stood for KElvin GILlespie.”

“Bingo,” Lexie replied with a triumphant smile. “Now watch
this!”

Lexie’s fingers whizzed over the keyboard.

“Highlight. Copy. New page. Paste. Primary sort.” Lexie
mumbled.

“What are you doing?”

“I’m sorting funds transferred in and out.”

Lexie continued sorting. “I like this. This is fun,” she said
more to herself than Parker.

“Done. Now look at this: these are all the funds transferred
from KEGIL.”

“$89 million,” Parker noted.

“And more than nearly half of that, $47 million went to an
account in Luxembourg.”

“Tell me. Apart from the cash deposits, where did the KEGIL
money come from?”

Lexie called up another page and did a quick copy, paste and
sort.

“During the last six months, the KEGIL account has been credited
with $78 million in 63 transactions with amounts increasing from
$250,000 to over a million last month. All transfers are from
overseas accounts.”

“Stay with me: cash leaves Australia, is deposited overseas and
transferred to three holding accounts. Now what about the other
bank, the Cayman Island account?”

“I’ll do a sort.”

It didn’t take Lexie long to find out that $9 million had been
transferred.

“Do we have a name for this account?” Parker wanted to know.

“Sort of. No 2 Account. Are you thinking what I’m thinking?”

“Yes Lexie, this is frightening. This is a big operation.”

“Too right it is.”

“This is dynamite,” she said. “Just like we thought: some of the
money comes back to Australia in big lumps. KEGIL Investment
Services. Hmm, that makes it easy and difficult at the same
time.”

“What do you mean?” Parker wanted to know more.

“KEGIL funds transferred from the Cook Islands to KEGIL in
Sydney. You can bet your bottom dollar now that the money is clean,
it will be put to use in legit ways. End of the line.”

“Not so quick,” Parker cautioned. ”Legit fair enough. But where
it’s reinvested could be interesting.”

“KEGIL is on my list anyway. Have you set up the meeting with
Gillespie’s corporate people?” Lexie asked.

“Not yet. Keep Monday morning free.”

Parker knew from her mischievous grin that a surprise was
coming. She didn’t disappoint him.

“I’ll give you a bonus. I’m going to sort every line in all the
statements in date order. Now I’m sorting all the amounts from
lowest to highest.”

“What are you looking for?”

“Patience, Will. Slip ups. And here is one.”

“Show me!”

“$500,000 was transferred from the Cook Island account by error,
I think because the same amount was transferred back the same
day.”

“Is that significant?” Parker asked.

“Sure is. We have a BSB number for an Australian Bank. Costly
error.”

“So Lexie, how are you going to find out who it is?”

“I’ll have it by the time you get back from your late afternoon
walk.”

“I’m having an afternoon walk?”

“It’ll do you good. I don’t need you for a while.”

Lexie wanted Parker out of her hair. There was bookkeeping and
other work to be done. When Parker returned, Lexie said: “Remember
I showed you the mix up in the Cook Islands account?”

“The reversed transaction?”

“What I’d like to do now is transfer an amount from your account
to an account in Pitt Street.”

“OK. I’ll ask. Why an account in Pitt Street?”

“It’s a Commonwealth Bank number. Sydney, Pitt Street
Branch.”

“And we know whose offices are in Pitt Street, don’t we!” Parker
said.

“I’m not saying it’s a Gillespie account-but you never
know!”

“Now what?”

“I’ll make a transfer credit to that account that doesn’t make
sense,” Lexie said with a mischievous grin.

“Playing with my money?” Parker said in mock protest. “How
much?”

“How about $110-43, just a small amount and under ‘transfer
description’ we say ‘Bunya Planning Services 3479’. Happy with
that? Done.”

“You’re hoping that they will query the payment?”

“Sure do. Come to think of it, is the phone working?”

Lexie picked up the phone and asked directory assistance for
Bunya Planning Services. She smiled and put down the receiver.

“We’re all set to roll.”

 “Tell you what, Lexie. Why don’t you go and buy the laptop
now? I’ve got things to do here.”

“Beaut! Can you afford $3,000? Might as well get a wireless
one,” Lexie suggested with a happy face. “See you in the
morning.”

 

 

Frightening, that was Parker’s conclusion about KEGIL
Investment. Over six months, more than $78 million had been
transferred into the account. Goldner’s mules, if he was telling
the truth, shifted $60 million a year. Someone else was running a
similar laundry. He had no idea who that could be. Danger! He was
in extreme danger if Goldner knew who they were.

 Parker went online, opened an account with Russlav
International Mercantile Bank in Moscow and deposited $100. There
were no conditions or limits to transferring funds in or out. When
he logged onto the KEGIL account, he was relieved to find client
account number and password had not changed. The balance stood at
$18,156,120-10. He transferred all but $120-10 to the Russian
Account, changed the KEGIL password and logged off. When he
attempted to log on again with the old password, an ‘Incorrect
password please try again’ message popped up. He tried again and
was warned that the account could not be accessed for the next six
hours after a third unsuccessful attempt. He did just that. Good
one!  Anyone trying to access the account would find it
impossible, for a while anyway and long enough to suit his
purpose.

 

Parker copied from the Australian Federal Police website its
name and badge and pasted it into a blank document to make it an
official looking AFP letterhead. He next copied the Australian
Customs Service name and flag and was pleased with his second fake.
He composed and signed three letters, typed a mission statement,
six file notes and minutes of four meetings. He used the names of
senior bureaucrats listed on the websites but had more fun creating
names for the officials and officers of task force Persil, whose
job it was to put an end to money-laundering out of Gillespie’s
casino. Each page had legible and illegible initials.

He then printed all documents and made photocopies of the
originals, then copied the copies until the results looked no
longer new. He stapled the pages and left them on the desk for
Lexie to find.

 He then had another look at Goldner’s journal. He found
the $500,000 entry against which Goldner had noted ‘AW approved
payment.’  It wasn’t Goldner’s error. The amount had been
refunded the same day and AW had transferred the same amount from
the holding account the next day. Interesting, AW had access to
both accounts. Goldner had commented: ‘Not perfect. Bitch!’

 

Lexie spent the first hour the next day burning CDs and copying
files to the new laptop, which she declared, was hers. She made a
second backup CD. Parker agreed that it would be a good idea to put
it in the safe deposit box on the way to the Post Office.

“If there is no mail, I’ll go straight to the Corporate Affairs
office to research Gillespie’s companies. I should be finished
there in a couple of days,” Lexie said.

“Has Robinson been in touch?”

 “He’s invited me to Randwick on Saturday. Do I go?”

“We need to make a start on finding other license
tenderers.”

“If I go, what do I use for money?”

“Draw a thousand, same deal as before.”

“This time I’ll bet to win.”

“Good luck, Lexie. Have fun.”

 

Lexie was halfway out of the door when the phone rang. “You
answer it,” Parker suggested. Lexie put on her best switchboard
voice:

“Bunya Planning Services, Lexie speaking.”

“That’s me. I do accounts payable,” Lexie replied and gave
Parker the thumbs up sign.

Parker listened as Lexie conned the caller into posting a refund
cheque or better still, she could pick it up from his office.

“Look, I don’t want my boss to know I stuffed up.”

She ended the call: “OK, Sean. A quick drink only. Bye.”

 

“Well, that was my new friend Sean, accounts receivable clerk at
KEGIL Shipping Pty. Ltd. Talked him into refunding me by cheque.
I‘m getting better at this conning, aren’t I, Will?”

“Proud of you. You didn’t have to meet him though.”

“I know. But you never know what might come of it.”

“You have a point there. Off you go.”

“Bye, Will.”

“Hey!” Parker called out. “I know you’ve read the AFP and
customs file. What do you think?”

“Very convincing. Had me fooled for a minute.”

“How could you tell they were fakes?” Parker asked,
disappointed.

“We don’t use two-hole punches. All our pages have a hole in the
top left corner where we thread a lace through them. Don’t worry
though-they look genuine enough.”

“So you reckon if the file gets into the wrong hands, it will
spook them?”

“They’ll shit themselves!” Lexie laughed.

 

Lexie had fallen in his trap and hadn’t even realized it! Not
yet anyway. ’We don’t use two hole punches’. What to do about her
now? Parker put the journal photocopies and copies of bank
statements in a large envelope and sealed the flap.

There was a quick way to test Lexie’s allegiance. He went to the
bank and requested access to the safe deposit box. His signed the
register but could not find Lexie’s signature. He followed the
clerk to the safe deposit vault.

“Bugger.”

“Anything the matter, sir?”

“I didn’t bring the key,” Parker replied.

“Oops!”

He considered fronting Lexie at the Companies Office but decided
against it. Wait and see. There was time to call at Gillespie’s
office, which wouldn’t close for another hour and he was only two
blocks away. If Gillespie wasn’t there, he’d ask Miss Webb to
arrange a meeting for the following week.

“Mr. Parker!” Miss Webb said with a smile. “Didn’t expect to see
you in Sydney.”

“How are you, Miss Webb?” Parker replied. “Only got back
yesterday.”

“So how was Hamilton Island? Haven’t been there for years.”

How the fuck do you know where I was?

“Relaxing. Enjoyed the break.” Parker paused for a moment and
said: “I can’t keep calling you Miss Webb.”

“I’m Agnes.”

“I’m Will.”

“So what brings you to the office? Mr. Gillespie’s got visitors
at the moment.”

“That’s OK. I want to arrange a meeting for my assistant Lexie
Floyd and me with the Corporate Secretary.”

“I can do that for you now.”

“Thanks.” Parker sat under Gillespie’s portrait and watched
Agnes out of the corner of his eye.

Agnes spoke briefly on the phone and turned to him:

“Alan Wheaton is in a meeting. He should be out in about five
minutes. Do you want to wait?”

“Yes, I don’t mind.”

“I’m having a cup of coffee. Do you want something hot?”

“White coffee, one sugar, please.”

 

Parker watched her walk out the door to the kitchenette near the
lift. She was short, stout but not overweight. Few men would give
her a second look. Homely like a farmer’s wife. She would fit in
well with country women who played midweek social tennis or bowls.
Or sold cakes at a CWA fete or worked as volunteers in an op shop.
Getting her hair done was a necessary thing for her, not a fashion
statement. Parker closed his eyes for a moment to test his recall.
Was Agnes wearing a skirt? What colour? Or was it a dress? What
colour was the cardigan? A grey skirt just below the knee, a grey
checked printed blouse and a navy cardigan were items she would
have bought at a clothing chain. In a shopping centre anywhere in
the city or suburbs. Altogether, bland and inoffensive. But not the
eyes. Steely grey, piercing and hard as flint. He noticed her
strong hands holding a tray with two cups. Nice ring and if the
diamond was real, a very expensive champagne Argyle. She noticed
his stare and moved her hand self-consciously to conceal it.

Agnes answered the phone.

“Alan Wheaton wants to know the purpose of the meeting.”

“Shareholder register, Gillespie’s interstate and overseas
companies. Part of preparing the casino tender.”

Agnes finished the call and said to Parker:

“Would Monday morning at ten suit you? He can give you half an
hour.”

“Yes. Thanks, Agnes.”

She finished her coffee and said: “Anything else I can do for
you, Will?”

“Yes, as a matter-of-fact there is. I’ve just gone online.
What’s your e-mail address here?”

“agnes.webb@Gillespie.com.au”

“I’ll remember that. I’ll send you a letter.”

Agnes laughed. “Only if you really have to. My inbox is just
chocka block full with spam. I wish somebody would do something
about the rubbish they send me.”

“I’ve got some good spam filters that came with my new laptop.
And the latest in firewalls.”

“You haven’t got it with you?” Agnes asked looking at his
briefcase.

“No, sorry Agnes. Lexie is the one to ask. She’s crash hot on
computers.” Parker rose and looked at his watch.

“Gotta go.”

“Before you go. Could you please ask your Lexie to have a look
at my machine before the meeting with Alan Wheaton?”

“I’m sure she won’t mind.”

“Good. See you Monday.”

“See you then Agnes,” Parker said and left with a smile.

 

He whistled happily as he rode the lift down to the Personnel
Office where he identified himself and gained access to computer
personnel records. Agnes Webb’s file was not there and her name was
not on any database either. Bugger. He didn’t want to draw
attention to his search. He asked for details of long serving
employees. Anyone who had been with the company for more than 10
years had paper records stored in the sub basement. Parker located
there the file he wanted and made a surprise find in an ex-employee
filing cabinet. He made copies of both files. Nice thing about
paper records. You can look and no one knows. Not like computers
that recorded anyone opening a file.

 

It was too late in the day for a detailed look in the company’s
Public Relations photo archives. The librarian was happy to start a
search for him first thing in the morning. Western Australia.
Gillespie senior. Post World War II senior company people. Did he
want scanned photos on CD or prints? CDs with indexed names, dates
and locations would do fine.

 

He returned to the apartment and put out feelers with contacts
from his cruise ship days. They didn’t keep office hours and
promised to look up their electronic records overnight. One more
job and Parker called it a day. He left a message for Lexie asking
where she kept the key to the safe deposit box.

He felt like celebrating the day’s small victories. But there
was no one to share a bottle of champagne and he settled for a can
of beer. Agnes had been keeping tabs on him by accessing his
company credit card transactions. Not routinely, but actively on a
daily basis he guessed. But why?

He finished the can of beer and was about to open another but
put it down. Drinking on his own was not a good thing. Surely the
day would come when he had a love to toast his successes, even the
small ones? There was still time for a quick counter tea and even
the company of strangers was better than eating alone.

You have mail! His Perth contact reported no records on Agnes
Webb. The closest match, Agnes Weber was born in Kalgoorlie on 10
May 1966 to one Agnes Weber nee Kirchner and Julius Weber,
geologist. Two other children, Augustus and Alexander were born in
1962 and 1964. Agnes married in 1984 and divorced Justin Cameron
three years later. Her last WA entry was a drink driving conviction
in February 1987. Her driving licence had expired in December that
year but had not been renewed.

According to his Canberra source, an Agnes Weber was issued a
passport in May 1987 at a Perth address and another in Sydney in
2001. Parker’s third source listed 11 drink-driving fines in Sydney
since 1991. Agnes Weber had lost her licence in 2002 and did not
currently hold a New South Wales licence.

Three details in Agnes Webb’s personnel file matched what he had
on screen: her first name, date and place of birth. Agnes Weber had
wiped the slate clean after departing Perth probably for overseas
in May 1987 to reappear as Agnes Webb in Sydney.

Parker replied and thanked his sources for the positive match.
Could they please do a search for date and place death for Julius
Weber and wife Agnes? What was on file for the two brothers
Augustus and Alexander?

Parker looked at his watch. He might have more answers tonight
but it didn’t matter right now. Agnes was an unexpected and
unwelcome complication, especially if Agnes was the AW in Goldner’s
journal. Parker started a file on Agnes, entering all he knew about
her life and questions to be answered.

Is Agnes the AW in charge of money-laundering? If so, what is
the motivation? Where does all the money come from? What is
Gillespie’s involvement? Who owns KEGIL? Bugger you Agnes! 
Helping Gillespie get the casino licence was the priority. And he
hadn’t even made a start on Gillespie’s likely license competitors.
He saved the file as Washerwoman.doc.

He didn’t want to think about the answer too much now and went
to bed. The pillow was lumpy and the sheet creased. He scratched an
itchy left ankle, then an itch on his right calf. He wasn’t
comfortable resting on the right side. Or on his left. Lying flat
on his stomach made his neck muscles ache. He watched the alarm
clock with open eyes. Maybe this would help him fall asleep? He was
talking to himself. Shut up!  Count backwards. Breathe in 10,
breathe out 9, breathe in 8, breathe out 7… Why did Agnes call the
people in the photograph Gillespie’s victims? Her father was a
geologist. Working for Gillespie? Start again: Breathe in 10,
breathe out 9, breathe in 8, breathe out 7, breathe in 6… .What
about her brothers? Did they work for Gillespie too?

It was hopeless trying to go to sleep when his brain wanted
answers. One way or the other, he needed to know whether Gillespie
or Agnes or both were into money-laundering. How to get into their
computers? Agnes wanted help in installing anti-spam filters. That
might be the front door. Now how to search through the computer
files for evidence. He knew the programmes to use. It had to be
done right under her nose. He knew how to do that too. The trick
was to leave the way he came in and re-enter through a secret back
door whenever he wanted. But there wasn’t one, not yet anyway.
Lexie would have to make one and keep it open for as long as needed
and close it without anyone ever being the wiser. That took care of
Agnes.

 

He woke to the sound of Lexie boiling the kettle. He had
expected her to come in before the weekend but not this quick. Good
thing.

“Do you want a coffee?” Lexie called out.

 “Yes, please. Give me time to shower and shave.”

Parker came into the living room smiling. Lexie was already busy
sorting through a pile of photocopied material.

“Bankers hours, is it?” she teased.” Got your message about the
key.”

“Didn’t go to sleep till two,” Parker said. “Too much on my
mind.

 “Like what?”

“Like getting in and out of Agnes’ computer without her
knowing.”

“Agnes?”

“Agnes Webb, Gillespie’s secretary. I want to know what she’s up
to. You’ll be seeing her first thing Monday to install an e-mail
spam filter.”

“Terrific. That’s all the access I need,” Lexie boasted. “That
takes care of Agnes. What about Gillespie? Do you want to read his
mail as well?”

“Soon. I’d like to know that all is as it should be with him
too.”

“Something’s bound to come up.”

“Now what do we need in the way of new gear?” Parker asked.

“Firewall, anti-virus and activity logging software – time to go
shopping?”

“Yes, Lexie and I want to put some papers and my passport into
the safe deposit box while we’re out,” Parker said and looked into
Lexie’s eyes. The trap was set.

 

Lexie took a breath in, bit her lip and looked past him.

“I can go to the bank again for you,” Lexie offered.

Time to own up darling!

“You didn’t put the CDs in the safe deposit box.”

“No. Not yet.”

“I gave it to Debbie because I wanted her help. I wanted very
much to surprise and impress her with what I could do,” Lexie said
but the con didn’t work.

“Whose payroll are you on? Don’t bullshit me,” Parker said more
harshly than intended.

“Not the Federal Police, honest.”

“Then how come you know about how they file documents at the
Federal Police?”

When Lexie didn’t answer, Parker shouted angrily at her:

“Get Debbie on the phone, now.”

“That’s not fair. You’re putting her in a spot,” Lexie
protested.

“No more than you are doing to me,” Parker replied. “There can’t
be any question of your loyalty in what we do. It is much too
dangerous.”

"I know that. I’ll make the call.”

Lexie explained the situation to someone and that she had no
choice but to reveal her covert role or quit her job with Parker.
She finished the call and said: “I am with the AFP but seconded to
an Australian Customs task force. That’s all I’m authorised to say.
You can fire me, but that won’t help you. I know what you’ve found
out about Agnes Weber last night. I can get you more.”

“So why have you gone undercover so to speak?”

“We’ve suspected money-laundering at Gillespie’s casino.
Whatever evidence is collected must be legally obtained to be
useful. Now you on the other hand can gather evidence from the
inside and what’s more, whistleblower evidence will stand up in a
court of law. By working together, we should be able connect the
money-laundering with the Amphora drug operation.”

“Had you suspected Agnes?” Parker asked.

“No. She’s a totally new player,” Lexie admitted. “Our sniffer
programmes picked up Amphora five years ago and we have been
monitoring routers for it ever since.”

“Sniffers? What? Like electronic bloodhounds?” Parker asked.

“Yes. Every time you log on to your account from a remote
location, big computers called routers direct electronic traffic.
Sniffers installed on routers can listen to hundreds of computers
for specific words. Agnes is one of them now.”

“How easy would it be to add Augustus and Alexander to that
list?” Parker asked.

“Piece of cake. They are the brothers, right?”

“Yes. I’m expecting word about them and their parents.”

“Let’s go and put your stuff in the bank,” Lexie suggested as
she tidied up her paperwork.

 

There were two e-mails waiting for Parker when they returned.
Parker printed the Perth letter for Lexie to read. Julius Weber had
been the subject of an inquest in 1968 with a “probable suicide”
verdict. He had not returned from a field trip and was officially
declared dead in 1973 on an application by his widow. Augustus
Weber was listed as a director of KEGIL Investment Services and
KEGIL Shipping Pty. Ltd.

“This is interesting, Will. Augustus a director in two of
Gillespie’s companies?”

“Even more interesting. Alexander as well.”

“Anything in the Sydney mail about the widow?”

“Quite a bit. I’ll print it for you,” Parker replied.” I’ve
started a profile on the Washerwoman. I’ll do one for her mum and
you can do the brothers.”

“I’ll do them and make a start on Julius as well.”

 

At the end of the day, they had five profiles on the Weber
family and still gaps to be filled. There was no doubt now that
Agnes Webb was Agnes Weber. She had left Perth in 1987 probably
after her marriage break-up. Her mother Ilse also left WA for
Sydney where she had died in 1997 aged 53. The brothers inherited
shares and other investments. Agnes inherited the house at Dee Why,
her present address.

Lexie summarised: “Julius died in late 1967. Agnes was only a
baby then, one boy in kindergarten and one in primary school. They
stayed put. Maybe because of housing and a support base?”

“Stupid me,” Parker smacked himself in the forehead. “Forgot I
had Julius Weber’s file. Haven’t even looked at it.”

Lexie found the explanation in Weber’s file. He had been buying
a Gillespie company house since 1962, made over to the estate. A
$35,000 loan had been written off. His life had been insured for
$50,000 that together with $13,000 in shares, left the widow not
too badly off.

“The life insurance paid for the boys’ education. Augustus
studied commerce, Alexander became a marine engineer. That’s the
last bit of the profile,” Lexie said and saved the file.

 “What bothers me most about the three of them is why they
are into money laundering. With the sort of start they had in life,
crime doesn’t make sense.”

“It could be a means to an end,” Parker speculated.

“What? You mean they need mountains of cash to achieve their
goal? Some goal!  If it is connected with Weber’s suicide 35
years ago, some grudge!” Lexie concluded.

“Stronger than a grudge maybe. Hatred. Revenge.”

“Revenge? For what?” Lexie’s question hung in the air.

“If I think about that now, I’ll still be thinking about it when
I go to bed. Gillespie’s connected to it for sure. Let’s call it a
day,” Parker said.

“Oh, I forgot to mention that I had drinks with Sean from the
shipping company. Nothing much to report. Worth following up now,
do you think?”

“Definitely. But wait till Monday or if you have time before
then, do a search at the companies office,” Parker said and as an
afterthought asked: “How are you getting on with Robinson?”

“Still seeing him at Randwick on Saturday. He’s a member there.
I couldn’t tell you until now that he is under investigation for
corruption.”

“By your lot?”

“No, it’s a state police matters.”

“How will that affect the casino tender committee?”

“It complicates things,” Lexie said. “Robinson will keep his job
for now as bait.”

“So what do I tell Gillespie?” Parker wondered.

“You can tell him that the tender committee will be squeaky
clean. The Federal Government is very quietly putting its oar in by
nominating two independent members. Robinson is out of the
picture.”

“I hope you’re right Lexie.”

“Now about Monday. I’ll install the antivirus software and the
firewall using the original disks. I’ll make a duplicate of the
activity logging to avoid Agnes became suspicious. But I still need
at least a minute alone.”

“For what?”

“I’ll show you.”

Lexie installed the firewall software on the new computer, then
opened a blank word document page.

“No watch what happens when I download stuff from our
website.”

Lexie called up bunya.com.au and highlighted section of text to
copy and paste. A firewall warning frame popped up: ‘Internet
Explorer is trying to connect to Bunya.com.au using remote port 80.
Do you want this program to access the network? □ Remember my
answer and do not ask me again for this application.’

“That’s what I don’t want Agnes to see. I’ll put a tick in the
box. This is our backdoor. We can walk in and out any time we want
to without her knowing. I’ll also delete the history of our website
visited.”

“Good one Lexie. If Gillespie’s own computer is networked, we
can monitor his activity as well?”

“Of course. We can get into any file we like, even passwords.
We’ll record every keystroke.”

Parker examined  Julius Weber’s file in detail. He owed
$15,000 to Gillespie Nickel NL for the house and $35,000 for the
loan the day he disappeared. The company had taken out an insurance
policy on his life two weeks earlier. That would have paid off the
debts and left the widow a $13,000 pittance. Gillespie’s generosity
had left the family in a much more comfortable situation. Nice
gesture. I wonder.

Weber had drawn a modest salary, received bonus shares and had
been paying off a company house. With a third of his salary going
into a company share club for five years, he should have built up a
sizeable portfolio given the inside information he must have had
from his own exploration and from his geologist mates. So why only
$13,000 in shares? Something was very wrong. Had Weber borrowed to
speculate in shares and when it all went wrong committed
suicide?

A Google search for nickel, shares, WA and 1967 brought forth
the astonishing history of a nickel boom, giddy share prices,
speculation and a bust three years later. Parker phoned the PR
Department to ask for 1967-1970 newspaper cuttings. The librarian
had the cuttings files and CD ready for him. Gillespie Nickel NL
featured prominently in early exploration when news of rich
deposits attracted speculators and investors and share prices took
off. But by 1970, it was all over. The new owners of Gillespie
Nickel NL had seen their shares fall from a $2.35 high to 1 cent.
The most spectacular had been Poseidon Nickel whose shares that had
fallen from $280 to nothing. Big losers, big winners and Claude
Gillespie was likely to have been in the thick of it.

Parker itched to see the library photos but waited until
returning to the office. The librarian had done a good job. Parker
ignored the earliest photos of Claude Gillespie dating back to the
1950s. He was much more interested in the three years to 1970 and
putting names to faces in some the company foyer photographs. There
were Julius Weber and Claude Gillespie and their rich nickel
deposits. Gillespie handing Weber keys to a new Land Rover. Weber
and Gillespie posing in front of a Cessna. Open cut mining had
started in January 1968. A young Kelvin Gillespie stood near the
Cessna plane wreck 140 miles north of Kalgoorlie in which his
father had died in February 1968. Julius, Ilse Weber and children
outside the church and with Kelvin Gillespie at the gravesite.

Parker found a Poseidon connection in a May 1968 photograph in
which Kelvin Gillespie symbolically handed over the keys of
Gillespie Nickel to men in suits, directors of Poseidon Nickel.

He had at the end of the day names, dates, places, tentative
explanations and more questions. Why did Gillespie sell his
father’s company? Had he been the Weber family benefactor?
Gillespie himself would have to supply the answers. He needed to
understand the risks Agnes and her brothers posed to Gillespie
gaining the casino licence. The slightest whiff of casino staff
involved in money-laundering could seriously jeopardise his
chances. Parker decided to confront Gillespie with not just that
but the wider issue of why Julius Weber’s children might want to
harm him.

 

Parker hadn’t been to be Dee Why since his teenage days. The
majestic Norfolk Island Pines along the foreshore brought back
memories of hot summer days and picnics with his parents on the
lawn. He parked his car at the kerb near Agnes Webb’s house on the
promenade and sat in a small rotunda from where he had a clear view
of her house. It was a solid brick, triple fronted house, much like
the others in the street built in the late 1940s. The garage and
short driveway looked more recent. It was just after 10 and the
newspaper still lay on the front lawn. He was prepared to wait as
long as needed put became uneasy by midday. There was no tea left
in the thermos and he had eaten the sandwiches. He picked up the
Saturday paper again and pretended reading. A can of soft drink
would be nice but didn’t want to risk walking to the nearest corner
shop.

A cab drew up outside the house, Agnes stepped out and waved
goodbye to a woman passenger as the cab continued on its journey.
She struggled with two large paper bags and a hatbox, went inside
and returned to pick up the newspaper. An hour later, Parker saw a
different Agnes unlock the garage side door. She wore a knee length
dress and had a lightweight overcoat draped over her left arm. She
wore a wide brimmed hat that shaded all of her face. Parker didn’t
have to look. Her make up would be impeccable and classy. The
automatic garage door opened. Agnes paused at the kerb and looked
back as the garage door closed, then turned right in a brand-new
Toyota four-wheel-drive. Parker followed in his rented Nissan as
she made her way to the races.

It was busy day and slow parking in the public car park meant
losing Agnes who had proceeded to the members’ car park. He had
assumed that her hat and clothing would make it easy to follow her,
but not now.

Lexie answered her mobile.

“It’s me, Will. Can you talk?”

“Yes, within reason.”

“If you’re with Robinson, get away now,” Parker urged.

“Why?” Lexie replied quite irritated.

“Don’t argue. Make an excuse. I’ll explain later. Don’t hang
up.”

Parker heard Lexie say to Robinson that she had to go and meet
someone urgently and that she would be back soon.

“I’m walking away now. What’s up?”

“I’m in the public car park following Agnes.”

“What!  Agnes is here. What’s she doing?”

“Don’t know. She parked her car in the members’ car park and is
on her way, presumably to the members’ lounge.”

“Unless you’re a member, you can’t follow her.”

“Yes, Lexie I know and that’s where you come in.”

“OK, I’ll try. Describe her.”

“Beige knee-length dress. Light beige overcoat. Pinkish hat with
a wide brim. She is 39, plain, stout figure but elegant. Please
make sure that she doesn’t see you.”

“OK, Will. Leave it with me. I’ll phone you later,” Lexie
said.

“Good. I’ll hang around for a while.”

 

Parker sat in the grandstand with hundreds of others and watched
the crowd with hired binoculars trained on the on-course
bookmakers.

Lexie rang with news: “I’m in the member’s enclosure, but
Robinson can’t see me. Where are you?”

“In the grandstand. Watching with binoculars.”

“Robinson’s coming out the main door now. His bookie is the
third from the end.”

“That’s Agnes with him! Shit!” Parker exclaimed. He apologised
to the people around him and moved away.

“It’s obvious they know each other,” Lexie said. “But I can’t
get any closer to see what they are doing now.”

“They’re with the bookie. He’s placing a bet. Agnes just handed
him an envelope. He’s taking out some notes. They’re moving away to
another bookie. He’s making another bet.”

“Neat and clever. Nice of him to place a bet for a lady?” Lexie
said sarcastically.

“Looks quite innocent. I wonder how much she gave him?”

“I can see Agnes coming back by herself. Where’s Robinson?”
Lexie asked.

“Standing near the fence.”

“That’s what he usually does. He’ll go to the bar after the next
race. Do you want me to follow Agnes?”

“Yes, but be careful,” Parker cautioned. “Ring me if she
leaves.”

Lexie rang half an hour later to say that Agnes was walking to
the car park.

“I’ll go back to Robinson to see what he’s got to say for
himself.”

“Fine. I’ll follow Agnes. Can you come to the office at
six?”

“Yes, Will. Gives me a good excuse to ditch Robinson.”

 

Parker sat in the kitchen with a can of beer and two boxes of
takeaway noodles waiting to be microwaved.

“I’m famished,” Lexie called out as she let herself in.

“Noodles with black bean sauce?”

“Yummy!  Did you leave me a tinny?”

“Yes. There’s champagne if you’ve got real news.”

“You go first. Where did Agnes go? ”Lexie asked and opened a
can.

“Straight home. Well almost. She was three cars ahead of me when
the random breathalyser unit pulled her up. I was waved on and
waited outside her place. She came home by cab,” Parker replied.
“How’d you go with Robinson?”

“Not bad, not bad at all. He won for a change but not much. I
left him to celebrate on his own. What a pity he got booked for
drink driving!” Lexie laughed.

“A coincidence?” Parker smirked.

“Coincidence my arse. I had the boys waiting for him. And they
found the cash on him. Picked up Agnes too. Over the limit as
well.”

Lexie finished her meal and rose to make coffee.

“I wonder how much he had on him. Let me find out.” She made a
phone call.

“$10,550. And he said he won it at the races.”

“He’ll be hard put to prove that,” Parker presumed.

“He’ll be questioned at work on Monday. That’ll be the end of
him on the tender committee.”

“Gillespie will be pleased,” Parker said.

“I’m pretty certain that Agnes paid Robinson to foul Gillespie’s
bid.”

“Based on what?” Parker queried.

“He hinted that the Government preferred tenders from people new
to gaming. So even the slightest hint of money-laundering would
kill Gillespie’s chances.”

“How’s your dinner?” Parker asked.

“Good. Got any soy sauce?”

“Sorry, can’t help you. Did Robinson say anything else about
other bidders?”

“Only in a general way. I got the impression that the licence
will go to a local applicant. Considering that Gillespie has a
Queensland operation, he should get himself a local partner to
better the odds,” Lexie suggested.

“That’s worth putting to him,” Parker agreed.

“So what do we do about other bidders?”

“Not sure Lexie. I’ll advise Gillespie to strengthen his bid.
Let him decide.”

“Are you going to tell him about Agnes?”

“Not yet, unless I’m forced to. If she’s out to undermine him,
she won’t stop now. We’ll know more from Monday after we tap into
her computer.”

“Do you want to bug the reception area?” Lexie offered. “I can
get you the gear real easy.”

“And Gillespie’s office?”

“That too,” Lexie eagerly suggested.

But Parker wouldn’t have it. “Your mates would be privy to
Gillespie’s business. And he’d kill me if he finds out.”

“Trust me, we wouldn’t use it against him.”

“Trust me, I’m from the government? Yeah, right,” Parker
laughed.

“And I’m here to help you,” Lexie joked. “We’ll bug Agnes
then?”

“Yeah, why not. I can’t wait to hear what she says about
Robinson being shunted.”

 

Parker introduced Lexie to Agnes who was eager to make start on
having her e-mail traffic reduced. She noticed Parker looking at
Gillespie’s open door.

“He’s out till 11.00. He’s first appointment is at 11.30. Do you
want to see him before then?”

“Yes, please. That gives me time to meet with Wheaton,” Parker
said.

Lexie sat at the computer and updated the e-mail and antivirus
software. She turned to Agnes and said with an innocent smile:

“If you’ve got other things to do, go ahead. I’ll be another ten
minutes or so. I’ll answer the phone if you like.”

Agnes swallowed the bait.

“I need fresh milk and a packet of smokes for Mr. Gillespie.
Otherwise he’ll smoke mine,” she laughed and picked up her
purse.

With Agnes out of the way, Lexie attached a tiny radio
microphone under the desk, then installed the activity logging
software and the firewall. Clearing the history on the Internet
Explorer page wiped the evidence of her intrusion.

“All done?”

“All done her,” Lexie said, very pleased with herself.

 

Lexie moved out of the chair to let Agnes check the mail. There
was a long list of spam mail, which Agnes deleted. She chose not to
open the genuine letters much to Lexie’s annoyance.

“When you next check for mail, there shouldn’t be any spam.
While you were out, I checked for viruses. There weren’t any.
Lucky. Your system was unprotected and easy to hack into. With your
new firewall and automatic updates, you’re impregnable.”

“Thanks, Lexie. What about Mr. Gillespie’s laptop?”

“Does he have a docking port?”

“Yes and a desktop. Both are networked,” Agnes replied.

“If that’s the case, we’re all done here, Will,” Lexie said and
picked up her handbag. “Time to see Mr. Wheaton. Goodbye,
Agnes.”

“Bye, Lexie.”

 

Parker didn’t like Wheaton’s limp handshake or the man’s shirt
with its contrasting collar and cuffs. Wheaton’s manicured nails
further put him off. His opening remark ‘Exactly what is this
about’ angered Parker and he let Lexie do the talking. They left
his office barely ten minutes later and sat in the ground floor
cafeteria.

“You don’t like Wheaton, do you?” Lexie remarked.

 “He really got to me,” Parker admitted.

“You are so straight! Just as well you let me handle him.”

“Better you than me!” Parker joked.

“He wasn’t very cooperative, but at least he’ll let me look at
the share registry and director holdings.”

“Tell you what. You do that while I’m with Gillespie,” Parker
suggested.

“See you back at the office then,” Lexie agreed.

Gillespie was still out when Parker walked into the foyer. Agnes
gave him only a cursory glance and busied herself with paperwork.
Parker looked at the photo wall and faces now more familiar. Ilse
Weber was there. For a moment he felt sorry for Agnes. It wouldn’t
be pleasant to be reminded about her parents’ past every day. But
then again, it might be a source of comfort and ongoing
motivation?

“You want to see me, Will?” Gillespie asked and looked at Agnes
Webb.

“He has an appointment.”

 “Come on in then,” Gillespie said and led the way.

“What do you have to report?” Gillespie said, took off his
jacket and rolled up his sleeves.

“About the casino tender committee. One of them is a corrupt
public servant who had the potential to really stuff up your bid.
As of last Saturday, he is no longer a threat.”

“In what way was he a threat?” Gillespie asked: “Come to the
point.”

“He accepted a bribe from someone connected with you. That
person knows about the money-laundering at the casino.”

“What money laundering?” Gillespie objected but Parker cut
through the defence.

“You know and don’t deny it, that the high-rollers are involved.
It jeopardises your bid, so you’d best put to stop to it right
now,” Parker cautioned.

“Don’t tell me what to do,” Gillespie shouted but Parker didn’t
back off.

“I’m doing my job. Nothing more.”

“Sorry, Will. It’s a complication I don’t need.”

Gillespie swivelled in his chair, rose and walked to the corner
table where he had left his briefcase. He brought the laptop to his
desk and worked the keyboard for a few moments.

“Goldner won’t be accepting any more electronic transactions as
from now. That’s the end of it.”

Parker looked at him and remained silent. He couldn’t be
absolutely certain that Gillespie was unaware of Goldner’s money
transfers. Time to test the water.

“I had a meeting this morning with Wheaton. He tells me that
KEGIL Investment companies have been sold…,” Parker said but
Gillespie interrupted: “What’s that got to do with the casino?”

“As I was saying, you have sold them. Care to tell me why?”
Parker insisted.

“They won’t be on the books next year,” Gillespie said
evasively.

“I need to know. Come clean now or I walk away,” Parker said and
made for the door.

“I’m not finished with you,” Gillespie shouted.

“But I am with you,” Parker’s voice was firm and he stared at
Gillespie defiantly.

“Sit down. There is nothing to hide,” Gillespie declared.

“I’ll be the judge of that. Remember you want the casino licence
and it’s my job to help you get it.”

 

“KEGIL had to go because it was a tax shelter. There is nothing
illegal about it. I want to be seen as a good corporate citizen.
Tax havens are not good for our corporate image. It’s as simple as
that. KEGIL in Sydney had no purpose once I had disposed of the
Cook Island business,” Gillespie explained.

“That sounds reasonable. You would’ve had a hard time justifying
a tax haven at a tender committee hearing. Something else entirely,
Kelvin. Tell me about Julius Weber.”

“Christ Almighty!  Come on, that was what, 30 years ago?
Why are you asking?”

“Tell me what happened. I’ve got good reasons for asking.
Believe me,” Parker said.

“Some reassurance,” Gillespie said unconvinced. “Where do you
want me to start?”

“Weber’s shares and the $35,000 cancelled loan,” Parker
said.

“You have to understand that I came on the scene after my
father’s death. I wasn’t interested in mining. I made my money from
investing. It was a turbulent time. People made millions overnight
trading Poseidon shares. A real trading frenzy. I was in it right
from the start and sold everything I had to buy Poseidon shares. I
liquidated my holdings two weeks before the crash. I am not proud
about what my father did. That’s why I cancelled the loan,”
Gillespie said.

Gillespie revealed that his father had traded employee share
scheme holdings to drive up the price of Gillespie Nickel. He sold
his own holdings to buy Poseidon shares. He had also borrowed
heavily but was able to repay the loans from profits made as
Poseidon shares rose. Weber had been in the know about the nickel
discovery. Because he was out in the field prospecting for days on
end, he trusted Gillespie to sell his Gillespie Nickel shares to
buy into Poseidon.

“I’m ashamed having to admit that my father sold Weber’s
Gillespie Nickel shares at 20 cents but he didn’t buy Poseidon
shares with the proceeds. Instead he bought back Gillespie Nickel
shares at a higher price, twice more when all the while he was
offloading his own stock. He didn’t buy Poseidon shares with
Weber’s borrowed $35,000 either. He bought more Gillespie Nickel
shares.”

“So he sold Weber’s shares for 20 cents and bought them back?
For how much?” Parker asked.

“Gillespie Nickel topped 65 cents from memory.”

Kelvin Gillespie said he pieced the story together when he took
over as manager. Weber wanted his Poseidon shares sold when they
hit $15. But by then Gillespie Nickel shares had dropped to 12
cents.

 

“Weber claimed that my father should have bought 75,000 Poseidon
Nickel shares. But on the books, he had 110,000 Gillespie Nickel
shares I think, worth $13,000 and falling. “Weber was devastated,”
Gillespie admitted. “He owed $35,000 when he thought he had more
than $1 million worth of Poseidon shares that rose to $280 within
eighteen months and then crashed to nothing. When Weber
disappeared, the least I could do was to cancel the debt and give
them a roof over their head. The widow was pretty shrewd. She sold
the Gillespie Nickel shares, mortgaged the house and used the
$50,000 insurance payout to buy 5000 Poseidon shares at $20 I
think.”

“The insurance company paid out straightaway? Hardly,” Parker
objected and Gillespie was lost for words.

“Perhaps she borrowed against the payout. I can’t remember
exactly.”

“Her 5000 shares at $280 would have netted her $1.4 million as
against the 75,000 shares, which Weber thought he had, would have
been worth $21 million,” Parker said. “That’s a powerful reason for
revenge.”

“Revenge?” Gillespie asked with a puzzled look. “Not against me.
That’s crazy!”

“Against your father at first. What was the story on the
aircraft accident? Any foul play?”

“I don’t think so. The Cessna was a mangled mess after hitting a
hill.”

“The accident was investigated I take it?”

“Of course. I’ve kept a copy of the report. Agnes knows where to
find it,” Gillespie said.

“Weber took out the life insurance policy after your father died
and then disappeared. Convenient?” Parker speculated.

“That’s all history now. Forget about it. I want to know why you
think the revenge is not over.”

“Promise me that you won’t take any action without talking it
over with me first. Don’t tell anyone and I mean anyone about what
I’m telling you,” Parker warned.

“That sounds serious,” Gillespie commented with a half hearted
laugh. “Who’s behind it?”

“Weber’s children.”

“I don’t believe it!  I can’t be blamed for what my father
did,” Gillespie protested.

“The facts say otherwise. I’ve stopped Weber’s daughter from
influencing the deputy Chairman of the tender committee. Her two
brothers own KEGIL Investment and KEGIL Shipping. We know for
certain that they use KEGIL Investment for money-laundering. We
think they import drugs into Fremantle and Sydney on their
container ships.”

Gillespie’s face turned ashen and he slumped in his chair.
Parker’s suspicions about Gillespie’s possible involvement vanished
when he spoke.

“I sold both businesses to nominee companies. At first they
wanted a 60/40 split. I wouldn’t come at that. My god! I still have
a 15% ownership because they couldn’t raise enough capital. That
was a dirty trick to link me with money-laundering and
drug-trafficking.”

Gillespie hands trembled. His voice was shaky when he
continued,

“If that becomes known, I’ll never get the licence here. And I
can kiss my Queensland operation goodbye too. Shit!  I can’t
afford to be implicated in the slightest. What if you’re
wrong?”

“Wrong about what?”

“Wrong about the money-laundering,” Gillespie said.

“No chance,” Parker replied and trying to soften the blow,
continued: ”You can put an end to it. It’s risky and you can’t
afford to make new enemies.”

“Ha! At least I’ll know who they are. I’ll take the risk. Give
it to me straight.”

“Goldner runs the show,” Parker said and let it sink in.

Gillespie fumbled in his jacket pocket for cigarettes and a
lighter. His hands were shaking still as he lit up.

“The bastard. Don’t I pay him enough as it is? Who else is in it
with him?”

Parker handed him the fake AFP file. Gillespie read page after
page. There was fear in his voice now. “How am I going to get out
of this? No one will believe that all this is going on without me
knowing. What do I do?”

“With Goldner out of the way, the Webers will have to build a
new network. That will take weeks and they’ll be drowning in cash,”
Parker suggested.

“I want them stopped.”

“That’s not your job Kel, or mine. The Webers will be under
immense pressure. On the one hand, they’ll be forced to take risks
in rebuilding their organisation. They’ll make mistakes. And on the
other, their drug supply will dry up. All this cash piling up and
no ready way to get it out of the country to pay for the next lot!
Meanwhile, the Federal Police will have Goldner under surveillance.
”

“Am I under suspicion?” Gillespie’s lips tightened.

“I don’t think so. There is not even a hint in the AFP
file.”

“So what happens now?” Gillespie spoke softly, looking for
reassurance. Parker had never seen him this anxious and ill at
ease.

“Let things run their course. You will have submitted your
tender well before the AFP arrest Goldner. But say nothing, don’t
speak to anyone about what I’ve told to. Leave the AFP paperwork
for Agnes to file,” Parker said.

 “Agnes?” Gillespie asked,” Agnes Webb?”

“Agnes Weber.” Parker said and watched Gillespie explode.

“I’ll get rid of the cunt!” Gillespie’s face turned crimson.
“Now!!” His eyes were wild and still swearing under his breath,
turned to Parker who cut him short: “No, don’t do that. She’ll be
out of your hair soon. And her brothers. They’ll hang themselves.
You don’t have to do a thing. Just sit tight or better still, take
a few days off.”

“I might just do that. Fuck her. You can go now.”

“One more thing, Kel. I want to monitor what Agnes is up to.
It’s called a…,” Parker said but Gillespie cut him off.

“Just get on with it. I’m busy.”

“Yes, sir! See you later, Kel.”

“Piss off.”

Agnes was pounding the keyboard when Parker walked out of
Gillespie’s office. He couldn’t help putting the boot in just a
little.

“Something the matter Agnes? Anything I can do?”

“Fuck-off,” Agnes said without looking up.

“Sorry I asked,” Parker replied as sincerely as he could.
“Didn’t mean to intrude. Before I go, could you get me the report
on Gillespie senior’s air crash, please.”

 

Lexie sat at her desk, listening with headphones, a devilish
grin and smiling eyes greeted Parker as he came into the
apartment.

“Guess who I’m listening to?” she said.

“Must be Agnes,” Parker chuckled.

“Too right,” Lexie replied and handed him the headpiece.

“This is what the bug picked up.”

Parker listened to a recording of Agnes speaking to her
solicitor who must have berated her for another drink driving
episode. ‘Don’t tell me to stop drinking and driving. Get me off
the charge.’ There was a pause and Parker heard the phone slam down
and Agnes muttering ‘Get fucked.’ Robinson was the next in line to
be told.

“I never knew women could swear so much. She certainly gave
Robinson a full serve,” Parker commented.  ‘Don’t let them
question you without a solicitor present,’ she had warned. ‘And
don’t you dare mention my name!’ No wonder Agnes had been in a foul
mood!

“How did you manage to record Agnes? We are a fair way from the
office,” Parker wondered.

“The little radio bug transmits a signal to a relay long life
battery transmitter. I can pick up the signal here and record it,”
Lexie explained.

“So where is the transmitter?”

“In Agnes’ bottom drawer.”

 

Lexie took handwritten notes from a manila folder and handed
them to Parker. He read through the list of calls and Lexie’s
summary notes. Agnes had spoken to the Galaxy Casino telephone
receptionist four times in a panic, trying to contact Goldner who
had not responded to any of her messages. The printer churned out
e-mail messages. Lexie read them one by one and handed them to
Parker.

“Bingo!” Lexie exclaimed and punched the air.

“What have you got?”

 “E-mail.” Lexie said in a hushed voice.

Parker whistled through his teeth.

“What’s the address?”

“Luxembourg.”

“Luxembourg? Show me,” Parker said.

 

Lexie watched as Parker read the letter. They were beads of
sweat on his forehead and his hand shook. The fake AFP report had
spooked Agnes as intended.

“Do you realise to whom she wrote?” Parker asked.

“Yeah, she’s telling her dad that Gillespie will get the casino
licence and that KEGIL Investment and KEGIL Shipping are suspected
drug importers.”

“Lexie,” Parker said,” Julius Weber is dead. He committed
suicide when Agnes was just a baby. Apparently not so. He’s behind
all this. Carried a grudge all these years. Unbelievable.”

“I don’t understand. What’s Weber got to do with Gillespie?”
Lexie wondered.

“It’s a long story, I’ve only just found out today. The gist of
it is that Gillespie’s father cheated Julius Weber out of a fortune
in Poseidon Nickel shares in the 1960’s. The children, it now
seems, want revenge and Gillespie’s son ruined. They came very
close to achieving that. Imagine had the money-laundering at the
casino become public. He would never have been granted the Sydney
licence and the Queensland operation would be under a cloud.
Gillespie’s ongoing shareholding in KEGIL Investment and KEGIL
Shipping even though it’s small would implicate him in drug
imports. It would have finished him in business.”

Parker said softly: “A childhood without a father. The memory of
a father’s love denied. For Agnes, revenge instead.”

“So what happened to the old Gillespie?” Lexie asked.

“He died in an aircraft crash, just before Weber’s convenient
suicide,” Parker said. “I wonder.”

“Are you saying it wasn’t an accident? And that Weber
disappeared because he was behind it?”

“That’s what I’m thinking,” Parker said.

“If you’re right, then-“

Parker finished the sentence: “Then Gillespie is in danger.”

“And so is Goldner,” Lexie said. “I’ll have him pulled in.”

 

“Did Agnes say anything in her phone calls that makes you think
she suspects us?” Parker wondered.

“Nothing. There is nothing to link us to her. Your fake AFP
report is all Agnes has to go on. Let’s check her latest
e-mail.”

It read: “Agnes: don’t write, don’t speak, don’t phone, don’t
quit Gillespie. Sit tight. We regroup. Love Dad.”

 

“So what happens now?” Parker wondered.

“We take over,” Lexie said matter-of-fact.

“We?”

“Yes, the task force. Customs, AFP, Taxation, not quite sure yet
how many of us. Irrespective, Gillespie is virtually certain to get
the casino licence, thanks to you.”

“And you, Lexie,” Parker said. “We were a good team.”

“True, but we are not done yet. I want us to meet Gillespie
tomorrow.”

 

Parker had done a good job for his master. Gillespie was very
likely to be granted the casino licence. But Parker’s well meaning
but risky actions had long lasting repercussions. He had failed to
take into account the reactions of opposing forces. Others would
pay a high price for his interventions and naïve assumptions. He
could have let well enough alone. He hadn’t looked at his poem for
a long time. Had he done so, he would have concluded that he had
not yet started on the journey. But in fact, he had inadvertently
set in motion events that would bring him closer to the ‘you’
missing in his life.

 

Parker sat on the lounge and read the aircraft accident report.
An aerial search had spotted the wrecked Cessna two days after
Gillespie’s disappearance. The investigators found no mechanical
malfunction and determined pilot error as the most likely cause.
Parker looked at the appendices that included a statement by the
only ‘witness’. A lone prospector, Dennis Harridan, had heard a
plane flying low and an engine splutter at about 8 AM. He had not
heard an explosion. As he had been in the field for three weeks, he
couldn’t be certain of the actual date. Gillespie had taken off at
7.10AM and the plane had crashed near where Harridan said he had
been. The investigators, while not disbelieving Harridan,
discounted Gillespie running out of fuel less than an hour into the
flight.

 

Lexie and two plainclothes policemen were already in Gillespie’s
foyer when Parker arrived. Agnes was seated in a visitor’s chair
bewildered, white as a sheet.

“We’ve charged her with conspiracy. Albert Robinson fessed up,”
Lexie said. “And….“

“And?” Parker asked.

“Robinson’s dead. Suicide.”

Agnes had tears streaming down her face. She screamed at Parker,
hurled abuse and raved incoherently.

“Take her away,” Lexie ordered.

Agnes turned in the doorway and hissed at Parker.

“You idiot! You have no idea what you’ve done.”

 

Gillespie had no choice but to cooperate as Agnes’s computer was
seized. KEGIL Investment and KEGIL Shipping offices had been raided
an hour earlier. The AFP had failed to arrest Brad Goldner-he had
taken flight to Taiwan.

Gillespie took in the news, outwardly calm, but Parker noticed
his fidgeting.

“Look, I have to go,” Lexie said.

Gillespie rose, thanked Lexie for her efforts and shook her
hand.

”See you at the flat after work?” Lexie said to Parker as they
stood waiting for the lift.

“Sure. Let’s have a farewell dinner then.”

“Can Debbie come?”

“Of course.”

 

Parker kept quiet and waited while Gillespie stared silently out
across the harbour blowing smoke up at the ceiling. He swivelled in
his chair, stubbed out the cigarette and took a deep breath. There
was colour in his face now.

“It’ll be two years before we open the Sydney casino. When we
start recruiting in a year’s time, I want everything in place. I
won’t need you till then. You’ve done well.” He handed Parker an
envelope. “You’re off the payroll till then. This will tide you
over.”

“Before I go, I need to know how much Agnes knows about
me-especially where I live. It must be on file,” Parker said.

“Is your address a secret?” Gillespie laughed. “What makes you
think she knows?”

“It’s no joke,” Parker snapped. “My life depends on certain
people not knowing where I live.”

“This goes back a while then?” Gillespie wasn’t really asking
and Parker didn’t reply. “OK then. Have a look at your own file if
you must.”

“Thanks, Kel. See you.”

“Piss off!”

 

Parker was relieved that only his contract and bank number were
on file. Shit!  The BSB number revealed to Agnes that he
banked on Hamilton Island. And credit card receipts told her his
movements. Clever. He ripped the bank account page from the file
and felt less vulnerable, but still uneasy. The satellite phone.
She knows I live on an island outside mobile phone coverage. Fuck!
Fuck! Fuck!!!!!

He banked his $5,000 bonus, paid off his Visa Card and closed
the Hamilton Island ANZ account. It didn’t take long to set up an
account with the CBA across the road. As he was in the process of
moving house, would he mind coming in to collect his new debit
card? He closed the satellite phone account and opened a new one
with a rival provider.

Gillespie was still in the office. Parker ignored his angry
outburst at being interrupted and handed him a slip of paper.

“You can reach me on this number. Give it to no one else.”

“OK. Piss off again.”

“Yes, Kel. You too.”

He was done now with Gillespie and if not forever, then for a
long while. He had supped with the devil long and often enough.

 

Parker landed on Hamilton Island after an overnight stay in
Brisbane. He closed the post office box and felt better now that
only Gillespie linked him to the outside world. He ordered
provisions for the next two months and was back on his island at
mid-day. The helicopter disappeared into the haze-it was good to be
home. There was enough for him to do around the place to put
Gillespie, Agnes, Lexie and money-laundering far behind him. He
felt sorry for Agnes who had devoted so much of her life to her
father’s revenge. Was Robinson her instrument? Was Robinson her
sweet memory of love?

Will I ever have a sweet memory of love?

 

Chapter 4

 

“Get your arse down here!”

“Yes, sir!”

“Don’t call me sir!”

“How are you, Kel?”

“Shithouse!”

“Up here the fishing’s great. Take a break,” Parker said.

“Hate Queensland sun. Get your arse down here! Now!”

 “Now?”

“Now! The jet’s waiting.” Gillespie hung up.

Six o’clock in the morning. Private jet. Must be serious.

 

Gillespie’s limo was on the tarmac in Sydney as the jet taxied
up. The chauffeur came over, picked up Parker’s suitcase and put it
in the boot. The passenger in the rear of the limo shook Parker’s
hand.

“Jake. Remember me?”

“Jake Hanson.”

“Harmsen.”

“Sorry. I didn’t expect to see you again after the Queensland
casino episode.”

Harmsen pressed a button to raise a glass partition between
passenger and driver and helped himself to a drink from the tiny
bar. Parker declined, saying it was too early for him. They sat in
silence as the driver took them to the city. Beads of sweat rolled
down Harmsen’s cheek despite the air-conditioning. He swirled the
ice in his glass absentmindedly.

“So what are you doing in Sydney?” Parker said to break the
awkward silence.

“I ran the Galaxy Casino after Goldner scarpered. When Gillespie
got the Sydney casino licence, he brought me down here to oversee
the start-up.”

“So what did Samantha have to say about that?” Parker said with
a smirk.

“Geez! You know how to rub it in you bastard,” Harmsen replied
angrily. “She’s back here.”

“And I bet you’re glad she is.”

“Ha, ha, ha. Very funny.”

“So how’s Gillespie?”

“He’s not a happy man. He’s just lost $120 million,” Harmsen
said.

“No wonder he was shitty on the phone,” Parker laughed.
“How?”

“Well, you know how much we count on high-rollers for turnover
and profit? Gillespie wanted to get in early and promote his new
casino well before we open officially. I gave him names of
high-rollers I knew from my Queensland days. And a few more from my
contacts in Asia and America. He invited half a dozen. Five came to
the big game.”

“The big game? How big?” Parker asked.

“$20 million stake each, $120 million to last man standing.
Winner take all.”

“Shit! That’s big.”

“Too right. Gillespie wanted it to be the biggest ever.”

“I’m confused,” Gillespie admitted. “You said Gillespie had lost
$120 million. He wouldn’t lose more than his own $20 million
stake.”

“That’s why you’re here. The game was hijacked. The lot’s gone
in an armed hold up,” Harmsen said.

“Wow! That much. The police know?”

“No. Only Gillespie, you and I and the five players know.
They’re keeping quiet. Gillespie offered to refund their stake but
as yet hasn’t. Your job is to recover the lot,” Harmsen
explained.

“Insurance?” Parker asked. “Please don’t tell me there wasn’t
any because the game…”

“Wasn’t held on licensed premises,” Harmsen revealed.

“Oh, shit!  What a mess,” Parker chuckled.

 

They walked into the foyer from where a new secretary ushered
them into Gillespie’s office without a word.

“Shut up!” Gillespie barked.

“How are you, Will? I’m good. Thanks for asking, Kel. And you?”
Parker asked. He wasn’t going to be intimidated.

“I’ll be a lot better when you find my $120 million.”

“So will I,” Parker said. “The finder’s fee is?”

“Get stuffed.” Gillespie was as aggressive as always. “No
finder’s fee.”

Parker took the mobile out of his pocket and walked towards the
door.

“What are you doing?” Gillespie yelled.

"Calling myself a cab. To the airport. See you later.”

“Don’t be stupid. Sit down.” Gillespie backed down. “We can talk
about your fee later.”

“We talk about it now. The fee and expenses. And it won’t be
cheap,” Parker declared. “I must have a free hand.”

Gillespie nodded and turning to Harmsen, said: “You can go
now.”

Harmsen turned a shade paler: “I want to make it clear that I
extend my fullest cooperation to Will. Actually I wouldn’t mind
being part of investigation myself.”

Parker cut off Gillespie who was about to jump on Harmsen.
”Sorry, Jake. I can’t accept your offer.”

“Why not?” Harmsen whinged. “I can help.”

“I’ll say it another way, Jake. You can’t be part of
investigation.”

“Because I’m a suspect? I can’t believe it. Are you accusing
me?” Harmsen started to sweat. He protested more but the words were
a jumble.

“Calm down. I’m saying that I have to run the investigation my
way. If you’re not involved, you have nothing to fear,” Parker
reassured him.

 

Harmsen stormed out but his hands were too sweaty to turn the
doorknob. He wiped his hands on his trouser legs. He looked
embarrassed as he walked out and Parker felt sorry for him. Harmsen
looked a worried man. No, it was more than that.

“Do you suspect him?” Gillespie asked.

“I suspect everybody. Even you,” Parker replied and before
Gillespie got a chance to reply, continued,

“My fee is $2 million. I can and will call in who I like to
help, including the police.”

“Agreed,” Gillespie said and laughed: “It’s all tax deductible
anyway.”

“Now tell me all about the big game-and I mean everything.”
Parker pulled out a notebook.

“On second thought, tell me what’s happened to Agnes Weber
first.”

“Agnes. Well the conspiracy case against her fell into a heap
with Robinson’s death. I had to let her go. She’s done alright out
of me and her superannuation payout.”

“So where is she now?” Parker asked.

“Don’t know and couldn’t give a stuff,” Gillespie replied.

“You should. The Webers are a threat,” Parker cautioned.

“I’m not worried. I want my $120 million.”

“Has anyone tried to trace your cheque?”

“Do you think I’m stupid? That’s the first thing I did. It was a
banker’s cheque. It’s probably been cashed overseas,” Gillespie
replied.

 

Parker left, satisfied with Gillespie’s explanation of the
hijacked game. Gillespie was the victim, without a doubt. But he
had lost only $20 million – only $20 million!  Not $120
million as first mentioned. The other five players had threatened
to sue for their losses but had not taken legal action since the
robbery, now four days old. Only threatening phone calls to Jake
Harmsen.

The big game had never started. The players had only just met in
a rented hotel suite to establish the ground rules. Two masked
gunmen had burst in and relieved them at gunpoint of their stakes:
six genuine negotiable bank cheques that according to Harmsen had
been authenticated by a bank manager. Only one cheque was genuine
for certain: Gillespie’s cheque. The hijackers had taken one player
hostage and threatened to kill him should anyone contact the
police.

A lot of questions and no leads! How had the gunmen known when
and where the game was to be held? How had they gained entry? Who
had chosen the venue? Why hadn’t the other players sued? Who had
actually come up with the idea of the big game? Harmsen claimed it
had been Gillespie. Gillespie however, disputed this. Too many
suspects: the players and their partners, the gaming supervisor, a
bank manager, Harmsen, hotel staff, security guards, catering
staff.

Parker was certain of only one thing so far: Gillespie had lost
$20 million. He needed more certainty and Harmsen was next to be
grilled. Parker picked up his overnight bag that Gillespie’s new
secretary had in safekeeping.

“I’m Denise Lester,” she said introducing herself. “Mr.
Gillespie has explained things to me. You can set yourself up in an
office on this floor if you like. I can arrange secretarial help,
computers and whatever else you need.”

Parker thought about the offer for a moment and declined.

“I’ve got an apartment and office which will do very nicely.
Wouldn’t mind one of the new LCD monitors though.”

 

“I can fix that. They’re beautiful. Really easy on the eyes.
Love my new processor too. Much, much faster than the clunker that
was here before,” she said.

“What happened to it?”

“Mr. Gillespie gave it to his secretary when she retired.”

She noticed the look of alarm on his face.

“Don’t worry. The IT people took out the hard drive and
reinstalled it in my machine.”

Parker looked at his watch.

“I must be off. I’ll give you my mobile number. You can ring me
when the monitor is ready.”

“I’ll do that.”

“I’ll see you then, Miss Lester.”

“Denise. Please.”

“And I’m Will.”

 

He walked into the lift, turned and waved goodbye to Denise. His
mobile phone rang as he passed the 10th floor. He didn’t recognise
the number. A vaguely familiar woman’s voice asked: “Where are
you?”

“In a lift. Who’s this?”

“Give you a freebie, Constable.”

“Samantha! What a surprise.”

“Nothing like the surprise you’re about to get. Where are
you?”

“In the lift at Gillespie’s office block. Where are you?”

“Shopping centre. Stop the lift. Stop the lift. Now.” There was
panic in Samantha’s voice.

“OK. I’ve stopped the lift. Happy?”

“Yes. You’re in trouble mate. Big time.”

“I can take care of myself pet,” Parker assured her.

“Not against them you can’t,” Samantha warned. “There are few
things men won’t do for $20 million.”

“So you know about…”

“Yep, I know about the heist and that’s all I’m going to
say.”

 “Come on Sam. Tell me more,” Parker pleaded. “Is Jake
involved? Is he?”

“The word’s out. Please Will, be careful.”

“Sam, Sam…” Parker said but Sam had hung up. At least he had her
number in the memory.

He had intended returning to the apartment he and Lexie had
occupied nearly a year ago. They had cleared all paperwork but left
behind office furniture, equipment and the desk top computer. The
phone should still work as should the computer. Useless now. He’d
have to stay away from places he’d been before and establish a new
base.

“Back so soon, Will?”

“A bit unexpected Denise. I need a pair of 12x50 binoculars and
a ten times optical digital camera. Urgently.”

“Like now?”

“Like now, please,” Parker said.

Denise picked up her handbag. “If anyone rings, tell them to
ring back later.”

Parker knocked on Gillespie’s door and entered.

“What do you want?”

“Trouble. I’m under surveillance. Only you, Jake, the pilot,
your driver and your secretary know I’m here. So who’s the traitor?
I need an observation post on a first or second floor office facing
Pitt Street for the rest of the day. And I have to find a way of
entering and leaving this building unobserved. Denise is getting me
some gear.”

“Come with me,” Gillespie said and put on his jacket. They
stopped at the second floor. Gillespie knocked and entered an
office.

“G’day Martin. This chap needs your office for the rest of the
day and maybe tomorrow?” Gillespie said and when Parker nodded:
“And tomorrow. Here’s $100, take the rest the day off. I’ll square
it with your boss.”

“Done. I’m working till six. Come and see me then,” Gillespie
said to Parker, turned and walked away.

 

Let’s see, where are you? The corner office gave Parker a good
view across and up and some distance down the street. Anyone
watching would not choose the front of the building. From a car?
Perhaps. More likely two or three people taking turns. Maybe fewer
or just Harmsen himself? To avoid drawing attention, they would
avoid loitering too long in one spot. He discounted anyone watching
from nearby buildings. There hadn’t been enough time to arrange
this.

Parker made himself comfortable and watched people coming and
going for a good hour. Of course!  All that someone watching
him had to do was join the smokers who stood on the footpath
puffing away. He made out five distinct groups and some lonely
smokers. Best thing to do was to take a snapshot of each group at
five-minute intervals. The binoculars would come in handy too…
shit! He’d forgotten about all about Denise! He took the lift to
the penthouse and was relieved to see that she was still out. He
made himself a cup of coffee and waited.

Denise returned with the digital camera and binoculars at three
o’clock. She helped him unpack and was pleased when he approved of
the purchases. Denise said she had time to install the camera
software on her machine as a second user.

“No need to. Thanks, Denise. I have my laptop with me,” Parker
said.

He returned to the corner office and took pictures of the
various groups and studied individuals coming and going but saw no
one overly suspicious. Installing the software had taken only
minutes. As soon as the camera flash memory was full, he downloaded
the group and individual shots and saved them in albums. There were
250 shots to evaluate. He stopped just before six to return to
Gillespie’s office.

Gillespie greeted him gruffly: “Where do you want to go?”

“Round the block and two more and then to Rushcutters Bay. I’ll
check into a motel.”

They took the lift to the basement and Gillespie’s waiting car.
As far as he could tell, nobody followed them out of the city
centre. He waved goodbye as Gillespie’s limousine drew away from
the Homestead Motel driveway. He hailed a cab, returned to the city
and checked into the Intercontinental.

He was about to have a beer from the minibar but chose a mineral
water instead when his growling stomach reminded him that he had
eaten all day. He phoned room service for a prawn cocktail, an
American T-bone steak and an apple strudel. He ate while studying
his afternoon’s work on the laptop and then watched the evening TV
news.

He cut and pasted shots from each of the five groups, saved them
as new folders and rewarded himself with a crown lager. He had
deliberately avoided comparing faces until now. He had taken photos
between 3:30 PM and 5:30 PM. It was unlikely that a smoker would
return for a second cigarette after the mid-afternoon break. He
didn’t see the same face twice in the twenty-four photographs of
the first group. Or in the second. Or the third group. The fourth
group photos disappointed him also. He looked at the last of the 24
photos in the fifth group. Bloody hell!  Not a match anywhere.
They were usually four or five people in a group, sometimes more.
He had looked at more than 600 people and couldn’t find a match
because? Dummy!  Who says that person has to return to the
same group?

Parker opened a new folder and pasted the very first photo of
the first group and next to it the photo of the second group, taken
five minutes later and a photo of the third and so on for the
remaining groups. Negative. Bummer.

OK. Let’s try the other end.

He compared the last photo of the fifth group and the photo of
the fourth group taken five minutes earlier and similarly backwards
for the remaining groups. Negative. None of faces in the second
photo of group one reappeared in later group photographs. Back to
the other end.

Success: a face in the fifth group taken at 5.25PM, showed up 10
minutes earlier in the first group. Bingo! Let’s try 5.05 in the
last group. Gotcha. Ten minutes earlier in the first group-there he
was again. But not ten minutes earlier. So they moved up and down
the street between two buildings every 10 minutes. Parker’s
calculations that the surveillance by the last person could not
have commenced before 3.50PM, proved correct. He looked for and
found a new face at 3.35PM and 3.45PM and followed it for the next
hour.

At 4.55PM, another watcher arrived. Bloody hell. He knew that
face. You’re back in town? Fancy that!

He had nothing to fear from him. But he didn’t like the look of
the other man, the bouncer as he decided to call him. He was
between 25 and 30, short, beefy with a shaved head. A broad,
flattened nose and cauliflower ears told of past violence. Parker
sent the bouncer’s photo as an e-mail attachment to Debbie at the
Australian Federal Police. It would be useful to know more about
him. And, was the apartment he and Lexie had used still safe? Would
she please check?

He drank another beer, sat in bed and randomly clicked through
photos in his electronic album. He had one familiar face and a good
photo of another-a good beginning. He looked at his notes but
nodded off.

There was Jake Harmsen laughing and tearing up bank cheques,
Brad Goldner tossing $100 notes in the air like confetti, the
bouncer stuffing money in a suitcase while Sam sat watching porn,
smiling at him. He woke with a painful erection that wouldn’t
subside until he had emptied an overfull bladder with
difficulty.

It was 4.30AM and he had difficulty going back to sleep. Brad
Goldner was in Sydney, not just in his dream. He had stood next to
the bouncer. Goldner, Jake Harmsen and Samantha had conspired in
the Galaxy’s money-laundering. Now they were up to no good again.
He didn’t know where to find Goldner and he didn’t want to see
Samantha in a hurry. But he knew where to find Harmsen. Time to put
the pressure on.

Sydney drizzle greeted him in the morning as he walked out of
the hotel and hopped into a taxi at the nearest rank. The cabbie
was annoyed at the short trip and having to double-park outside
Gillespie’s office block in heavy morning traffic. That should get
their attention! Parker stood on the footpath, bailed up a total
stranger and asked for directions. Surely anyone watching would
have seen him by now.

He took the lift to the penthouse office where Denise Lester
gave him Harmsen’s mobile number and the casino building site
number, then took up his corner office position and searched with
binoculars. The bouncer was there, soaked to the skin and talking
on his mobile. He looked up and down the street unhappy with the
rain or someone or something. He took two paces to the left, two
paces to the right. He snapped the mobile shut and stormed down the
footpath arms swinging. He stopped and pointed at someone coming
towards him and sheltered under the man’s umbrella.

 Harmsen! Parker pressed dial on his mobile and watched
Harmsen reach into his pocket. He glanced at the phone and put it
back. Parker pressed redial. Harmsen ignored the call. Parker ended
the call and pressed redial again.

“Parker?” Harmsen hissed.

“Yep.”

“You’re watching me, you shit! Aren’t you?”

“Yep.”

“We have to meet. I need to explain,” Harmsen pleaded.

“That is a good idea. I’ll be right there,” Parker replied.

 

But Harmsen was nowhere to be seen when he walked out onto the
street and the bouncer had also left. Parker redialled Harmsen’s
number, became annoyed when he didn't answer and left a voice mail.
The casino site manager had not seen Harmsen since the day
before.

 

Maybe Samantha knew where Harmsen was?

“I’m in the middle of something. Is it important?” she
snapped.

“I need to speak to Jake. He’s not answering. Do you know where
he is?” Parker said, careful to hide his growing anxiety.

“Look Will, I have to go. He’s at the casino building site as
far as I know.”

I don’t think so. Parker was angry at himself. Harmsen
disappearance had also lost him the connection with Goldner. So if
Harmsen wasn’t watching, who was? Whoever was behind his
surveillance had to reorganise, now that he had sprung Harmsen,
Goldner and the bouncer.

You’ve fucked up big time, Debbie would say if he were to tell
her about the shambles. He went back to the second floor office and
put the binoculars and digital camera in his briefcase and took a
cab to Darling Harbour from where he returned to his hotel after
changing cabs twice more.

He ordered a room service lunch and logged on. There was blunt
and unsettling mail from Debbie:

“You’re in bad company, fella. The photo is of Horace Mananoa,
enforcer and standover man. Avoid dark alleys and ringside seats.
Your apartment was entered yesterday. Someone has looked at your
files. I hope there was nothing incriminating on your hard drive.
Stay clear until I tell you otherwise. Phone AFP main office. Ask
for Debbie Q. I look forward to a complete explanation! Fat
chance?

Debbie.”

The flat had been entered. There was one person who was in a
position to know about the flat from the lease payment. The credit
card! Of course. Agnes had told him that payments could not be
traced to him. Wrong! How stupid he had been. Agnes knew from the
statement who the rental agent was and all she had to do…Yes, the
flat was a loose end but not a danger now after Debbie had
forewarned him.

Fat chance indeed!  How much could he and would he reveal
to her? It was much too early to bring in the police. His first
priority was to recover Gillespie’s $20 million and the other
players’ losses if indeed they were losses. According to Harmsen
there had been five high-rollers: an Australian, three Asians and a
fat American. According to Harmsen. According to – yes, that was
it. Everything starts and ends with Harmsen. Gotta find you.

 

Parked asked Denise Lester for Harmsen’s address. The file still
showed his Queensland address. Was he staying in rented
accommodation in Sydney? She promised to get back to him as quickly
as possible after checking with the legal department for leased
premises or for hotel accounts.

He phoned Debbie for a meeting at the hotel. When she arrived at
5PM, he still hadn’t heard from Denise.

“You need to understand that I am here officially because a
crime has been or is about to be committed,” Debbie announced.
“Otherwise, why bother?”

“For old-times sake then?” Parker tried to laugh it off.

“Good try,” Debbie grinned and in a serious tone cautioned:
“Look: if a person like Mananoa has you in his sights, then you’re
in the poo with worse people still. Give me names, or else.”

“Brad Goldner and Jake Harmsen….” Park hesitated.

“And?” Debbie probed.

“Kelvin Gillespie. At least indirectly. And maybe even the
Webers, if only remotely so,” Parker admitted.

“What? Not more of the money-laundering that you and Lexie
stopped?”

“No. I think Harmsen and Goldner set up Gillespie in a gambling
sting which cost him $20 million. I think,” Parker explained.

“You think!” Debbie said. “You think!  So what do you want
from us? Maybe you should talk to the local cops.”

“Maybe later through you. I’ve got no local contacts any more.
Goldner still interests you?” Parker hoped.

“True. I wouldn’t mind talking to him. He might still be on our
active list. Perhaps Customs too. If so…well, never mind.”

“Harmsen is the key to all this. He was going to meet me this
morning but has disappeared. My only other lead is Goldner.”
Parker’s disappointment showed.

“Don’t let it get you down. We have Mananoa remember,” Debbie
said.

“So what now?”

“We’ll get the locals to have a chat with him. And hopefully
you’ll hear from Harmsen.” Debbie looked inquisitively at the sheaf
of notes and Parker’s laptop.

“Is there something you haven’t told me?”

“No. That’s pretty much what I know. Oh, I meant to ask you
about Lexie. How is she?”

“Good. Last I heard from her,” Debbie replied as the corners of
the mouth turned down. “She was all right.”

“So you two…?” Parker asked.

“It was good while it lasted and it was too good to last,”
Debbie replied overly cheerful, eyes cast down.

That’s not the first time you’ve said this, you poor thing.

She looked up and shaking her head slowly from side to sign
admitted:

“I have the memories.”

Halfway out the door she turned and said: “I’m sorry you’re in
bed with Gillespie. Better you then me,” and shut the door.

At least you’ve got a memory of love. What do I have?

 

Parker picked up the notes but his mind strayed. Where was
Harmsen? And Goldner? Samantha didn’t answer his call and leaving a
voice mail was pointless. He phoned Denise, only to receive
recorded message asking to phone during business hours. What now?
Dinner? A drink at the bar? A movie? He missed the fresh air, the
beach walks and household chores. He felt sluggish, itching to do
something, anything but sitting in a hotel room. A walk would do
him good. He borrowed an umbrella at reception and felt safe in the
crowd hurrying to get somewhere. By the time he was back at the
hotel, the rain had stopped.

He ate dinner alone in the hotel restaurant, then took the lift
to the penthouse bar for a nightcap and maybe someone to talk to.
He much preferred draught beer to the bottled variety and ordered
draft beer.

“Not busy tonight?” Parker noted by way of conversation.

“Busy enough. Depends,” the barman replied and winked.

“Depends? What on?” Parker regarded him quizzically.

“What you’re after? Look around.”

 

There were two other men drinking at the bar. Men and women came
in, looked around and sat with people they seemed to know. Parker
understood when they left together after just one drink. A
good-looking, well-dressed man in his early 20s ambled over and sat
next to him. He didn’t order and the barman overlooked him.

“I‘m just back from New Zealand. Ever been there?”

Parker faced him and said: “Matter-of-fact, yes.”

“Gorgeous country, I’ve been there a few times. I adore
Auckland,” he smiled and confided: “I love cruising.”

Parker finished his beer and motioned for another. The barman
replenished his glass but still took no notice of the young
man.

“It can be fun, especially if you’re a passenger. I used to crew
on a liner a few years ago,” Parker said. “Look, I’m just here for
a couple of beers, nothing else.”

The young man was about to say something but rose instead,
reached for his mobile phone and walked away to make a call. He
returned a few moments later, smiled at Parker and resumed his
seat. He ordered a Drambuie on ice.

“My favourite tipple. Another beer? On me. By the way, I’m
Bryce.”

 “Ah, no thanks. I’ve had my fill. Thanks all the same.”
Parker said, put some loose change on the bar and walked away.
Bryce followed and stood next to him as they waited for the lift.
They entered together and Parker pushed the third floor button. The
lift stopped, the door opened noiselessly and Parker stepped out.
The pain in his left side left him breathless. He turned around.
Bryce plunged a bloody knife into his chest. Parker reacted too
slowly to stop a third lunge.

The words in his throat came out in gushes of bright red blood.
He looked at the maniac assassin’s face, a contorted grimace of
hate and malice.

“You don’t remember me do you? Remember the cruise? You put me
and Whitcombe off at Auckland. You ruined my life. He was going to
adopt me. Instead, I was put back into care.”

Bryce’s words came flooding back. ‘……I’ll get you. Promise. You
interfering bastard.’

Parker watched life draining between his fingers and slumped
against the wall, fighting to remain conscious in a pool of his own
blood. To his relief, the gushing blood reduced to a trickle. An
avalanche of terrifying, freezing darkness menaced his mind. No,
not like this! A warm light responded to his plea, intervened,
swathed his body and sopped up his suffering. It swirled,
brightened, gathered speed and floated him away into blissful
nothingness.

You can stop breathing now, his maker said.

So: no memory of love for me? No sweet memory of love?

It wasn’t that much to ask for, was it? Really!

Chapter 5

 

“Fair go! After all the trouble of writing this poem thing. What
for eh? He hadn’t asked for much. All he wanted was a memory of
love,” Reality Parker protested. “Put that on his headstone: ‘All I
wanted was a memory of love.’ All he ever got was love’s shadow.
Never the real thing. He looked in all the wrong places and now
he’s gone, the poor bastard.”

“Oh, I beg to differ,” Reality Parker replied. News of my death
is premature.”

“Geez. Don’t creep up on me like that. Who are you?”

“Reality Parker. How do you do?”

“Nonsense. Parker’s reality is gone. I was it. You hear the
echo-faint ripple, of who I was.”

“I assure you I am who I am. Ripple on and tell me more. If I am
who I am and you are who you are, then…?”

“Who are we? We are twin Realities. Parallel existences. Twin
bubble universes. Two Will Parkers.”

“Heisenberg dualities? Heard they exist. Never met one. Twins,
eh? Why did he create us? Does anyone know?”

 

Yes, said the universe, I know. Parker had to die sometime but
not until he had a memory of love. That is Heisenberg’s gift.
Parker gets a second chance, a second existence. Remember the
mirror in Parker’s bathroom on the cruise ship? The bubble was the
exact moment when Heisenberg created the second bubble universe for
Parker. Parker had a choice: to touch the mirror or not. When he
touched it and when the bubble popped, Parker entered a parallel
existence, a bubble twin universe while the other Parker remained
on board.

Bryce had decided long ago to take revenge. When Parker and
Bryce Dewar met again by chance, when Dewar offered Parker a beer,
there were two possible outcomes to this event: Parker declines or
Parker accepts.

“I remember that,” Reality Parker said. “When Parker declined
and walked away, Bryce followed, knifed and killed him. I can go
now. I’m dead. One dead Parker. Bye.”

Hang on. Let me tell you about the other outcome, said the
universe.

 

The young man was about to say something but rose instead,
reached for his mobile phone and walked away to make a call. He
returned a few moments later, smiled at Parker and resumed his
seat. He ordered a Drambuie on ice.

 “My favourite tipple. Another beer? On me. By the way, I’m
Bryce.”

 “Pleased to meet you Bryce. I’m Will,” Parker said and
offered his hand. Bryce’s grip was unaccountably strong. Parker
responded, but quickly backed off in pain at Bryce’s superior
strength.

“Yeah, why not. Thanks Bryce. Some grip you have.”

Bryce smiled and shrugged his shoulders.

“Cheers.”

“Cheers.”

Parker bought the next round only to be polite. Bryce sipped his
drink, put the glass on the bar and swivelled in his chair. Parker
was happy not to have to make conversation. Bryce fiddled with his
cufflinks and watch band and kept looking in the direction of the
door. He faced Parker and offered to shout again when an elegantly
dressed woman walked up and touched him on the shoulder. She leant
closer and whispered into his year. Bryce didn’t move and spoke
with teeth clenched.

“You can see I’m busy. Fuck off!”

Parker felt for this middle-aged woman whose face dropped in
embarrassment.

“Don’t mind me,” Parker said apologetically. “I’m done here.
Thanks for the drink.”

“Don’t go. Betty’s good for a round, aren’t you, love?” Bryce
said sarcastically.

“Say sorry, you little shit and mama will buy you a drink and
pay next week’s rent. If you’re good.”

“Sorry. I didn’t know what came over me.”

She turned to Parker and said: “You’ll have to forgive my little
stud. He likes to play games, don’t you dear.”

“Yeah, whatever you patronising bitch.”

“Oh, we are in a frightful tizz,” Betty snapped and in mock
exasperation remarked:

”You can take the boy out of the gutter, but you can’t take the
gutter out of the boy.”

“And we know what that makes you, don’t we,” Bryce replied.

“You can continue your domestic without me. I’m going,” Parker
said.

“Stay. Come on Will, stay. I’ll be good,” Bryce promised.

Parker looked at Betty. “OK, but just one.”

“What shall we drink to?” Betty wondered.

“True love,” Bryce proposed.

“True love it is,” Betty agreed. “Or the next best thing.”

“So what’s a good looking chap like you doing in a place like
this?” Betty joked.

“Now where have I heard that line before?” Parker quipped. “I’m
Will. What am I doing here? Just a drink before I turn in.”

“What am I doing here? You can guess. Coming here for a good
time, I thought. But Bryce here, isn’t himself tonight,” Betty
said. “Let’s go lover boy.”

“What? Sorry Betty. I’d rather have dinner here,” Bryce proposed
and without waiting for Betty to agree added: “I’ll go and book us
a table.”

“Please, Will. Stay until he gets back otherwise….”Betty
said.

“Sure,” Parker replied.

 

Bryce returned and smiled at them.

“You took your time,” Betty complained.

“Our table should be ready in ten minutes,” Bryce replied.
“Let’s have another.” Parker noticed that Bryce looked in the
direction of the door repeatedly and Betty commented: “Pay
attention to me, lover boy.” Bryce cast another furtive glance at
the door, then relaxed and mumbled: “I’m going for a leak.”

“Excuse me too,” Parker said to Betty and followed Bryce to the
gents. They stood at the urinal. A toilet flushed in a cubicle
behind them and a lock clicked open.

“About fucking time,” Parker heard Bryce say. ”That’s him.”

A vicious kick to Parker’s lower back made him arch in agony.
His legs buckled and his hands slipped helplessly down the wet
stainless steel wall and he crashed onto his elbows. The smell of
the deodoriser tablets and the stench of fresh urine in the trough
made him gag. He was powerless to resist being dragged across the
floor by the ankles. His face and hands left wet streaks on the
vinyl tiles.  A kick to his ribcage made him gasp in
excruciating pain and he pissed himself. He was a helpless bundle
as he lay in his own mess, legs drawn up and arms raised to protect
throat and face. Breathing hurt. Bryce announced more pain.

“You don’t remember me do you? Remember the cruise? You put me
and Whitcombe off at Auckland. You ruined my life. He was going to
adopt me. Instead, I was put back into care.”

Bryce’s words came flooding back. .……’I’ll get you. Promise. You
interfering bastard.’

“This one’s for Cyril.” Bryce drove a fashionable pointed boot
into Parker’s lower ribs. Bryce crouched and whispered: “You
remember Cyril, don’t you? Cyril Whitcombe? He went to jail because
of you.”

Bryce stood up and screamed: “And this one’s for making me a
rent boy. Bryce Dewar, rent boy.” He slipped as he kicked at
Parker’s face, the boot struck the side of Parker’s mouth and the
heel ripped his ear.

“And this one’s for the memory.” Bryce delivered another kick to
Parker’s ribs.

“I’m done here,” Bryce declared his breath shallow and fast.

“You want me to finish the job?”

“Knock him out.”

Parker heard the other man’s words through a fog of pain. He
squinted as a figure approached, crouched low, turned him over and
drove a fist into the solar plexus and the wind out of his lungs.
He recognised the face in the split-second before losing
consciousness.

 

“Avoid dark alleys and ringside seats,” Parker mumbled through
swollen lips caked with dried blood.

“What’s he saying?”

“Not sure. At least he’s conscious.”

“We’re taking you to a hospital,” another voice said.

 

“He’s had a sedative. He’ll come round soon,” a nurse said.

“Is there any brain injury?” Debbie was really worried.

“No. Cuts to the lips and a torn ear. He’ll be sore for a while
with four broken ribs and contusions to his lower spine.

“Wake up, Mr. Parker.”

He opened his eyes and saw the nurse leaning over him. She
touched his cheek reassuringly. “You’re OK now. How’s the
pain?”

“Bearable,” Parker replied and grinned at Debbie standing at the
foot of the bed.

“Hi, Debbie. I should have listened to you,” Parker said. “How
did you get here?”

“Never mind. How’re you feeling?”

“Like having been run over by a steam roller.”

“Who’s done this to you?” Debbie asked.

“Horace Mananoa.”

“How on earth did he find you?” Debbie wondered.

“Coincidence. I don’t think he realised it was me. It’s a long
story. My past has caught up with me. But it’s nothing to do with
what Mananoa is caught up in at the moment.”

“So what do you want to do about the assault?”

“Nothing,” Parker said. “I just want to go home as soon as I
can.”

“You won’t be going anywhere for a few days,” the nurse advised.
“If you want something for the pain, just ask.”

Parker left Sydney after two days in hospital and went home to
Edward Island to recuperate. He was absolutely safe there.

***

 

Parker rose from the edge of the bed and straightened up bit by
bit as best he could. He shuffled along to the kitchen and glanced
briefly at the hallway mirror. He looked like he felt:
shithouse.

Ha! Do not take more than one tablet in four hours or six per
day. Whoever had written this had not felt real pain. Not to be
taken with any other medication. Crap! He took two pain killers and
a valium. He walked through the grass, still wet from the overnight
rain, to the edge of the garden and relieved himself. Thank God
that didn’t hurt any more. But moving his bowels would. He winced
at the memory of the bouncer’s knockout punch. Shallow breaths made
the pain under his ribs bearable. He walked back to the house,
lowered himself gently into the veranda seat and waited for the
painkillers to kick in.

Bryce Dewar, an abused child, turned teenage rent boy much as
Parker had predicted. Now a rich woman’s diversion. Of all the
places to drink, he had chosen the penthouse bar, a popular
upmarket pickup joint.

He wondered what Sam was doing. He still had to find Harmsen and
find Gillespie’s $20 million. But he needed to recover fully first.
And shave, and a shower and something to eat. That meant moving and
pain. The bathroom mirror revealed a palette of black, blue and
purple bruises along his rib cage. He knew there were bruises near
his spine too. He paid with instant agony, for twisting to see what
damage the bouncer had inflicted to his back.

Bugger! That’s the satellite phone he had left charging in its
cradle. He let it ring till it stopped. Good!  Saved him from
having a go at Gillespie:

I’m crook Kelvin. Thanks for asking. How soon can I be in
Sydney? Would tomorrow be OK? I can make it by this afternoon if I
take the chopper and your jet. If it’s really urgent. Why don’t you
just forget about your $20 million. And about me. Or to put it
another way: Get fucked.

 

The painkillers finally kicked in with a rush. One moment pain,
next moment none. The walk to the jetty was effortless and he let
the sun warm his face. That’s better. What is there to worry about?
Time for a nap and maybe lunch later? Or a shave and shower first?
The path to the house was overgrown. Buy a whipper snipper? No, too
much noise. Do it by hand. He caressed the hibiscus shrubs that
framed the front door so prettily and stepped through the open
front door. And then the phone rang again.

“Why aren’t you answering the fucken phone? Where are you?
Forget that. Get your arse down here. Now.”

“What’s up, Kel?”

“Trouble.”

“Big?”

“Jake’s dead.”

“Your jet’s waiting?”

“Will be by the time you get your arse to Brisbane.”

“Can’t it wait? I’m stiff and sore and…”

But Gillespie had already hung up.

 

Gillespie’s limousine drove up as the private jet came to a
halt. The Sydney sky was overcast and dark clouds on the horizon
told him that a thunderstorm wasn’t far behind. He hopped into the
back seat just as the rain came down. The driver wasn’t very happy
when Parker asked him to get his overnight bag and briefcase. He
heard the boot slam shut. The driver sat behind the steering wheel
and threw his cap aside, splattering raindrops on the seat and
dashboard.

Parker got in first: “An umbrella would have been handy.”

“Good idea. Buy one. You need a shave, mate.”

When the car stopped in the loading zone outside Gillespie’s
office, it was really bucketing down. The driver carried his
luggage to the lift. His surly expression changed when Parker
slipped him $50.

“Listen,” the driver said. “If you need me, call.”

Parker accepted the business card and put it into his
wallet.

“Thanks, Wally. You’ll be here for the next hour?”

“I’m free till 6.”

 

Denise raised her eyebrows but said nothing. She put his luggage
behind her desk, knocked on Gillespie’s door and let him in.
Gillespie stood at the window, smoking. Oh dear. He turned, stubbed
out the cigarette and looked at Parker.

“You look like shit.”

“I feel like shit. I could use a glass of water.”

“Help yourself.”

“Codeine phosphate,” Parker said as he swallowed the dissolved
tablet.

“You right now?” Gillespie said and lit another cigarette. “Read
this.”

There was a single sheet in the manila folder, headed:
‘Preliminary Report. Suspicious death. Jake Harmsen.’ He knew
better than to ask where Gillespie had obtained the report.

“Can I keep this?”

“No,” Gillespie replied and Parker handed the folder back. The
casino site security people had entered Jake’s flat when he hadn’t
shown up at work for two days and found him dead.

“With Jake’s murder, and let’s not kid ourselves, that’s what it
is, the trail’s gone cold. He was in it up to his neck. He vanished
because I was after him. But I would have found him anyway. And
those who had cause to silence him knew that too. What’s more…”

Gillespie interrupted: “You think that Harmsen set me up?”

“Have you received any writs? Since Harmsen’s disappearance, has
anyone contacted you threatening to sue?”

Gillespie shook his head.

“There you go. You’ve been conned. But Harmsen wasn’t alone.
Goldner had a hand in it too.”

“Goldner? I don’t believe it,” Gillespie exclaimed. “He’s out of
the country.”

“Correction. He’s back. I’ve got his photo.”

“Go after him then,” Gillespie urged.

“And then what? No. My job is to recover your money.”

“All right then.”

“Let me be frank. Can you show me the documentation for your $20
million bank cheque? Don’t bullshit me.”

Parker stared him in the eye. “Denise will show you the bank
statement.”

“Thanks. Can you get me access to the crime scene?” Parker
asked.

“Can’t see why not. After all, we paid the rent and furnished
the place.”

“That’s it then?”

“Denise got your mobile number? She’ll let you know when and
where. You can go.”

“Yes, Kel.”

“Piss off.”

“Piss off yourself.”

 

Gillespie’s driver took him the Intercontinental. Parker was
grateful when Wally carried his luggage to reception. The
receptionist looked him up and down and hesitated when Wally came
to the rescue.

“Will sir be requiring me again this afternoon?”

“No, Wally. I will be shopping for a new suit etc etc. I’m
dressed a bit too casual for the city, don’t you think?”

“As you say, sir.”

 

Working the soap into lather against his body was still too
painful despite the painkiller and Parker ran a bath. He stood in
front of the full-length mirror. The bruise on the side of his neck
had nearly faded but the scar on his left ear would be a permanent
reminder. His hollow cheeks showed that he hadn’t eaten properly
for nearly a week. The bruise near the sternum was a yellowish
colour. The bruises on his left ribcage had turned mostly yellow
but his side felt very tender still.

He would have to be extremely careful from now on. The
surveillance and shaking his watchers had been a bit of harmless
fun. Jake’s death had changed everything. A Glock 17, the 9mm 
semiautomatic handgun in his briefcase was protection he hopefully
wouldn’t have to use. It was one of the earlier models he liked for
the 19 rounds it held.

He lowered himself into the tub but found the water much too hot
even though it had felt only warm to his hands. He got out of the
tub and turned on the cold tap when the mobile rang. It was Denise
with the address of Jake’s flat in Earlwood. It was no longer a
crime scene and he could pick up the key from Sergeant Adam Tilley
at the local police station.

The water was cooler now, soothing and relaxing. He patted
himself dry but even that hurt. He draped an extra bath towel
around himself and shaved. He found a clean long sleeve shirt that
needed ironing, but what the heck. The jeans had seen better days
and the brown boaters were ready to be binned.

The hotel directory listed a men’s clothing shop on the
mezzanine floor. He tried on a couple of suits but found the price
a bit steep and having to wait two or three days for alterations
inconvenient. Instead, he bought two pairs of slacks that would be
altered overnight and a sports jacket that fitted as it was. Shoes
to match and he would make a much more presentable picture in the
morning.

A room service dinner, two stubbies, a valium tablet and he was
ready to settle down for the evening. He was fast asleep halfway
through the television news. He woke around midnight and watched
the free lightning show that lit up the sky.

It was still raining when he arrived at the Earlwood police
station and asked the cab to wait. He explained to the constable
behind the counter that he needed to see Sergeant Tilley on
confidential business.

“He’s busy at the moment. You’ll have to wait.”

“How long will he be? I’ve got a cab waiting.”

“You should have made an appointment,” the constable said.

“Fine. I’d like to make an appointment to see Sergeant Tilley
please.”

“David!” a voice called out. “I’ll be finished in a minute.”

 

Parker introduced himself to the sergeant and requested the key
to Harmsen’s flat.

“What’s your interest in Harmsen? It is an ongoing police
enquiry,” Tilley said.

“I’m on Mr. Gillespie’s personal staff. I handle sensitive
matters including security. I need to know what company property
has gone missing, if any. Auditors! If you know what I mean.”

“Well, we’ve asked your people for an inventory but there
doesn’t seem to be one. I am a busy man and I haven’t got time to
guess what’s gone missing,” the sergeant replied and looked at the
clock.

“I appreciate that,” Parker said. “I know what it’s like. Used
to be in the force myself.”

“Whereabouts?”

“Dubbo. A long time ago. Never made sergeant though,” Parker
chuckled.

“I’ll be through here in a minute. Pay the cabbie. I’ll take you
there.”

 

Tilley let him into the ground floor flat in an older but well
maintained two-storey block of twelve flats. Tilley found the
password number in his folder and disabled the alarm.

“He knew his killer. The alarm was disabled when they entered.
We think that the camera was on at the time, but the tape is
missing. ”

“Hang on,” Parker said. “I don’t know anything about a murder. I
was under the impression it was a burglary.”

“Rubbish. Don’t get smart with me. You’ve seen the prelim
report?” Parker nodded.

“If you’re holding something back, I’d advise you not to,” the
sergeant cautioned.

“All I know is what’s in the report.”

“And?”

“And nothing. But I’ll promise you, if I find anything here or
in our company records, I’ll let you know. Promise.”

“So what do you want to do here?” Tilley asked.

“Just look around. Maybe you’ve missed something.”

“Unlikely. You look around and I’ll come back in half an hour to
lock up.”

Parker stood near the letterboxes and searched for security
cameras. A balcony ran the length of the second floor flats. No
obvious cameras but security lighting all along the six ground
floor flats. Someone had installed a do-it-yourself camera in the
hallway and had tacked the cable to the skirting board, along
architraves and connected it to a VCR in the lounge room. There was
a cheap Web Camera on top of a bookshelf. The cables ended up at
the desk, unplugged. The desk was small and tidy. On the right-hand
side, a stack of in-trays held copying paper, computer catalogues
and bits and pieces. On the left, a printer and in the middle of
the desk against the wall, a plastic desk tidy. There wasn’t enough
room for a desktop computer tower, keyboard and monitor. The vacant
space was for Jake’s laptop. With it gone, Parker’ best lead had
also disappeared.

A two-drawer filing cabinet held neatly labelled suspension
files. The documents he wanted most were not there. Not a single
bank statements, receipt, invoice or shred of financial
correspondence. The killer must have seen to that.

Parker sat in the lounge chair and studied the room. What could
it tell him about the occupants? Everything was in its place: books
were neatly arranged on the shelf, all CDs in their rack, videos
with labels, dates and programmes. Magazines were neatly stacked on
a corner lamp table. There is missing something. What is
missing?

He stood up too quickly and winced in pain. He had been too
absorbed with what he was doing to notice the pain creeping back.
He hadn’t brought any painkillers. Bugger.

He found a packet of Panadol in the bathroom, took two tablets
with a glass of water and put it on the sink. That was it. His mum
had always gone crook at him for leaving dishes in the sink.

What was missing from the flat was a woman’s touch!  He
looked at the book titles, the videos, the magazines. They were
Jake’s. There were no feminine articles in the bathroom. This was a
man’s flat. Jake must have left his wife and kids behind on the
Gold Coast. Now he understood what had niggled him about Jake
leasing a flat at Earlwood. He could have chosen a flat much more
conveniently located near the casino site. He had chosen Earlwood
to be near Samantha!

Parker sat at the desk and looked at every item again. A modem.
He hadn’t noticed it before. He traced the cable stapled to the
skirting board. The cable wasn’t plugged into the frequency
splitter box needed for an ADSL connection. It wasn’t connected to
anything he could see –not connected to anything in the flat. The
cable went through a hole concealed by an artificial pot plant on
top of a bookshelf. Why a cable connection to the next floor?

Who lives upstairs? What was upstairs? Does Sam live here?

Parker looked at his watch. Tilley was due back anytime now. He
was itching to go upstairs and knock on the door. Better wait.
Stupid!  If Sam lives here, her name would be on the
letterbox. Sam who? He didn’t know Sam’s surname. But he looked at
the letterbox anyway. Jake’s flat was No.1 which would make the
flat upstairs No.7. No name on the box. Bugger.

Parker went back inside and made out a list of questions for
Tilley. He looked at each question again and again to make sure
that he wasn’t giving anything away unintentionally.

Would he tell him about the flat upstairs? No. Would he tell him
about the computer? No. Would he tell him about Samantha? No.

She had not returned his call. He tried there and then and
Samantha answered on the third ring.

“Hi, Sam. You OK?”

“What do you think? Of course I’m OK. Why shouldn’t I be OK?
Jake’s dead. Goldner will kill me if he finds me. I want to go to
Jake’s funeral but I’m too scared. Apart from that…

Parker interrupted: “Sam, calm down. I’m sorry. I really am for
you and Jake.”

“I’m alright. I’m alright,” her voice was choked with tears and
she started sobbing.

“Sam, you need a hug,” Parker offered.

“I need a man to protect me. Can you do that? Can you?”

“I can help you. But you have to help me too,” Parker
pleaded.

“I know you’re right. I can’t hide forever.”

“So where are you?”

There was no reply.

“Sam, are you there?”

“I am. I can’t risk anyone finding out where I am. It’s a safe
place. I’ll meet you instead,” Sam proposed.

“So where do we meet?”

“Where are you now?” Sam asked.

“In Jake’s flat.”

“Oh my God,” Sam screamed.

Parker was too stunned to speak. The voice came from the flat
above as well. There was a knock on the front door and he heard
Tilley call out.

Parker whispered: “Sam, I’ve got the police with me in the flat.
I’ll ring you back. Bye.”

 

Parker put the mobile away just as Tilley came into room.

“Did you find anything worthwhile?”

“I think whoever was in here took the laptop.”

“Could be. It wasn’t at his work. We checked with his wife in
Brisbane. All financial records should be at the flat according to
her,” Tilley revealed.  “We’re looking for a motive. Any
ideas? Who would want him dead?”

“It must have been to do with money. What with the computer and
the records missing,” Parker suggested.

“So, you’re all done here?” Tilly asked.

“Yes, thanks. I’m happy.”

“Good for you,” the Sergeant said as they walked down the hall.
Tilley reset the alarm and shut the front door.

“Look, I’m wanted back in the office. Do you want a lift to a
cab rank?”

“Yes, please.”

 

Ten minutes later, Parker knocked on the door of Flat 12. No
answer. He knocked harder.

“Samantha! Sam, open the fucken door!”

 He heard a door creak and there was Sam’s face peaking
from Flat 11.

“You little bitch!”

“Come on in, Constable. Give you a freebie?”

“Give you a hug and a shoulder to cry on,” Parker offered and
Sam burst into tears. He held her softly as she sobbed and
gasped.

Sam put her hands on his chest and looked up at him with red
eyes. Dark streaks of mascara had stained the handkerchief she used
to wipe away the tears.

“I was his whore when he was working in the casino. But coming
down here changed all that. I miss him so. He is the only man I
ever loved,” Sam cried and the tears rolled again. “When I was with
Jake, I was alive. Really alive. He spoiled me. I couldn’t wait to
see him at the end of the day. The evenings and the nights were
mine. I didn’t have to share him with anyone, not even with his
missus. Now I have no one. I must look a mess,” she said and gently
loosened his embrace.

“You look fine. I’m here look after you. You’ll be safe.”

“I’m alright. I’ll cope. Goldner wouldn’t think of looking for
me here, the bastard. He got Jake into this mess. I’m sorry Will,
can I offer you something?”

“Coffee and a sandwich would be nice,” Parker said.

Parker looked around the living room with Samantha busy in the
kitchen. The furniture had been carefully assembled. Black leather,
chrome and glass and two expensively framed Modigliani prints
reproduced a 1970s style apartment. A small photograph of a
middle-aged woman was the only personal touch. He felt envious, not
of the room but the togetherness that had meant so much to
Samantha. And the memories she had. Samantha called out from the
kitchen and interrupted his musing.

“Would you rather have a beer with your sandwich?”

Parker walked into the kitchen and sat at the table. “Yes,
please.”

“Your lounge room is beautiful furnished. Who chose the
décor?”

“Me. Jake helped. Do you like it?”

“It’s not what I would have expected,” he said and apologised.
“That didn’t come out right. I meant…”

“From a tart,” Sam replied with barely disguised sarcasm.

Parker ignored the remark. “What made you pick that style?”

“It’s the sort of room I wish my parents could have afforded. I
grew up with a red vinyl day and night lounge, a laminex coffee
table, a plastic veneer sideboard and three flying ducks. I
remember our lounge room was always cluttered with junk. I hated
it.”

“But your bedroom’s quite different I imagine. Soft, feminine,
homely. Linen, lace, Tiffany lamp shades, an antique dresser?”
Parker guessed. “I bet you, there is a doll.”

“Anything but a ghastly bed with a bed head, a built in light,
wire bedstead and lumpy mattress. A freestanding wardrobe. My
bedroom was always dark and damp,” Samantha replied. “Do you want
to have a look?” Samantha asked mischievously.

“You’re still bad,” Parker said.

“Yeah, and rich.”

Samantha told him of her return to Sydney after the
money-laundering runs with Jake had ended. She didn’t want to go
back on the game.

“I made Jake a business partner when he transferred to
Sydney.”

“Business?”

“I’m making a shitload of money. Without Jake, I don’t know what
to do now,” Samantha said and started sobbing again.

“You’ll think of something. Now,” Parker paused. “Tell me, what
where you doing in the flat next door when I was downstairs?”

“I’ve been hiding there since Jake…”

“He had two flats? I don’t understand,” Parker said.

“Simple. I own flat 10, 11, 12 and 6, the one below,” Samantha
explained.

“So what’s going on in No 12?” Parker wondered.

“Business,” Samantha winked at him.

“You said you weren’t…”

“I’m not. I said to you I was in partnership with Jake.”
Samantha gathered up plates and cup, rinsed them and put them in
the dishwasher.

It would be nice to build a house with someone. Choose the
furniture. Paint the weatherboards and maybe even put in a
vegetable garden? I’d love to grow some memories.

 

“You’re miles away. What are you thinking about?”  Samantha
said, interrupting his daydreaming. “Follow me.”

She swung aside a floor to ceiling display case and revealed a
connecting door. It opened into a bedroom with a double sliding
door in the far wall. Samantha opened it and with arms
outstretched, pointed to a wall of electronic gear, cameras,
tripods, lights and microphones.

“The business.”

“What a setup,” Parker said, stunned.

“Yep. Everything that opens and shuts. Jake set up the studio. I
had to sell one of the flats to pay for it, but it’s worth every
cent,” Samantha said proudly.

“So where do you sell the porn videos?” Parker asked.

“Who said we sell videos? We make memories.”

“Come on! Memories?”

“It was my idea. When I was-when I was what I was, men always
wanted a video of sex with me. I didn’t like the idea and it was
too complicated. But I thought there might be money in it. I asked
around. A couple of the girls had been in videos their husbands
made for fun. Crude and very clumsy. You know poor lighting,
amateurish, no script, unedited. Just one angle shots of two people
banging away,” Samantha explained. “Not something you would want to
see later in life. Not a decent memory of their love.”

Parker was fascinated to hear how Samantha developed the idea of
making intimate videos. She realised that women were the key to
success. People liked the idea of a professional recording directed
by another woman. She advertised “Memories of intimacy with
dignity”. The first few videos were unscripted tryouts to gain
experience.

“Now there is a two-week waiting list. We do two videos in the
morning, two in the afternoon on weekdays. I produce and direct.
Jake,” Samantha became tearful again: “did the editing at first.
Now we have a full-time lady production assistant, a cameraman and
an editor. Saturdays we start at nine and do a recording every two
hours and finish at seven o’clock.”

“How much do you charge?” Parker was curious to know.

“$300 for the basic menu. Customers can build their own.”

 

Samantha showed him the menu folder that offered a variety of
scenarios.

“It’s still porn, Sam.”

“No. It isn’t,” Samantha objected. “I record people who in 20
years time want to look at what their sex was like, what their
bodies looked like and how they felt that about each other. I
record their memories of sexual love. Young and old.”

She looked at Parker. “You’re not convinced?”

“I could show you things that would make you cry. The most
moving productions are when one of the partners is terminal. I
record their most intimate moments. I just let them talk to the
camera. They recall their first meeting, the first time they did it
and how it felt. Sometimes they do it again. Like the first time.
They say goodbye to each other. I respect their privacy and use
only the two remote cameras recording simultaneously. I just let
them talk. I say “cut” and fade to black. They think the shooting’s
over but the camera rolls on. You get really candid stuff that
way.”

“I apologise Sam. I can see now what you mean by memories of
intimacy with dignity. It must be wonderful to have a memory of
your love to watch together at sunset,” Parker admitted.

“Or on your own,” Samantha said. “Jake and I never got around
recording ourselves. I miss him so.” Samantha started sobbing
again, then blew her nose most unladylike.

“Hey, Constable, I could do a freebie recording for you,”
Samantha said excitedly. She noticed Parker’s reaction.

“Did I say something to upset you?”

“No, Sam. Nothing like it. There is no one in my life. No sweet
memory of love. Only shadows of love,” Parker replied.

“Shadows?”

“Bad memories. Sad experiences. The sort of memories you don’t
want to have. Disappointments. Love gone wrong.”

 

Samantha proudly showed off the recording studio in the lounge
room.

“It’s all digital. Customers get their memory on tape or
DVD.”

“So where are you customers today? And your staff?”

“I cancelled the shootings and gave the staff time off till
after the funeral,” Sam replied.

 

“I need some explanations, Sam,” Parker said. “I saw a cable
downstairs connecting with a networked computer up here?” Parker
pointed to a desktop computer, asked: “Is this Jake’s
computer?”

“Yes, but I don’t know anything about a network. Jake sometimes
used it for banking and e-mail.”

“That’s fine. Do you mind if I have a look?”

“Go ahead. No one else has used it since…”

Parker switched on the desk top and while it was booting up,
searched through paper folders in the in-tray. There were bills to
be paid including rent to S. Donaldson.

“Sam, is your surname Donaldson?”

“Yes. And Jake owes me rent. How am I going to collect it
without his wife finding out?”

“I’ll fix that,” Parker offered.

 

Damn! Jake had password protected access to his computer.

“Sam!  You wouldn’t happen to know the password to Jake’s
computer?”

“Sorry, Will. No idea.”

“Where would I find his private stuff?”

“You mean birth certificates, wills, passports, stuff like
that?” Samantha replied.

Parker nodded. “Perhaps even details of shareholdings, bank
account numbers, CD backups of data. Things like that.”

“No idea. There is nothing like that up here. Only office
things. Maybe downstairs?” Samantha wondered.

“How am I going to get into the flat? I don’t want to ask police
again for the key,” Parker said.

“I’ve got a key, dummy. I am the landlady after all,” Samantha
laughed.

 

They stood in the Jake’s lounge room and looked around.

“He doesn’t have a safe,” Samantha said.

“Where did he keep his car keys?” Parker asked.

“He didn’t have a car. I have a set of duplicate keys upstairs
and keys he didn’t want his wife to know about.”

Samantha handed Parker a bunch of keys.

“This one is the front door. That’s the backdoor. This one is
the garage. So this one must be the studio,” Samantha explained.
“This little one is for the letterbox. This one I don’t know.”

“Garage? You said he didn’t drive.”

“Yes, I did. But he wanted a garage for his hobby. “

“Show me.”

 

Jake had used the garage for woodworking. Tools and machinery
were neatly arranged, everything in its place just like the flat. A
fine layer of dust covered the concrete floor.

“No footprints,” Parker pointed out. “No one has been in here
for a while.”

Samantha noticed under the workbench a metal tool chest and
unlocked the padlock with one of the keys in the bunch. Parker
carried the box back to the flat. In amongst Jake’s personal
papers, he found an address book with the computer password.

Sam sat next to Parker and watched as he entered Jake’s network
password. He watched the tool bar closely and disabled the
automatic logging on, firewall and virus protection one by one as
they loaded.

He wanted to preserve the computer exactly how it was when Jake
had last used it. The precaution paid off. Jake had chosen settings
and options to delete the web history after two days. Had he logged
on now, there would have been nothing to show since Jake’s death.
Jake had a well set out desktop with shortcuts neatly grouped.
Outlook Express, Internet Explorer, Google search engine in the
Internet group. Microsoft Word and Microsoft Excel shortcut icons
were familiar.

“What are these little symbols?” Sam asked pointing to the
monitor.

“Shortcuts to files and the internet sites,” Parker explained.
“Point the mouse and a click brings up the site.”

“Let me do it.”

Parker let her play for a few moments, patiently explaining, for
as long as he could, how to open and close files. He was itching to
get into the three unfamiliar icons in a third group.

“Beauty!”

“What have you found?” Sam wanted to know.

“Jake’s bank accounts. CBA, one Cayman BC. And his receipts and
payments spreadsheet.”

“Is he rich?” Sam wanted to know.

“Don’t know yet. I need client numbers and passwords.”

Parker reached for Jake’s notebook and found the passwords and
logged on. Sam read the first of the copied bank statements.

“He has $423.67 in his CBA account. I hope for his her sake his
left a bit more in the other account,” Sam remarked.

“$20.52. Poor bugger,” Sam said.

 

The Cayman BC statement showed a $350,000 transfer to a CBA
account three days before his death. Under description of the
transfer, Jake had stated ‘mortgage repaid’. On the day he died,
$650,000 had been transferred from the Cayman BC account.

“Why would he transfer $650,000 and to whom?” Sam asked.

“I doubt that Jake did it. It’s not to one of his accounts.”

“Would his laptop help?”

“Don’t need it. It was networked to this computer. All his files
copied to it. But his killers didn’t know that,” Parker
explained.

“Where did Jake get that much money?”

“Have a look at the statement. Look for a million dollars
credited,” Parker suggested.

“A million? Why a million?” Sam wanted to know.

“Add $350,000 and $650,000.”

“You’re right. A million paid on the 14th,” Sam said.

“That’s five days after the poker game heist. Time enough to
deposit the money overseas and pay Jake his share,” Parker
explained.

“And then they killed him,” Sam said and that tears started
flowing again.

No, I killed the poor bastard.

He was getting in deeper and deeper into Gillespie’s affairs and
now feared for his own life. Things were hotting up too much. First
the corrupt Albert Robinson’s suicide over the casino tender. Then
the big robbery. Now Jake murdered. What am I doing? Conning
corrupt police out of a few thousand dollars had been one thing.
Recovering Gillespie’s money was something else entirely. He
promised himself that this would be the last job for him. And he
would make him pay. Make him pay dearly.

Harmsen’s salary had been paid into the account and there was a
$500 per week standing debit. His family? That was straightforward.
But the $350,000 transfer bothered Parker. All banks were obliged
to report transactions over $10,000 to the regulators and Jake
Harmsen knew that too. So why draw attention to himself?

He didn't have a choice! 

Harmsen wanted to look after his family but not give away all he
had. Some for himself and Sam? Parker looked again at the account
number. $650,000 transferred. Whose account was it? A new KEGIL?
Amphora? He had no quick way of checking because he had deleted all
the money-laundering files and references from his own laptop.
Backup copies of these bank statements were in a safe deposit box.
Its key was hidden in the flat he and Lexie had occupied,
blue-tacked at the back of the fire hydrant cabinet near the lift.
Best wait till after dark.

OK, Jake. Let’s see what other applications you’ve used.

Web Cam directory!

The last file modification was on the day of Harmsen’s murder:
1.07 AM. Parker hesitated. Opening the file now with Sam nearby
might be unwise. He found blank DVDs and copied the Web Cam
directory and files. It was going to be a busy afternoon.

Parker stood up, stretched and flinched. He had been too busy to
notice the pain. Sam watched him from the kitchen.

“Backache.”

“I can get something to really help you. On the house,” Sam
winked.

“Thanks, but no thanks. I’ll be right.”

“So what have you found?” Sam asked.

“A few details I need to check on,” Parker replied.

“You’re being honest with me?” Sam wasn’t that easily put
off.

“You know that Jake had a video camera set up in the hallway.
The police think the killers took the tape from the VCR.”

“Ah, that’s just a decoy made to look like a do-it-yourself job.
There is another concealed in the smoke alarm. Jake did the
wiring,” Sam explained.

“So where are the tapes?” Parker asked in disbelief.

“Over there,” Sam said pointing to a bank of video
recorders.

“And…”Parker left the question hanging in the air.

“Yes, I watched the tape. I saw the killers in the lounge room
and Jake sitting at the desk. The big guy punched him in the head
from behind. I couldn’t bear to watch after that,” Sam started
sobbing but composed herself quickly.

“Did you tell the cops about that tape?”

“Shit no! The cops called on me and all the other neighbours.
But the police don’t know about me and Jake and that’s how it will
stay,” Sam insisted. “I could watch the tape with you. Or at least
as much as I can bear.”

“No, Sam. I wouldn’t put you through that. I’ll look at it on my
own. But you’ll have to hand it to the police. It’s too dangerous.
When the killers find a blank videocassette, they’ll start
wondering. And searchin,” Parker cautioned.

“I’ll let you watch as long as you promise to tell me what’s on
it,” Sam demanded.

“You don’t need to put yourself through this again. Really, Sam.
Go easy on yourself.”

“Justice. I want justice. Then the cops can have their turn.
Tell you what: I’ve got to do some grocery shopping. You can watch
the tape and have a think.”

Harmsen had let Brad Goldner and Horace Mananoa into the flat.
The motion sensor for the lounge room camera had started recording
at 0.49AM continuously until 1.12AM when all movement stopped.

Parker watched the tape, still with the sound off, for the
second time noting the frame numbers he intended to freeze and
copy. He felt chilled to the bone and so very guilty. The third
viewing of the tape with sound on left him numb as he heard Goldner
arguing that Harmsen would cave in under Parker’s questioning.

“I know how he works. He ripped off $18 million from the KEGIL
account and disappeared. Amphora blamed me. I was cactus. I had to
pay everything back with interest or else. Just as well you came up
with the poker game sting. But taking Gillespie for $20 million
hasn’t earned me one cent. Parker’s knows about you and that makes
you the weakest link. Sorry, Jake.”

“I’ll disappear. I’ll never talk, please believe me!” Harmsen
pleaded for his life.

“How much is left of your cop, the million I gave you?” Goldner
wanted to know.

“More than half. You can have it all. Just don’t kill me.”

“I’m a fair man, Jake. I won’t take it all.”

“You want it now?”

“Right now,” Goldner replied and licked his lips. “Do it!”

 

Parker felt sick to the stomach. Putting an end to the
money-laundering had ended in unintended disaster. But Goldner and
Harmsen had failed to trace him. That was reassuring. And without a
doubt, Gillespie had not been involved in money-laundering. That’s
a relief.

The Web Cam file had recorded Harmsen’s panicked face. He worked
the keyboard briefly, turned and spoke to Goldner. Mananoa knocked
him out with a hard punch to the head and Jake fell to the floor.
Mananoa put a pillow over Jake’s face and sat on him until his legs
stopped twitching. Goldner was at the keyboard, both men walked out
of view and then the screen went black.

Parker hung his head in shame, overcome by a crushing sense of
guilt. Jake was dead because of his well meaning action to disrupt
Goldner’s money-laundering scheme. His good intentions had trigged
an unintended sequence of events. Well meaning motivation or just
stupid, uncalculated interference? Either way, he would have to
live with the reality that his meddling had driven Goldner to
swindle Gillespie out of $20 million and murdering Jake to cover
his tracks. Goldner had repaid what he owed Amphora and stolen
$650,000 from Harmsen’s account. What a shit outcome for poor Jake
and his family.

By the time Sam returned, Parker had made two DVD copies of the
video and printed five grainy photos, graphic records of the crime.
Now what? Revenge? Make Goldner pay? Kill Mananoa? No. He didn’t
want anyone dead. But he would have to do something and Sam agreed
that handing the video to the police was the way to bring the
culprits to justice.

Parker handed Sam the photos. “The big guy, that’s Horace
Mananoa. He killed Jake on Goldner’s orders.”

“He won’t get away with it,” Sam promised.

“Goldner won’t hang around much longer. We have to act now,”
Parker cautioned.

“They won’t walk away. I’ll promise you that,” Samantha said,
fists clenched. “You’re thinking what I’m thinking?”

Parker simply nodded.

“I’ll make them pay first. Then the cops can have them,” Sam
decided.

 

Parker left Sam’s flat after dark and walked a good half-hour to
clear his head. He hailed a cab to the city and watched the
apartment to make certain that it was safe to enter. He retrieved
the safe deposit key and returned to his hotel. He was too
emotionally drained to go out to eat and ruled out a drink
upstairs. A very simple room service salad, a stubby, two
painkillers, a shower and he was off to bed.

The room service breakfast arrived at 6.30AM and Parker ate
while watching early morning TV news. The pain was bearable now and
the bruises a faint yellow.

“After the break, details of a late-night assault resulting in
one nightclub bouncer ending up in hospital with multiple
fractures,” the announcer said.

Parker turned up the sound and sat waited anxiously for the
commercials to end. The mobile rang.

“Yes, Sam.”

“Are you watching the news, Constable?”

“Yep.”

“I’ve been busy,” Sam boasted.

“So I see,” Parker agreed and laughed. “Let’s watch.”

 

The newsreader reported an assault by four men on a security
guard while he was locking the side door of an inner city nightclub
after closing time.

“Two witnesses saw four men in what was described as a vicious
attack on a Fijian national. The barely conscious man was taken by
ambulance to St. Vincent hospital. He is said to be in a stable
condition with multiple fractures to arms and legs. Police have
revealed that the man has a criminal record and that the attack was
most likely attributable to a disgruntled patron.”

“Did you hear that? Disgruntled patron my arse,” Sam said
laughing her head off.

“Gutterbreak?”

“You remember?”

“Yes. Your stepfather,” Parker replied.

“Only took a couple of phone calls last night and all the money
I had in the house,” Sam explained.

“So you only wanted to hurt him?”

“Yeah, bad.”

“Leave Goldner to the cops, please Sam. Don’t do it,” Parker
pleaded.

“Just give the video and photos to the cops. Let them handle it.
Please don’t take it further.”

“I’ll do that, after he has gone for a swim. He’ll be found
smashed against the rocks. Both wrists and legs broken. How the
poor man must have suffered,” Sam said her voice bitter and
sarcastic. “You can’t swim with broken bones, can you now.”

“Sam. Promise me. Leave him alone. He deserves proper
justice.”

“Alright, Constable. He’ll get justice,” Sam said in a dreamy
voice: “And after that, I’ll sell up and move to Perth. What do you
think of Perth?”

“Lovely city.”

“When you’re over my way, come and see me. I’ll give you a
freebee, Constable,” Sam offered.

“I might just do that,” Parker lied.

“And I’ll hand the video over. Cross my heart.”

“Bye, Sam!”

“Bye, Will!”

 

Parker was at the bank when it opened and entered the safety
deposit vault with his laptop. He loaded the backed up bank
statements and compared them with the account numbers in Harmsen’s
statement. The $650,000 had gone to the Luxembourg account.
Amphora. He remembered Goldner’s warning: Don’t touch Amphora.
They’re killers.

 

Luxembourg? He didn’t even know where that was. There was no way
he could take a weapon undetected on an aircraft. He reluctantly
put the Glock and holster in the safe deposit box and pocketed his
passport.

A bank account, that was all he had with which to crack Amphora
and get all of Gillespie’s money back. And his fee. He was about to
enter killer territory armed only with his native cunning and wits.
True, but he also had time, anonymity and money to buy what he
needed to get this job done.

After that, it was good-bye Kel. Nice knowing you? Not
really.

 

 Parker paid cash for his airfare to avoid anyone tracing
his movements from his credit card transaction.

 

“In time and over distance great, love enduring had to
wait.”

 

He had not looked at his poem for quite some time. He had
searched for a memory of sweet love in all the wrong places until
now. Parker was on the path to true love-not that he knew.

 

 

 

 

Chapter 6

 

Fasten seat belts! Yeah right! Not just the end of a bumpy ride.
The last hour of the KLM flight from Sydney to Amsterdam flight had
been turbulent. The airport approach was shrouded in low clouds and
a thin fog lay over the city. Clearing customs was a formality.
Parker picked up his luggage and walked 20 minutes to the City
Hopper Luxembourg departure lounge. He didn’t mind-it was a good
way to stretch his legs. He had time to exchange his Australian
currency for the colourful Euro notes and withdrew €5,000 from an
ATM. Anyone tracing his movements would find the trail go cold in
Amsterdam.

He was at Luxembourg’s International airport by mid morning
after a 50 minute, very smooth flight. He had no illusions: a very
rough ride lay ahead. The shuttle bus dropped him off at the
Central Molitor in the heart of Luxembourg-Ville. The small suite
faced west over an extensive park. The lounge room would do as a
temporary office for the few days he expected to be there.

A free city map in the comprehensive guest folder guided him
north along the Avenue de la Liberté, busy with people on coffee
breaks under colourful umbrellas. He crossed the deep gorge on the
imposing stone Pont Adolphe and entered the Boulevard Royal.

  Amphora’s account was at the Steinlicht Bank KG, housed
in an ordinary office block of steel and concrete, quite different
from the imposing sandstone structures in the heart of the city. He
strolled past it a few dozen steps and stopped at the next corner,
a laneway closed to motor traffic, a photographic shop on the
opposite corner, a small café next to it and a bakery takeaway
opposite. If he ever needed to find and escape route, at quick
sprint would bring him to the end of the lane that connected with a
busy street. He could easily merge there into pedestrian
traffic.

He retraced his steps and quickened his pace across the bridge.
He found a newsagent close to hotel, bought the London Times and a
packet of blank CDs. Watching French language TV was fun even
though he didn’t understand. The room service coffee wasn’t half
bad. He reserved a table in the hotel’s French cuisine restaurant.
Soup du jour and Pêche Melba he understood. The waiter explained as
best he could the extensive selection of starters and main courses.
The clear vegetable soup was enjoyable. They had a good laugh when
the waiter brought the main course they had worked out between
them: a little “moo”, Escalope de Veau aux champignons. He was more
used to beef but found the medallions of veal moist and very tender
and the cream sauce much to his liking. He finished the meal with a
half bottle of dessert wine and called it a day. He fell asleep,
watching the late BBC news.

 

The following morning brought the drizzle and overcast sky the
weather man had predicted. He left the hotel at ten and had
breakfast in a small café nearby. He was in no hurry and waited
till people put away their umbrellas. He switched on his Australian
mobile and found a good signal but no carrier. Bugger. He entered a
mobile telephone shop where surveillance cameras did not record his
purchase as far as he could tell. The shop assistant explained to
him that world wide roaming was possible but recommended as far
easier and faster, to buy a prepaid mobile phone and a prepaid
internet wireless modem.

 

Parker pushed his way through the revolving door into the bank
lobby and handed his business card to the receptionist with a
request to open a business account.

“I’ll have someone from Miss Denton’s department attend to you.
Please take a seat.”

He picked up a magazine and pretending to read it, assessed the
reception area. He was surprised at an apparent lack of security.
Besides the obligatory surveillance cameras, there was only a
bored, chubby security guard seated at a corner desk trying to look
busy and official.

A woman exited the lift, walked to reception and with a
purposeful stride came in his direction. Mid thirties he guessed,
confident, in a fashionable navy suit, a cream silk blouse and
comfortable low heel shoes. A striking diamond brooch adorned her
right lapel-an heirloom perhaps and a good conversation
starter.

She held his card in her right hand and glanced at it.

“Ah, Mr. Parker, welcome to Luxembourg. I am Acaria Denton.”

 “How are you?” he replied not certain how to address
her.

The slight hesitation didn’t go unnoticed. The receptionist
handed her a plastic ID card, similar to the one both wore and
looped it around his neck, close enough for him to notice her
perfume:

“W is for William? Bill? Will?”

“Will is fine, Miss Denton.”

“Acaria is fine too,” she quipped.

Ria, I’d like Ria even better.

 

Her pass card gave them lift access. She pressed the door close
and the 5th floor button. Parker eyed her up and down from behind,
discretely he thought, but averted his gaze when her shoulders
moved and tightened. Clenched fists showed her discomfort. He stole
another look as her hands relaxed. He wanted to touch the smooth
neckline, mess up the well-styled hair and nuzzle closer to take in
more of that turn on scent.

All the while, Acaria had been trying to observe him in a small
security mirror, but he had purposely taken a position that made
this difficult. Had Parker looked at the ceiling instead of her, he
might have noticed a surveillance camera. Acaria led the way past a
reception desk on to her office. She inserted the pass card and
ushered him into a spacious office.

She studied his letter of introduction, a bank cheque for
$10,000 and requested his passport. “Mr. Parker, may I ask you why
you chose our bank? I ask because we are not a retail bank but a
commercial bank.”

“You come highly recommended,” Parker replied.

“A good enough reason, I suppose,” Acaria commented without
looking at him. She referred to a manual and quoted:”I am obliged
to outline to you the bank’s policy in regard to international
monetary transfers over $1 million. All new accounts must comply
with what is called the ‘clean payment method’. Importers and
exporters request their respective banks to initiate payments and
deposits by releasing the buyer’s and seller’s name, bank account
details, amount and currency of payment.”

 She looked up at him:

“Do you agree with this condition?”

 Parker agreed.

“For extra security and peace of mind, I recommend that you set
a daily limit.”

Parker declined. Acaria made brief notes and photocopied his
passport. Parker chose a password and for obligatory added
security, gave his mother’s maiden name needed to change the
password itself. Acaria swivelled the monitor to show him how to
transact business online.

“An incorrect password will prompt you to try again. A third
incorrect try will lock you out for three hours. Anyone who repeats
this sequence will be locked out for three hours again. Another
repeat will lock you out, full stop.”

 

He saw golden sparkles in her brown eyes set in a whiteness of
coral sand. She’d look great with a Queensland tan. He smiled at
the thought of her snorkelling in the nude.

“Look!” Acaria snapped him out of his fantasy. “Have you heard
anything I’ve said?”

Wow!! Sparkles and Sparks. Fiery!  We have a temper.

“Most of it,” Parker admitted. “I was somewhere else,
sorry.”

That made her laugh. She looked at her watch.

“We’re nearly done. Your client number and debit card will be
delivered in person to your hotel, which is?”

“The Central in ….” he replied.

“Yes, I know where it is,” she interrupted. “A good choice,
quite handy. If you need to contact the bank after hours, you can
reach me on this number.”

Parker reached for his mobile but couldn’t work the menu.

“I only just bought this disposable.”

“Here let me,” Acaria offered and entered the number.

She noticed that there was only the mobile’s own number and
memorised it.

“That’s it. We’re all done. Here’s my card.”

Acaria accompanied him to the lobby reception desk and stood in
front of him:

“You won’t need this now,” she said and took back the visitor ID
badge.

Her hands briefly touched the side of his neck, accidentally he
wondered, as she slipped the lanyard over his head. The touch
triggered primal emotions and his body responded instinctively.

His eyes darted from Acaria’s face and found full, firm and
desirable breasts. He checked the face again: clear skin. Sensuous
mouth. Good teeth. Bright, clear eyes. Beauty and symmetry.
Healthy. His eyes paused ever so briefly at her loins and when
satisfied with fertility and assured by the promise of children
from soft, but powerful hips, inspected her legs. Shapely, lean and
strong. She might outrun him on the beach? Her scent, inhaled
through flared nostrils, told him fertile. He made eye contact
again to check receptiveness. Her smile backed up what his body
desired and roused the caveman:

Me have you. Make babies.

His pulse rate had doubled from three beats ago and his heart
pounded in response to the hormone surge that flooded his system.
Blood pressure rose as he inhaled deeply, the pupils dilated and
his hands became clammy. He sucked in his gut, expanded his chest
with a deep breath and with raised shoulders looked left and right.
His outstretched arms claimed space for the alpha male and warned
off rivals. Seeing none, he relaxed, smiled, lowered his arms and
wiped his hands dry on the side of his pants.

They shook hands and nature continued her tricks with a new
surge. He felt excited, warm, elated, powerful and unbeatable. This
was a familiar high but much nicer and somehow different from the
dopamine-triggered after-effects of strenuous exercise. He had
never before experienced such a rush from just a simple touch.

“I’ll see you later..,” both of them said as one. Her hand came
up too late to shield pursed lips and a smile. She giggled like a
teenager and looked away. Parker’s eyes followed her as she walked
towards the lift where she stood in conversation with a male
colleague.

Keep off, pal. She’s mine. All mine.

Acaria turned her head and glanced in his direction, made
fleeting eye contact and stepped into the lift.

Great! She loves me. She is the one. I know she is. I have never
been more certain in my life. Here is the start of my memory of
love.

 

Parker would have thought otherwise had he seen Acaria storm
past the upstairs reception desk and the slam her office door. She
dropped in her chair, picked up the Parker file and started
reading. What is this about?

Transactions in the tens of millions were her bread-and-butter
and she was good at her job. Parker’s account was petty cash and he
posed no threat. Then why would an Australian come to Luxembourg to
open an account when he could have done so quite easily over the
Internet in a few minutes? He had walked in, off the street,
without an appointment on someone’s supposed recommendation. What
had he gained from the meeting? Knowing how to open and close a
bank account with Steinlicht, account password characteristics, how
to change it and daily withdrawal limits were routine matters.
Parker had not asked her about security and nothing she had
mentioned could be of consequence.

So why am I wasting my time thinking about him?

Maybe that was it—he had made personal contact with a bank
employee—but what of it? She saw from his passport that he had not
travelled overseas before. His next of kin was a married sister. A
33 year-old bachelor, tall, tanned and handsome in a rugged sort of
way and at ease with the world. Rich? Hardly, but she had enough
for both of them. What? Silly goose! A typical male chauvinist had
given her the once over. She had felt offended at his invading
eyes, yes and flattered at this man’s attention all the same. Was
he interested in her? Forget it! She couldn’t put her finger on it
but intuition told her to be careful. It has been a while.

The demands of other customers, an overfull mailbox and the
telephone occupied her attention and she soon put the Australian
out of her mind. She was dying for a strong cappuccino and a ham
baguette. With Dijon mustard, lettuce, tomato and Spanish onion
rings. Hold the onion. No. Buy mints. She switched the computer to
stand by, picked up her handbag and called out to the receptionist:
“Back at half-past.”

 

Now, the con continues. He had read their last eye contact as a
signal on which he could build. It was 11.30AM and happy with the
meeting, Parker exited the bank and made for the photographic shop.
He bought a disposable camera, quickly snapped 36 street scenes and
handed in the camera for processing. The prints would be ready, he
reasoned, by the time Acaria stopped for lunch. He had gleaned from
her appointment book that she was free between 1PM and 2PM. Acaria,
he hoped, would buy coffee and snacks in the nearby takeaway shop
or better still, lunch in the café.

He joined the many happy tourists strolling in the shaded avenue
back to the city, entered the park under the bridge and found a
bench under a huge chestnut tree. Acaria was now the key, he
decided, to retrieve Gillespie’s money. He would use everything he
had learnt about her. A photograph on the office bookshelf showed a
younger Acaria with other tourists. The tourist coach and “Lesotho
Tours” told him that she had holidayed there. But not recently. The
Aids scare in southern Africa had put an end to European women on
organised tours for anonymous pleasures with young black men.

She did not wear a wedding band, only an old-fashioned diamond
silver ring that matched the brooch’s design. An antique writing
set, a cut glass inkwell, quill pen and glass paperweight were the
only personal effects on display. In her mid thirties? She was
unlikely to be further promoted. She had acquired English, if it
was not her native tongue, in English-speaking countries. She had a
trace of an accent.

She would face the predictable life of a single woman. Work
would remain central to her life, holidays alone or with a married
couple, the occasional fling, gay male friends, a crusty elderly
aunt and early retirement probably joining the many thousands who
quit Central Europe for cheaper housing and the warmer climate of
southern Spain. Irrespective of his assumptions, he needed to know
more about her personal life and motivation so as to turn her to
his cause.

Parker picked up his photos, stood inside the shopfront window
and inspected the prints and scanned pedestrian traffic. He wiped
his clammy hands with his handkerchief and licked his dry lips.

Yes, his hands made a fist. Acaria had turned the corner and
made for the café. She sat at a table for two and looked up
impatiently, waiting to be served.

Parker left the shop and stood on the footpath seemingly looking
through the photographs. Acaria wore large sunglasses that made it
difficult to tell whether she was looking directly at him. She
frowned and her jaw tightened. She’s seen me. Parker crossed the
lane, stopped on the footpath and retraced his steps. He entered
the photographic shop again for another disposable camera. Acaria
still gazed in his direction. He waited until the waiter had
brought her coffee and then left the shop.

He turned to the right, jauntily swinging a colourful plastic
bag. The lane, busy with pedestrians in front of him and other
diners, obscured her view of him. He wanted her to make the first
move and was pleased when she waved. He stood at the table, hands
grasping the vacant chair.

 She busied herself stirring her coffee, annoyed at being
impulsive.

“This isn’t a coincidence, is it?”

He tried to reassure her and regain the initiative.

” I’m glad to run into, saves me phoning you later. Let me buy
lunch.”

She declined and sat with arms folded.

“I’ve been in touch with my employer. He wants to buy a shelf
company and establish a registered office in Luxembourg.”

“There are hundreds of shelf names you can pick. Our accountants
can accommodate your wishes. Is there anything else I can help you
with before you leave Luxembourg?”

Dismissed? Ha! Not so quick, sweetie!

The waiter arrived with a scrumptious looking baguette, a glass
and a bottle of mineral water. His presence got him momentarily out
of a predicament and eased the tension. Parker ordered a glass of
house red and a baguette and sat down uninvited. The waiter scowled
at Parker and spoke to Acaria who replied in French.

“What’s up with him?” Parker asked.

“It’s fine. You’re welcome at my table.”

It was time, Parker decided, to put his cards on the table. Some
of them anyway. “I can’t leave until my assignment is completed. I
am here to recover my employer’s stolen funds. I can’t do this
alone.”

Acaria looked stunned by his frank admission and affronted at
the implied duplicity. “At least you’re not stalking me,” she said
jokingly. “I’m intrigued but I’m not sure that I want to hear more.
Let’s eat lunch.”

The frown on her face faded and she put the sunglasses down. He
handed her the photographs she asked to see.

“Did you take these today?”

“Just some souvenir shots.”

She seemed to accept the explanation.

 

She wanted to believe him. Her fingers grasped the brooch and
unconsciously fondled it. Parker had noticed her fidgeting earlier
when uncertain or ill at ease.

“It’s my grandmother’s,” she said. “So is the ring.” She
extended her hand and rested her fingers on his outstretched palm.
“Beautiful,” he said under his breath gazing into her eyes. There
was clearly chemistry between them, a lot of chemistry. The golden
specks sparkled even more in the direct sunlight. Eyes, brown a
shade lighter. She held his gaze.

“You’re supposed to look at the ring!” Acaria pulled back her
hand that he let go slowly and reluctantly. She looked down at her
meal to hide the rosy glow in her face. With elbows on the table,
she cupped her hands under her chin to conceal the throbbing pulse
in her throat.

 Parker grasped her hands. She looked at him in a way she
had not looked at a man in ages and felt vulnerable.

“What will you do when all this is over?”

She wants reassurance. She’s hooked.

“I’ll show you my island and if you like it, I’ll build you a
house.”

“And if I don’t?” Acaria laughed at him.

“I’ll show you my other island.”

“How many islands do you have, exactly?”

“Three: two little ones and a big one where I live. They are in
the Whitsundays, Queensland. Australia.”

 

He spoke of life on the island, of animals and birds she didn’t
know and of flowers with unfamiliar names and imagined scents. She
skydived into his world of sunshine and clear skies. She peeled
mangoes with her teeth and didn’t mind the juice dribbling down her
chin. Paw-paw is good for me? She would have home-grown avocadoes
for breakfast and if she wanted to, for lunch also. She would spear
fish coral trout for lunch. It was too warm in the afternoons to do
anything but make pineapple crush. He had built a driftwood fire
for her because he wanted her to see the sparks that became stars
to wish by. The lightning terrified her and the thunderclaps two
heartbeats later made her flinch in his arms. She sat with him on
the roof in torrents of rain, laughing and giving up mending the
leaking roof, a job left over from last year. She stood with him on
the jetty waiting for the trawler. Food, books, letters, parcels,
surprises.

She heard passion in his voice and she abandoned caution. He had
an easy natural confidence. Few men in her life had excited her in
a way that life with Parker might. Her men were city dwellers whose
thrills came with share index movements. They found adventure on
muddy country roads driving a new, freshly waxed
four-wheel-drive.

I haven’t seen a sun rise. Ever. She envied Parker his
existence, beach combing after a king tide, watching gannets work a
school of jumping bait fish. What does papaya taste like? She
wanted adventure. No I don’t. I need adventure.

“Look at the time,” she exclaimed. “I’m running late.”

She offered him her right cheek, lips touching cheeks ever so
lightly.

“It will be your turn to tell me all about you over dinner,” he
said.

She gathered her handbag and smiled.

“See you at seven. Your hotel,” she agreed and rushed away.

 

Parker sat back in his chair, pleased with her interest in him.
He was used to getting his way by subterfuge, cunning and
manipulation. There was no hidden motive this time, no deception
and no trickery in telling Acaria about his island. He had spoken
spontaneously and from the heart. Rubbish! You’re kidding yourself.
Get real!

He paid for both meals and walked to the end of the lane. He
felt shabby and his reflection in a shop window made it worse. His
wardrobe needed a makeover and a haircut was overdue. A men’s
hairdresser in one of the many arcades made a fuss over him,
scissors clicking and chatting in passable English.

Parker looked presentable and the shorter style made his greying
hair less obvious. There was a pale patch of skin where the now
shorter sideburns stopped and drew attention to a deep tan. A
splash of aftershave massaged into his temples and back of the neck
stung for a moment. He asked the barber to splash some drops into
his palms. He inhaled the cologne and liked the way it interacted
with his hands and face. The price was exorbitant for such a small
bottle and the price of haircut, ouch! But what the heck!

He bought a pinstripe dark grey suit in a large department
store, shirt and tie and a very expensive pair of black loafers. He
looked definitely like a well to do local. Acaria would be
impressed.

The hotel receptionist handed him his electronic key.

“Monsieur won’t be eating in tonight then?” he inquired.

“It’s that obvious?” Parker replied.

Once in his room, he called room service to pick up his dry
cleaning. He hung up his new suit, carefully unwrapped the silk
shirt and tried on the new tie.

The telephone reminder call ended his afternoon forty winks. He
showered, shaved and come seven o’clock sat in the lobby, fiddling
with his tie and adjusting his shirt cuff again and again. Waiting
and inactivity did not suit him. He left the lobby at a quarter
past seven for some fresh air. He looked up and down the street and
at every taxi driving past. He was annoyed and looked at his watch
repeatedly as though this could hasten her arrival.

Don’t you dare go cold on me!

He went to reception and left a hastily scribbled note.

 

 

Acaria returned to the office after lunch and worked solidly for
the rest of the afternoon. She put Parker and his island out of her
mind as best she could. By 5.30, she had answered her last e-mail
and sat back with a sigh of relief. She allowed herself time for a
Google image search for ‘frangipani’ Parker had mentioned. She
looked at images of the flower with delight. Its botanical name
‘Plumeria’ would make a wonderful name for a house.

Acaria rushed out of the office to the multi-storey car park
where she had a permanent space. She reversed with difficulty
finding the steering stiff to turn. She half opened the door and
saw the flat tyre. Impatient drivers steered around her car and
none offered to help. She parked the car where it had been. She was
quite capable of changing a tyre herself but not today she decided.
By the time the mechanic had fitted the spare tyre, it was
6.30.

Parker didn’t answer his mobile. She cursed the traffic that
slowed the drive home. She had planned to do some last-minute
shopping at a pharmacy near her home, but by the time she reached
the outer suburbs, it had closed. She parked the car in the
driveway, cleared the letterbox and let herself into the house.

Three generations had called it home. Her grandparents had built
it when they retired from the horse stud but because neither Acaria
nor her brother Florian wanted to take over the farm, they had sold
it and retired to the city.

She said hello to her grandparent’s portrait in the hallway and
nodded to a large photograph of her parents in a silver frame. She
hurriedly rummaged through her dresser and threw underwear and
stockings on the bed. She carefully hung up her business suit,
stripped and tossed underwear into an overflowing basket.

Much as she would have liked a long bath or a shower, there
wasn’t time. She rushed through her make-up and hastily brushed her
hair into shape. She found a packet of condoms in the medicine
cabinet. It was long out of date and ended up in the rubbish bin.
Sorry Will, you’ll have to wait.

A quick look in the long mirror: a knee-length grey checked
skirt, a white shirt and a black jacket. Looking good. She could
afford to wear the new black stilettos to match Parker in height. A
dashing red scarf, loosely tied around her neck and out the door,
picking up her oversized handbag and keys from the hall table. She
whispered to the bronze bust on a pedestal near the front door:
I’ll make them pay. Revanche. Promise. See you later Florian.

The drive to the city took only 10 minutes in thinning traffic.
She had time to get her thoughts in order. She had in her handbag
Parker’s client number card, debit card and receipts to be signed.
They would enjoy each other’s company, flirt a little more perhaps,
enjoy the wine and food. She re-entered the car park and parked in
the reserved spot. If she had too much to drink, or didn’t want to
drive home, she could easily leave the car there overnight.

She entered the hotel lobby a little bit out of breath. Parker
was nowhere to be seen and for a moment her heart sank. The
receptionist had noticed her arrival and held up a piece of
paper.

“Is there a message for Denton?”

“Acaria?”

She nodded.

“The gentleman is in the bar,” he said and handed over the
message.

Parker sat at the bar with a second glass of beer. She walked up
and gently touched him on shoulder and brushed her lips against his
cheek.

“Sorry I’m late,” she said most apologetically.

“About time,” Parker replied in mock reproach.

“Did you check your messages at all?”

 There was a sheepish grin on Parker’s face.

“You didn’t!” her bottom lip made a shelf.

“Sorry I forgot. Drink?”

“I’d rather have dinner, I’m starved.”

Parker stood in front of her and grasped her by the shoulders
and gave her the once-over. “Ria, you’re a stunner.”

 

Acaria’s hooked her arm over his and they left the hotel and
turned towards the Place de Metz. He liked the feel of her body.
There was the unmistakable soft roundness of her breast pressing
against his arm. He pulled away, embarrassed but she pulled his arm
closer. It felt nice and the intimacy enticing as they made their
way past elegant shopfronts. When their eyes met in a shop window
reflection, his heart missed a beat and he went weak at the knees.
Never had he seen that look-passion yes and lust. But never the
look in a woman’s eyes that promised the love, tenderness and
affection he had craved for so long. My you. My memory of love.
They held each other’s gaze and time stood still.

His heart sunk at her openness, the declaration and the
vulnerability of this woman’s longing. She was the target of his
cunning and deception, a means to an end. No point in deluding
himself. He needed the duplicity of this woman who wanted him. A
moment so long in coming that could only end in disappointment. She
could be his forever: his hope of a sweet memory of love if he
walked away from Gillespie. How could he possibly ask her to become
an accomplice to his crime, to be his conwoman? You can’t have it
both ways.

His lips tightened in response and his tensing muscles broke the
spell. The corners of Acaria’s mouth turned down in confusion and
disappointment. Had she gone too far, too early in showing her
feelings? But Parker’s smile reassured her and when his lips
tenderly kissed her fingers, she was fine again. He had betrayed
her with a kiss. Judas.

Acaria pointed out her favourite boutique, her favourite little
wine bar and at an all-night pharmacy, excused herself. The
intimacy, the ease and openness of this woman who was inviting him
into her life knotted his guts. Hey Gillespie! What price a sweet
memory of love? There had to be a way out of this dilemma.

His soul searching was over quickly as Acaria hadn’t taken long
to buy a lipstick, a scented candle and gloves. “Let’s go,” she
said linking arms again and sauntered along. They waited for the
lights to change. Strong streetlights overhead cast shadows to
their right. No! No omens please, Parker begged. Please! No shadows
of love. Not now when he was with the real thing. Acaria steered
him across the street and jauntily into a side street to “Chez
Louis”, as a tiny bronze sign advertised. Parker opened the
restaurant door for Acaria who walked on ahead. Parker was grateful
for the soft lighting that hid his full erection. The owner greeted
Acaria with a familiar embrace and pointed to a corner table. They
could tell and Parker enjoyed the cordiality that was now also his.
Thief.

“Here are the cards you need to work the account. It might be an
idea if you familiarise yourself with our terminal at the bank. Do
you have a laptop?”

“Yes.”

“I have included the software you need to get on-line.”

“Thanks for that, Acaria.”

“What am I doing?” she reproached herself. “Give me back the
envelope. I’ll keep it until later.”

Parker noticed that rain had started to fall, the reflection of
car head and tail lights created a colourful image on the wet
bitumen. Spray drenched an unwary pedestrian as a car drove through
a kerbside puddle. Parker chuckled at the man shaking his fist and
wiping his overcoat. Acaria had been observing him quietly. He
looked very elegant in the new suit and the white shirt accentuated
his tan.

She reached across the table and brushed a strand of hair into
place.

“He’s cut your hair very nicely. If that cologne is for my
benefit, it’s working!” she admitted candidly.

Parker didn’t know what to say, mumbling:

“Wouldn’t mind some wine. You choose, Ria.”

Parker looked at the menu and throwing up his hands theatrically
exclaimed: “Please interpret for me. I don’t want any more little
moo.”

Acaria burst out laughing: “What little moo?”

Parker explained how he had grappled with the French menu the
night before. “I am more used to beef than veal. You Europeans seem
to prefer it. Is there any fish on the menu?”

Parker put down the menu. “Do you come here often?” he asked and
both broke up with laughter at the old pickup line. Acaria ordered
for both of them. They shared a platter of Parma ham with melon
slices. Acaria chose pan-fried fish, Merlan frit, which the waiter
translated as Whiting. Parker ordered another bottle of white
burgundy when the waiter came to clear the dishes. Parker read
through the sweets menu without difficulty and showing off, asked
Acaria: “What would mademoiselle like: the mousse, soupe de fruits,
Parfait au Grand Marnier or crème brulée?”

“I’m impressed!” Acaria said and in rapid French responded to
his teasing. “I don’t know what you just said but it sounded lovely
and I agree,” Parker declared.

They both chose the mousse and finished the meal with coffee.
They were easy company. Acaria was tipsy and flirted unashamedly.
Parker settled the bill and they left the restaurant elated. They
held hands, fingers intertwined as they walked back to the hotel.
They had not touched on Parker’s business during the meal. He had
avoided raising the subject and Acaria had not wanted a magic
evening to end. She broke the silence as they stood outside the
hotel:

“Will. Where to from here?”

Parker had dreaded that moment and shrugged in reply, indecisive
and so unlike him. ”I’m not sure. Help me,” he begged, the
vulnerability in his voice and manner palpable. His helplessness
appealed to Acaria and she stood closer still. ”I want to see you
again, but how can I when this means getting in deeper and no
turning back?”

He led her by the arm into the hotel lobby where they sat on a
comfortable lounge away from prying eyes. “You know I am here to
recover stolen funds now in a Steinlicht account.”

Acaria interrupted: “How much money is involved?”

“Twenty million dollars.”

”By recover you mean steal the money. You know what this means?
Technically, I’m already in breach of bank regulations and could be
accused of conspiracy. I need to think. But not here. Not now.”

She rose and pulled him gently out of the seat.” What floor are
you on?” she whispered.

“Heaven,” Parker replied.

They rode up in the lift, shoulders touching. Once in the room,
Acaria took off her jacket and stood by the window and gazed at her
city. “Hold me,” she said and looked over her shoulder. Parker put
his arms around her waist, nuzzling the side of her neck. She
grasped his hands and placed them over her breasts. Parker felt the
lace borders of her slip and nipples hardening under his touch.
Acaria liked the sensation of his growing erection and moved harder
against him. She turned and placed her arms around his neck.

” This is not the same erection still?”

 Parker blushed.

“Saw your reflection in the shop windows”. She kissed him
tenderly. “Wait.”

Acaria opened the bathroom door, looked back and said: “I want
to see your tan, all over.”

 Parker kicked off his shoes, threw the socks into a corner
and took of his jacket and pants, lined up the creases neatly and
folded them over the rail. He liked the wooden hanger that came
with the suit. The jacket sat neatly draped over the thick shaped
centre with its nice swivel chrome hook. He took off his tie and
shirt and hung them in the wardrobe. The jockey shorts landed near
the socks.

He heard the shower running. Acaria poked her head out the door.
“Come.” She was under the shower rose and moved her face slowly to
and fro against the needles of water. She held her hair up high
with both hands trying to keep it dry. He lifted the strands she
had missed and gently pushed them up into her hands. His fingers
traced runnels of water from between her shoulders to the small of
her back then rested his hands flat on her hips. The colour of her
skin had warmed from an alabaster whiteness to the softest pink.
Then barely touching her, his hands followed the outline of her
body ever so slowly upwards, with thumbs making small circles and
spiralling upwards, stroking. He hesitated when fingertips felt her
curved roundness. He felt her shoulder move. Acaria reached behind
her back and touched him with open palms. She pulled him towards
her until their bodies touched. She started stroking him with
stretched palms and rubbed against him with a sensuous slow hip
grind. She aroused him more with gentle up and down motions. Slow
at first then faster and with increasing friction kept pace with
her hands.

“You’re making me come,” he said.

“I want you to.”

She turned around. His hands grasped hers and they stroked as
one. He wanted her to feel the full shuddering of his release.
Acaria looked up at him. She loved having a hand in a man’s
excitement. He had closed his eyes, his lips were parted slightly.
With shallow breathing came the soft groans. She felt his throbbing
spasms. “Stop, stop!” he begged. He was spent and his knees
shook.

“I enjoyed that,” Acaria said. “Watching you come was
terrific.”

“A knee trembler,” Parker grunted. “But what about you?”

“I’ll come again later.”

Acaria reached for the soap and gloves. She started lathering,
then gently scrubbed his face and neck. She moved to his shoulders,
back and the outside of his thighs. His skin became alive, tingling
and pleasurably painful. He flinched when Acaria touched his
ribcage. The light yellow bruises were hardly noticeable.

“Tell me if it hurts too much.”

“It’s bearable. What are these gloves made of? Sandpaper?”

“No, silly. They are exfoliating gloves.”

“Like a loofah sponge?”

“Yes, good for the skin.”

Acaria continued along the inside of his thighs and ended up
scrubbing his chest. “Now, it’s your turn,” she said.

“That’s a beaut way to get to know you.”

He started lathering up and gently cleansed her forehead and
cheeks. He caressed her throat and moved on to the shoulders. She
turned around.

“I am going to enjoy this. I haven’t had my back scrubbed since
I was a baby.”

Acaria’s skin turned pink as he worked down her back. She urged
him to scrub her thighs harder and turned around. He knelt in front
of her and looked up. He wanted to touch those breasts now. To feel
her nipples harden again under his caressing fingers. Her fingers
knew what he wanted. She circled, stroked and teased her hardening
nipples.

“Don’t stop scrubbing now,” Acaria reminded him.

“You’ll get your turn in a minute.”

She cupped her right breast with both hands and pushed it
towards her tongue but stopped short. “That and more.” His
caressing hands moved upwards, tenderly. Her body arched under his
lips and tongue too busy to notice her fingers stroking to the beat
of her heart.

“Finish me off,” she murmured throatily. “Bite me, NOW.”

The pain made her body stiffen and triggered a ripple, a surge,
a wave and multiple torrents of pleasure. Allover, all over.

“You?”

“Oh, YES.”

“You’re breathing again.”

“Yep.” Acaria said and kissed him fully on the mouth.

 

Acaria took the second, a hand-held shower off the hook and
rinsed herself down with cold water.

“I can wash you like a baby,” Acaria offered. “If you like.”

“No thanks,” Parker replied. “Not cold water.”

“You don’t know what you’re missing,” she teased and stepped out
of the shower. Then after towelling herself dry, put on the
oversized terry-towelling bathrobe.

By the time Parker had finished in the bathroom, Acaria was
already between the sheets. She snuggled up to him. I don’t want
this evening to end.

He whispered: “What time do you want to get up?”

But she was fast asleep.

He had made progress but he was uncertain of the cost.

You are for me. What are you called?

Was Acaria his answer? Was she really the ‘you’ in his life? Did
he want her, really want her, in his life?

 

The bedside alarm clock read 05:12. He lay still and waited for
Acaria to move, not ever wanting the moment to end. There was a
certain amount of satisfaction in Acaria postponing a decision.
There was still hope then. But they had committed themselves deeper
in expressing their love. Losing her would hurt. He sighed and
turned slowly. Acaria had lain awake for some time enjoying his
closeness and snuggling up without waking him. She stroked his face
and the frown disappeared. Her smile revealed the pleasure of their
first evening and night together.

“I want to build a house and I’m going to call it Plumeria,” she
said.

The suddenness of her commitment stunned him. She would be in
his scheme? Why? He looked at her for an explanation.

“Plumeria, after the French botanist Charles Plumier who named
frangipani. I looked it up yesterday.”

“I’d love to build your house,” Parker said. “I know just the
spot for it. You’ll love it.”

She wanted to explore her dream house more but jumped out of bed
and disappeared into the bathroom. They enjoyed the room service
breakfast Parker had ordered meanwhile.

“I want to make an early start and be at work by eight,” Acaria
said. She was on the balcony and looked at a city that would soon,
she guessed, be a memory.

“We have time to talk about your assignment.” She looked him
squarely in the eye. “Tell me about your employer and his
business.”

 

Parker told her about Gillespie’s life, his businesses and the
hijacked big game but not of Harmsen’s murder. She listened
attentively but Parker saw also hesitation and indifference. She
sat up when Parker spoke of money-laundering, drug-trafficking and
Amphora.

“How much money do you think is involved?”

“Just in Australia? About $100 million probably more,” Parker
guessed.

“And how is Amphora connected with my bank?”

“I know of $47 million transferred from a money-laundering
account to a Steinlicht account. But that’s quite separate from the
$20 million stolen from my employer. I think that $20 million, was
deposited around the 13th or 14th. I think $1 million was
transferred on the 14th. I know for certain that $650,000, part of
the robbery, was transferred to Amphora electronically on the
19th,” Parker explained. “I can show you the bank statement.”

“And the balance, $350,000?”

“Spent by one of the crims.”

“So, what do you want from me?”

“A look at the Amphora bank statement.”

“That’s only for starters, and you know that,” Acaria was
furious.

“All I need is the bank statement. Truly,” Parker protested.

“Even that will send me to jail,” Acaria said, hands raised
defensively.

“Listen! When I access an account, my terminal number is
recorded. If anything funny happens, I become the prime suspect.
There is simply no way of accessing an account without leaving a
trace.”

“And Steinlicht Bank continues as an accessory to
money-laundering and drug-trafficking. And everybody lives happily
ever after.”

Parker’s sarcasm hurt. Acaria turned her face away.

“I don’t want it to end this way. You’re putting me into an
impossible situation. I want to help but I can’t.”

Acaria looked at her watch. “I have to go.”

“I want to see you again. Even if you can’t help.”

On the spur of the moment, Parker reached for his wallet and
withdrew the laminated poem with the queen of hearts on the reverse
side.

“I wrote this a long time ago.”

Acaria read the poem and smiled.

“This is beautiful. May I keep it?”

“Please do. I have my own copy. Have dinner with me?”

“Of course, darling.”

 

Acaria was all around the room. Her perfume lingered in the
bathroom and he buried his nose in her bathrobe before hanging it
up. The aroma of the scented candle was faint. Acaria had placed it
on the balcony to avoid setting off the smoke alarm. Seeing her
body backlit against the candle had been a real turn on. It felt
wonderfully sensuous and intimate to use the same soap. He dried
himself and hung the towel next to hers, folded just as neatly.

He looked at his poem and smiled, not smugly or in conceited
pride, but with relief.

 

For you

You are for me.

What are you called?

My name be carved in bunya’s bark

 

The first two lines promised the memory he wanted. How could he
be certain that Acaria was really for him? His body said yes. So
did hers. Was he for her? Yes. He wanted Ria-desperately so, now.
He had never felt that way about a woman. Was he in love because
she was in love with him? Never mind last night’s sex. How would he
feel about her after she had helped him?

 

 What of bunya’s bark? Bunya? Google search results gave
him Araucaria bidwillii, the botanical name for a large, majestic
tree, native to Queensland with a distinctive symmetrical rounded
crown. Bunya nuts were an important food source for aborigines who
celebrated harvest time with feasting and ceremonies. They climbed
trees to collect the large nuts by cutting toe-holds, the likely
explanation for characteristic large scars found on many old bunya
pines.

Now that he knew what they looked like, he realized that many
bunya pines had been planted in Queensland and Sydney parks as
ornamental trees. They looked like Norfolk Island pines but had
much stronger branches and denser foliage. He would search for
bunya trees on his island, soon. He had only been away a few days
and missed the sun, walking barefoot, going for a swim and watching
the sun going down. The sky over Luxembourg was still overcast and
more of the same predicted. There wouldn’t be any stars to watch
with Acaria. Not here.

The cleaning staff interrupted his daydreaming and he put the
laptop away. How stupid! He had let them in without even taking the
barest precaution of engaging the security chain. He would have
been defenceless against an intruder and he would not make that
mistake again. Logging on to the Internet on the hotel’s wireless
network had also been a stupid risk. Anyone monitoring could have
read his mail. Then again, apart from Steinlicht Bank employees, no
one knew he was in Luxembourg. He had paid for his airfares in cash
to avoid Gillespie knowing his movements. He was safe, no harm
done.

 

Parker went for a walk, returned an hour later, packed his
belongings and checked out of the Molitor after reserving new
private accommodation at a Mrs. Hoffmann’s pension. The
receptionist telephoned for a taxi to take him to the airport. No,
he was not unhappy with the service but had to return to Australia
unexpectedly. The taxi dropped him off at the airport where he
watched and waited until his cab picked up another fare. He
returned to the city by shuttle bus that dropped him off at the
railway station.

It was only a five-minute walk to the pension in a quiet side
street. Mrs. Hoffmann let him in and showed him the ground floor
room he had booked for ten days. Would monsieur please use the
guest entrance after 6PM and considering he didn’t require
breakfast, a reduced rate would apply. Parker paid in cash and was
relieved when she didn’t ask him to fill in the guest registration
form. The room would be made up daily at 11AM. Apart from that,
monsieur was assured of complete privacy and discretion Mrs.
Hoffmann assured him with a wink.

He had a good view up and down the street. The bathroom window,
which opened without effort, overlooked a tidy backyard with a low
fence and gate leading to a back alley. Parker unpacked his
suitcase and sat back pleased with himself. The sparse comforts
Mrs. Hoffmann provided were a small price to pay for anonymity.

He pushed a bowl of fruit aside to make room on the small dining
table for his laptop. The wireless Internet connection he was about
to install would make it difficult, if not impossible for others to
trace him now. The connection worked without a hitch and he
continued the installation by setting up the first of three e-mail
user addresses. He was about to click Send a message when he
decided that it was too risky. An e-mail to Acaria would establish
a link that might compromise them later. More likely than not, the
bank had programmes in place to monitor employee “productivity” and
firewalls to protect its systems. He had Acaria’s mobile number but
decided not to interrupt her day.

If Acaria was correct in saying that accessing Amphora’s account
was impossible without detection, then he had to find some other
way. He started surfing the net for bank fraud, identity theft,
password cracking, Trojan horses and hacking. He downloaded page
after page and wrote a summary to discuss with Arcadia.

You have mail!

Parker clicked on Outlook Express and an avalanche of spam
offering Viagra, penis extension/enlargement, free introductory
membership to sex sites, congratulations on having won prizes in
five different lotteries and millions in unclaimed funds and
various dodgy schemes promoted by Nigerian ministers and
businessmen from various countries offering unique opportunities
and millions to be made. He was angry at the intrusion and selected
all and deleted the spam. All money-making schemes promised
something for nothing. That and greed trapped many. He wasn’t going
to fall for that! But some always would, as he knew so well.

Acaria. He had forgotten all about her and his mobile phone was
switched off. Shit!

She answered the call on the first ring.

“Where are you?” Acaria was frantic.

“Luxembourg. I didn’t want to interrupt your day.”

“Do you have any idea what I’ve been through? Do you?”

“Sorry, Acaria.”

“The hotel said you had gone to the airport. I thought you had
gone without saying goodbye. Because I couldn’t help you,” Acaria
replied, her voice not quite as shaky and tearful.

“Nothing’s changed. I want to see you still,” Parker assured
her.

“And me too. Are we having dinner?”

“Of course, I haven’t eaten all day. Same place as yesterday?”
Parker suggested.

“Fine, I’ll pick you up.”

“No need to. I’ll walk.”

“Where are you staying?” Acaria wanted to know.

“I’ll explain when I get there.”

“See you in five minutes,” Acaria said.

 

“Hey, hey-it’s OK, sweetie,” Parker assured Acaria who threw her
arms around his neck and started sobbing silently.

“I thought I would never see you again. Please tell me that
things will work out all right,” Acaria said and looked at him,
tears streaming down her face.

“What was the name again of your house?”

“Plumeria.”

"Plumeria it is. You will love it.”

“Thank you, Will. I needed that,” Acaria said and her face lit
up. “Let’s eat.”

Parker was grateful when Acaria wanted to know more about his
island. He didn’t want to talk about Amphora and put a damper on
the evening.

“Did you notice the clouds today? Well, they are not real
clouds. More like total overcast. I miss my sky. You can see my
clouds rolling in, changing shape, dissolving and reforming. I miss
the horizon,” Parker explained.

“I want to see your horizon. I want your clouds to be mine,”
Acaria confessed. Her eyes were bright again and sparkled in the
candlelight.

“I’ve studied your poem over lunch. Do you realise that my name
is in the bunya tree?” Acaria asked and smiled at Parker’s puzzled
look.

“In Araucaria bidwillii,” Acaria said. “What made you pick that
name?”

“It just came to me out of nowhere,” Parker replied.

“I don’t think it’s coincidence,” Acaria said. “Especially the
line about the scar. I want to show you what I think it means.”

“When?”

“I’ll pick you up tomorrow after work. I want to spend the
weekend with you,” Acaria said. “We’ll even talk about you know
what, if we must.”

“Only if you want to.”

Acaria wanted to know more about the Whitsunday Islands, his
island, the house and his lifestyle. The ordinary things in
Parker’s everyday life fascinated her. Barbecuing sausages and lamb
chops. She couldn’t understand why people liked beer so cold it
made their sinuses ache. Or that people went shopping in shorts and
thongs. She couldn’t quite picture what the salad, Parker
described, looked like. No, not vegetables. A ham salad. Houses
with shutters instead of windows. Seasons called wet and dry.
Laughing birds. Flying foxes. Bees that didn’t sting. Fruit salad
made with nothing but fresh fruit.

 

“But I know something you don’t know. Legends about the Bunya.
Once upon a time, Bonyi, the bunya pine and Kuloloi, the cypress
pine, had a bitter fight on Fraser Island. Is that anywhere near
you?”

“Nearby. A couple of hours,” Parker teased. “By air.”

“I’m not sure if I can get used to your sense of humour. Are all
Australians like that?” Acaria objected.

“Only me.”

“Hm,” Acaria replied. “As I was saying, Bonyi speared Kuloloi
low down and the spears became the branches of the cypress pine.
Kuloloi speared Bonyi high up, and this explains why bunya pines in
forest stands have branches only at the top.”

“Bush.”

“Bush? What about bush?” Acaria was puzzled.

“Bush. We don’t have forests in Australia, only bush and scrub,”
Parker explained. “Sorry to interrupt. Tell me more.”

“How the wild plum got its nicks. Bonyi fell in love with
Kulvain, the black plum tree. Bonyi told Kulvain's father that he
wanted to marry her. When he refused to give his daughter away,
Bonyi went into a range rage and slashed Kulvain with a knife.
That’s why the Kulvain has nicks."

“Wonderful. If you like stories about the dreamtime, the
aboriginals have hundreds of them,” Parker explained.

“Oh! I thought they were fairy tales, like Cinderella,” Acaria
giggled, a little bit embarrassed.

“You’ll get used to the differences. It’s fun,” Parker
promised.

Acaria took his hand and placed it on her cheek.

“Can we be serious for a moment? I’ve got a full day tomorrow. I
want to spend the night with you but my mind wouldn’t be on the
job.”

“I understand.”

“Please don’t be mad at me.”

“I’m not.”

They walked to the car, arm in arm. “Hop inside. Let’s go
parking,” Acaria suggested.

“Haven’t been parking since-“

“I’m sure you’ll remember how to do it.”

 

Afterwards, Acaria dropped Parker off at the station, a
precaution on which he insisted. She pulled up, gave him a peck on
the cheek and whispered:

“Told you Will, you’d remember. I’ll sleep with your hanky on my
pillow.”

“Acaria, you’re wicked!”

“And don’t you just love it?” she said and on impulse suggested:
“Show the poem to Madame Orsova.”

Acaria waved to him as she sped off and beeped twice.

Madame Orsova, whoever you are: Welcome to my memory of
love.

 

Parker let himself into the pension and turned on the
television. The BBC late news reported a huge drug bust in
Australia. Half a ton of amphetamine had been intercepted in a
shipment of floor tiles said to have originated in the Netherlands.
It was the second drug bust in as many weeks. Three million ecstasy
tablets had been seized a week earlier. An Australian customs
spokesperson confirmed that like in other countries, the trend was
towards amphetamines and away from heroin and cocaine. Shipments
worth $200 million or more on the streets….Parker turned the TV off
and went to bed intent on having a good lie-in.

 

Mme Orsova the sign in the window said. The shop was in an
old-fashioned arcade in the city centre. It was a simple affair: a
glass topped counter and wooden shelves along two walls. On
display, in the floor to ceiling glass window were New Age wares.
The books, a few in English, dealt with self-improvement,
actualisation, enlightenment and wisdom. There were posters and
charts on display about astrology, Bach Flower Remedy, Indian and
Chinese medical charts and maps of acupuncture points.

He was the only one in the shop. A quiet cough and woman’s soft
voice, speaking in French, greeted him. She had come through the
doorway, a bead curtain still swayed.

“Hallo,” Parker said. “I don’t speak French or German.”

“No problem, monsieur. I am Madame Orsova. At your service.”

“A friend recommended you,” Parker said and handed her the
poem.

She placed it on her left palm and covered it with her right
hand, eyes closed. She turned it over after a few moments and
exclaimed:

“Ah, the king of hearts. A powerful lover. You have found the
queen?”

“Yes.”

“A good match. She will–how do you say, fire your passion?”

“Ignite.”

“Yes, she will ignite your passion. It is good. You wish I do a
reading?”

“Please help me understand the poem, Madame.”

Mme Orsova walked to the front door and turned the open sign
around. “Follow me.”

She led the way to a small, sparsely furnished room and invited
Parker to sit at her desk.

He watched as she read his poem again. She was all of 70, he
guessed. Short, chubby like a babushka doll. Her face, deeply lined
was attractive still, despite the blotches. She smiled, nodded and
started speaking in French. Parker watched in fascination. She had
a mouthful of silver and gold teeth. Her breath smelled of
peppermint.

“Madame! In English please!”

“Pardon, monsieur,” she apologised. “You know the lady’s name,
non?”

“Acaria.”

“Acaria? Acaria sent you? Quelle surprise!” Mme Orsova exclaimed
and clapped her hands in delight.

“Much easier now to understand the meaning. You have decided
that Acaria is for you and she will carve your name. I do not know
the tree but never mind. You have come a long way. You are going on
a short trip soon?”

“Yes. I guess the atlas is a street directory?”

“I don’t think so,” she said. “I have a book and CD in the shop
about the chart to love’s own constellation.”

 She glanced at the poem again, hesitated, frowned and
looked past him with half closed eyes. Parker noticed the
indecision as she leaned back ever so slightly and withdrew her
hands from the table. She raised them defensively and warned: “You
battle bad and powerful men. The universe is on your side,” she
predicted and looked at him. “Do you understand?”

“Yes, Madame.”

“Bon. There is a gambler. He is your friend, your enemy, your
friend, your enemy,” she cautioned. “I am unsure.”

“I understand. And the last line in the poem. What does it
mean?”

“The scar? It is the carved name. The cut becomes a scar in
time.”

“That is reassuring. True love forever. Thank you, Madame.”

“Un Moment monsieur. I did not say that!” She laughed. “Alas!
Nothing is forever!  But I’m just an old woman. What do I
know?”

“You are a wise woman, Madame Orsova.”

Parker paid €25 for the book and CD. The reading had been
gratis. Mme Orsova walked him to the door and said goodbye.

“Give Acaria my greetings.”

 

The weather had turned fine and it felt good to feel the sun and
to be at last, free of pain. Parker walked to the park, found a
seat out in the open and ate a sandwich that, much to his surprise,
was a baguette! Two young women sitting on a near-by bench left
abruptly. They glowered at him and made their displeasure obvious
in French. He hadn’t meant to ogle them. He liked Acaria’s
hairstyle much better. Their lipstick was much too glossy-not like
Acaria’s. The blond woman’s suit, although well cut and expensive,
couldn’t match Acaria’s style. Acaria was slimmer too. Fancy
wearing stilettos in the park! Acaria wouldn’t do that.

He walked along the river, dodged the occasional cyclist and
smiled at people. But none had Acaria’s smile, her regular teeth,
and the tiny creases at the corners of her mouth. None walked as
elegantly or tilted their heads like Acaria when she looked at him.
Or pushed their glasses in place the way she did.

Acaria’s breasts were a much better shape, much firmer too he
imagined, than the sales assistant’s who demonstrated the Walkman
CD player he bought. She had noticed him looking and blushed. He
stopped comparing and walked quickly to the pension and avoided eye
contact with passers-by. None were like Acaria anyway.

He was curious to listen to the CD. What on earth is Tantra? The
book title Kundalini Tantra meant nothing. He found chart in the
index. Was this the chart in his poem? A chart to love’s own
constellation? There it was: Mons Veneris, mons pubis-the Hill of
Venus. He followed the CD’s exciting and stimulating directions.
There were acupressure points to locate, the chakra chart to
remember, a bewildering new world of sensuality to explore, chakras
to test, explore, open.

He completed a questionnaire and delved deeper. His heart chakra
was under-active as was the throat chakra, so the test results
said. Illustrated exercises promised improvement. No time for that
now. He read on, skipped some chapters and returned to the chakra
descriptions and became aroused again with the novel proposition of
massaging his partner.

He stretched out on the comfortable sofa and listened to the CD
again. It was recommended that the massage begin with the partner
reclined, head and back supported by a pillow. Nice background
music and subdued light but not darkness….

Commence the massage with warm, aromatic oil… stimulate energy
flow…awaken sensitivity…Nice! Would Acaria be interested? He would
massage the whole of her body. The CD directions recommended: no
part of the body should be avoided. Not just breast, nipples and
fingers but also the abdomen, thighs, feet, toes. If you’re
comfortable with it and your partner wishes it, continue to the
root chakra to stimulate energy flow. Awaken the body's sensitivity
by caressing and massaging…

 

The mobile ringing was most unwelcome.

“Hi!”

“Hi!”

“How was your day?”

“Stimulating! I’m having a wonderful day, Ria. Saw Madame Orsova
this morning. She says hello. And I’ve been studying. What about
you?”

“Busy. I’ll finish up now,” Acaria said.

“I can’t wait to see you.”

“Me too. Pack an overnight bag. Pick you up in 10 minutes?”

“OK, come to Rue Wilson number 115. I’ll meet you outside.”

“OK, darling. Bye.”

 

Parker knocked on Mrs. Hoffman’s door to tell that he would be
away for the weekend. She gave him a bag of apples and wouldn’t
take no for an answer. He left the pension at Rue Wilson 39 and
waited up the street for Acaria.

There was still sufficient daylight to read the street directory
as Acaria headed north into the country. He found Bettendorf, a
small village. Parker noticed that once they had left the suburbs
and the freeway, Acaria kept to minor roads. “We used to come this
way as children. Before the new highway. We’ll be in Bettendorf in
half an hour.”

“Where you born there?”

“Yes. My grandparents had a dairy farm there. And their parents
and their parents. That’s on my mother’s side. The Betteners go
back as far as recorded church history. Johannes married Elizabeth
in 1596. One of their descendants sponsored a stained glass
window.”

It was getting darker as they drove through dense patches of
forest and past unfenced fields. There were lights in the distance
as they made their way down a winding road, across a stone bridge,
across the market square to the other side of the township. He
liked Acaria’s choice of hotel, a country inn, half timbered
structure with worn sandstone steps and a heavy oak front door.
There was laughter, embraces and greetings in French for Acaria and
questions asked of him. Acaria answered and Mme Didier gave him a
knowing smile and beckoned them to the dining room.

“What did you say to her? I’m curious,” Parker said.

“That you’re special. My man from Australia who is taking me off
the merry-go-round of my existence.”

“Don’t you like the merry-go-round?” Parker teased.

“My existence is like that. The carousel always stops where it
started, just like today which was like yesterday and like
tomorrow,” Acaria declared. “Until you came along. Time to hop off
and get on with life!”

“And what do you imagine my life with me to be?” Parker
asked.

After a moment’s reflection, Acaria said: “A
roller-coaster.”

“A wild ride? Are you prepared for a wild ride?”

“Yes, chérie. A wild, unpredictable ride with you at my side,”
Acaria replied and with clenched fists continued: “I want to grow,
do something different, exiting.”

“Strap yourself in then. We’ll do it together. But all rides
must end, you realize that,” Parker cautioned.

“Yes. Even a roller-coaster ride brings us back to the start.
But I will be a different person,” Acaria promised herself. “It
will be worth it.”

 

Their room was cosy and warm. Acaria lit two candles and put
them on the mantelpiece above a bright fire.

“Your turn, Will. I’ve left the shower running.”

Acaria pushed the doona to one side and put two large towels on
the bed. She stood at the fire with her back towards him and half
turned when he closed the bathroom door. Parker, as he came out of
the bathroom, stood spellbound at the sight of Acaria’s shape,
backlit by the flickering fire. Her right hand rested on the mantle
piece and her lightly bent left arm barely concealed the roundness
of her breast as she turned. Nothing he had ever seen compared with
this erotic setting. Her skin was aglow. There was a halo, an aura
that danced around her head and shoulders with the flickering
candle behind her. Acaria faced him and covered her breasts
self-consciously with one arm.

You are my Venus. My own Botticelli Venus. The birth of my
memory of love. You are Venus, the goddess in our
constellation.

 

The fire sputtered and broke the spell. A shower of fizzling
sparks exploded upwards, trailing smoke. A white-hot ember had shot
out of the fire and landed near her bare feet. Acaria licked her
fingers, picked it up and tossed it into the hearth.

So you’ll be mine? Send me a sign. Make it a shooting star.

“Come over to the bed.”

Acaria completely ignored his full erection and asked him to lie
down. His skin ached to be touched and he shivered in anticipation
of her touch. She took his breath away when she started
talking.

“We start with you on your back, head on a pillow and a towel
covered pillow under the hips.”

Acaria reached for bottle of almond oil and trickled a few drops
on his chest. She knelt in front of him and explained.

“Your legs will be slightly apart, knees just a little bent. I
work my way from your chest, nipples, to your abdomen.”

Reading and listening to the description of tantric massage had
been one thing. But experiencing it was something else entirely.
His body started to glow under Acaria’s erotic touch. He listened
with eyes closed as words and actions lifted him. Words caressed
his body as much as Acaria’s fingers and palms. Never had he
experienced such tenderness as Acaria caressed his throat, worked
her thumbs into his shoulders and massaged his chest. He felt
embarrassed at first when her fingers circled his hardening
nipples, but Acaria’s words took away the awkwardness.

His body wanted to explode when Acaria homed in on the sex
chakra, the Swadisthana, the pelvic area below his navel. But words
lessened the tension, distracted and reassured him.

“I move to your arms and fingers. From your thighs to your feet
and toes. I start the energy flow, awaken and stimulated your
senses as the body's sensitivity increases. Nothing will escape my
attention as I work my way back and up.”

Acaria massaged and stroked his inner thighs when Parker arched
and twisted his body to bring his overpowering stiffness closer to
relief.

Acaria asked him to turn over. He felt cheated at losing the
sight of her and the climax his body craved. He forgot the
disappointment when Acaria spread warm oil, worked it with fingers
and palms from his shoulders down towards his spine. Towards the
root chakra. He knew what to expect and felt apprehensive. He had
read about the vibration, the Kundalini energy to be experienced.
Acaria noticed the tension and caressed and circled his lower spine
without moving on.

“Nothing will escape my attention. Become aware of the energy.
You can tell me when to stop,” she reassured him and worked a few
more drops of oil into his inner thighs.

“It’s up to you,” Acaria murmured.

He felt a rush of energy surging from all over his body towards
the spine. His shoulders felt light as if floating and he fought
the dizziness for an instant and then let go. Pulses of energy
rippled outwards and his body trembled in response. He heard Acaria
speak reassuringly as his body floated and mind soared into
blissful abandonment.

“Let the energy work. Relax. Breathe slowly. Deep.”

Acaria’s face was close and he looked into her eyes as he woke.
He was resting with the doona over them both. He snuggled closer
for her warmth.

“How long was I out?”

“Not long. Are you cold?”

“A little and tired. But my mind is calm. Really calm.”

“I’m pleased for you.”

“Can I ask you something? You don’t have to answer if you don’t
want to?”

Acaria nodded and stroked his cheek.

“Sure.”

“Where did you learn tantric massage?”

That startled her.

”You know about …?”

“Only in theory. I have a book and CD from Mme Orsova.”

“I did a Tantric workshop in America,” Acaria said and turned
away.

Parker touched her shoulder. “Please turn round. I’m sorry I
asked. Did I spoil things?”

“I’m OK. You just took me by surprise.”

“Didn’t mean to. By the way, it was awesome. I’ve never felt
anything like it.”

“It’s my turn tomorrow,” Acaria said and reached over to the
bedside table. “Let’s get you hard again. I hope you don’t mind
using a condom? I am off the pill for a while longer.”

“I’m hard.”

“Let me put it on,” Acaria insisted and straddled him.

 

“Is that a rooster?”

“You’re in the country, sweetie!”

“I was looking forward to a good sleep in with you!” Parker
grumbled. “Bloody bird.”

“The hens don’t mind,” Acaria said.

“Chooks.”

“OK. Chooks. Do you Australians have an alternative word for
every word?”

“Some. You’ll get the hang of it,” Parker promised.

“Now that you’re awake,” Acaria said with a wicked grin: “You
can be my rooster. Come on top.”

“Cock.”

“Here you go again. You’re making me wild,” Acaria warned.

“Sorry love. Give us a franger then.”

“That sounds awfully rude!” Acaria complained.

“Gives us a franger then. Please?”

“Very funny. That’s not what I meant.”

“That’s what we used to call them,” Parker smirked.

“Fuck me now. Clear enough?”

“I love a good root,” Parker replied.

“Don’t explain. I think I know. ”

 

Parker woke to the sound of the shower running and Acaria
humming an unfamiliar tune. Sunlight streamed into the room through
a crack in the curtains. He tapped on the door.

“Are you decent?”

“Come in.”

“Good morning Ria. I love you.”

“Me too,” Acaria replied. “Was I a good root?”

“The best,” Parker chuckled and stepped into the shower.

 

Acaria enjoyed a breakfast of boiled eggs, rye bread, ham,
cheese and two cups of strong coffee. “Sex gives me an appetite.
Got to keep up my strength,” she whispered in answer to Parker’s
quizzical look.

Parker had a bowl of muesli and one of Mrs. Hoffmann’s apples.
The waitress had understood the word tea but needed Acaria to
translate just the same.

“Do you want herb tea?”

“No. Just ordinary tea,” he replied.

“Black tea, monsieur?”

“No! Not black. White with two sugars,” Parker requested which
made Acaria laugh. She spoke in French to the waitress who walked
off shaking her head.

“Ask for a schwarzen Tee or thé noir,” she suggested.

Parker thought it easier to order thé noir. He had difficulty
getting his tongue around the German words. He had a second cup
while Acaria spoke to the host. He came back with a small backpack
and a roll of greaseproof paper.

“It’s such a nice day, I thought we might go for a picnic,”
Acaria said.

“That would be nice,” Parker agreed. “I could do with a good
long walk.”

“I love hiking,” Acaria said.

“Bushwalking.”

“Whatever!” Acaria threw up her hands in mock exasperation.

She walked over to the buffet and selected meats, cheese, bread
and cake and slung the pack over her shoulder.

“Coming?”

 

They walked up a lane past the chook run and both laughed at the
flock. Parker strutted up ahead energetically, imitating the
rooster. “Don’t wear yourself out,” Acaria cautioned.

They walked hand in hand across a meadow towards the edge of the
forest and paused there. “I want to show you something
special.”

Acaria found a path that took them to a clearing where she
pointed out a tall tree. It looked ancient, with a massive trunk
and thick branches. There was nothing growing anywhere near it.

“This is a beech. My grandmother showed it to me the first time.
I must have been five, before I went to school.”

She walked to the tree and stretched out her arms.

“My grandmother said that she couldn’t link arms with my
grandfather around the tree. Let’s try!”

Their fingers didn’t touch. Parker noticed her smile.

“What’s the secret?”

“She also said if I couldn’t reach all the way around to someone
I loved, I should marry him.”

“Is that so!” Parker said and walked around it in search of a
scarred incision.

“This is their tree? Hey! I can just make out a heart and two
letters. Looks like an E and a K. No wait, there is more, more
recent. A and H.”

“Elisabeth and Kevin, my grandparents. I know it’s their tree,”
Acaria said.

“And the other initials?”

“Anita and Henry. My parents.”

She pointed to another large tree. “I thought this one was
theirs.”

“We can link arms around that one easily,” Parker said. “There
is an A and an H. Your grandmother was teasing you.”

 

“There are no Bunya pines here. Your poem says ‘My name be
carved in bunya’s bark. “I’ll wait,” Acaria said. “And start my own
tradition.”

 

She led him towards the edge of the clearing and found a
sapling, knelt and held it to her face. Parker watched in
bewilderment as tears streamed down her face. Acaria whispered
something in French. She rose, picked a tiny twig and put it in her
pack.

“I was saying goodbye to Florian.”

Parker held her in his arms and wiped the tears.

“I’m OK now.”

Acaria walked a couple of paces and ran off daring him to a
race. She was much fitter than he had imagined and there was no way
he was going to catch her running uphill. He was soon out of breath
and the nagging pain in his ribs had returned. Acaria let him catch
up and pulled him up the rest of the way towards the edge of the
plateau.

“You’re not fit,” she said. And noticing the expression on his
face asked: “Are you in pain?”

“A little,” he admitted.

“I didn’t say anything last night about the bruises. You didn’t
flinch, so it didn’t hurt then.”

“It still shows?” Parker asked

“Just a little. Must have been a bad fall,” Acaria
concluded.

Parker was grateful for her tact. Once he had regained his
breath they continued at a more leisurely pace along the
plateau.

 

“It’s so peaceful up here now. Down there is Bettendorf and the
Sûre River. Over there on your right is Reisdorf. A lot of men died
there in the autumn of 1944. The Germans were in retreat,
counter-attacked and were defeated in January 1945. My grandfather
was up here on the Hoesdorf Plateau for a while. He was a soldier
in the 5th US Armoured Division that had an observation and listing
post near here. Come.”

Acaria walked just a few places off the beaten track through the
bushes and showed Parker a small stone cairn her grandfather had
built.

“It’s not an official marker. He just put it there to mark the
end of the war. My grandparents were both interested in horses.
Grandmother was born here, met grandfather in England and married
in America before the war. Mum was born there. Because grandmother
was homesick, he went back to America to wind up his affairs. Mum
was six when they settled in Bettendorf. Grandfather must have had
money because he bought land and started a racehorse stud,” Acaria
explained.

 

Acaria told him of her grandmother inheriting the farm, selling
half her holding because they didn’t want to be farmers but
continued as racehorse breeders. Anita often went with her parents
to buy breeding stock in England. She had met Henry Denton there,
an up-and-coming trainer. They fell in love, married and Henry
became a partner because of his skill as a trainer.

“I am the first-born,” Acaria said. “Florian came four years
later in 1970.”

They said hello to others who had driven up to the popular
picnic spot and its rough sawn tables and benches. They were only
too happy to swap some of their meat and cheese for a couple of
glasses of wine. No, thanks-they didn’t need a lift back to
Bettendorf.

“Hey, Ria. I feel like a cuddle,” Parker said halfway down the
mountain. Acaria put her arms around him and held him close. “How’s
that?”

“Crikey!  Not here. A bit more private,” Parker
exclaimed.

“It’s all right,” Acaria said, confused.

“I meant a cuddle, a naughty, nookies,” Parker snickered.

“Arrrgh! This language thing. OK. I know a nice spot. I didn’t
bring any…frangers.”

“I did,” Parker said.

“Good boy!”

 

They were back at the inn for coffee and cake in the tea garden.
Acaria blushed when Mme Didier met them and picked bits of hay from
her cardigan sleeve. Parker saw Acaria’s embarrassment and came to
her defence. Mine host spoke a little English and agreed with him
that it was wind blown straw.

“Give over Will,” Acaria insisted. “She knows a good naughty
when she sees one.”

“Qu’est-ce que c’est? Un naughty?” Mme Didier was curious to
know.

Acaria told her and they laughed. Parker just smiled. Mme Didier
looked at him and said: “Très drôle!”

“What did she say? I know what drôle means,” Parker said.

“She said naughty was a lovely word for a good root.”

The host looked at Acaria and all three started laughing.

 

Acaria opened the window and sat on the wide windowsill with
knees drawn arm and enjoyed the last of the afternoon sun, deep in
thought. Parker stretched out on the sofa and gazed at her for a
while. He closed his eyes and dozed thinking about Acaria and her
family.

“Are you asleep?” Acaria whispered in his ear.

“No. Just thinking. You have all this history, tradition, your
past, people you know, your job and then I come along. How can I
compete with those memories?”

“But that’s all it is, Will. Memories. I can have them anywhere,
old ones and new ones. I have no family here,” Acaria replied.

“Do you want to tell me about Florian?”

“Oh, I forgot,” Acaria said. She reached into the backpack,
pulled out the small beech twig and put it in her diary to dry.

“I was working in a Belgian bank at the time. Florian and my
parents were on their way home from a buying trip to France. It was
one those really bad fog days. They were in a multiple car
accident. Florian survived the pileup but my parents didn’t.”

“I’m sorry.”

“I’m over it,” Acaria replied. “I came home to look after him.
He was in hospital for weeks and came good. We sold the stud farm.
Money was no problem after that. Florian studied economics and
joined the high fliers in the World Bank. Then it all ended eight
years ago when the Swiss police phoned me from Zurich. Florian had
overdosed. I couldn’t believe it. He was only 26 and I never
suspected. It was all a bit sordid. Bad company and all that.”

Acaria looked at him. “That makes me 38. A spinster.”

“I don’t care,” Parker said.

He sat up and held Acaria tenderly as she told him about
bringing Florian home, burying him next to her parents in the local
cemetery and planting a beech tree for him.

“When it’s big enough, I’ll carve his initials in it.”

“So you went back to Belgium?”

“No. Our family home had been Florian’s base. I had it renovated
to drive out his ghost. I have lived there ever since.”

“So you’ve been with the Steinlicht Bank for the last eight
years?” Parker asked.

“Yes. I’ve only had two jobs. I worked for the Belgian Credit
Bank after graduating and I’m still in international banking as you
know,” Acaria explained.

“So how come you speak English like a native?”

“My Dad spoke only English at home. He also spoke French and
Lëtzebuergesch.”

“What’s that?”

“Lëtzebuergesch is our everyday spoken language. It is a German
dialect the way it was spoken 200 years ago. Mum spoke it and
German and French. So I spoke English with my Dad, Lëtzebuergesch
with my Mum, German with the neighbours, Flemish in Belgium and
mostly French at the bank here. I spent summer holidays in England
with my cousins,” Acaria said. “And then there are my Dad’s books,
grandmother’s library etc, etc. And I love American films.”

“Do you ever get confused?” Parker wondered.

“Only with Australians,” Acaria laughed.

“Tell me, what language do you think in?”

“French I think. But I’ll dream in Australian soon.”

“Let’s have dinner in and an early night,” Parker proposed.

“D’accord.”

“Is that a yes?”

“Yes, please. It’s your turn,” Acaria said.

“I’ll get ready now,” Parker said and switched on the laptop,
loaded the CD and adjusted the volume so that it was just
right.

 

Parker let Acaria have her way with ordering food for both. They
had avocado vinaigrette for starters followed by chilli prawns.

“Ah! I know what you’re doing,” Parker laughed when the
Chateaubriand arrived.

“You’re putting together an Australian meal. But this is too
much steak for one,” he protested.

“No silly. This is for two,” Acaria said.

“Nice sauce,” Parker said licking his lips. ”Better than tomato
sauce.”

“The chef here is renowned for his Béarnaise sauce.”

 

“I can’t eat another thing,” Parker said when their host asked
about dessert.

“You’ll have to try the home baked apple strudel and whipped
cream,” Acaria insisted.

 

They stood near the open fire in the guest lounge where Acaria
had a nightcap cognac. Mme Didier offered Parker a complimentary
nip of the local schnapps. Acaria warned him, just as well. It was
hot as hell but created a wonderful warming sensation.

He excused himself and returned a few moments later with the
digital camera. Their host took a couple of shots of them in front
of the enormous fireplace. Parker took Acaria’s portraits, one a
close-up, the other a full length shot the way he remembered her
from the previous evening.

The fire in their room was a warm glow and Acaria lit the
candles again and posed fully dressed and then in the nude with the
flash switched off. The result was erotic, sensuous, nearly decent
and respectable.

Parker started the CD and followed the massage instructions.
They were self-conscious at first about the female voice who shared
their intimacies. It felt naughty, even a little bit kinky to have
third person directing and participating.

Acaria had chosen the throat chakra, as the first area for them
to explore. The commentary explained that it was a mediator between
thought and emotion and a crossroads between the head and the
heart. The instructions called for a tender touch of the throat and
gentle massage of jaws and cheeks in order to release the sounds of
pain and pleasure.

Parker started massaging as instructed and Acaria soon spoke
words he didn’t understand but the sounds of suppressed pain
worried him. He was relieved when Acaria purred like a cat and
breathed loudly and excitedly as the blockages faded. The voice
predicted the spontaneous pelvic movements which, when they came,
were an undisguised expression of her passion.

Instructions asked Acaria to visualise the energy moving along
the spine and to imagine its colours changing in the process of
touching on one chakra after another. “You are doing wonderfully
well. Thank you, Will,” Acaria said, her voice throaty. “This has
really helped me focus on what I want.”

“I’m glad for you. Do you want me to go on?”

“Yes. But without the CD. Tell me with your hands how you feel
about me. Remember, nothing will escape your attention. Speak to me
with your hands. Explore.”

 

Parker rubbed drops of oil into his palms and let his fingertips
slide along Acaria’s shoulders and arms to her wrists with the
barest touch. He searched for her hands with closed eyes and once
their fingers intertwined, slid them suggestively in an out. He
stroked each finger as if pushing a glove into place and pulling an
imaginary ring from every finger. Acaria fingers stiffened and
squeezed his in a slithering, playful simulation. She raised her
arms and pulled him upwards over her, searching for his lips. Her
mouth was fierce, lips and tongue demanding, as her hips squirmed
and invited him. Acaria wouldn’t let go of his hands and he
understood. He lay still and savoured the stimulation of Acaria’s
body moving under his, searching for him.

“Help me,” she urged. “Come on. I want you.”

 

The room had cooled and the fire was a low glow when Parker
woke. Acaria sat on the floor close to the hearth, a blanket
wrapped around her shoulders. She heard him stir and without
looking around said: “You awake? I also died a little.”

“How’s that?”

“Le petite mort. The little death as the French call it,” Acaria
explained.

“Come back to bed. I’m cold,” Parker urged.

“Cuddle me,” Acaria said and nestled into his shoulder.

 

Parker rose first, opened the curtains and looked at the
overcast grey sky. He didn’t need a weather forecast, there wasn’t
a TV anyway, to tell them what to expect in coming days. His face
broke into a smile when he looked at Acaria still asleep. He turned
on the central heating radiator in the bathroom and crept back into
bed. Acaria mumbled: “What time is it?”

“Early. Good morning, Ria.”

“It’s not a dream. Mon amour,” she said and pulled him closer.”
I think I’ll go to the eight o’clock mass.”

“Better get up then,” Parker said. ”You can have first
shower.”

 

Parker waited outside the church. Acaria, like many of the other
women churchgoers, wore a scarf tired under her chin. She waved to
him and said goodbye to those around her. Parker walked over and
nodded politely as Acaria’s friends walked past.

“I want to show you the stained glass window.”

He hesitated.

“I’m not a Catholic.”

“That doesn’t matter. Just do what I do,” she said.

Parker stood in front of the stained glass window, one of the
Stations of the Cross. “You look disappointed,” Acaria said a
little bit hurt.

“No, it’s a beautiful scene. I just imagined it a lot bigger.
But after all, it’s only a village church.”

“It’s very old. It looks even more beautiful on a sunny day,”
Acaria promised.

“So what do Luxembourgers do on a Sunday morning after
church?”

“The men go to the pub.”

“And the women?”

“They go home to prepare lunch.”

“Let’s go back to the hotel. D’accord?” Parker suggested.

“A’accord. Et plus tard?”

“Now you’ve got me,” Parker said.

“And later?” Acaria said.

“I want to show you what I’ve been working on. I hope that
talking shop won’t…”

“I understand,” Acaria interrupted. “Let’s go eat.”

 

“These big meals at lunchtime make me want to go to sleep. Does
everybody eat that much?” Parker asked and switched on the
laptop.

“It’s a traditional thing to have a big meal in the middle of
the day and Vesper in the evening,” Acaria said.

“Fesper? How do you spell that?”

“With a V, but pronounced like an F.”

“I wouldn’t mind vespers,” Parker said.

 

“Look at this,” Parker exclaimed, angry.” Spam. Dozens of bloody
spam letters and stupid lottery scams. I don’t want my penis
enhanced.”

“D’accord,” Acaria said. “You need a better filter.”

 

Parker deleted the offensive spam and opened the file he wanted
to discuss with Acaria.

“Let’s be serious. I’ve made some notes but I have to tell you
first that one of the men and maybe two of those who stole
Gillespie’s $20 million, are dead because of their association with
Amphora. I am involved, indirectly because I didn’t foresee the
consequences of what I did for Gillespie. I want to limit the
fallout as much as I can. Recovering Gillespie’s $20 million means
committing a crime. I can justify it in my own mind and accept
whatever happens.” Parker looked anxiously at Acaria for
support.

“I’m relieved that you don’t want to defraud my bank,” Acaria
replied. “Can the Australian authorities recover the money?”

“I wouldn’t bother trying. The only realistic option I have is
to get into the Amphora account. D’accord?”

“D’accord,” Acaria smiled. “Bank employees are not an option.
Fraud is discovered sooner or later.”

 

Acaria told Parker that the most common fraud involved
unauthorised withdrawals from dormant accounts, often for gambling
or drugs with the intention of paying it back before anyone
noticed. Others had tried more elaborate schemes such as approving
loans to fictitious persons. Avoiding or delaying detection meant
entering into a conspiracy and collusion.

“So I have to do it on my own? “Parker said dejectedly.

“Don’t give up yet.”

“How about creating a fake bank site?” Parker proposed.

Acaria laughed: “Or phishing? Conning customers into disclosing
account number and passwords has been tried. The chance of someone
in Amphora falling for that is nil.”

“Forget it?”

“Forget it.”

“I’ve thought about identity theft. I’d have to burgle Amphora’s
offices but I don’t even know where they are. And I don’t know
anything about breaking and entering. Too risky and still too many
obstacles like how to get into password protected computers.”

“I agree,” Acaria said. “You’d have to succeed at every step of
the way. Too many steps. Don’t bother.”

“I’ve read about password cracking. Is that a possibility?”

“Not for an individual account. You know that access to an
account is denied after three incorrect password tries,” Acaria
reminded him. “After that, the ATM eats your card!”

“So there isn’t much point in trying to hack into the bank?”

Acaria burst out laughing. “Don’t believe everything you read on
the Internet. True, Wireless Local Area Networks, known as WLAN can
be intercepted. But not this bank. We’ve only just started a WLAN
trial. You won’t get through our firewall and intrusion detection
systems. And even if you did, you still wouldn’t get Amphora’s
password. Sorry Will.”

“You’re saying that there is no way of finding Amphora’s
password from the bank itself?”

“That’s what I’m saying. And you can forget about me using
someone else’s terminal to get at Amphora. There are safeguards in
place. And the bank would be liable if anyone succeeds in
defrauding us. It’s been tried.”

 

Acaria felt sorry for him. “Look, Will. When I access an
account, I swipe my pass card. That’s my key and signature. We
don’t need the customer’s password. We are authorised to access the
account but only for legitimate reasons. People have been fired for
being nosy about how much money their neighbours have.”

“So who knows the password?” Parker wondered.

“The customer and our computer because the password is
encrypted. We never actually see a password, only the
encryption.”

“Might as well give up now,” Parker said.

“The only way to get the password, is for Amphora to tell you,”
Acaria concluded.

“Simple. I’ll just ask,” Parker said sarcastically.

“I wish I could help darling, but I can’t. Give me the account
number. I’ll memorise it.”

“It’s cool, Ria. Really!”

 

Parker switched off the laptop and snapped it shut.

“What’s the weather doing?”

“It looks like rain. We can borrow an umbrella from Mme Didier
if you want to go for a walk,” Acaria suggested.

“Peripatetics,” Parker said. “Aristotle believed in it.”

Acaria looked at him.

“I’ll explain while we walk,” Parker said and chuckled at his
private joke.

“What’s the joke?”

“I’ll tell you while we walk,” Parker repeated and laughed
aloud.

“Tell me,” Acaria asked, irritated.

“I’ll tell you while we walk,” Parker said.

I can keep this going forever.

 But Acaria threatened: “I’ll hit you if you laugh
again.”

“Sorry Ria. I’ll tell you while we walk.”

“You’re repeating yourself, Will! Cut it out.”

“Sorry, Ria.”

“Don’t.”

Mme Didier was only too pleased to lend them an umbrella and
agreed to a very late checkout.

“The room’s ours till the end of the day.”

“We’re leaving later this afternoon, aren’t we?”

“Yes, I’d love to stay longer but I really have to be at work
tomorrow.”

 

They walked arm in arm towards the centre of town. Parker was
happy just having Acaria close. It brought back the memory of their
first evening together and he whispered:

“Just walking with you turns me on.”

“Moi aussi,” Acaria said with a beaming smile.

“Aussie? That’s me. I’m an Aussie.”

Acaria laughed. “Moi aussi means ‘me too’.”

“Very funny. But also means ‘me Aussie’.”

“That’s very funny. I love it when you’re funny and in a good
mood. So what about your joke earlier?”

“The ‘I’ll explain while we walk’ bit?”

Acaria nodded.

“I’ll start at the beginning. Aristotle taught students while he
walked with them in the Athens Lyceum. Peripatetic is the practice
of teaching while walking. But also observing, learning and solving
problems. I’ve read about it. Never tried it though.”

“Ah. Now I get it. You were going to tell me about peripatetics
while we walk. Very clever. And you sucked me in twice!! 
That’s not fair,” Acaria protested.

“I’m sorry. I couldn’t help myself.”

 

“Let’s go this way,” Parker said and made for a florist shop
about to close and pointed to a rough handwritten sign.

“Two for the price of one,” Acaria translated.

“One for now and one to take home?” Parker offered.

“Thanks. I can’t resist a bargain either.”

The florist had meanwhile counted his takings and rolled up the
cash register tape. He pocketed the note and gave Parker change
from a calico bag.

“I love carnations. But I think I’ll get to like frangipanis
even more.”

They walked further into the town square holding hands, fingers
interlaced. Parker’s face broke into a smile. He stopped and looked
at Acaria who blushed knowing what he was thinking.

“Have you heard John Denver and Placido Domingo sing ‘Perhaps
Love’?”

“No chérie. Do you want me to?”

“Please. It’s about you and me. Mostly me. You’ll
understand.”

“Hey! You’re crying!” Acaria exclaimed.

“Something’s blown into my eye.”

“Yes. The wind is to blame.”

“Let’s go to the bridge,” Acaria said.

They stood at the stone parapet and watched the swift flowing
water and children running from one side of the bridge to the other
and back again having fun. “We used to play this game too. We throw
a stick in the water and if yours comes out first on the other
side, you win.”

“My white carnation, can beat your red carnation,” Parker
challenged

“You’re on!”

Parker dropped two carnations and joined Acaria on the other
side. A red carnation floated from under the bridge and a jubilant
Acaria got a high five and a kiss. Because her back was turned, she
didn’t see the second carnation float by a few moments later. It
was also red.

They walked back to the hotel, packed their bags and said
goodbye to the Didiers over a cup of coffee. The city streetlights
greeted them as they entered the suburbs and joined hundreds of
others in bumper-to-bumper traffic all the way to the city centre.
It was dark when Acaria stopped in the Rue Wilson. They hadn’t
talked much, each preoccupied with their own thoughts.

“How am I going to concentrate on bank business tomorrow, when
all I want is to be with you?”

“You’re sweet. You’ll manage,” Parker said and leaned over to
kiss her.

“I suppose so. What will you do?”

Parker hesitated to reveal that he had an inkling of his next
step.

“I’ll think of you and a way to con Amphora.”

“And I’ll buy myself a disposable mobile phone tomorrow. I’ll
phone you with the number. Don’t contact me otherwise,” Acaria said
and kissed him goodnight. “Wait, be patient.”

 

So simple! Acaria drove away certain of her next step. The
florist had given her the answer. There was a way of opening the
Amphora account without leaving a trace. She was surprised not to
have thought of it before. Now she could help Parker and avenge her
brother in a round-about way. She had never accepted an overdose as
the official explanation for Florian’s death. Thank you Mr.
Aristotle!

She smiled at the thought of sending Parker a ‘There is a way,
chérie.’ text message.

 

Monday. Otto Fassbinder liked Mondays and Wednesdays and Fridays
because these were days when he teamed up with Acaria Denton. She
would come, precisely at 11AM, to the cubicle in the bank’s sub
basement that he called his office. He would drive her in the
Bank’s Opel to a place near Junglinster, about 30 km north the
city. The destination was a single story building at the end of a
country lane. Admission was through a steel gate, a lot stronger
than it looked.

He would swipe his pass to enter the front door and that was as
far as he could go. No need to sign in as only Acaria Denton
proceeded past the next security check. In the aluminium briefcase
chained to her wrist were computer backup tapes to be put into safe
storage. Fräulein Denton, that was his way of politely addressing
her, would return ten minutes later.

Steinlicht Bank and other major financial institutions had
established at this location a secure deposit for irreplaceable
financial records. The building could withstand earthquakes and an
atomic bomb explosion. The ground floor was for show. Beneath it
was a two metre thick concrete slab. Vaults had been blasted into
solid rock extending seven floors below that.

They would be back in the city by midday give or take a few
minutes and he would go to lunch. Or so Otto told his wife.

For the first two months, Otto had followed that procedure,
precisely and punctually. He had been away one weekend with his
mates and on Monday morning was much the worse for wear. Had it not
been for the trip to Junglinster, he would have stayed at home near
his own bathroom. There was no toilet in the sub basement. He had
already been to the ground floor three times and had thrown up near
a car parked next to the lift.

He still had stomach cramps and his guts growled when Acaria
called on him. She understood his predicament and agreed to make a
detour to his doctor in the suburbs and to pick him up later. The
following Wednesday, Otto double parked at a city pharmacy to pick
up his medication. The police told her to move and she had no
choice but to go round the block. She was livid when Otto hadn’t
shown up the third time around.

When he did, she asked for the gate key and drove off without
him. On the following Friday, things were back to normal, but only
till Wednesday. Otto asked for a favour. Could she drop him off
please at….? Acaria interrupted saying that she didn’t care where
he wanted to be dropped off and demanded the key. She was going to
make the three times a week run on her own from then on.

Otto’s job was on the line. He couldn’t afford to have the
security camera record Acaria driving the car. She relented and
ever since, Otto drove the car and Acaria dropped him off at the
same address. She hadn’t enjoyed his company anyway and if she was
ever questioned, Otto would have to come up with a satisfactory
explanation.

Not that Otto cared. His wife had been disgusted at the
suggestion they watch a porn video together. He only wanted to put
some excitement back into their 20-year-old marriage. While away
with his mates, he had watched a porn video for the first time. He
wanted to do such things and have such things done to him. He
wanted spice but his wife said she was happy with rye bread.

 He saw Suzy the following Wednesday. His girlfriend,
that’s what he affectionately called her now, immediately satisfied
the rosy cheeked security guard. She was exotic and had on offer
what he wanted and things he never knew he wanted. He tried some of
the moves Suzy had taught him on his wife, but she told him to act
his age. Otto was on the wrong side of 40, paunchy and knew he no
longer turned women’s heads.

That’s why he visited his girlfriend on Fridays as well. His
pocket money didn’t stretch to that. He had explained, to his
wife’s satisfaction, that his reduced pay-packet was because of
additional pension payments. He would just have to up his pension
to cover Suzy’s services on Mondays as well. After all, he assured
himself, you’re a long time dead.

 

Acaria was at work by 8AM, had answered her mail and at 11AM
took her briefcase to the first floor mainframe computer section.
She signed the register and locked the serial numbered computer
backup tapes in the briefcase.

Back in her office, she listed these tapes in the tape register
to be signed by her and countersigned by security staff at
Junglinster. There were eight tapes for the previous Friday,
Saturday and Sunday. In a pension week, there might be twice as
many and a second briefcase. An additional safeguard required that
she hand a signed receipt to internal audit listing the previous
balance, the number of tapes to be added and the new balance. She
would file the duplicate receipt in the vault.

She had told Parker that there was no way of accessing an
account without leaving a trace. That was true but there would be
nothing untoward in looking at her own transactions. She wasn’t
quite certain how this would help them. Questions would only be
asked, after something went awry with an account.

“Good morning, Otto.”

“Good morning, Fräulein Denton.”

Otto placed the briefcase into a fire rated steel box in the
car’s boot. Anyone trying to hijack the box would find it extremely
difficult to open. The Opel car had bullet-proof glass and was
satellite tracked. The steel box had its own built-in tracking
device.

Otto drove from the underground car park to Suzy’s place.

“I will pick you up about 10 minutes later than normal,” Acaria
said and drove off not bothering to wait for an answer.

Acaria smiled at all the precautions and rigmarole some pencil
pusher had instituted long ago to safeguard the bank’s vital
records. The tapes were in a secure safe storage away from the bank
as a protection against physical loss within house and data losses
resulting from malfunctioning computers. But the privacy of the
tapes had been poorly protected. After all, she imagined someone
might have argued, the past can’t be changed.

But knowing the past makes it possible to change the future.
Therein lay a fundamental weakness and she would exploit it if
needed, at minimal risk.

Watching the florist and his paper cash register roll had given
her the answer. His record served the same purpose as the bank’s
backup tapes: recording the day’s transactions.

Backup tapes were in ‘read only’ format that made it impossible
to alter account transactions after the event. That was the whole
point of course. After a transaction: that was the key. She could
look at accounts without a pass card and without having the access
recorded. The Amphora account would never be more than two days
old.

She arrived at Junglinster, unlocked the gate and watched it
swing open and shut by itself. The car’s rear wheels spun and
gravel went in all directions as she took off faster than intended.
Easy girl. She braked too hard and skidded in the lose gravel in
front of the building.

Acaria composed herself and waited for her heart to stop racing.
She signed on, headed for the lift and exited at level five. She
could not get used to the eerie feeling of being so far underground
and alone. The slightest sound produced echoes.

She had worried at first about being locked in but the guard had
assured her that he would not lock up until she had handed back the
visitor pass.

Acaria opened the vault by a combination of pass card and number
pad. Banks of fluorescent tubes clicked and flickered into light.
She headed for the shelves along the right-hand wall that held row
upon row of identical tapes, precisely numbered, dated and neatly
arranged. Acaria placed the briefcase on a table with castors and
wheeled it along to where she had put last Friday’s
consignment.

That done, she walked to the end of the bay of shelves to check
the dates of the oldest tapes. None were older than six months. So
there had to be a rotation or archival storage somewhere else
entirely?

Parker had told her that money had been transferred around the
14th of the month. Acaria ran her finger along the shelf,
searching. Idiot. A silly thing to do she realised.

She found four tapes for the 14th, a slow weekend and placed her
handkerchief over the case to avoid leaving a fingerprint. Idiot!
Her fingerprints had to be on it. After all she might have put the
tapes on the shelf. She checked her pocket diary. Yes, a
Monday.

Pulling the tapes from between the other tapes had disturbed the
very fine dust. Very fine, greasy to the touch, like talcum powder
despite all the filters. The floor was free of dust but all the
shelves were dusty.

Acaria pushed the table over to an empty bay and climbed on the
table to reach the top shelf. There was quite a bit of dust. She
laid her handkerchief flat and patted it. It left a square that she
obliterated by blowing dust across it as hard as she could. She
cursed the table as it moved about as she climbed down.

Five minutes gone already!  Damn! 

There was a tape reader on the shelf in the opposite bay. It had
been there for as long she could remember. Big mistake. The
procedure manual specified tapes had to be viewed in-house with an
auditor present. In fact, only an auditor could authorise a tape
recall. Somebody had slipped up. Not just with the tape reader.
There was an inkjet printer as well.

Acaria switched on the tape reader, loaded a tape and started
searching for the Amphora account number. Not there. Not on the
second tape either. But she founded it the third tape. Negative
balance!  Overdrawn! In the red! Amphora owed the bank €2.5
million! So much for getting Parker’s $20 million back.

She didn’t have time to look at anything else and clicked on
‘print active page’, switched on the printer and waited for it to
stop. A blank page? She opened the lid and carefully unclipped the
ink cartridge. The cartridge print head was caked solid. It hadn’t
been used for quite a while. She was tempted to use spit and her
handkerchief to unclog the print head but decided against it. No,
much too messy. She replaced the cartridge and switched off the
printer. Then she shook the dust out of the handkerchief along the
shelf to cover her tracks.

Acaria snapped the case shut, ran towards the door, switched off
the light and pushed the vault door shut. She took off her shoes
and sprinted to the lift. By the time she arrived at ground level,
she had nearly regained her breath and signed herself out.

Acaria was grateful for the light traffic and relaxed. Otto was
at the kerbside. He hopped into the car and drove to the bank. It
was 1.15PM. Otto looked pissed off at having lost 15 minutes of his
lunch hour.

Acaria adjusted her bra and buttoned up the two top buttons of
her blouse. She had unbuttoned them earlier without Otto noticing.
He winked at her with a dirty smile. She hated that but was pleased
with the deception. Sucked in Otto. Next time she would wear a
skirt instead of a suit. She would sit in the back seat pretending
to adjust her stockings. Really suck him in. Good for 20 minutes of
Otto’s time? Yes. Sleazy sucker.

Acaria was pleased to have Amphora’s account balance. Next time,
she would print out at least one transaction statement. She filled
in a requisition for an ink cartridge but tore it up and ripped out
the duplicate. Careful!  She would buy her own cartridge.
Anyone ever checking the vault printer would find the clogged up
cartridge and assume that it hadn’t been used recently. She would
remove the dusty top sheet in the paper tray, use a clean sheets
and replace the dusty first sheet. But that would have to wait till
Wednesday. Time permitting, she would have a look at the other
backup tapes in the left-hand bay.

There was an account she could access, password and all without
arousing suspicion. Acaria checked the balance of her own and
altered the password. If, as she suspected, the other backup tapes
held personal details of the cardholder, she would look for her own
account first to save time.

 

Parker woke early and bought a computer magazine to read over
breakfast in a shopping arcade. He learnt about fraudsters who
relied on gullible or frightened people to disclose their bank
account numbers and even passwords in response to an e-mail
supposedly from their own bank. The phishing con relied not on one
in a hundred, not even one in a thousand or a hundred thousand. The
con worked because one in a million fell for it. Sending out 30
million e-mails made it a profitable crime. And then, there was
always tomorrow and more of the one in a million suckers who fell
for scam lotteries and get-rich-quick schemes.

He agreed with the author’s conclusions that all money-making
schemes promised something for nothing. That and greed. Amphora
would not fall for a simple trick aimed at disclosing bank account
details. Or get involved in get-rich-quick schemes. They had their
own lucrative business and wouldn’t be enticed by promises of
riches.  He’d have to do better, much better. Not promises of
riches. He’d have to give Amphora something for nothing. Upfront
and let greed do the rest. Neither he nor Acaria had been able to
resist the florist’s offer of a second bunch of carnations for
nothing.

In the face of a bargain, pause. They hadn’t paused. Then again,
there was no risk in buying two bunches of flowers. But they really
only wanted one. He had made Acaria a winner by doubling the odds
in her favour with two red carnations. He would have to give
Amphora something for nothing. And hook them with a double promise,
a guarantee of more at no risk. It had to be irresistible, so much
so that it blinded Amphora to risks and consequences.

 

The irony of paying for Amphora’s account password with their
own money made him laugh. What he had in mind was cunning and
appealing in its simplicity. He would have only one shot at their
money and that’s all he needed. Maybe even a second try for luck?
But he had to be certain of Amphora having sufficient funds to
start with. He remembered Acaria’s ‘I’ve found a way to help,
chérie’.

Parker returned to the pension and spent the rest of the day
writing, revising and improving a series of e-mail letters to
Amphora. He was in a very happy mood when Acaria phoned. He tried
to hide his disappointment when she told them that Amphora was in
the red. But it wasn’t all doom and gloom.

Acaria was relieved when Parker assured her that it was only a
temporary setback. Tens of millions had been paid into Amphora. All
they had to do was complete his preparation, wait and pounce at the
right moment.

“Can you risk dinner with me? I miss your company and it’s only
been one night and a day,” Acaria asked.

“I miss you too. As long as we don’t go to the same place too
often, it should be safe.”

“Meet you, same place in half an hour?”

“D’accord.”

“A bientôt, chérie.”

 

Parker waited for Acaria on the corner and was startled when she
tapped him on the shoulder.

“I want to walk with you, even if it’s only for 10 minutes,” she
said and hooked her arm under his.

“Me too. I’ve been slaving over a hot laptop all day.”

“Have you eaten?”

“Two of Mrs. Hoffmann’s apples,” Parker replied. “I’m
starving.”

“Me too,” Acaria said.

 

Acaria suggested that they have dinner at the Molitor, which she
assured him, would not be busy on a Monday night. If by chance she
saw familiar face, she would introduce him as a Mr. Connor, a
client from London. Acaria told him that she would have at least
one Amphora’s bank statement on Wednesday and to be patient.

“Tell me about the sun,” Acaria said and held his hand under the
table.

“I can see it rising. Actually you can see it even before it is
above the horizon. It’s a glow. Just like when it’s setting. It’s
all out of shape, distorted when it sets. I often just sit there
and wait for the light to fade.”

“What’s it like in the winter?”

“A cardigan will do you,” Parker replied.

“And you’ll do me,” Acaria said suggestively.

“I’d like that,” Parker said and squeezed her hand.

 

Acaria collected her car from the car park and dropped Parker
off. They arranged to meet on Wednesday and again on Friday. Back
in his room, Parker went online to find ways of infiltrating
Amphora’s computer. There were hundreds of sites offering anti-spy
software, firewalls and detection software, the exact opposite of
what he wanted. Also on offer were keystroke logging programmes
similar to the one he knew from his cruise ship days and the one
Lexie had installed on Agnes Webb’s computer. A Trojan horse was an
appealing possibility for what he had in mind, but installing it in
Amphora’s computer would be a challenge.

He knew that a Trojan horse looked like a graphic file when all
the while it was two programmes. One, a browser helper file,
captured usernames and passwords. The other programme, a "file
dropper" installed key logging software on the victim's
computer.

Of all the many programmes on offer, Parker liked ‘Winspy
Stealth’ best for its zipped files, remote self extracting
installer, remote keystroke logger and monitor and the automatic
message alert for a remote user logging on. The stealth mode
facility was a definite plus. Amphora would be unaware of its
installation and unable to terminate or uninstall it.

Once it was there!

Parker downloaded the 30-day free trial offer, configured it,
set preferences for his intended use and burnt a CD copy. The
installation complete, he sent an e-mail to himself with ‘Winspy
Stealth’ as an attachment. It arrived three minutes later and
Parker opened the attachment. Nothing. Nothing? There were no
‘Winspy Stealth’ files to be found in any directory. Nothing. Of
course, nothing!

Parker logged on to the Russlav International Mercantile Bank,
typed in his customer number, password, exited and waited.

You have mail!

There it was: The Russlav website URL, his customer number and
his keystroke password. Winspy Stealth had done its job. And his
firewall had not detected it! Tomorrow would be a busy day,
attacking Amphora, starting with e-mail messages. Shit! He didn't
have Amphora’s e-mail address! Lexie had intercepted Amphora mail
and recorded two messages. Nice one! In the computer at the Sydney
flat. Now what?

 

“You’re early, Acaria,” the data security manager said when she
came to collect the next batch of files.

“True. I want to make an early start. Traffic was bad on Monday.
I don’t want to be late for lunch today,” she replied.

“I understand,” he said and handed her the tapes and register to
sign.

 

She surprised Otto sitting in his basement cubicle, too late for
him to prevent Acaria seeing the porn website. Otto was too
embarrassed to speak and said nothing until he stopped outside
Suzy’s place.

“You won’t mention?” he said.

“Not unless you give me cause,” Acaria replied.

Otto understood. He had looked forward to seeing Suzy but wasn’t
so sure now. He was early. Acaria twisted the knife.

“See you later Otto. Have fun. Don’t worry. Your secrets are
safe with me.”

Acaria sprinted from the lift to the vault, entered it and
deposited the new tapes next to Monday’s lot. It took five minutes
to find, load and call up the latest Amphora statement. With the
replacement ink cartridge in place, Acaria printed the single page.
No time to look now.

She wound back the tape and replaced it. There was enough time
for a look at the tapes in the left bay. These were someone else’s
responsibility, an extra safeguard. The most recent tape was dated
the previous day and the one next to it, Tuesday of the previous
week.

She wasn’t surprised to find that the tapes backed up
non-financial account details. She’d have to wait for a week to
look at her own. Unless she knew a date when the account password
or some other change was made, finding the Amphora file was near
impossible in more than four years of backed-up files. Acaria
looked at the clock again. Time enough to search for and print
another Amphora statement.

That done, Acaria retrieved her cartridge and switched off the
printer. Check: tape rewound? All tapes on shelves? Reader off?
Monitor off? First sheet replaced in paper tray? She folded the
statements and slipped them into an envelope and raced to the
door.

Acaria stopped at a letterbox in the suburbs to post the
envelope but decided not to because she wanted to tell Parker
without delay, anxious to please him. She was at Suzy’s place just
as Otto shut the front door. He took the driver’s seat and they
returned to the office in silence.

Parker was pleased to hear from her, even more so when she
promised to deliver good news over dinner at Chez Louis.

 Acaria waited near Mrs. Hoffmann’s pension for Parker to
emerge and followed him, unseen she thought. But Parker had noticed
her when he routinely checked the street before leaving. He climbed
out the bathroom window into the backyard, ran down the alley,
turned into a side street and watched Acaria answer his call.

“Look straight ahead. Start walking. Don’t look around,” Parker
demanded.

“Where are you,” Acaria replied. “You’re frightening me.”

“Go to a restaurant we haven’t been to before. Then ring me.
I’ll explain later.”

“Will! I don’t understand.” But Parker had already ended the
call.

Acaria looked around. There was no one else nearby and she
continued down Rue Wilson to the nearest intersection, turned right
and stopped outside the first eating-place she saw. Parker answered
her call on the first ring and asked for directions.

Acaria saw Parker approach the restaurant and dismissed the
waiter quite impolitely. Parker paused at the front door to read
the menu and satisfied that no one was following, entered the
restaurant.

“I can tell you’re mad at me,” Acaria said as Parker sat down
and looked in the waiter’s direction.

“Talk to me. What have I done?” Acaria pleaded.

“Acaria, you’ve compromised my security,” Parker snapped and
accepted the menu the waiter handed him.

“I’m sorry. I was only curious to find out where you were
staying.”

“Lucky no one followed you. Otherwise I’d have to move again.
But no harm done, Ria,” Parker said with a smile.

“You forgive me then?” Acaria asked batting her eyelids, which
made Parker laugh.

“Yes, you can make it up to me on the weekend.”

“I’ll do better than that. I’ve got two bank statements.”

“Good girl. Anything new?”

“Yes. The bank has, the best way to describe it is, a
questionable involvement.”

“Hm. Don’t like the sound of that,” Parker admitted.

“It complicates things in one way and makes my decision easier
in others.“

“Decision?”

Acaria reached across, held and squeezed his hand.

“We have to talk, but not here. Tonight.”

“Better come back to my place then. Mrs. Hoffman…” Parker
suggested. “Ah! That’s how you know. Mrs. Hoffman’s apples!”

“Yes.”

“I slipped. Just goes to show you how careful you have to be.
Come to think of it, we need a signal. A danger signal,” Parker
suggested. “If ever the shit hits the fan.”

“A name. Anita?” Acaria proposed and Parker agreed.

“Let’s celebrate. Waiter! Your best.”

 

They took the long way round to the pension along the shopping
strip arm in arm, steps matching. Parker stopped at a sports store
to look at the display.

“What’s taken your fancy?”

“What, apart from you?” Parker joked. “The water-skis. A bit
unexpected this far inland.”

“Not really. There are quite a few lakes near here. Do you
ski?”

“Sure do. You?”

“Something else we have in common. Let’s go water-skiing. You
can hire a wetsuit. I’ll bring my own.”

“You won’t need to next year,” Parker promised.

“The sun,” Acaria sighed and smiled: “Tell me about the sun,
Will.”

 

“Ah! Mrs. Hoffman’s famous apples,” Acaria said and looked
around the room. “You’re very tidy. Is this the bathroom?”

Parker switched on the laptop, inserted a blank CD and copied
the e-mail messages for Acaria to translate into French. Acaria
leaned over his shoulder and held him lovingly.

“You smell nice. Just like when we first met.”

“You noticed?”

“Yes I did. And you noticed that I noticed.”

“I can be a real tease, I admit,” Acaria said. “So when do we
have afters?”

“Afters?”

“That’s what I like after work. Afters,” Acaria hinted, and
reached for her handbag. “Hurry up!  Let’s get the work
done.”

Parker took the envelope she handed him, pulled out the bank
statements and handed Acaria the empty envelope.

“Self-addressed,” Parker noticed. “Clever touch.”

The latest bank statement showed the account in overdraft as
Acaria had mentioned. Parker asked her to explain entries she had
highlighted.

“I’ll come to them in a moment. You can see that every Friday,
well on the Fridays we have so far anyway, Amphora pays its bills
and transfers large amounts, which clears the account. You can see
cheques presented a few days later,” Acaria pointed out.

“Money comes in by way of bank transfers. Large amounts. Last
week they also paid out big-time.”

“Hence the overdraft.”

“Yes. Now the highlighted items. These are bank transfers. Not
just any bank. Ours.”

“Yours?”

Parker was stunned when Acaria told him that Steinlicht had made
transfers of €25 million, €23 from its own corporate account. This
had been insufficient, even with the €32 million banked during the
week from other sources, to cover payments and transfers.

“Amphora has an overdraft account. I suspect that the facility
is far greater than €1.5 million. That doesn’t worry me,” Acaria
admitted.

“But?”

“But,” Acaria pointed out: “Those advances from the corporate
account do. Floor 6 is financing Amphora.”

“Floor 6? There are only five floors in your building!”

“That’s what we call it. Floor 6 business. In-house transactions
at director level. Private practice rights, no questions asked. If
an advance goes bad, the individual director is personally liable.
The transfer number tells me who approved it. Amounts over €25
million need approval by a second director. More than €50 million
needs board approval.”

“Hang on: “Parker said. “Amounts of that size would have to be
reported, wouldn’t they?”

“What I told you about the ‘clean payment method’ applies to new
accounts. We have to report to our bank regulator large
transactions even for long-established accounts. But large is
meaningless. Traditional banking is a very small part of our
business now. We have a €15 billion pension investment portfolio.
In reality, we don’t report anything under €50 million, in or
out.”

 

“The advance so far, is very short term. €48 million repaid with
€250,000 interest,” Acaria pointed out.

“That much interest in a bit over a week? Incredible,” Parker
exclaimed.

“High returns because the advance is for very risky business.
Incredible, yes. But not as incredible as the name of the
director.”

“You know his name?”

“Yes. Old family, old money,” Acaria mumbled.

 

“What if you’re wrong,” Parker wondered.

“No chance. Look, here are the amounts and dates you gave me. No
doubt about it. The IBAN numbers tells me the money came from the
Cook Islands and an Australian Bank.”

 

Parker loaded the CD and opened Lexie’s spreadsheet and found a
matching Cook Island Bank account number. And Harmsen’s $675,000
was in the statement and the account number matched. It was
undeniable: Amphora used Steinlicht Bank for money-laundering. And
now they had the added complication of a bank director funding,
they suspected, Amphora’s drug dealing.

“I know my next step,” Parker said.

“Getting Gillespie’s $20 million?”

“That and an extra $2 million for our commission,” Parker
said.

“Our commission? You’re splitting it?”

“Down the middle. You happy with that?”

Acaria agreed. Parker noticed her fidgeting and the pulse
throbbing at the base of throat. She looked worried, vulnerable and
he wanted to protect her.

“You’re not responsible for what the bank does,” Parker said and
gently hugged her.

“Oh yes I am!” Acaria replied. “By keeping silent, I condone
it.”

“And by taking them on, you will lose your job!  And by
exposing the bank, you’ll be tackling Amphora. Huge risk,” Parker
warned.

“True, but only if I tackle them head-on. I’ll have to fight
them with my weapons on my ground.”

“First things first. I want you to translate some e-mail
messages into French please.”

“D’accord.”

“It’s the start of my sting. If it works, you’ll have the money
to do what you think you must. You’ll be safe in the meantime.
There will be nothing to link you with me. I’ve reconciled myself
with what I’m doing, even if it is a crime. I’m redressing a
greater evil.”

“And me? Where do I stand?” Acaria wondered. “Enough talk. I
want afters.”

“Me too. It’s a long time till Friday.”

“It’s been a long time since Saturday, chérie.”

 

The city streets were deserted when Parker walked back to the
pension after watching Acaria drive off safely. He hated saying
goodbye. I want someone there when I get home. The bed was still
warm and he breathed deeply taking in Acaria’s scent on the pillow
next to his.

Concentrate. Get Gillespie’s money. That’s the main chance.
Acaria is a complication, a sexy diversion the devil said. Get the
money, get out, disappear. No. I want a sweet memory of love.
Acaria is my life. I want to show her the sun.

The lovers fight with paper sword

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

 

Funny thing, Debbie then Lexie and now Acaria, partners in crime
so to speak. Debbie and Lexie were professionals. But Acaria was
different. He needed her to finish the job and then what? Go home,
wait a couple of months, Acaria arrives and then happy ever
afters.

The lovers fight with paper sword

If Acaria wanted to battle, so be it. But not alone. The lovers
fight together. His scam was just that, a scam to pinch Amphora’s
money. What did Acaria want? Revenge? Justice? Retribution? Never
mind where to start. How it would end, that’s what mattered.

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

Goldner had warned him. ‘Don’t touch Amphora. They’re killers.’
Was he strong enough to take them on? Would he kill for Acaria?
What about the gambler? Gillespie: ’Your friend, your enemy, your
friend’ Mme Orsova had cautioned.

Midnight and he was still awake. Deep breathing, counting
backwards and making his body relax bit by bit sent him into an
uneasy sleep as the poem went round and round in his head. There
was Acaria, brandishing a rolled up newspaper, storming into the
bank. Acaria plunged the newspaper into the heart of a man in a
black pinstriped suit. He bled dollar notes, blowing in the wind.
Gillespie was there, chasing the money but Florian, five needles
sticking out of his arm, tripped and floored him. Parker ran to
help but no matter how fast he ran, didn’t get any closer. He was
running on the spot getting nowhere. He turned and watched Acaria
aiming and throwing newspapers at earthenware jars that
disintegrated into a white powder cloud. He ran to rescue her and
woke in a cold sweat.

He untangled his legs from the sheets and blankets and headed
for the shower. He felt better now. The lovers fight. He dressed
and walked to the station under the street lights reflected on the
wet cobblestones. He picked up The Luxembourg News from the
newsstand and joined other early risers reading and enjoying an
early morning coffee and croissants at the stand up café.

What a choice of paper swords! One newspaper in English, two in
French and one in German. Right! He didn’t need Acaria’s
translations to start the sting, as long as he kept it simple.
English was safer and more convincing to start with. Once Amphora
had taken the bait, e-mails would be in French.

The central heating had warmed up his room nicely. He poured the
second takeaway coffee into a cup, put it next to his laptop and
sipped it while he cleared the mailbox full of annoying spam.

Amphora e-mail. Amphora e-mail! Damn it! He needed an address to
launch the scam with a bait payment. No you don’t, stupid!

 

He logged onto Russlav International Mercantile Bank and
transferred $US50,000 to Amphora rather than Euro currency that
might raise unnecessary suspicion. The description to accompany the
transfer stated:

Winning ticket 47899216. $US50,000. First instalment.

Collect balance pbc.lottery@interlux.net.lu

 

That was his first salvo and if it didn’t have the desired
effect, Parker didn’t care. It was Amphora’s money anyway. And it
was only Thursday. He looked forward to telling Acaria, then again
maybe not. The less she knew, the better off they were. Mrs.
Hoffman’s apples were a bitter reminder that he wasn’t perfect.

Amphora. He had not taken much note of the word. A Google search
told him that it was a large ceramic urn of Greek origin. It had
two handles, a swollen belly, a narrow neck, a large mouth and
typically, a pointed base. It had been used commonly to store and
ship wine or olive oil. Precious cargo! Was that it?

Trading in precious cargo then and now required finance,
containers and transport. Julius Weber had all of these. Luxembourg
was his safe haven for finance. Close also to amphetamine factories
in Holland and Eastern Europe and not far from European ports for
KEGIL Shipping. Someone else would take care of business in South
America and Asia. But that wasn’t his concern. Getting Gillespie’s
money back was.

Acaria had copied another Amphora statement that showed, as in
the previous week, incoming transfers of large amounts. Amphora had
a €35 million credit balance that would be cleared on Friday she
predicted. Parker now knew when to strike and send the first of the
e-mail messages.

***

 

It was only a seven-minute walk from the Luxembourg-Ville to
Martin de Courcey’s place of work. He had collected Friday
morning’s mail from the General Post Office box. A bunch of letters
and junk mail was safely in his locked briefcase including a
pale-blue window face envelope, the second for the week. He let
himself into the three-storey sandstone townhouse converted into
offices. He had a large high ceiling office, once the parlour of a
well-to-do family.

Damn! He had been so preoccupied that he had walked right past
the little café where he picked up his first morning coffee. He
didn’t feel like going back. There was important business at hand,
events would within the hour turn this life around.

He picked up the silver letter opener, a graduation present from
his parents and sliced open the loathed pale-blue envelope. His
employer faced contempt of court proceedings in seven days unless
in the meantime the order, to garnishee the wages of one Martin de
Courcey, had been put into effect.

He had a week ago intercepted the first letter ordering his
wages garnisheed for non-payment of a €10,367 credit card debt.
Monday’s letter had been the first reminder to his employer. Having
his salary garnisheed was certain to cost him his job. Monsieur
Tisserand had dismissed others for much less. Martin needed his job
to live in comfort and pay for two excessively costly habits. One,
a female and the other chemical, but it was really one and the
same. And he couldn’t afford either, presently. He didn’t have the
money to repay his credit card debts let alone what else he owed
his supplier.

But that could all change at the 10 o’clock meeting with J.
Tisserand. He downloaded the latest bank statement for Tisserand’s
main account. It was still there: a credit of €39,500—the
equivalent of $US50,000 the first instalment for winning the PBC
Fortuna Lottery. He had spent a sleepless night desperately trying
to find a way of claiming the prize. This wasn’t another scam
lottery where people paid money upfront for “expenses and fees”
only to find that they had been conned. The €39,500 was real. And
he had made up his mind to claim it and the promise of much more to
come. And he was the only one who knew.

By the time he had walked upstairs to Tisserand’s office, he
knew what to do. He knocked on the solid oak door and entered when
invited. Tisserand took an embossed black leather folder from the
desk drawer and slid it across.

“Good morning, Martin. Take a seat.” He spoke in French.

Martin nodded. “Monsieur.”

“Since last Friday, I have arranged transfers of certain funds
to the holding account.”

“Yes, monsieur,” Courcey replied and called out the dates and
amounts.

“Agreed,” Tisserand said. “And the balance is?”

“After deducting €24,738.65 for overdraft interest and bank
fees, I have a balanced of…,“ Martin hesitated.

The actual balance? Or a balance after deducting the lottery
win?

“€55,624,975,” Martin said, his heart pounding. He could feel
the sweat running down his armpits.

“Close enough,” Tisserand said.

De Courcey withdrew a list of new instructions from the folder
and put the list of the previous Friday’s instructions in it. He
pushed the folder across the desk until it touched Tisserand’s
hand. De Courcey glanced at the printed list of transfers to be
executed by the end of the day. He would make a copy for himself
and return the original at their next meeting. It was a procedure
they had worked out together to overcome some of the limitations of
Tisserand’s vision. He had learned to work a Braille keyboard. When
voice recognition software became available, Tisserand found
dictating to the computer a breeze and soon became used to the
computer’s voice reading his e-mail.

“Exactly as I wished. Thank you, Martin,” Tisserand declared.
“Expenses for the week?”

Martin handed over a list of bills to be paid by cheque and
employee wages to be paid in cash. Tisserand’s fingers found the
corner of the sheet, stamped it ‘Approved” and initialled it with a
fountain pen. He replaced the cap and put the pen in a tray
fashioned from a geological drill core cut in half lengthways.

“That will be all.”

Martin gathered up the paperwork, nodded and withdrew.
“Monsieur.”

His knees shook so badly that he had to steady himself against
the hallway wall. The pages slipped from his trembling hands. He
didn’t care.

I did it. I did it. Tisserand doesn’t know!

He doesn’t know about the win!

He walked downstairs whispering: “He doesn’t know, he doesn’t
know. Ha, ha, ha!  He doesn’t know. He doesn’t know!!”

 

The holding account had never been audited even though he had
asked for it. In the unlikely event of someone questioning the
€39,500 credit, he could say that it was his lottery win. He might
get a wrap over the knuckles for making use of the account, but so
what?

He plonked himself in his chair, spun himself around twice and
clicked on the shortcut for the Steinlicht Bank. He entered the
client number and password, then transferred the money to his
MasterCard account. He sat back, immensely pleased with himself. He
placed Tisserand’s €47 million and wrote cheques, addressed
envelopes and placed them in his out tray.

They would celebrate tonight, big time. Not with Ali Fahed’s
dregs and baking soda, but his best Colombian. Fly to Monte Carlo
in the morning, first-class. But why wait till morning? Tonight!!
Five-star hotels? Of course chérie! We can afford it.

He returned from lunch and cashed the employees’ wages cheque.
The chauffeur, the cook and housekeeper collected their pays at
3PM. One more item of business: a phone call to the bailiff to call
off the dogs. He dialled the MasterCard number but ended the call
before it connected. He wanted an audience to hear what he was
going to tell MasterCard what to do with their card. Ah, how
delicious. He could now afford to be rude to anyone he liked.
That’s was just one more thing money would do for him.

 

“Look out the window. What do you see?” Martin was very happy
already.

“A white limousine. Is that you Martin?” his girlfriend
exclaimed.

“Yes, NonNon!” Martin replied and waved.

“But I’m not ready. You’re early,” NonNon protested.

 “I’ll wait. I have a present for you. Hurry up! The
champagne is getting flat.”

“Moêt?”

“No. Krug.”

“You can’t afford Krug!”

“I can order you a bath tub full,” Martin boasted.

“Have you won the lottery?”

“Matter-of-fact, I have,” Martin said.

“We’re not ready.”

 Who’s we, Martin wondered.

 

The chauffeur held open the door for NonNon and let another
woman in from the other side. NonNon kissed Martin fully on the
lips.

“This is my friend Benni. Benni meet Martin.”

“Enchanté, Martin,” she said and kissed Martin’s closed
lips.

“NonNon! You didn’t tell me he was shy,” she giggled. “Never
mind, we’ll cure him of that. Won’t we, NonNon?”

“Oui, oui,” NonNon replied and whispered in his ear.

“Don’t whisper, NonNon. It is rude.”

“I was only telling Martin about twice the fun.”

“Kenyan light roast and Nordic cream.”

Martin didn’t understand and Benni explained.

“NonNon is from Kenya. Black coffee. I am Benjamina from Sweden.
Nordic cream! Get it?”

“Coffee and cream. Yummy,” Martin said. “How would you girls
like dinner in Monte Carlo? We can be there by ten.”

 

It had been an expensive afternoon. Paying Ali off and buying
some more cocain, the limo and three first-class flights had
already set Martin back €4,000. He withdrew €20,000 from the all
night bank on arrival at Monte Carlo. He had booked a two-bedroom
suite. He was anxious to try his luck but the girls wanted to show
their appreciation first. He heard Benni call him from the master
bedroom. She stood in front of the bed and flicked the shoulder
strap from her left shoulder, then the right. Her dress dropped the
floor. That’s all she wore.

“Me first. NonNon can watch,” she said.

Benni sat on the end of the bed and opened her legs.

“Prep me. The way you do NonNon.”

Martin put the middle finger in his mouth and dipped it in the
small clip lock bag of cocaine he had saved for later.

“Ah, you do know how to please a girl,” Benni said and guided
his hand.

“Me next,” NonNon said.

Benni took his cocaine and embraced her friend.

”Ah, I too know how to please a girl.”

There was hardly any left for him. NonNon noticed his
disappointment and smiled. “You won’t miss out. Promise.”

They returned to their rooms at 4AM because both girls were too
drunk and doped to continue playing roulette and they had run out
of cash.

Martin woke and looked at his watch. It was 9AM. It was a bright
morning and the sun hurt his eyes. His head ached. The door to the
adjoining bedroom was ajar. He was incapable of joining another no
holds barred round of sex and closed the door.

 He had first seen NonNon months earlier at a garden party.
She was tall, easily the tallest of all the women there. She stood
out from the chubby bankers’ wives and female guests in other ways
too. Her skin, there was lot of it on show, was the colour of
honey. She had chosen a strapless silk dress, the palest of
skincontrasting green, which clung to her, caressed and flowed as
she moved. It was open from the neck to the waist, held together by
a silver clasp. She wore flat silver sandals, a concession perhaps
to the short, slightly balding man at her side. He moved away and
left her standing alone as she toyed with a class of champagne she
had hardly touched.

She looked around to see who was looking and Martin was. She
moved like cat. Alert, predatory, ready to pounce. No, not a cat or
lion or tiger. A cheetah—lean, graceful with long legs.

He walked over, took her glass and handed it to a waiter and
they walked away together. Someone behind them called out NonNon.
She didn’t look back and neither did he. Nor would he, then or now,
or ever.

He spent the afternoon, evening and night with NonNon in
thrilling abandonment of caution. He felt alive for the first time
and abandoned when they parted in the early hours. He ached to be
with her. Her silver embossed card said ‘NonNon’, the second line
‘fashion’ and a mobile phone number below that.

His calls went unanswered for a whole day and he was devastated
at the thought of not seeing her again. He phoned a friend who had
been at the party who told him to buy a copy of Vogue.

NonNon returned his call after an eternity. Yes, of course he
would see her again but he would have to come dressed. She laughed
at him when he didn’t understand. NonNon took him shopping for
clothes to wear when in her company. A month’s salary went on that.
He couldn’t be seen in the same outfit twice, so if he was going to
be at her fashion show? Go shopping!

Martin sold his car. He’d rather walk than admit to owning a
Volvo and he needed the money. She was a Maserati type. She
wouldn’t be seen dead in a Volvo. Had he ever been to Morocco? He
could join her after a photo shoot there next Saturday. It wasn’t
in his budget. Budget? He remembered NonNon’s ringing laughter. Did
he intend not spending his money?

Three weeks into their relationship, Martin succumbed. He
existed only to please NonNon. Passion, lust, desire and ecstasy
had been only words until she turned them turned reality. Now he
understood why his aunt had left, no escaped, her husband and
children for reasons not clear to anyone at the time.

Heads turned when NonNon walked into a restaurant and the hubbub
of conversation changed. He was part of her scene now. Men stared
at them and many a wife pulled her husband’s sleeve embarrassed at
his ogling.

A month later, he knew that keeping NonNon was beyond his means.
Cutting back meant losing her to another man or woman. He dipped
into his savings to pay for their entertainment. The downwards
spiral started in earnest when he bought cocaine with cash-advance
money. That party was a roaring success, the next one as well.
NonNon had snared him with her body, hooked him into her lifestyle
and he was addicted. He loathed himself for his weakness but the
alternative was worse. There was nothing left in the savings
account. NonNon simply walked out when he suggested cutting
back.

He cashed in his inheritance, much against his solicitor’s
advice. That gone and credit card cancelled meant a hand to mouth
existence or embezzlement. Now the lottery windfall, just in
time.

“Hey! Dreamer!” The words startled him. Benni stood behind
NonNon hands cupping her breasts, fingers caressing her
nipples.

“We need you!” NonNon said and both women jumped him but he
failed them.

“What I need is food. I haven’t eaten since lunchtime
yesterday,” Martin objected.

“You ate on the plane,” Benni reminded him.

“A biscuit and a cup of coffee.”

“Well, we are not hungry, are we Benni?” NonNon said.

“Be a darling,” Benni urged.

“Can you at least wait till I have a shower,” Martin
objected.

“After we score mon amour,” NonNon pouted.

 

Martin went to the all night bank and withdrew €5,000. That left
him just €10,500. Never mind.

He gave NonNon €1,000 and when she turned her mouth down,
another €1,000. With NonNon gone, Martin steered the conversation
around to NonNon and how little people knew about her.

“I don’t know her real name either,” Benni admitted. “The name,
so NonNon told me, goes back to when she was 12. Her mum is from
Kenya and her father is French. They lived in Paris. Men drooled
over her. When the landlord got a bit fresh, she told him non. When
he tried again, she said non, non and wagged her finger at him. She
ripped his face off when he tried a third time. She was a definite
non non!”

“That’s quite believable,” Martin said.

“She had everything going for her to be a supermodel from an
early age.”

They continued gambling most of the day until it was dark, by
which time the money had run out.

“We’re going upstairs to eat,” Benni said.

“Come with us?” NonNon asked.

“I could use some fresh air,” Martin replied.

“Don’t blame us when it’s all gone.”

Martin returned from his walk and decided to dine. When NonNon
let him into their suite, a party was in full swing courtesy of
room service. Empty champagne bottles were strewn everywhere and
half eaten seafood platters lay on the floor. Martin felt his anger
rise but Benni rushed at him and pulled him into the second
bedroom.

Saturday night turned into Sunday morning. Martin counted the
cost over breakfast. Sometime during the night he must have
withdrawn another €5,000. He paid the €3,500 hotel bill just in
case. That left him €2,000. Benni asked for another advance and
went shopping again. NonNon lost on the roulette table. That had
left him €500 cash to get home.

They landed in Luxembourg around midnight and took a cab to
NonNon’s place.

“We had a terrific time, thanks Martin,” Benni said.

“Me too,” NonNon agreed.

Martin voice had a bitter tone to it. “Easily done with
€40,000.”

“Don’t be so petty. Penny-pinching is sooo boring.”

Marin laughed. “Easy come, easy go. It’s not as though we do
this every day.”

“That’s the spirit,” NonNon said and turned to Benni.
“Coming?”

“Anything left?”

“Enough for two.”

“Let’s go then.”

 

Martin emptied out his pockets on the kitchen table. Paying and
tipping the cabbie left him €450 in notes and 90 cents in coins.
That wouldn’t last till payday. He hadn’t paid last week’s rent and
owed MasterCard €10,000 still. Merde! The girls hadn’t left him any
coke to take away the pain and anxiety. Merde encore.

He got up early to sneak pass the landlady’s flat, but she was
waiting and insisted. There was now only enough for food for
himself. Nothing to relieve his craving for NonNon and Ali’s
stuff.

 

In the morning mail more bad news. Not a good start to the week
to have his finance company threaten legal action for being six
payments in arrears on his personal loan. He could not afford to
have his name appear in the trade gazette list of creditors. That
would alert MasterCard and the wider business community as well to
his precarious financial state. But no need to worry. He smiled as
the shredded the offending letter.

 

 

You have mail! Outlook Express announced. Parker had already
deleted spam messages and opened his latest:

Winning ticket 47899216.

 

The sender <m.decourcey@tellux.net.lu> puzzled Parker, but
it didn’t matter. He had what he needed and replied with a baited
hook. He reeled in his catch five minutes later when the writer
accepted the stipulated conditions in order to receive the next
instalment of $US10,000:

Account holder: Tisserand Finance

Address: Rue Goethe 29, Luxembourg Ville

Contact person: Martin de Courcey.

 

Parker thanked the writer and confirmed that the second
instalment would be paid forthwith. The remaining balance of
$US30,000 would be paid in three equal instalments, payable weekly
and subject to certain conditions. The acceptance reply came
quickly. Parker sent the last message telling de Courcey that
automatic payments would commence only upon activation of the
self-extracting programme in the attachment.

Parker clicked the Winspy ‘receive all messages’ and sat
spellbound as numbers and letters appeared on the monitor one by
one. The Trojan horse had done its job and the key logger showed
him every keystroke. De Courcey had already logged onto the
Steinlicht Bank, entered the Amphora account number and the
password 2Amphora9 and transferred €7,900, the equivalent of
$US10,000, to his own account.

Just like the two red carnations to make sure Acaria won the
race, Parker had also made sure that someone at Amphora would win.
That and the irresistible something for nothing. And greed.

 

Parker rubbed his hands with glee, itching to log onto Amphora’s
account but waited until de Courcey started answering his
correspondence. Parker accessed the Amphora’s statement. There it
was: his €7,900 in and out. The account had ended Friday in
overdraft but now had a €12 million credit balance. Incoming funds
in the previous week, if repeated, would allow him to strike on
Wednesday but no later than Thursday and then head home. He
switched off his laptop and closed the lid slowly as sadness and a
feeling of emptiness took hold.

Parker and Acaria spent an enjoyable weekend in a lakeside
cottage. The weather had turned too rough for water skiing but as
Acaria pointed out, there were pleasures to be had indoors. By
Sunday, the weather had improved sufficiently to make for a
pleasant morning hike. Parker was back in the pension by nightfall.
Alone again. Acaria would not be ready to go with him. He had no
choice but to leave her and the budding memory of love behind. All
proceeding as planned, he would leave Luxembourg at the end of the
week. But before that, he had to cover his tracks and continue his
best to protect Acaria. Maybe lay some false trails, introduce a
few red herrings and make a bit of mischief as well?

Eventually, he realised, $20 million of Amphora’s money had to
end up in Gillespie’s hands and $2 million in his. He planned to
channel the money through the Russlav Bank to a new Swiss Bank
account. Home via Zurich where he would convert the funds into bank
cheques. And there, the trail would go end. He would hand Gillespie
a cheque, bank his own in a new account in the Cook Islands with
what was left from the Russian account.

Ironic, the Cook Islands where it all had started and that’s
where it should end. By the end of the day, he had established an
account at the Zurich Volksbank AG and at the Mid Pacific Commerce
Bank Ltd from where Jake Harmsen’s widow would receive $1,000 a
week until the $675,000 ran out.

 

Go now! The devil said. You don’t have to be in Luxembourg to
work the sting. Go now. Leave Acaria without saying good-bye? He
couldn’t do that.

Acaria’s phone call took away the need for a decision. She had
enjoyed the weekend and looked forward to dinner on Wednesday and
the next weekend. Parker played along. He didn’t want spoil the
moment and put a damper on things. He had no news to tell her. His
mind was on Wednesday, their last evening together. He had no idea
of how to tell her and his heart sank.

“What was the name of the restaurant where we had our first
dinner together?” Parker asked.

“Chez Louis?”

“That’s the one. Meet you there at seven.”

“D’accord.”

 

Parker rose early on Tuesday, hired a car and drove to
Bettendorf to take photos of the church, bridge, the inn and the
places that had touched him. He retraced their steps to the hay
barn, took a photograph and put a piece of straw in his wallet. He
returned to the pension in mid-afternoon and checked Amphora’s
account. Another €23 million had been transferred as well as the
bank director advancing €10 million. Amphora had €35 ready for
Friday’s business.

He idled Wednesday away, rising late and walked to the
restaurant ‘Chez Louis’. With the help of a kind person who
translated, surprises he had in mind for the evening were in
place.

Now for some fun! At 6PM, Parker accessed Amphora, transferred
€17.5 million to his Russian account, the equivalent of Gillespie’s
$20 million and his $2 million fee. Next, he transferred €3 million
each to five accounts chosen random from the statement. He
concluded his transactions by transferring €17.5 million from the
Russian Bank to his Swiss account and the balance to the Cook
Islands. He had now not only cleaned out Amphora’s bank account but
also overdrawn the account by €3 million.

For an extra bit of mischief, he tried to change Amphora’s
password but failed. Like his own account, Amphora’s password was
protected by additional security, questions in French he did not
understand and answers he did not have.

Mrs. Hoffmann was sad to say goodbye to such a welcome guest.
Parker headed for restaurant to make sure all was in place. He
stood at the window and watched Acaria approach. She stopped at the
doorway and disconnected the two earpieces.

The restaurant owner greeted her and motioned the waiter to
bring a bunch of red carnations. Acaria looked at Parker and blew
him a kiss, then walked over and embraced him tenderly. Parker
smelled her perfume and was overcome with sadness. He coughed and
blew his nose.

Acaria arranged the flowers in a vase the waiter had already put
on table.

“They are beautiful. Thank you very much.”

“That’s OK. May I ask what you were listening to?”

“John Denver. I love what he has to say,” Acaria said.

“Moi aussi,” Parker replied.

“So what have you been up to?”

“I’ve been to Bettendorf to capture memories,” Parker explained.
“I know for certain now that Tisserand Finance is behind the
Amphora operation. It’s not what I expected but the financial
transactions match all the same.”

“What did you expect to find?”

“A man by the name of Julius Weber.”

“Tisserand. That’s French for weaver,” Acaria replied. “And
Weber in German.”

“Oh, my God,” Parker said. “A dead man come to life?”

 

They remembered over dinner the little moments, recalled the
exciting times and shared the memories of growing closer. Acaria
didn’t know whether to laugh, smile or cry as a gypsy violinist
approached and stood next to them. He struck up Perhaps Love,
passionately at first bowing strongly and ended with a feather
touch, the last note not ever wanting to end.

Acaria bit her lip and looked at Parker. The pulse in her throat
throbbed but she didn’t mind him noticing.

“So soon?”

“Tomorrow.”

“Come with me Ria.”

“I will. But not tomorrow. I need time.”

 

Acaria spoke to the violinist who then accompanied her as she
sang a melancholy song. The gypsy turned aside, not wanting to
intrude into their intimacy, as Parker grasped her hand.

“Hey, that was beautiful. I know the tune.”

“It’s a 19th century German folksong: When loving was invented,
parting never came to mind,” Acaria explained.

“I know it as a Seekers hit single from the 1960s. ‘The carnival
is over’.”

Acaria squeezed his hand. “You don’t need to be afraid of that.
It’s not over. You predicted:

The lovers fight with paper sword

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

 

I will be at your side. We will fight together. Tell me, Will.
Tell me again about your island and the sun.”

 

Parker saw the sunrise from 30,000 feet somewhere over
Switzerland. Not his sun though, but a sun that cast deep shadows
across snow-capped peaks. He was done at the Zurich bank by
mid-morning and returned to the airport to catch the afternoon
Singapore Airlines flight home.

Gillespie would be pleased to get his money back; a good time to
call it quits. He was finished with dodgy schemes, conning people,
doing Gillespie’s bidding. He had all the money he would ever need.
Dirty? Perhaps, but earned. And finally, a memory of love. Acaria
would complete his circle.

All was rosy in his world. He had helped Gillespie get the
casino licence, put an end to a money-laundering scheme and
disrupted a drug cartel’s operation. He had recovered Gillespie’s
money, earned a handsome commission and some extra cash as a
surprise for Acaria. He had meddled admittedly in other people’s
business but that had been unavoidable. No harm done. There were no
loose ends. Tisserand was dead and his partner no threat Parker
assured himself. But he was mistaken, terribly mistaken in
believing that Tisserand’s partner and Amphora were out of the
picture. Far from it.

 

 

 The receptionist handed Acaria a message when she returned
from her Friday run to Junglinster. Acaria looked at her watch. A
meeting with Data Security, before 2PM? She looked at the
receptionist.

“What’s it about?”

“Must be serious for André to interrupt his lunch!” she
replied.

Acaria shut her office door. If the shit had hit the fan, she
had 15 minutes to compose herself. There was nothing to worry
about. There was nothing to link her with Parker and Tisserand, if
that’s what the meeting was about.

They were three people already in the boardroom. André Kaiser
introduced her to senior director Jean Pierre Delacroix whom she
recognised from photographs. Acaria nodded and smiled at Marlene
Schneider, the internal auditor.

Delacroix cleared his throat, adjusted his glasses again and
looked at the ceiling shaking his head.

“Most unfortunate. A most unfortunate episode. I’m sorry to have
to report that there appear to be irregularities in the Tisserand
Finance account. Julius Tisserand is an old established client and
a personal friend of more than 20 years.” He paused and looked at
no one in particular.

Marlene Schneider broke the silence. “If monsieur wishes a
formal inquiry into the matter, there are certain formalities to be
observed.” She looked at Acaria and André Kaiser for support.

“I’m fully aware of the requirements,” Delacroix snapped. “Here
is your authority to commence a formal inquiry. You will let me
have your report as soon as possible.”

“But monsieur, the audit charter is quite specific as… ,” Miss
Schneider protested but Acaria cut her off.

“Monsieur Delacroix will be fully informed.”

 

Delacroix rose, handed Acaria a folder and walked slowly towards
the door. He grasped the handle, looked over his shoulder, let his
eyes roam around the room and left. That’s the last time you’ve
stepped into this room Acaria predicted. Jean Pierre Delacroix was
the director whose transactions appeared on Amphora’s statements.
Irregularities indeed!

“What do you mean Delacroix will be fully informed?” André
Kaiser said.

Acaria realised that she had opened her mouth needlessly.

“I was letting the old man have some dignity. He knows the
report has to go to the board. Tisserand, he said, was an old
friend. That alone rules him out of the inquiry.”

“Fair enough,” André Kaiser acquiesced. “So it’s the three of us
sorting out a mess?”

“Has he signed the authority we need?” Marlene wanted to
know.

“Best if you take charge, Marlene. André agrees?” Acaria said
and handed Marlene the folder.

 

They adjourned to André’s office and opened the Amphora account.
André was adamant that no one besides password holders had used the
account and that was for him the end of the enquiry. Marlene agreed
and offered to examine matters of reporting obligations and
breaches of the bank’s code of conduct herself.

“So what is Tisserand’s complaint?” Acaria asked.

“Irregularities in the account,” Marlene replied.

“And who’s going to tell Tisserand that all transactions were by
password?”

“You are!”

“Thanks very much!” Acaria said very pleased with herself. Now
she had all the authority needed to investigate and freeze whatever
account she liked. She returned to her office, opened the Amphora
account and put a stop to all Steinlicht Bank accounts listed in
the statement.

Damn! Too late.

Delacroix had cleared his account by transferring €12.3 million
at 9.33AM. Even though that put the audit team in the clear, the
shit would really hit the fan Monday. She phoned to alert Marlene
who called an hour later to report that Delacroix was in breach of
Reserve Bank reporting obligations. The Corporate Secretary had
broken down and admitted to concealing Delacroix’ Floor 6
reportable transactions. Acaria rang to make an appointment for the
following week.

“I am sorry. Monsieur Delacroix left half an hour ago. There is
an envelope for the Chairman. The way he said goodbye to me…I think
he won’t be back.”

 

Acaria froze the Managing Director’s account, the Chairman’s and
ten more. Marlene called in to say that they were to report to the
Managing Director forthwith. They were in the boardroom foyer when
the Chairman stormed in. They heard raised voices from inside the
boardroom despite the solid oak door. Otto Fassbinder arrived and
escorted Drechsler, the Managing Director from the boardroom.

The Chairman called them in and introduced himself.

“I am Gustaf Dressner. As of right now, the three of us are the
bank. What are the high-priority issues?”

He listened, made handwritten notes, asked the occasional
question and summarised:

“We have to account for three resignations: senior director
Delacroix, our managing director Anton Drechsler and corporate
secretary Emil Fuchs. I endorse your action Miss Denton, to freeze
certain accounts. Even my own,” the Chairman said with a wry smile.
“I accept Miss Schneider’s recommendation to make Reserve Bank
reporting requirements mandatory. Floor 6 business will cease after
an orderly winding up period.” He paused and looked at Acaria and
Marlene. “Is there anything else while we are housecleaning?”

“Yes, Chairman. Money-laundering. You are in a unique position
to transform this bank, to taking pride and eminence in leading a
new era of ethical banking,” Acaria said.

The Chairman turned pale and then his face reddened with
rage.

“I refuse to believe this!” he shouted. “No way. This bank is
not in the money-laundering business.”

“It is a question of perception. Denial is the old bank
responding defensively. The bank that I think you want, will simply
bypasses denial and accept ethical and moral responsibility in its
business dealings,” Acaria argued persuasively.

“That is tantamount to admitting money-laundering,” the Chairman
protested.

“That is the stand the media will take. You don’t have to admit
to anything. Your statement will focus on the future conduct of the
bank. If the media wants to speculate on the past, let them!”

Otto barged in with news that Delacroix had been found dead in
his car near the river.

“Events are overtaking us I fear. Now we have to respond to a
suicide. Merde!” The Chairman swore.

He turned to Marlene. “Our business at hand. Do you wish to add
anything?”

“Yes Chairman. Besides Delacroix, there are two other directors
who have questionable dealings and should be investigated. About
Emil Fuchs. He says Delacroix at first tried to bribe him and when
that didn’t work, put pressure on him. The other two directors also
threatened to have him dismissed. Because Fuchs was acting under
duress, please refuse to accept his resignation. Emil deserves
better. You’ll make a friend.”

“Fine. Get on the phone, ask him to join us.”

The Chairman reached into his wallet.

“I’d love a pizza and a couple bottles of pilsners for dinner. I
need to make a couple of private calls before then.”

“I know a good place, Chairman. I’ll have half–and-half
pepperoni with mushrooms and Hawaiian,” Marlene offered.

“Make that two,” the Chairman said.

“Make that three,” Acaria added.

 

“Ah, Emil,” the Chairman said. “Have you eaten?”

“Yes, Chairman.”

And noting Otto staring at the remains of three pizzas said:
“Otto, would you like some?”

 

The Chairman wiped his hands with a paper serviette.

“Now about your resignation, Emil. I won’t accept it. Marlene
has explained the circumstances to you?”

“Yes.”

“They left you little choice. I have decided that the bank will
not only comply with all reporting requirements but also exceed
them. I want to announce that all future transactions will be
subject to the clean payment regulations. Is that a problem?”

“Not really. If the Reserve Bank grants us an exemption for
pension transactions and sales of shares, it will reduce our
reporting workload significantly,” Fuchs said.

“Agreed. I have spoken to our public relations consultants. They
propose that we ‘no comment’ on Delacroix’ death. We announce that
Anton Drechsler’s resignation is for private reasons and
unconnected with Delacroix. They propose that we explain the
forthcoming resignations of two directors simply as their
retirement. On the question of money-laundering, they propose we
deny it and respond to accusations by threatening to sue.”

He looked at them and laughed scornfully.

“Denials, lies and threats. What a bunch of cowards. This is my
bank? No way. Miss Denton, can you spell?”

“Spell, Chairman?”

“Yes, Miss Denton. Spell as in media releases. Because that’s
what you will be doing if you accept.”

“The way we discussed it?”

“D’accord.”

“I still have unfinished business with the Tisserand Finace
account irregularities,” Acaria said.

“Fine, do that as well.”

 

The Chairman and his small team continued their deliberations,
well into the night. They met at his country home on Saturday
afternoon to implement a four-point strategy. The bank would
announce its new direction in full-page advertisements commencing
Tuesday. The public would get to know Steinlicht Bank for its
ethical business and investment, meeting and exceeding all
government regulations, opposition to money-laundering and
promoting the highest standards in the industry. Each of the four
initiatives would be supplemented by more detailed advertisements,
announcements and action. If asked, the bank would concede that it
was prepared to lose business it no longer wanted. Then again there
was new business to be had from companies and people who shared the
bank’s beliefs.

Acaria sent Parker an e-mail:

“The lovers fight with paper sword

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

Check Luxembourg papers Tuesday. Round 1 to us.

Love, Ria.”

 

Into the lion’s den! That’s how it felt standing outside Number
29 on Rue Goethe. Acaria knocked and waited. A well-dressed man in
his early 30s admitted her. Acaria gave him her business card and
followed him along the hallway. The man’s blond hair and broad
shoulders made her feel uneasy. She had seen him before! Where? He
led the way up a carpeted stairway, knocked and stood aside to let
Acaria enter.

“Mademoiselle Denton from the bank, Monsieur Tisserand.”

“Thank you, Martin.”

 

Acaria walked over to the desk and reached for Tisserand’s
proffered hand. Curious. His hand did not move until after she had
grasped his. He wasn’t looking at her.

“I am sorry if I have startled you, Miss Denton.”

“Not in the least,” Acaria replied.

“A legacy from years in Africa. I have little vision, only
blurred images,” Tisserand explained. “But you don’t want to listen
to an old man’s troubles.”

“Now,” he said and sat upright. “My friend Delacroix assured me
that you’ll be able to account for my funds ending up where they
shouldn’t.”

“You are aware that director Delacroix died last Friday?”

Tisserand’s face dropped and he grasped the edge of his desk to
stop his hands shaking.

“No. No! It can’t be,” Tisserand shouted and started mumbling
incoherently but soon composed himself. “You have met Martin de
Courcey, my confidential secretary?”

De Courcey! That’s who he is!  Martin de Courcey. She
hadn’t recognised the clean-shaven man. He had been Florian’s
rowing mate. She had a blurry photo of the two of them posing
outside a boat shed. They had been colleagues at the World Bank for
a while. The police had questioned de Courcey in connection with
Florian’s death. He had left the bank under a cloud a short time
later, rumour had it. She was thankful that Tisserand couldn’t see
her face.

“Miss Denton?”

“I’m sorry. Yes, I have.”

“He tells me that a password is needed to access my account. Is
that so?”

“Correct.”

“Only three people know the password. Martin, my partner and I,”
Tisserand said.

Acaria remained silent.

“Well?” Tisserand said. “What do you say to that?”

Acaria did not rise to the challenge. “Granting access to your
account is not the banks concern. If you suspect fraud, I recommend
that you call in the police.”

Tisserand’s voice turned icy. “You deny responsibility?”

“Yes. It is impossible to access your account without a
password. There are no irregularities as far as the bank is
concerned. There was no security breach,” Acaria replied
firmly.

“I trust my partner and I trust Martin. So how is it possible
for someone to steal my money?”

“You’re asking me to speculate. I simply don’t know. The bank’s
position is clear. We deny all liability.”

“You’re saying that my partner cheated me out of millions. That
is unbelievable. Or Martin. Am I to accuse my assistant?” Tisserand
was beside himself.

“Monsieur Tisserand,” Acaria said, trying to calm the distraught
old man: “I am sorry that you lost a partner. And I am sorry about
your money.”

“You don’t understand my dear,” Tisserand said with clenched
fists. “I have obligations. I owe €45 million as of last
Friday.”

“And your account is overdrawn €2.5 million as of close of
business Friday. I’m sorry to add to your predicament. Your account
has been frozen,” Acaria pointed out, rubbing it in.
“Regrettably.”

Just as well you can’t see my Schadenfreude smile.

“How dare you! I have banked with Steinlicht for 20 years. I’ve
been a good customer.”

“And we have been a good bank,” Acaria retorted. “And will
continue to be as long as all is in order.”

Acaria paused to let the old man compose himself and then
hammered him.

“You have a €10 million overdraft facility guaranteed by a
charge over property and shares. The bank needs to be assured of
that still being as it should. Furthermore, we require you to sign
a statement to the effect that the irregularities you brought to
our attention have been addressed to your satisfaction. Our legal
department will be in touch.”

Acaria let the information sink in. Tisserand had turned pale
and stared at her with vacant eyes.

“I also want to point out to you that the bank will announce in
tomorrow’s papers a new charter. All transactions must comply with
clean payment regulations. Even bank advances from Steinlicht to
you. Directors no longer have unconditional private practice
rights,” Acaria said.

“Why are you doing this? It’s not just the bank is it?”
Tisserand challenged. “This is personal. You’re enjoying this,
salope!”

“Oh dear! Insults! Amphora’s problems are of your own making,
not mine. Goodbye.”

 

Let him wait! was Acaria’s response to a message to telephone de
Courcey urgently. But de Courcey saved her the trouble. He was at
the front desk demanding to see her.

“You better get down here. He’s making a scene,” the
receptionist said.

 

Acaria showed de Courcey to a vacant customer relations office
after making eye contact with Otto who had taking up position
nearby. De Courcey threw a chequebook on the desk.

“I’m closing the account. You’ve been nothing but trouble.”

“I’m sorry you feel that way. The bank has acted properly and
within its rights.”

Acaria accessed the account and swivelled the monitor for de
Courcey to view. She added up unpresented cheques, then tore all
blank cheques from the book. De Courcey pulled out a cheque book,
wrote a cheque for what was owed, held it up and let it flutter on
the blotter.

“I’ll have to get it cleared.”

“It’s a good cheque from a reputable bank.”

Acaria ignored his put-down remark. “I won’t be long.”

She returned moments later and confirmed that the cheque was
good.

“All is in order. Give monsieur Tisserand my regards.”

“You won’t mind if I don’t. You’ve no idea the trouble you’ve
caused us.”

“Trouble? I assure you that the troubles are of your own
making,” Acaria said as sincerely as she could.

“That’s what you told Tisserand and he didn’t buy it either. I’m
warning you: don’t mess with Amphora again.”

“Amphora?”

“Don’t play dumb. You don’t want to end up like your brother.
Poor chap,” de Courcey said in mock sympathy.

Acaria stifled a scream and controlled the anger deep in her
gut. She forced herself to say silent. De Courcey misread her
expression.

“That surprises you, you stupid bitch. I don’t know how you
stripped Tisserand of millions. I hope for your sake that Delacroix
acted on his own. Tisserand should have taken some of his own
medicine and watched his friends more than his enemies.”

“That was a wonderful speech, Martin. We’re done here. Please
wait.”

Acaria walked from behind the desk, opened the door and called
Otto.

“Please escort this…gentleman off the premises.”

 

Amphora? Had she mentioned Amphora to Tisserand? She reflected
and recalled her outburst after Tisserand had called her a cunt.
Amphora’s problems are of your own making, not mine. That was a
stupid mistake. What now? Run?

Acaria returned to her office and phoned the family solicitor.
He was surprised and tried to talk her out of selling up but Acaria
was adamant. Yes, he was happy to also dispose of the house
contents and store Florian’s bust in his office.

Acaria looked at her watch: 10 o’clock, Parker should be
home.

Please Will, have your satellite phone on. Please, please
answer.

Message bank! Still better than nothing.

Code:Florian.

 

Acaria opened the Amphora account and noted a €17.5 million
transfer. Why that amount? $22 million in dollars. $20 million for
Gillespie and $2 million commission. €3 million each to five
different accounts? Parker playing tricks? Had to be. It would
cause confusion and suspicion. Suspicion? Of course. Clever boy
Will. The suspicion would fall on five people. Delacroix was dead.
Each of five others would blame the other four! What a laugh!
Tisserand would be hard pressed to trace the remaining €17.5
million. A search for the IBAN revealed the Russlav Bank. That
would definitely make Tisserand sit up. If he suspected the Russian
mafia, all the better!

What would happen if de Courcey phoned the Russlav Bank?

Let’s see! Acaria identified herself to the Russian telephone
receptionist as herself from the Steinlicht Bank. Their
international banking manager listened politely when she told him
of a customers defrauded of $US22 million. The transaction was
normal Internet banking? Yes. And the transaction at her end? By a
password holder. Boris laughed.

“Your customer wants a refund because someone, somehow stole
$US22 million from his account. What would you do at your bank if
you were in my position?” Boris asked.

“I would tell him to bite his bum…Are you there Boris? Boris?”
Acaria heard him laughing and talking in Russian.

“Acaria. You are a funny woman. I just told my clerk to bite his
bum!”

“And?”

“He’s still trying. This is a good joke, yes?”

“Yes.”

“Goodbye, Acaria.”

 

Come on Will. Ring!

Acaria left another message and left the bank. She parked her
car at home and packed a suitcase. She returned to the city by cab,
paid cash for a hire car and parked it in her reserved space. The
teller was surprised that she withdrew all her savings and cleared
her electronic account as well. That done, Acaria picked up the
hire car and headed for Bettendorf. Parker returned her call on the
way out of city.

“There is only one way to make sure your mobile is switched on,”
she greeted Will.

“And what way is that, Ria?”

“To be with you, chérie.”

“Florian, you said. Are you in trouble?” Parker asked.

“I met Tisserand and mentioned Amphora by mistake,” Acaria
admitted.

“Go to a safe place. Pay cash for everything.”

“I’m heading for Bettendorf.”

“Good.”

“I have enough cash for a few days. Not enough for airfares to
Australia though.”

“You will have when I pay your commission.”

“Thanks, Will. Where do I go from here?”

“On no account should you go back to the city. Go to Bettendorf
as quickly as you can.”

“There are speed cameras everywhere. I’ll get booked,” Acaria
protested.

“Don’t worry about that. Get to the hotel as fast as you can and
stay a few days. Park the car out of sight. Then go by car to the
airport, drop you car off and fly to London. Book into a hotel near
the Australian Embassy. I’ll be with you as soon as I can.”

“I miss you, Will.”

“Me too.”

“Hurry up. I need a cuddle.”

 

Acaria pulled away from the side of the road and entered the
freeway. She hadn’t noticed a car following her from the city but
when a blue Astina tailgated her, she put down her foot to put
distance between them. The car caught up and she took off once
more. Stupid kids playing tag.

Acaria took the freeway exit to Bettendorf and accelerated again
to get away from the Astina. She slowed down as she entered a
sweeping bend when the Astina overtook her, cut in and braked hard.
Acaria slammed on the brakes and avoided rear-ending it. Her relief
was only momentary. A rear end shunt jolted her and the pursuer
from the rear pushed her forward as the car in front came to a
halt.

Oh my god!

 

Chapter 7

 

Next time, I won’t be alone. Parker had arrived in Sydney a
happy man and checked into the airport Travelodge. He went to the
city by cab the next day, let himself into the flat and picked up
the computer. The waiting cab took him to a real estate agency
where he signed a lease for a two bedroom fully furnished and
serviced apartment in the city centre. Rent paid six months in
advance and a $2,000 bond easily persuaded the agent to forget
about references. Would she mind giving him a lift?

Gillespie had left three messages, blunt and demanding as
always. The last message was two days old.

“What?”

“Good day, Kel. Will speaking.”

“I know who it is. You got my money?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Good. Don’t call me sir.”

“OK, Kel.”

“Ever been to the Cook Islands?” Gillespie barked.

“Na.”

“Wanna come?”

“When? Today?”

“No. Next year!”

“Get fucked,” Parker said and hung up.

 

He answered the phone on the tenth ring.

“You want your money?”

“Come on, Will. Meet me in my office quick smart.”

“You’re working on a Saturday?”

There was no reply.

The security guard admitted Parker to the building and
accompanied him to the penthouse. Gillespie’s office door was open
and Parker walked in.

“Hi, Kel.”

“Can’t you see I’m busy. Fucking computers.”

“What’s the matter?”

“Forgot to put the fucking thing on charge.”

“You’ve docked it, so what’s the problem?”

“I want to use it on the plane.”

“Recharge it then,” Parker suggested.

“Fuck off,” Gillespie snapped. “We’re going now.”

“You’ve left the charger at home, haven’t you?” Parker
chuckled.

“Fuck off.”

“Anyway, you won’t be working. So why do you need your
computer?”

“Trouble with having your own casino is that you’ve got no place
to gamble. I have to do it on line.”

“Fair enough,” Parker said and turned his face away to hide a
smirk.

“I’m done here now. By the way, Denise got you the monitor you
wanted. Do you want to take it now?”

“A bit inconvenient, considering we’re off to the airport,”
Parker replied. “I’ll pick up later.”

 

Gillespie liked luxury and Parker didn’t mind a bit partaking of
all the trimmings during the Cook Island weekend. Not having to
make a special trip to deposit his commission was an unexpected
bonus. Gillespie deposited his $20 million, Parker his $2
million.

Finally. No loose ends.

Gillespie’s pilot joined them for lunch and asked for next
month’s travel schedule to fit in scheduled maintenance. Gillespie
was going to be busy. Parker had no idea just how much Gillespie
travelled.

“You enjoy all this jetting about?”

“Love it. If I had time, I’d get myself a Cessna like my Dad. He
loved flying.”

“You know, something about his accident bothers me,” Parker
said. “Something about running out of fuel according to a
witness.”

“Not Dad. He never ran out of fuel.”

“How do you know?”

“Dad figured that if he used the reserve tank first, he would
always have enough in his main tank to get back no matter from
where or in what weather. He flew until the engine went sput, sput,
sput and then switched to the main tank,” Gillespie explained.

“Think carefully about what I’m going to ask you. Did Weber know
this?”

“Of course he did. Dad got the idea from him.” Gillespie turned
pale. His hand shook so badly he couldn’t pick a cigarette from the
pack. “Weber had a key to the shed where we kept our fuel.
Bastard.” Gillespie snarled at Parker. “You sure know how to fuck
up a man’s day.”

Gillespie played on-line poker and blackjack on the plane and
said nothing until they touched down in Sydney.

“I don’t want revenge. Ancient history. I have my $20 million,
you’ve got your fee.”

“So we part company now?” Parker wondered.

“I’ll find you when I need you,” Gillespie snapped. “You can
piss off now.”

He was done with Parker. He was a free agent now, in love and
ready to settle down on Edward Island. Luxembourg would soon be
only memory, a pleasant memory of where he had found true love. His
sweet memory of love.

Amphora was just a momentary diversion, a slight complication.
Of that he was sure. Parker pulled the poem from his wallet.

“This love I found

Will not be bound

By shackles fate or man imposed.”

 

He felt reassured. So much of his poem had become reality. He
read on:

“And let the coins fall as they may,

No more will children be his prey.

Defeated by the coins of chance.”

 

It is not over? There was more to come when all he now wanted
was to stay clear of other people’s troubles? The coins of chance
would be on his side. That was a comforting thought but not so the
worry that Amphora was still in play. He relaxed as he read the
poem to the end:

 

“The lovers bond, resolve inured,

A slice of heaven thus secured.

 

So you’ll stay mine? Send me a sign.

Make it a shooting star.

 

In our tree, I’ll be a scar.”

 

 

Meeting up with Acaria less than a week after parting wasn’t
what he had planned. Acaria should be safely in Bettendorf now and
he hadn’t even unpacked his suitcase. There was nothing to eat or
drink in the flat, not that he was all that hungry. All the
travelling had caught up with him. He was tired but his mind was
active, so much so that he would not fall asleep easily. He booked
on-line a first class ticket to London for Tuesday afternoon with
an open return. He ordered a pizza and talked the operator into the
delivery person picking up a slab of stubbies. Parker was happy and
parted with a $100 note. The pizza was just so so but the beer was
nice and cold. The second stubby was better and the third just as
good.

He couldn’t remember falling asleep, only that his last thought
had been of Acaria. In two days, they would be together and travel
home.

Shit! Visa! Gotta organise a visa. Debbie?

She was surprised to hear from him and very reluctant to pull
strings. Two days was really pushing it!

“Where’s the fire?” Debbie joked.

“How would you like Amphora on a platter?”

“Amphora. Whoa! I’ll come at that.”

“I thought you would. I’ve followed the money.”

“OK. What name?”

“Acaria Denton. The visa to be picked up in London.”

“You don’t ask for much, do you? How long will the lady be
staying?”

“Long enough for me to marry her.”

“I didn’t hear that. I can fix a six month working visa,” Debbie
promised.

“That’ll do fine. I owe you one.”

“Just give me Amphora. Bye, Will.”

 

He microwaved the left over pizza for breakfast and left the
apartment for Gillespie’s office. He was back half an hour later
with the new monitor, milk and coffee. He’d always shopped by
himself. It would be good fun doing it with Acaria.

Parker accessed the daily log files Lexie had set up to record
computer activity in Gillespie’s office. The last file entry showed
the previous Friday’s keystrokes. Nothing after that? Of course:
They were in the Cook Islands. He entered the log’s first line in
the address bar and up came a Darwin based online horse race
betting site. The next line in the log gave him the client number
and he opened Gillespie’s account. Jesus!  Gillespie had a $5
million line of credit. The betting history, unbelievable! He never
placed less than $10,000 to win.

What else had he been doing? Parker entered Gillespie’s
keystrokes late on the previous Friday. Gillespie had gambled
on-line and had done some banking. He was rich, seriously rich.
There wasn’t time to snoop further. Parker burnt a CD of all the
desktop computer directories, loaded and checked it to make sure
everything was in order. He reformatted the hard drive to wipe all
memory. All the evidence he needed or was likely to use was on the
CD and he also copied it to his laptop. Evidence? Evidence needed
for what? Parker had no answer to his own questions, only that he
felt safer for it.

He put the CD in its case, walked to his bank and put it in the
safe deposit box. He stopped at Circular Quay for a very expensive
seafood lunch, walked back to the apartment and ordered a taxi to
the airport. Acaria’s mobile didn’t answer but he wasn’t worried.
He left another message at 5AM her time. He would try again from
Singapore when it would be mid-afternoon in Luxembourg. That call
also went to message bank. Where are you? He was worried when his
call from London failed to reach Acaria.

He was in Luxembourg at lunchtime and knocked on Mrs. Hoffman’s
door. She was very happy to see him again. What now? The bank was
no help. Miss Denton had left on Monday and had not returned. One
person he could always rely on was Debbie. Is this an emergency?
Definitely!

He rang the Australian Federal Police stating his emergency code
Eleanor and requested Debbie to contact him. Parker could hear her
yawn as an exasperated Debbie said: “Do you know what time it is?
Never mind. Your visa is ready for collection.”

“Thanks.”

“But that’s not why you rang is it?”

“No, Debbie. I think someone I love is in trouble because she
got too close to Amphora,” Parker explained.

“Oh shit!”

“I hope I’m wrong. Do you know any Luxembourg cops?”

“Not personally. We have dealings with the drug squad. I’ll text
you a name and e-mail an introduction.”

“Thanks Debbie.”

“Goodnight, Will.”

 

Parker logged onto the Amphora account at Steinlicht Bank but
found access blocked. Had de Courcey changed the password? Parker
copied and pasted de Courcey’s key strokes and found nothing
referring to Steinlicht Bank. Parker found a Cayman Island Bank
account and a password. There was only one withdrawal, €40 million
that Parker guessed settled the shortfall after he had cleaned out
the Steinlicht account. That left €170 million to be had unless de
Courcey had set a daily limit. He hadn’t and Parker transferred the
lot to the Russlav Bank, then to the Zurich Volksbank AG. Amphora
without money was dead.

Another call to Acaria’s mobile phone went to message bank
again. Time to call in the cavalry. The Police Commissariat was an
11 storey modern glass and concrete monstrosity just off the city
centre. Debbie had texted him a contact name: Rossler. The
receptionist directed him to the drug squad offices at 56 Rue
Glesener, two doors away and to ask for detective Rossler, Room 12.
Number 56 was an old two-storey brown brick building, more like a
warehouse than a police station. Parker walked through the open
front door and stood at a glass enclosed inquiry counter. There was
no one around. A handwritten sign and arrow pointed upstairs to
rooms 10 to 19. Room 12 was near the landing where Parker gave a
wide berth to a scruffy man smoking some stinking brand cigarette.
There was no answer when he knocked and the door was locked. A man
on the rickety bench called out.

Parker walked up to him and replied: “I only speak English.”

“Who are you after?”

“Detective Rossler.”

“And what is your business with him?”

Parker looked him up and down. A grubby baseball cap, a never
washed windcheater, faded threadbare jeans and worn out joggers,
mid 30’s perhaps. The smoker dropped his butt, stood up and ground
it into the lino were others had done likewise many times.

He walked past Parker and unlocked the door.

“Come in. Take a seat.”

He extended his hand.

“I’m Pierre Rossler.”

“I’m Will Parker, pleased to meet you.”

“My partner objects to me smoking in office,” Rossler said by
way of explanation. “What can I do for you?”

Parker came straight to the point: “I suspect the woman I love
has been abducted by people connected with Amphora.”

“Amphora. Never heard of it.”

“The Australian Federal Police have. There should be an
e-mail.”

The detective booted up the computer and swivelled the monitor
for Parker to read. Debbie introduced him as one of “our own” and
requested cooperation and assistance.

“Are you a cop?”

“No,” Parker replied.

“What does it mean ‘one of our own’?”

“I was a cop a long time ago and worked undercover with our
Federal Police,” Parker explained.

“The introduction mentions ‘Operation Medusa’. What do you know
about it?” The detective demanded to know.

“Nothing. I think it might have to do with Amphora, drug
traffickers.”

“Names?”

“Tisserand and one Martin de Courcey,” Parker replied.

The detective questioned him further and Parker revealed that
Acaria worked for Steinlicht and that she may have run foul of
Tisserand.

“She said to read Tuesday’s papers.”

The detective rummaged through a bundle of newspapers.

“What am I looking for?”

“An advertisement. An announcement?”

The detective found the advertisement and an editorial.

“Your girlfriend’s bank has taken on the money-launderers. I
wish them good luck.”

He put the paper away and said: “Abducted you say. What makes
you think she has been abducted?”

“I last heard from her on Monday by e-mail. As far as I know,
she was on her way to Bettendorf.”

“Not much to go on.”

“Can you talk to the people who issue speeding tickets?”

“Why?”

“To follow a trail.”

“Monday you say? Afternoon. It takes more than a week for fines
to get posted.”

The detective made a phone call and went outside for a smoke.
Parker again failed to make contact with Acaria.

“What are we waiting for?”

“Speed camera photos from Monday afternoon.”

 

Between twelve noon and 4 PM, 46 cars had broken the speed limit
going north.

“You tell me,” Rossler said. “Which one is your girlfriend?”

“A hire car and she would have broken the speed limit more than
once. I told her to.”

“That’s the trail?”

“I hope so.”

Parker whispered “Good girl, Acaria,” when Rossler found four
photos of the same car. It took the detective one phone call to
vehicle registration and another to establish that Acaria Denton
had hired the car and paid cash.

“Let’s see who followed her,” the detective suggested.

They eliminated from consideration three light trucks, a taxi,
three minivans and two semitrailers.

“If she broke the speed limit four times, whoever followed her
had to keep up,” Rossler proposed. They found two cars that had
broken the speed limit three times. Vehicle registration gave
Rossler two names.

“Viktor Pressel. That’s good and bad!”

“He’s known to you?”

“Yes. A petty criminal. A bit of dealing.”

“You say ‘bad’,” Parker said.

“Only because he would not be acting alone. The other car is
registered to Tisserand Finance.”

“They bankroll Amphora,” Parker said and his heart sank. “Martin
de Courcey.”

“What do you know about him?”

“Only his name.”

 

 Rossler made a phone call and answered a call a minute
later.

“Mon Dieu!” Rossler exclaimed. “Let’s go.”

“Where to?”

“Time to pay Viktor a visit.”

 

Victor’s flat was in the old part of town. Rossler’s banging on
the concierge’s door was not well received. He shouted and after a
heated exchange, a middle-aged woman opened the door. Rossler
shouted at her again but she just stood there with arms folded and
said non.

“Go have a smoke,” Parker suggested.

“Madame,” Parker said and peeled off a €100 note.

“Trois,” she insisted.

“What?”

She held up three fingers. “Trois.” Parker paid.

 

She let them into a neat and clean flat. The detective searched
the bed sitter and Parker the bathroom. Viktor was a fastidious man
and his bathroom was spotless except for dust and an oily smudge on
the toilet cistern. Parker lifted the toilet seat, stood on the
bowl and pulled away the exhaust fan grill. There was space where a
fan used to be. Parker hesitated, picked up a hairbrush and
inserted it into the cavity.

Snap-crunch!

The steel buckle of a vicious rattrap had nearly snapped the
wooden handle in half. Anyone reaching into the cavity would have
ended up with broken fingers. Parker pulled out a plastic bag, in
it a small automatic pistol wrapped in oilcloth. Parker replaced
the grill and put down the toilet seat.

The detective inspected the weapon.

“That’s a vest pocket blued steel Bernardelli .22 calibre
automatic. Ten rounds. Is there a serial number and date stamped on
the side?”

“1948.”

“Not good. It tells me that he has another gun. The Bernardelli
is probably only a memento. Merde!”

Rossler was angry and asked in a formal tone:

“Mr. Parker, do you have a license for this gun?”

“Yes,” Parker lied.

“All is in order then. We wouldn’t want you to make a house call
without protection.”

Rossler made a mobile phone call on the way back to the office
and looked very pleased. They walked past members of the armed
response unit that had a mobile communication centre already parked
at the front door.

Two black uniformed officers with assault rifles, sat on the
bench outside Rossler’s office, anxious to speak with him but he
asked them to wait.

“I’ll give it back to you after the fitting,” Rossler said and
put Parker’s pistol in a desk drawer.

“Fitting? What fitting?”

“Let’s go,” Rossler urged.

 

They had a sandwich and lukewarm coffee in the downstairs
kitchen with four other response crew, all smoking smelly
Gauloises. Parker raised his eyebrows but Rossler shrugged and lit
another.

The detective stopped two doors up from Rue Goethe 29 and let
Parker out. Parker rang the door bell and asked to see Mr.
Tisserand.

“You’ll have to telephone for an appointment. Monsieur Tisserand
will not see anyone without an appointment.”

“Your name?” Parker asked.

“De Courcey,” he replied and moved to close the door.

“Bernardelli is my name. I have an appointment, haven’t I?”
Parker said and drew the gun. “Lead the way.”

Parker followed de Courcey upstairs. He knocked and entered.

“This gentleman has forced his way into the house. He has a
pistol,” de Courcey announced in English to an old man seated at a
huge desk.

The old man spoke and de Courcey translated.

“Monsieur Tisserand wants you to know that there is no money on
the premises. You’re wasting your time.”

“I haven’t come for the money. Sit down, Martin. I’ve come to
tell you a story. Once upon a time, there was a young man, one of
the good guys. He hated what some bad people around him did and
believed that he could make a difference. He did other people’s
dirty work. The things he did were sometimes legal, often cunning
and dodgy. He believed his actions excusable because he redressed
wrongs. The stakes were small. A few thousand here and there.
Things got too hot and he had to disappear. He was rewarded with a
life in paradise-at first. But got lonely for people and found
nothing had changed. There were bad guys still around and he took
up the fight again. Then came the big time. He thought he was doing
really good by conning people out of millions, not for its own good
mind you. He did other people’s dirty work again. Over time, he
became more ruthless because that’s what the jobs called for. But
he was now hardly better than he wrongdoers. He had money now but
not happiness. He wanted a love to remember. Then one day, after he
had been searching for a long time, he found the woman with whom he
will be spending the rest of his life. And live happily ever after.
That was until Monday when she was kidnapped.”

Parker turned to the man at the desk.

“You with me so far?”

He nodded and said in English: “Boring. Come to the point?”

“Acaria Denton was kidnapped because she was a threat to
Amphora.”

That startled the old man who spoke rapidly to Martin. His reply
angered him further. Parker interrupted:

“Now back in Australia, there is this middle-aged woman called
Agnes Webb. Her real name is Agnes Weber. She lives at Dee Why,
near the beach not far from the rotunda. Sometime in the next hour
depending on what happens here, she will be going for drive in her
new four-wheel-drive. Unfortunately, somewhere in the bush, she
will have a flat tyre. A few days later someone will find her
pinned under the car. It seems the jack slipped in the loose soil
and crushed her chest. It was a slow death. So what do you say to
that, old man?”

“You harm one hair on my daughter’s head and I’ll have you
killed.”

“That won’t happen, will it now. Julius Weber.”

“Martin, the gentleman I’m extremely sorry to say, knows who I
am. Agnes is my daughter. What have you done, you stupid man? Speak
English, it saves time.”

“That stupid Denton cow was going to talk to the police about
her brother,” Martin said.

“Her brother? What about her brother?” Weber threw up his hands
in exasperation.

“Florian’s death was no suicide. He caught me organising finance
for your amphetamine exports.”

“I didn’t want him dead,” Weber protested.

“You didn’t say so. Not directly anyway. But it would have been
the end of me.”

“You have to let her go.”

“I think Julius has a point. I want to speak to Acaria now or
Martin takes a bullet in the left knee. Then we’ll toss a coin to
see who goes next,” Parker threatened.

“Martin! Do as he says. You’ll have the best lawyer money can
buy,” Weber promised.

“He can speak to her, as long as she doesn’t tell him where she
is,” Martin insisted.

 

De Courcey used Weber’s phone and seemed to argue with the
person at the other end as his face turned red. He gave Parker the
handpiece.

“It’s me, Ria. Are you hurt?”

“No. Come get me. Bring carnations,” she replied and the phone
went dead.

“Julius, think carefully. Do you have a place in
Bettendorf?”

“Yes. Martin! Martin!” Julius screamed, stood up and rushed
aimlessly in Martin’s direction. “Come here you arsehole so that I
can hit you.”

Weber looked in Parker’s direction.

“I had nothing to do with the kidnapping. But who’s going to
believe that when they find her in my house. What is your name by
the way?” Weber asked.

“Call me Will. Is your house near the bridge?”

“Yes, between the bridge and the church,” Weber said and turning
to Martin ordered: “Ring back now. He’s not to harm her under any
circumstances while we negotiate here.”

“Negotiate?” Parker laughed. “What do you have to negotiate? One
phone call and Agnes dies.”

“One phone call and Miss Denton dies,” Weber retaliated.

“So two women die because of that shit?” Parker raised and aimed
his gun at de Courcey.

“Martin! She dies-you die. And the police will find Weber dead.
Murder-suicide. Everybody loses,” Parker declared.

“Let’s cool it,” Weber proposed.

“Yeah! Let’s talk about old times Julius. Did you fly
Cessnas?”

“I did. In Kalgoorlie. But you know that already otherwise you
wouldn’t be asking,” Weber conceded. Parker had spooked him and
Weber looked worried.

“Claude’s plane crashed. On old prospector said he heard the
plane run out of fuel. Sput, sput, sput, sput. Now how was that
possible? Gillespie took off with a full load.” Parker let the
words sink in. “Or so everywhere believed. But you know different,
don’t you Julius?” Parker spoke slowly word by word: “You knew that
Claude took off on the reserve tank, didn’t you?”

“No, I didn’t. Why would anyone do that?”

“Because he learnt that trick from you. You didn’t fill the main
tank did you? And that’s how you killed him. For cheating you out
of Poseidon shares.”

“Claude was a mate. I didn’t kill him. You’re a meddling fool.
You don’t understand,” Weber protested and staggered back to his
desk and used the edge of the desk to find his chair. He opened a
drawer, but Parker got to it before Weber had a chance to reach
into it. Parker slammed the drawer shut on Weber’s hand. Weber
screamed out in pain and then shouted in a desperate voice: “Stop
him Martin!  Don’t let him go. Do something before he causes
more trouble.”

“Yes, Martin. Do something useful. Like open your bank account.
Julius needs to know how much is left.”

“You assured me that my funds are safe. How much is in the
accounts? How much?” Weber was frantic and impatient. De Courcey
logged on.

“Nothing.”

“What do you mean nothing? I had more than $200 million, damn
it.”

“It’s all gone. I don’t know how he did it but there’s nothing
left.”

“Well, well, well,” Parker scoffed. “Poor Julius. No money, soon
to face a murder charge, conspiracy to kidnap, never mind the
drug-trafficking and money-laundering. Dear oh dear. What a
mess.”

“What a fucking mess. But you see Martin, Australians are not
unaccustomed to having their backs to the wall.” Weber sat up
straight. “I have feeling that you are going to make an old blind
man an offer. Is the right, Will?”

“Is that’s what’s wrong with you? You are blind. Never mind. Too
right. My offer: let’s play,” Parker said. “Let’s play swy.”

“What’s he talking about?” de Courcey asked.

“Swy. An Australian word corrupted from the German ‘zwei’
meaning two,” Weber explained.

“Yep. Two-up. For real money,” Parker said.

“Because you’re blind, you’ll have to trust Martin. That’s a big
ask I know.”

“I’m not betting man,” Weber objected.

“Stiff shit.”

 

“Now Martin. This is how it’s played: the object of the game is
to spin a pair of heads. Because Julius is blind, you’ll have to be
his spinner. Is that all right by you, Julius?” Parker asked. “And
you’ll be the boxer too. Boxer. Martin holds the money and helps us
two fellas play.”

Weber interrupted: “I don’t have any money. Sorry, Will. Can’t
play.”

“I have money. You can bet with information.”

“Come in spinner!” Parker called.

“That’s you, dummy,” Weber said to Martin. “Got two coins?”

“Use a ruler for a kip?” Parker looked at Weber.

Weber agreed.

“What’s the bet?” Weber asked.

“Ah! Mine is 10 million dollars or Euros, you decide.”

“How do I know that you have the money, my money?” Weber
asked.

“I told you: Martin handles the money. I open my bank account
and if I lose, Martin transfers the win to you. Simple.”

Parker woke his laptop from stand-by and logged on to the Zurich
Volksbank and the €170 million, then sat the laptop next to Weber’s
monitor.

“And what do I bet?” Weber grinned.

“Information. The start with, I want to know how you import
cocaine.”

“No way. You are asking me to destroy my own operation,” Weber
complained.

“What operation?” Parker laughed. “You haven’t got enough money
to pay your electricity bill.”

“Bastard.”

“You can call me what you like. Doesn’t change a thing. If you
win, you can rebuild your operation or get out altogether. If I
were you, I’d take the money and run. Retire,” Parker
suggested.

“I choose heads,” Weber said.

“Come in spinner,” both called out.

Martin put two coins, one face up, the other face down on a
ruler. The first toss was one head, one tail. So was the
second.

“You oned them, that’s a no throw. If you toss three more odds,
you’re out,” Parker ruled.

Martin tossed again, Martin called out heads and Weber beamed.
He won €10 million of his own money.

“Go again?” Parker asked.

“Yes. What do you want this time?”

“Same as before.”

Parker bet another €10 million and won with two tails.

Weber gave him the South American connection: the cartel names,
freight companies and names of corrupt customs people.

“Martin, are you making notes?” Parker demanded.

“If you’re bullshitting me, Julius, don’t. Otherwise your two
boys will go missing when they go sailing next.”

“You know a lot about my family. Too much for my liking,” Weber
threatened.

“I can take care of myself. I assure you,” Parker replied. “Now,
€10 million against your Southeast Asian mates.”

Weber lost and de Courcey made notes as Weber recounted
importing heroin into Europe. Weber wouldn’t reveal anything about
the Australian connection.

“Fair enough,” Parker agreed. “€10 million for the Australian
end?”

Parker lost and Martin tossed again. Heads.

“Third time lucky?”

Tails and de Courcey kept making notes.

“Keep going?”

Parker lost another €40 million but won names of the freight
managers who shipped amphetamine and other drugs as part of
legitimate container freight to Australia.

Another €30 million lost but Parker won names of the freight
handlers who substituted legitimate export codes on container to
avoid detection at Australian ports.

Weber lost three rounds in a row and Parker had the names of
importers who held separate container ID numbers to enable tracking
of containers with drugs. Weber revealed corrupt Australian customs
brokers who changed shipping documents to clear containers without
customs inspections. Then Weber told him how freight forwarders
re-addressed containers for delivery into his warehouse.

“I want to change the rules,” Weber requested.

“You didn’t complain when you won. What do you have in
mind?”

“Three heads or three tails. First to get three, wins.”

“At that rate, we’ll be here all afternoon.”

“Come in spinner.”

Weber won the next two bets.

“How am I going?” Weber asked.

“You have won €120 million. That’s enough to pay what is due
tomorrow and repay the loans,” de Courcey replied.

 Weber won two in a row and lost the third and gave Parker
the names of amphetamine manufacturers in Holland and Hungary.

“You’re €70 million short,” de Courcey said.

“Got anything else to tell me to make up the difference?”

“Yes, I’ll tell you about my new money-laundering setup,” Weber
boasted. “You did us a real favour when you threw a spanner in the
works. It was much too expensive and cumbersome to carry banknotes
from one country to another. We have a much neater way now.”

“Not interested, Julius.”

“What do you want?”

“You know,” Parker replied.

“No way. Not even for €70 million.”

“Martin, what does €140 do for me?”

De Courcey replied in French and Weber deliberated. They talked
some more and Martin did his sums.

“Martin tells me that I still need more.”

“You know what I want. I can throw in witness protection in
Australia. The murder charge probably won’t stick. Unless you
confess, it’s going to be impossible to prove that you didn't fill
the main tank or that you emptied it. The insurance company doesn’t
need to know about your fake suicide. Think about it. You can live
comfortably. And see your grandkids.”

“Retire? Sit in the sun and watch the grandchildren grow up.
Very romantic and totally unrealistic,” Weber continued with
undisguised sarcasm. “And my partner gives me a gold watch and our
suppliers all sign a happy retirement card. Ha! I’ll be dead meat.
I can’t get out!”

 

Parker’s mobile buzzing got him out of a predicament. It was
detective Rossler.

“Good news. Acaria’s safe.”

“Thanks.”

“Keep going. If Weber won’t give you his partner, ask him about
his European distribution.”

“I’ll see. Where do we meet?”

“I’ll take you to Acaria.”

“Thanks.”

Parker breathed a sigh of relief. The delaying tactics had
worked and he really didn’t care about Weber’s money or Amphora any
more. Acaria was all he cared about and she was safe.

“Well, Julius, this is where we say goodbye,” Parker said and
reached for his laptop.

“Stop him Martin,” Weber yelled.

“Yeah, Martin stop a bullet,” Parker said.

“You’ve forgotten about your girlfriend.”

Parker ignored Weber’s snide remark.

“He knows something,” de Courcey said in panic. “He’s tricked
us. He wouldn’t leave unless…”

Weber interrupted him: “Pull yourself together. He’s
bluffing.”

“He’s not. I know it,” de Courcey shouted and picked up his
notes and walked away.

Parker rushed after him. De Courcey fought him with flailing
fists but Parker simply smacked the pistol into the side of his
face. But it was too late. Parker watched helplessly as the
handwritten notes disappeared into the shredder. De Courcey looked
a miserable bundle bleeding all over the beige carpet. He held a
handkerchief to his face and opened an adjoining door. Parker heard
water running.

“What’s going on? Somebody tell me what’s going on?” Weber
whined.

“Martin’s cut himself.”

Parker walked over to his laptop. De Courcey had entered €140 in
‘amount to be transferred’ but had not clicked ‘proceed’. He was
about to cancel the transaction when Acaria rang.

“I’m safe chérie. Thank you for rescuing me.”

“I’m so glad no one got hurt.”

“Me too. I’m glad you understood my clue about the carnations.
But how did you know who kidnapped me?”

“You left a trail darling. Four speeding tickets, 12 demerit
points. €75 for the first offence and… ”

Acaria interrupted and laughed.

“Forget about that. Come here at once, please.”

“I’ll be at the inn for dinner.”

“I love you.”

“Moi aussi,” Parker said but paused before ending the call. “Do
you want to go through with:

And let the coins fall as they may,

No more will children be his prey.

Defeated by the coins of chance.

“Yes.”

 

“Well Julius! Martin has shredded the notes. I didn’t pay much
attention to all your jabbering. It was bullshit anyway.”

“No. I was for real,” Weber conceded.

“I’ve got a lousy memory. But then again I’ve got €170 million
still. I just cancelled the transfer. Back to square one.”

“And?”

“I want the name of your Australian partner,” Parker
insisted.

“Martin! Get in here,” Weber shouted.

“All or nothing?” Parker proposed.

“Why not!” Weber said. “He’d appreciate that.”

De Courcey tossed tails, odds, tails, odds, odds, heads, heads.
Parker held his breath as de Courcey spun the coins again.

“I oned them again,” de Courcey told Weber.

“Come in spinner!”

“Tails!” Parker said.

“Martin doesn’t need to know.”

Parker walked over to the desk and put his hand on Weber’s
shoulder.

“Whisper it to me.”

“Are you for real?”

Weber nodded.

It can’t be. Never!

 

Parker felt almost sorry for the blind old man who had lost
everything. But there was no forgiving the misery his drug dealing
had caused.

“I’ll be fair. I’ll argue your case for witness protection and
immunity from prosecution in exchange for what you told me. I
reckon €20 million is fair compensation for what Gillespie did to
you,” Parker offered.

“OK. I accept a bus fare home,” Weber said. “You know, I got
into all this by accident. I fled from Kalgoorlie and ended up in
South Africa prospecting. I was offered a chance to make more money
in two days than I had in two years. I smuggled a bag of stolen
diamonds. No one got hurt. I did that twice more and became a
partner. He offered opportunities. I borrowed heavily and it paid
off. We made millions, from what, I didn’t ask. When I did, I was
in to deep to get out. I tried once.”

Weber took off his dark glasses. “This is what a few drops of
hydrochloride acid did. Not a pretty sight.”

“So that’s why you wanted to kill Gillespie’s chances to get a
second casino? Revenge for being blinded?”

“It’s a bit more complicated,” Weber sniggered. “Actually, the
exact opposite. We wanted Gillespie to get the licence and made
sure by bribing – what was his name?”

“Robinson.”

“Yes. Did Agnes a favour by hanging himself.”

“How can you say that? She loved him,” Parker interjected.

“Na. Agnes is an accomplished liar! He was always
expendable.”

“She sure fooled me and him. And I felt bad about his suicide,”
Parker said ruefully.

“The bribe was just another piece in my grand design to bring
Gillespie down,” Weber boasted.

“Rubbish!  He’s got ten times the money you have. You’ll
never bring him down,” Parker insisted.

“You’re naïve Will. There are other ways. I was going to kill
his reputation. He wouldn’t have survived that,” Weber said.

“Julius, you’re a cruel bastard. Sacrificing your own daughter
in the process!” Parker exclaimed.

“What are you talking about? She wasn’t to know what’s in the
envelope, was she now!”

“Gillespie knew?”

“No. But he would have had a hard time proving otherwise.”

“So you’re giving up?”

“Without my funds, what’s the point? My doctor tells me I have
only six months at best. Not enough time to start again.”

“So the money-laundering was just another ploy to sully
Gillespie’s standing?”

“I’m not telling you any more.”

“It’s obvious with hindsight.”

“So, Will-it’s time you went. Martin, show him the front
door.”

 

Rossler arrested de Courcey on the front step, handcuffed and
bundled him into an unmarked van parked across the street. Parker
stepped into the van and Rossler slammed the door shut. De Courcey
looked up, spat at Parker but missed.

He hissed: “I don’t know how you did it. Tell me how and I’ll
tell you how AW works the money-laundering.”

“You tell me first,” Parker said and listened. De Courcey
recruited people from Weber’s Australian network and paid them for
their ID points needed to open bank accounts. Not just in one bank
but in dozens of branches in suburban Sydney. From 50 names, the
network grew within a matter of weeks to 200. That was how many
bank accounts were needed in which to deposit under $10,000 cash a
month to avoid transactions being reported. Money-laundering $2
million a month became simply a matter of electronic transfers from
these accounts, eventually to Amphora’s Luxembourg account.

“They are handling not just Weber’s laundry now. It’s a
full-time job now with three on the staff,” de Courcey laughed. “So
how did you do it?”

Parker put his hand over the hidden microphone and scratched his
shirt.

“You remember the lottery. That was me.”

“Salope!” de Courcey screamed. “Bastard!”

 

A muffled gunshot startled them both. “That came from the
office,” de Courcey said.

They sat in silence until Rossler opened the van door and sat
next to Parker. There was a serious look on his face. A bewildered
de Courcey screamed at him:

“Where is monsieur Tisserand?”

“Tisserand knew by my footsteps that it wasn’t you de Courcey,”
Rossler said. “I told him I was a police officer and ordered him to
put his hands where I could see them. I had my pistol drawn. He
still wouldn’t put his hands on the desk. Poor man was shaking
something terrible. He had a pistol in his hand, put it into his
mouth and pulled the trigger.”

Parker turned pale. “That’s dreadful. Poor bugger. I never meant
him any harm.”

“You don’t need to feel sorry for him. So how come he had three
broken fingers?” Rossler wondered. ”Never mind.”

 

Rossler open the van door outside the police lock-up and let
Parker out.

“My colleagues take over from here. I’ll drive you to
Bettendorf.”

“Great, but first take the wire off,” Parker said.

“Sure. It was very interesting the way you conned Weber. With
what we have and Tisserand out of the way, it’ll take them a long
time to rebuild their operation.”

“You’ll let the Australians have a copy of the tape?”

De Courcey’s face fell when he saw the microphone taped to
Parker’s chest.

“What’s wrong with him?” Rossler asked.

“His world has come to an end,” Parker replied. “What do you
reckon Martin? How long will the Swiss give you for conspiracy to
murder?”

“They’ll have to wait until after we’re done with him,” Rossler
said.

 

Rossler returned to the office and handed in the radio
microphone. He smoked another of the stinking cigarettes in the
corridor.

“I can’t let you keep Mr. Bernardelli. If I hand it in, I will
have to explain how I got it.”

“Why don’t we just put the gun back where I got it?” Parker
suggested.

“Good. We will then find it when the flat is searched,” Rossler
agreed.

He spoke to Viktor’s landlady who let them into the flat without
an argument.

“What did you tell her?”

“That I had arrested Viktor and if he owed her anything, to get
in quick. And that our visits had never taken place.”

“Meant to ask you, did Viktor have another weapon?”

“Oh yes. He likes Italian guns. A semi automatic 9mm Beretta.
It’ll be interesting to see where he got it.”

“What else did your colleagues say about rescuing my
sweetheart?”

“I’ll tell you both over dinner and a bottle of the very best,”
Rossler proposed. “You pay.”

“D’accord,” Parker said. “Just give me a few minutes alone with
her first.”

Acaria wouldn’t leave his side and even when Parker introduced
her to Rossler, held on to his right arm. She sat close to him, so
close that he spooned the soup left-handed. Parker pressed his leg
against hers, to reassure her and little by little moved his chair
to the left. Acaria grabbed his right arm when Rossler offered to
tell them about the armed response team.

“Perhaps later?” Parker suggested when he noticed Acaria’s
throbbing pulse.

“I really want an early night,” Acaria said diplomatically. “You
two have coffee and brandy. Thank you, Pierre for everything.”

Rossler excused himself and went outside for a smoke. Parker had
coffee and brandy waiting for him in the guest lounge.

“Quite a woman, your Acaria.”

“She is.”

“She’s been through a lot. I know she declined trauma
counselling. Maybe you can persuade her?” Rossler said.

“Heal the emotional scars?”

“Yes. She wasn’t hurt badly, physically. The cable ties cut into
her wrists. Her mouth and lips will be sore for a while too. Viktor
took the tape off only to let her eat.”

 

This love I found

will not be bound

by shackles fate or man imposed.

 

“Did he assault her?”

“Sexually? No. Viktor’s orientation is elsewhere,” Rossler
laughed. “He begged the assault team, ‘don’t hurt me, don’t hurt
me’ when they pounced.”

“Tell me more.”

“The assault team started asking around the neighbourhood.
People recognised Viktor from the photo. He had bought takeaway
food for two people. The team borrowed a car from the local garage
and pretended it had blown a radiator outside Tisserand’s house. A
female officer and a male colleague staged a noisy scene. She then
knocked on Weber’s door and asked Viktor for a watering can.
Meanwhile the rescue team entered by the backdoor.”

“So what’s going to happen to him?”

“He will be charged with kidnapping, false imprisonment and
firearms offences.”

“And de Courcey?”

“The same for a start. With Tisserand dead, it will be more
difficult to make other charges stick. But we’ll try,” Rossler
explained. “I think tomorrow will be a busy day!”

“Good luck, Pierre.”

“Bonne chance, Will!”

 

The lighting was dim in the bedroom but Parker Park could tell,
just the same, that Acaria had been crying. He took off his jacket
and sat next to her on the bed.

“I need a hug,” she said and started sobbing. Parker comforted
her, stroked her face and held her tight.

“I thought I might never see you again. The bastard Viktor had
me tied to a chair. I had to beg him to let me go to the toilet. He
fed me like a baby. I hardly slept. My whole body aches from
sitting so long.”

She took a deep breath, stretched her arms and surprised him
with a headlock. Parker resisted playfully as she pulled him
towards and over her.

“You said you needed a hug.”

“That’s right. And now I need a cuddle,” Acaria said and
unbuttoned his shirt.

“I need a shower,” Parker said.

Acaria nestled into his shoulder.

“After.”

 

Parker lay awake. He could tell by Acaria’s breathing that she
also found it hard to fall asleep. He whispered: “I’ve organised
your visa. We can go to London whenever you want to.”

“I wouldn’t mind staying here a little longer. I left in too
much of a hurry. Would you like to see my house?”

“I’d love to very much.”

“It’s very special to me. I’ve never had sex there. You’ll be
the first.”

“I’m honoured,” Parker said with sincerity. “And guess what?
I’ve never had sex with anyone on my island!”

He could have added and rename it virgin island-but that would
not have gone down well.

 

They left Luxembourg a week later for London. Acaria’s departure
from the bank this time had been an orderly and tearful farewell.
The Chairman had declined her resignation and insisted on Acaria
taking an indefinite leave of absence.

“I’m never going back,” Acaria whispered. “Never.”

 

 

Chapter 8

 

“Will Parker! I love your world.” Acaria adored the apartment
and like a child, explored, enjoyed and savoured things Australian.
Life was new and exciting. Acaria insisted on being baptised in the
Pacific. The water was still too cold for his liking but who was he
to say no?

Parker let ten days go by before checking his message bank.
Gillespie, as he feared, wanted him and Parker reluctantly decided
to comply. It would definitely be the last time he would see
Gillespie. No more ‘get your arse down here’ from now on.

But maybe there was also a bit of sport to be had? He logged on
and updated Gillespie’s key logger file. Gillespie’s financial
transactions told him what he didn’t want to know. It wasn’t a case
of having fun with Gillespie at all. It was unfinished business and
the hated the thought of not quite knowing how to put an end to it.
Bugger! Edward Island would have to wait a little longer.

Gillespie was jolly, shook him by the hand and arm around his
shoulder, invited him to sit down.

“You’re bullshitting me, Kel. Told you last time and I’m telling
you again. No more.”

“This is different. It is not a job. More like a favour,”
Gillespie said.

“Soft soaping me won’t work.”

“Name your price,” Gillespie offered.

“You’re in deep shit, aren’t you?”

“Not me. My business partner,” Gillespie replied.

That made Parker sit up. “Even more reason to say no.”

“At least listen. You owe me that much.”

“I don’t owe you anything. Because of you, I’ve cheated, conned,
lied and thieved. People have died because I got involved. Two
suicides are on my conscience. Murder would make it a full house.
I’ll help your partner if it means not having to do any of the
above.”

Gillespie said nothing.

“Thought so,” Parker concluded.

Gillespie smiled. “How would you like to go to Luxembourg?”

“Hm?”

“My partner’s business affairs are in a bit of a mess.”

“What’s his name?”

“Jules Tisserand,” Gillespie said.

Fucking Weber told the truth! Fuck! Holy shit!

 

He hadn’t seen Amphora’s bank account number in Gillespie’s bank
statements. But that didn’t mean anything. They could be
transacting through other banks. Maybe Gillespie and Weber were
partners in something altogether different? Whatever it was, he had
to be careful, very careful.

“You look worried,” Gillespie said.

“No. Just wondering what business you’re in.”

“You don’t need to know.”

“Just as I thought. Dodgy,” Parker said.

“Not dodgy. Just very profitable. Very,” Gillespie replied.

“And very risky. Very,” Parker mimicked. “You’ve been burnt too
and now you want me to pull the chestnuts out of the fire. Dodgy,
admit it.”

“No need to rub my nose in it. I’ve put pride in my back
pocket.”

“So how much are we talking about?”

“190 million.”

“Dollars?”

“No. Fucking Euros.”

“I take it that it’s not all your money?”

“Cleverdick. €90 of it is mine. $130 million Australian.”

“What business is your partner in?”

“None of your fucken business. What matters is that I can’t get
hold of him.” Gillespie was furious.” You have to find him and sort
out what’s going on, please!”

“Apart from what’s his name? Who else is in on it? Or knows
about you two?”

Gillespie scratched his head, got up and lit a cigarette. He had
his back turned to Parker when he replied: “Nobody.”

Parker didn’t believe him but said nothing.

“I’m fucked, truly fucked if Tisserand’s money is gone. You know
I’ve got a bank account in the Cook Islands. I have others as well.
It’s how I move large amounts around.”

“And avoid tax amongst other things. You suspect that Tisserand
has double-crossed you?”

“To save his own skin, possibly,” Gillespie speculated.

“Tisserand is into financing drug-trafficking, big time. Did you
know?”

Gillespie didn’t answer for a moment. “How the fuck do you know
that?”

“Lucky guess and that tells me you’re in it with him.”

“Rubbish! What if he’s been arrested? Put out of business? I
haven’t heard from him, not a word!!” Gillespie complained.

“Weber committed suicide last week,” Parker said. “That’s why
you haven’t heard from him.”

“Weber? What are you talking about? He’s been dead years.”

“Don’t you get it Kel? Tisserand is or rather was Weber. One and
the same.”

Gillespie went pale and his hands shook uncontrollably. He
slumped into his chair.

“How do you know? How the fuck do you know?” He screamed at
Parker.

“Agnes Weber told me,” Parker lied. “The Luxembourg Police rang
her last week.”

“Oh, my god. I’ve lost everything.” Gillespie said in despair.
“Now she’ll make trouble for me over the bribery thing.”

Parker decided to put Gillespie out of his misery.

“If Agnes wants to dob you in over the bribe, let her. She’ll
have to come up with evidence. She’ll say that you gave her an
envelope to hand to Robinson. So what? If she says it had $10,000
in it, how did she know? Who’s going to prove that the money came
from you? A good QC can make mincemeat out of her. Forget about
Agnes. And you can forget about Tisserand too. He wanted to bring
you down by killing your reputation.”

“What for?”

“Revenge, that’s what drove the Webers. But I’m not convinced it
was just only for what your father did. Julius killed him. But that
didn’t end things. He wanted you dead too.”

Gillespie lit up again and stared out the window. His shoulders
were still slumped when he turned. Parker saw the agony in his
face.

“You poor bastard,” Parker said. “You know why!”

“Get fucked. He’s dead and that’s the end of it. Now I’ll never
get my money back.”

“Not necessarily Kel. Now listen to what I’ve got to say. I’ll
save your bacon. In exchange this is what I want.”

Twenty minutes later, he left a much-relieved Gillespie.

 

The casino construction was running behind schedule and that
gave Parker additional time to put his scheme into operation. The
opening ceremony for the new casino, still a year away, would serve
an additional purpose. He went home to the apartment, a very happy
man. Something in the décor was different but Parker couldn’t put
his finger on it at first.

Acaria knew: “What’s different?”

“Flowers?”

“No. Cold.”

Parker looked at the walls. That was it. Three of the framed
posters had been replaced by landscapes. The scenery looked
familiar.

“That’s the bridge at Bettendorf,” Parker remarked and had a
closer look. “A water colour.”

“I brought them with me and had them framed. Do you like
them?”

“Yes. But I’m not an art critic.”

“The framer thinks I have potential.”

“You painted them, Ria! I think they are superb. You captured
the forests real nice. The still life looks good.”

“They are reminders of home.”

“You’ll find plenty to paint on the island,” Parker
promised.

“Are we going soon?”

“Yes. Gillespie’s lawyers will need a couple of days to put
wheels in motion for my proposition.”

“Are you going partners?”

“No. But you are if you want to.”

“Tell me more.”

“The two lines in the poem:

The lovers fight with paper sword

Morpheus’s minions and their lord.

The fight started with the Luxembourg newspaper ads. If you want
to, Gillespie and I will give you the funds for a Foundation to
help people like Florian.”

“Worldwide? That would take many millions,” Acaria thought.

“I have a spare $190 million to invest. It’s ironic. Fighting
them with their own money. Gillespie will lend his name and money
as well.”

“So how does this Foundation work?”

“That’ll be up to you. Gillespie thinks it might be a good idea
to launch it when the new casino opens.”

“I accept. Better get busy then. Can I use your computer,
please?”

 

They met Gillespie in his office. He was at his charming best
especially with Acaria who had submitted her proposal meanwhile.
Gillespie introduced his personal legal adviser who addressed the
meeting.

“If all agree, the Foundation will be a private company
registered in Sydney. It will have $200 million capital contributed
by Miss Denton and Mr. Gillespie. It will be administered by a
board of directors with Miss Denton as chairperson. The company
will have as its aims and objectives drug education, treatment and
creation of employment opportunities in Australia and elsewhere.
There is the matter of a name for the company.”

Denise who had been keeping notes suggested ‘Second chance’.
“That’s what you’re really doing. Giving people a second
chance.”

“Second Chance Foundation it is,” Acaria declared.

“I’ll draw up the documents for you to have a look at and if you
agree, sign and return them,” the solicitor said.

“I don’t have a permanent address yet.”

Acaria looked at Parker. As much as he hated the idea of making
their whereabouts known, it was convenient to have correspondence
sent to Acaria care of the Hamilton Island Post Office. He decided
to compensate for that concession with increased protection and
went shopping alone for gadgets and to find a portrait painter.

 

Hamilton Island looked from the air the tropical paradise Acaria
had always imagined. She couldn’t wait to get out of the
airport.

“I want to smell a frangipani. Before I do anything else.”

“Happy to oblige.”

The taxi pulled up outside the supermarket that organised
delivery of Parker’s groceries, vegetables and household needs.
Acaria looked at him askance.

“Close your eyes,” Parker said and led her by the hand into the
shop and stopped at the plant stall. He held a plant under her
nose.

“Take a whiff.”

“That’s beautiful. Is it a frangipani?”

“Yes. For you to plant.”

Acaria hugged and kissed him.

“What are you looking at?” Parker snapped at a passing shopper
and walked to the trolley bay.

“Fill up your trolley. I’ll have a word with Kosta about
delivery.”

 

“Hey!!” The manger had spotted Parker, walked over to them and
greeted him with open arms.

“Good to see you, Will.”

“Good to see you too,” Park replied and returned the cordial
back slaps.

“This is a friendly place,” Acaria commented.

“Acaria this is Kosta. He runs the place.”

“Anything you want? I can get,” Kosta offered.

“When can you deliver?”

“Come with me to the office,” Kosta replied and winked.

“Go on without me, Acaria,” Parker said. “I’ll be with you in a
sec.”

“I didn’t want to say anything in front of the lady,” Kosta
said.

“What’s up?”

“Remember when you came here? To tell you if anyone asks funny
questions.”

“Yes.”

“Well, a couple of days ago, a woman asks about deliveries to an
island. I ask her which one. She said she was only asking.”

“A bit odd.”

“Yeah. She come again yesterday. Wanted to know if she buys a
food hamper for Mr. Parker, who would deliver it.”

“What did you say, Kosta?”

“I ask her why you want to know. Just buy it lady.”

“She did?”

“Na, only talk. Silly cow,” Kosta complained.

“What did she look like?”

“Under 50. Elegant, classy clothes. Not a local. No tan. Not my
type,” Kosta laughed.

“Not mine either. I’ll give you my mobile number. Ring me when
she comes back.”

“Sure, Will. You stopping in town?”

“Yes. For a couple of days. Then home.”

 

He met up with Acaria at the dairy counter.

“There isn’t a boat for a couple of days. Let’s buy only cans
and dry goods today and come back for the perishables.”

“Oh, I was so looking forward to seeing your island today,”
Acaria pouted.

“No problem. Ever been in a helicopter?”

 

The rainsqualls eased near Edward Ireland, in time for Acaria to
make out the outline of her new world. “It’s beautiful,” she said
over the helicopter din.” I’m going to love it here.”

The sun was out when the helicopter touched down. Acaria took
off her sandals and ran to the jetty. She watched as Parker took
the picnic hamper the pilot handed him. He followed her footprints,
sat next to her and waited for the helicopter to depart.

“It’s so quiet and peaceful. We are the only two people in the
world.”

“Welcome to my island.”

“I love this silence,” Acaria admitted. “It’s so different from
the city.”

Acaria stretched out on the rough jetty planks and turned her
face to the sun.

“You know what really intrigued me about you?”

“My charms, good looks and…” Parker quipped but Acaria was
serious.

“That too. When we first met. You look at things quite
differently from the men I knew. I’ve figured it out. It’s the
expression on your face when you look into the distance. Like just
now. The little squint when you look at the horizon.”

“I was looking at your island. Over to the left. That’s
yours.”

“I want to see your house first. Show me the way.”

 

Acaria inspected his bachelor quarters and expressed surprise at
the comfort and appliances Parker had accumulated over the years.
She noticed the old farmhouse.

“Who lives there?”

“No one now. Go over and have a look.”

 

By the time Acaria returned, Parker had set the dining table and
opened of bottle of chilled white.

“You have a generator?”

“Solar and a generator for backup. All the comforts of
home.”

“Are these your own avocadoes?”

“Yes.”

“You spoil me, Will.”

“I’m looking forward to having vespers with you,” Parker
replied.

“Vespers! We haven’t even finished lunch!”

“Kosta has a pretty good deli. Might have to invest in a deep
freezer. What do you think?”

“Am I going to share your house? I don’t want to be too far away
from you ever again. The old house would do me for a studio and
private space,” Acaria remarked.

“Sure. Studio?”

“I want to take up painting. Seriously. But first, let’s
christen your bed.”

 

Acaria heard the helicopter in the distance and hurried back to
the house. Parker was seated on the veranda and watched her
approach. She ran the last few steps and embraced him.

“I love your world. The sunrise is what you said it would
be.”

“I’ll show you the sunset over Hamilton Island. Let’s go. “

 

On landing at Hamilton Island, Parker checked his mobile phone
messages. Kosta’s message brought him back to reality.  The
woman who had asked about him had returned. Acaria saw Parker’s
expression change.

“You look worried.”

“Someone’s looking for me.”

“Who knows you’re here?”

“I think it’s Agnes,” Parker revealed.

“A woman? Is there something you haven’t told me? Like a
wife?”

“I’ve never been married, silly. Agnes Weber. Julius Weber’s
daughter. Tisserand.”

“Is that a complication? Are you worried about her?”

“Concerned. What’s she after?”

“Something you have maybe?” Acaria suggested.

“Can’t imagine what it could be. Tisserand is dead. There’s
nothing to connect him with me that Agnes knows about.”

“What now?”

“Nothing. We go back to the motel and go shopping tomorrow.”

“You said there wouldn’t be a boat for a couple of days,” Acaria
reminded him.

“There’s more than one boat.”

 

The motel receptionist handed Parker a small envelope addressed
W. Parker, Hamilton Island. Parker read the note and handed it to
Acaria.

“Are you going to meet her?”

“Nothing much else I can do,” Parker said.

“Then I’m coming too. We’re in this together. The sunset can
wait.”

“We have a good two hours to check out Gillespie’s finances. So
far, I’ve only looked at his racing account,” Parker said.

“What else do you have?”

“Files of all transactions when his laptop is docked at the
office. We can also access his most recent activities from the key
logger. It would help to find out where he does all his banking. If
only I knew someone who…” Parker joked.

“Ha, ha. But before that, let me see if my passe-partout card is
still active.”

“What card is that?”

“Passe-partout is my master key that lets me open all Steinlicht
accounts,” Acaria explained. “And I have access to other records as
well. But all my activity will be recorded. So, don’t ask for funny
business.”

 

By the time they were ready to meet Agnes, Acaria had a
spreadsheet of Gillespie’s transactions over recent weeks. Bank
accounts in the Cook Islands, Luxembourg, Switzerland, Cayman
Islands and in the Virgin Islands revealed Gillespie’s extensive
network. The vast amounts transferred in and out into came as a
considerable shock to them both.

“Now what?” Acaria wondered.

“Where’s all this leading to? I have no idea. What’s driving the
man? His father must have left him millions. He’s worth 100 times
that now!”

“We have to be very careful,” Acaria cautioned.

“I know. We can’t go ahead with the Foundation. He must be
laughing at us. What a fool I am. I’ve given him the $130 million
he said Tisserand owed him. I wonder.”

“Leave that for later. Let’s go and meet Agnes.”

 

The waiter showed them to the motel’s private dining room Agnes
had reserved. She stood at a window that gave a spectacular view of
the setting sun. She turned to Parker and said: “I understand now
why you like the island so much. How are you, Will?”

“Fine. Acaria Denton, meet Agnes Webb. Or would you prefer
Weber?” Parker said sarcastically.

“Pleased to me you, Acaria. Dad has mentioned your name but I
think he has done you an injustice.”

“How is that?”

“I think you had nothing to do with the missing Amphora
money.”

“Is that what you want to discuss?” Parker snapped.

Acaria touched his arm and looked at Agnes.

“I don’t think Agnes has come to pick a fight.”

“That’s quite perceptive, Acaria,” Agnes replied and walked to
the table. “Let’s drink to? What shall we drink to, Will?”

“Truth,” Parker said and as an afterthought: “Justice.”

“Truth and justice then,” Agnes agreed and raised her glass.

“Truth. I have a great deal to tell but feel free to interrupt.
Perhaps I’ll start with my arrest in Gillespie’s office. You sure
got things wrong that day,” Agnes said.

Truth from Agnes, the accomplished liar? Agnes wanted something
he had or knew. Why else look him up? He hated her for the
intrusion and wanted her out of his life. The sooner the better.
She started soft-soaping him with explanations of matters he no
longer cared about but he listened out of politeness. It didn't
matter to him whether she told the truth or lied. She hadn’t bribed
Robinson. Knew nothing of money-laundering until Goldner told her.
Parker had it all wrong. Gillespie had told him nothing but lies.
The share swindle, not the father but Kelvin. AW was Alan Wheaton,
the corporate secretary.

“Off course! How stupid of me,” Parker admitted. Agnes wanted
him to believe that Gillespie had used him. And that Gillespie had
convinced her father that he was under suspicion for Claude’s
aircraft accident. The police could easily establish revenge as the
motive. After all, Claude had swindled him. And how the family
suffered. Gillespie had made it easy for her father to make his
fortune overseas but the money never made up for not having a
father. Agnes was really getting upset and Acaria comforted her as
the tears flowed. The guilt trip. Beware!

“Sorry about the waterworks.”

More soft-soaping: Weber hadn’t known he was investing in
drug-trafficking until it was too late. Gillespie prevented him
from coming back to Australia by threatening to inform the police
in two countries. Gillespie was to blame for everything.

Parker cut her short for he knew that Agnes would table Weber’s
death next. He wasn’t going to fall for the guilt trip.

“I was a willing tool. I want to say how sorry I am for your
father suicide. Please accept my condolences,” Parker said with
fake sincerity.

Agnes smiled. “You can tell him in person.”

Parker was stunned. He looked and Agnes and Acaria.

“The Luxembourg police…”

“Staged his suicide. Dad was able to come home, thanks to you.
He’s collaborating with the AFP.”

Soft-soaping, the guilt trip and now shock tactics. Nice
move!

“You can start by giving me back my money,” a voice said from
behind.

“Julius!” Parker stood up and shook Weber’s left hand.

“I’m sorry for deceiving you. Rossler told me that our
conversation had been recorded. I didn’t want to die in a
Luxembourg gaol. So really I have you to thank for giving me the
idea of rolling over,” Weber said.

“I suppose Rossler talked you into staging the suicide?” Parker
wondered.

“No. It was my idea. I wanted to go home. Figured I could talk
you into giving me back my money,” Weber explained.

“I’m glad it worked out the way it did. I told Gillespie of your
suicide. He’s off your back,” Parker assured him.

Now he knew what the two of them were after. Money! What else!
And if that’s what it took for them to go away, so be it.

 

“You can have all the money that’s left over after I paid
Gillespie what he claimed was his. I want none of it. None of your
$100 million. It’s all dirty money.”

 

 

Chapter 9

 

I want to go home! The confrontation with the Webers
would soon be forgotten. Acaria stood in the bow of the fishing
boat and waited anxiously for it to turn east between the two small
islands. Approaching their big island by sea was a new experience
and she wanted to savour the moment when their island came into
view.

Onboard was her furniture, a new kitchen and many items she had
ordered to make her new life comfortable. They spend the afternoon
unloading and ferrying her belongings to the jetty. It was hard,
hot and tiring work carrying everything to the old farmhouse by
hand. They stood tired and sweaty at the jetty and waved the
fishing boat goodbye as it disappeared in the shimmering glorious
redness of the setting sun.

They had brought with them a cold seafood banquet for their
celebration dinner on the island. Parker insisted on cooking chilli
prawns on his new four-burner barbecue while Acaria prepared a
home-grown salad. She had chosen French wine and champagne and a
Kir Apéritif. Parker sipped the drink with appreciation but would
have much preferred a bundy and coke to white wine with
blackcurrant juice. He showed off his skill in taking mud crabs to
pieces and helped Acaria get the last bits of meat from a crayfish.
They cleared the dishes together and tossed the table scraps into
the sea.

The air was still warm but a gentle breeze across the water made
Acaria shiver. She turned and kissed him tenderly.

“Thank you for a beautiful day. You even ordered a romantic
moon.”

They walked to the house holding hands as far as the front door.
Acaria paused and invited Parker to carry her across the threshold
and into the bedroom. Two large candles made her shadow dance as
Acaria undressed with her back towards him. She turned and walked
over to the bed. Parker watched her backlit loveliness approach and
stood up but Acaria pushed him back gently.

“I want to imagine that this is the first time for me. And you,”
Acaria whispered and drew his face to the flat of her stomach.

“How far have you let me go until now?”

“I let you touch my breasts.”

“And your nipples?”

“With my bras on, yes.”

“So now I can kiss them. Suck them even a little?” Parker
begged.

“That feels good. You can go a little harder, if you like.”

“So what am I doing with my hands?” Parker wondered.

“You can explore where I wouldn’t let you before.”

Acaria lifted the bed covers and made room for Parker to lie
next to her. He closed his eyes because Acaria wanted him to as she
guided his hand.

“Just touch me on the outside,” Acaria asked and put her hand
over his. He could feel his fingers becoming moist under their
touch together when Acaria raised her hips.

“I want you. Not your fingers this time. Come on top,” her voice
husky and inviting.

Acaria pushed against him a little at first and withdrew. Then a
little deeper, a little deeper still, in and out when Parker asked
for more. Acaria wanted the gentleness still.

“Let me do it this way. It’s perfect like this.”

Parker enjoyed the sensuality of a woman exploring him and
welcomed Acaria’s deepening thrusts while still urging him to wait.
Finally, Acaria’s hands reached out, pulled him deeply inside and
held him there.

“I can feel you coming. Thank you for waiting,” she sighed.

There were strands of wet hair on Acaria’s forehead and beads of
sweat between her breasts. Parker tasted the saltiness and kissed
his way towards her middle.

“Oh! This is different from my first time!” Acaria admitted.
“So, so… naughty. I’m not sure I want you to go further,” she
kidded.

“You taste of me,” Parker said. “And truffles.”

“Sensational?” Acaria guessed: “Keep going.”

“We’ll celebrate again after we christen your house,” Parker
suggested.

“I don’t want to wait that long! Tell me Will: what was your
first time like?”

“Best forgotten, simply awful,” Parker laughed.

“Anyone for seconds?”

 

Parker hadn’t heard Acaria rise to watch the sunrise. He was
listing to the sounds of the day waking when Acaria snuggled up and
whispered in his ear, anxious not to break the spell. Parker’s face
broke into a beaming smile.

 

The old farmhouse really looked a treat, they both agreed. They
had spent an enjoyable month renovating and decorating. Parker had
not felt guilty at all about lashing out on more power tools and
machinery. He also put to good use his carpentry and handyman
skills to make Acaria’s Plumeria a reality. They had also reworked
the vegetable garden, pruned old trees and added to the range of
vegetables and to their self-sufficiency.

Parker had put a final touch to the studio and led Acaria to the
farmhouse when she came back from her afternoon swim. The sun was
low on the horizon and bathed the farmhouse in a golden, orange
glow.

“Close your eyes, no peeking,” Parker asked as they walked
through the french doors.

“What’s the surprise?”

“You can open your eyes now.”

Acaria stared at her portrait, speechless. The artist had caught
the erotic mood astonishingly well from the digital photos Parker
had taken at the Bettendorf inn. Acaria’s face was in partial
shadow but her smouldering eyes promised and partly open lips
unashamedly showed the afterglow of intimacies felt or perhaps
pleasures soon to be had? Her right hand rested on the mantle piece
as she faced the viewer. A lightly bent left arm did not altogether
conceal the roundness of her breast. Her skin was even more aglow
now in the late afternoon sun. The side-on view and left foot
tiptoe stance teased the viewer to read more into the dark patch
between her thighs than there really was.

My memory of love.

Parker stood rapt and didn’t notice that Acaria had moved and
now stood next to him. She put her arms around his middle and
leaned her head against his shoulder.

“It’s very me. Isn’t it?” Acaria confirmed.

“A turn on,” Parker agreed.

“I can see that,” Acaria said feeling his erection.

“Let me thank you for the lovely surprise.”

“It’s like seeing you for the first time. Again. “You don’t mind
her watching?” Parker joked.

“I know how she feels,” Acaria confessed. “Tell me, how did you
imagine your first time to be like?” Acaria asked.

“I’ve been waiting for the right moment to tell you,” Parker
said and his face broke into a beaming smile.

“I was about thirteen I think. I remember dreaming and waking up
with a very painful hard on. I didn’t exactly know what to do next
and…”

Acaria interrupted. “Let me imagine for you. You reached…”

“That’s what I did.”

“And then you started to…”

“Slowly at first and then I…”

Acaria kneeled in front of him.

“That’s not what happened,” Parker objected playfully. “But
don’t stop now,” he urged and gave in.

“Salt, cinnamon,” Acaria pointed out when he was done. “With a
hint of wild champignons.” She paused for a moment and with a
wicked smile asked:

“Do you like vanilla ice-cream?”

 

Parker gave Acaria a big surprise birthday present: a satellite
dish, news and an entertainment subscription that brought the world
to their doorstep. But it highlighted her isolation even more. She
loved the outside world for the first few weeks but stopped
watching because it interfered with her painting. Parker once asked
her about homesickness but was reassured to hear that her life was
here, with him. All they needed was around them and nearby. Movies,
opera, restaurants and the city lights were only hours away. They
could fly to any European city whenever they wanted.

But it was not the same. Acaria missed the impulse of an
expensive manicure, the spur of the moment shopping for nothing in
particular. Not all the time mind you, just sometimes,
occasionally. She remembered the bustle and jostling of people
window shopping, speaking her language, waiting for the first snow
and cursing the spring thaw. It would be really nice to snuggle up
with her lover under a huge eiderdown, butter fresh croissants for
breakfast and dunk them in hot chocolate.

But these were idle moments thoughts, which she did not have now
that she was busy putting together an exhibition. It was demanding
and exiting work. They had flown to Brisbane for supplies and
equipment needed for Parker to become Acaria’s picture framer.
Parker had reserved one of Acaria’s exhibits, an oil painting, with
the gallery owner. It was just as well—the exhibition at the Ocean
View Gallery was a sell-out. The Webers bought three watercolours.
Agnes had pulled Acaria aside with the sad news that Julius was
very ill and dying. He no longer wanted revenge, only peace. Agnes
was to take him to Western Australia, to Kalgoorlie once more to
touch the rocks that had been his life, to feel the sand under his
feet and Spinifex grass brush against his trouser leg.

***

 

Kalgoorlie had changed a great deal from the way Agnes
remembered it as a young woman. They hired a four-wheel-drive and
drove past the family home. The primary school still looked the
same. She couldn’t find the High School at the intersection with
Hay Street, now a supermarket and service station. Older
schoolmates had dared her to walk down Hay Street with them. They
had giggled and run past ordinary looking houses shouting
‘brothel’, ‘brothel’. It was a new word but Agnes understood it was
a naughty thing to do. She must have looked very guilty because she
had answered her mother truthfully and promised not to do it
again.

She pointed out familiar landmarks and the ones that had
disappeared as they neared the town centre. But her father’s mind
was elsewhere. She followed his directions and headed for the old
Gillespie nickel mine. There was now little left the old plant;
only vandalised sheds and rusted conveyors. She found the dirt
track he described and led him in the direction past the
crushers.

He gently brushed her helping arm away and with the aid of the
walking stick, walked up the dirt track with Agnes at a respectful
distance. He turned and looked around.

“Tell me when I come to the bend.”

“You’re nearly there. Just a little bit further.”

He walked on much more sure footed and pointed to the right.
“Can you see a track?”

“I think so. It’s quite overgrown.”

“Can you see two big boulders? The track should run between
them.”

“Yes I can, Dad. Let me take you by the hand. It’s quite
stony.”

The old man stood with his back against a large rock, palms
touching and feeling the familiar surface. He smiled and startled
Agnes with two secret tears rolling down his hollow cheeks.

“Does this place make you sad?”

“Just the opposite,” he said and pushed himself upright.

“I was thinking of your Mum. We used to come up here at
lunchtime. Grubscrews.”

“Dad!” Agnes reproached him. “That’s gross.”

“Your mum was…”

“Dad! Dad!  I don’t want to know,” Agnes shouted and
started walking back.

“Hey! Wait for me. I might get lost.”

“In your dreams,” Agnes said.

 

Agnes did as her father asked and parked near the Post Office.
She found three ‘Houseman’ listings in the telephone directory and
made a note of the addresses.

“Is there a B Houseman?” Weber asked.

“Yes,” Agnes said and gave him the addresses.

“Don’t know where that is. Let’s ask at the motel.”

 

The next morning, Agnes drove him to Bingara Court. She would
have much preferred to phone first but Weber didn’t want to.
Curiosity got the better of Agnes.

“This is not an old flame or something?”

“More like something. I want to look up Brenda. She would be in
her 70s if it’s her. Quite a dish in her time.”

“I’m sorry to come unannounced,” Agnes said to the woman who
answered the door.

“I’m Agnes Weber. My father Julius is in the car.”

“Ask him in,” the woman replied and shouted: “Come in
Julius.”

“So far so good,” Agnes said to her father and led him through
the front gate.

“Brenda!” Weber said and opened his arms.

“Long time no see, Julius!” Brenda looked at him and smiled.
”You didn’t top yourself then?”

“Just a rumour!”

“I though so too.”

“Come, Agnes. Give us a hand in the kitchen,” Brenda said.

“Sure.”

“You’re wondering where I fit in?” Brenda guessed.

“Dad wanted to come back here. I didn’t ask why. He’s not well,
you know,” Agnes remarked.

“I’m sorry to hear that. I met him as a 17 year old,” Brenda
revealed.

Agnes frowned and the corners of her mouth turned down.

“You don’t have to explain.”

“You think there was something between us?” Brenda laughed and
put three mugs of coffee on a tray.

“Hey, Jules. Agnes thinks you and I…”

“No I don’t,” Agnes objected. “It’s all in the past anyway.”

“The past has caught up with us, Brenda. It’s not all that
pleasant and I apologise if it brings bad memories,” Weber
said.

“It’s about Colin, isn’t it?”

Weber nodded.

“I so hoped that he would turn out different. He had a terrific
start in life. Much better than I could have given him.”

Brenda saw the puzzled look on Agnes’s face and said to
Weber:

“She doesn’t know about Colin?”

“She knows him by a different name.”

“I gave birth to Colin in 1946 over at the Boulder hospital. I
was 17 and my parents wouldn’t have me back. It wouldn’t have been
much of a life anyway working in a milk bar. The Gillespies adopted
him and brought him up as Kelvin. But your dad knows that
anyway.”

 

Weber explained that he knew that Claude and Mary had adopted a
baby boy but not that Brenda was the mother. Claude told Kelvin,
the day before his 21st birthday, that he was adopted. But Kelvin
already knew and had kept quiet. He made a terrible scene. He had
been to the registry office months earlier to get a birth
certificate for his passport application. There was no record of
his birth, no birth abstract. He argued that this was impossible as
he knew where and when he was born and the name of his parents. An
embarrassed clerk asked him to wait. Kelvin became suspicious when
half an hour later, he was handed a birth certificate made out on
that particular day. He put two and two together. Kelvin never set
foot in Kalgoorlie again until Claude’s funeral.

“You see, when Colin was adopted, the birth entry was blocked to
protect the biological parents. But then Colin found my name in the
adoption papers and contacted me,” Brenda said and turned her face
away.

There was bitterness in her voice when she told them about
herself, an impressionable 16 year-old. All she knew about sex was
what her girlfriends knew. Then one day Jimmy Sharman’s boxing
troupe came to town. He was touring country fairs and agricultural
shows. For 5 shillings admission to the tent, the public watched
his boxers take on locals for a two-pound purse. Brenda hung around
the tent when one of the boxers caught her eye. He let her sneak
into the tent and watch him win both fights that afternoon.

Colin Fletcher had been Sharman’s only white boxer, who took on
all comers, no matter what weight. The aboriginal boxers fought
according to weight. Colin was twenty-five, had been a golden
gloves champion but wasn’t good enough for a professional
career.

“I fell for his charm, the good looks and the excitement of a
man’s attention. We had a one-night stand. He was gone the next
day. My Dad kicked me out when he found out I was pregnant. My Mum
gave me some money and I followed him to Broome. I traipsed behind
him to Perth, then Albany even though he wanted nothing to do with
me. Every stop was the same story. He knew how to chat up women and
drink and gamble.”

Brenda touched the right side of her face. Not surprisingly,
Fletcher didn’t want her hanging around and spoil his fun.

“One night, he smacked me on the face and sent me sprawling. I
went home but my father didn’t want to know me. Mum came to the
hospital and talked me into giving up the baby.”

“Brenda did some babysitting for us and housework. We would have
liked to have her as a housekeeper, but our budget didn’t run to
that,” Weber said.

“I wanted a much better paying job. It was easier than I
thought,” Brenda joked. “But you’re wrong about him not coming back
to Kalgoorlie. He’s been to see me twice. He phoned me a few days
after his 21st birthday. It was a shock for both of us. He wanted a
meeting but I was too ashamed. But he found me anyway. He did a
decent thing. Bought me a house and has paid me an allowance ever
since for retiring from Hay Street. And my silence.”

“You said that Kelvin came to see you twice,” Agnes wondered.
“Was that when he came to the funeral?”

“No. I only saw him there from a distance. He had been at the
house a few days earlier and stayed the night.” Brenda replied. “He
wanted to know more about his father.”

Agnes and her father looked at each other. “Can you recall the
exact day? It’s important.”

“I remember hearing on the radio the next evening that Claude
Gillespie’s plane had gone missing.”

“Where was Kelvin then?”

“Don’t know Julius. I presume he flew back to Perth.”

“Did you see him arrive?”

“He phoned me from the airport. I picked him up.”

“And did you give him a lift in the morning?” Weber asked.

“No. I had breakfast by myself.”

 

Agnes ran into Acaria at the supermarket a few days after her
Kalgoorlie trip. Weber had been admitted to a Sydney hospice
meanwhile and was unlikely to make the casino opening. When Agnes
rang Acaria from Sydney, it was sad news. Julius had been laid to
rest, next to Ilse, at the general cemetery.

Their peace was interrupted again with a letter from Gillespie’s
solicitor. Acaria read it and handed Parker the single page.

“Unexpected complications, difficulty in registration,
unfavourable tax implications my foot,” Parker commented.

“He’s changed his mind. I still want the Foundation,” Acaria
replied. “I think Agnes would too.”

“Agnes giving money away?”

“Yes. She told me that Weber’s dying wish was for her to redress
the wrongs he had done.”

“Conscience money, eh?”

“I’ll take it. The Foundation needs it.”

“You’ll have your Foundation and I’ll get you the funds,” Parker
promised.

The letter did not surprise Agnes because far as she knew,
Gillespie had never donated to any cause. “He’s a predator. He
loves taking on others like him. As much for what he can take from
them as the challenge. Like two dogs fighting over a bone. Or a
bitch. If somebody wants to pick a fight, he’ll be in it. Just like
his father.”

“That doesn’t sound like the Claude Gillespie you talked about
before,” Parker objected.

“You don’t know. Sorry Will. The Gillespies adopted Kelvin. Dad
knows Kelvin’s mother who told us about Kelvin’s biological father.
He was Colin Fletcher, a Jimmy Sharman tent boxer who took on all
comers.”

“There is a Midnight Oil song about them!” Parker exclaimed. “My
Dad couldn’t stand Peter Garrett’s singing. He told me about Jimmy
Sharman’s boxers at the Royal Easter Show. He offered $10 to anyone
who could last three rounds with his aboriginal boxers. Dad
remembered watching Sharman’s last show in 1970. Mum hated it. She
waited outside in the rain holding an umbrella over herself and me
in a pram rather than watch men beat each other to pulp.”

“Fletcher was long dead by then,” Agnes said.

Acaria shook her head in disbelief. “How barbaric!”

“So you reckon Kelvin takes after his old man?” Parker looked at
Agnes.

“I think so. He asked his mother about him.”

“Forewarned is forearmed. Acaria, do you still want to continue
with the Foundation?”

“Yes, more than ever,” Acaria agreed.

“So do I. I can contribute a few million,” Agnes said. “I know
it’s dirty money but at least it’s money going to a good
cause?”

“I found this amongst my father’s papers. It’s the flight plan
Gillespie filed in Perth. It shows his route Perth
–Merredin-Davyhurst-Kapinga Station-380 miles.”

“He would have had enough fuel for the outward leg, but not for
the return,” Parker commented.

“Dad wanted to clear that up before he skipped the country. He
hired a private investigator. There was no evidence that Gillespie
refuelled at any of these places. He was back in Perth the day
Claude disappeared.”

“So he must have used fuel from Claude’s plane,” Acaria
said.

“Very likely. Especially after what Kelvin’s mum said. You’ve
got to promise me Will that you will not put Brenda Houseman at
risk. Kelvin spent the night before Claude disappeared at her
house.”

“Now you have to be even more careful,” Acaria begged. “Please
Will, don’t take him on.”

 

 

 

Chapter 10

 

“Get your arse down here,” Gillespie growled.

“Yes, sir.”

“Don’t call me sir,” Gillespie reminded him.

“See you in 10 minutes,” Parker said.

“You in Sydney?”

“Obviously.”

“Get stuffed.”

Gillespie’s call had come as expected. Parker had spent
overnight in the apartment alone. He had slept badly because he
missed Acaria and because he was anxious. The showdown with
Gillespie had come earlier than he wanted. He put the mobile and
laptop into a carry bag and locked the apartment door.

He only got as far as ground floor reception in Gillespie’s
office block. All security passes to Gillespie’s floor had been
cancelled. A security guard confiscated his pass, handed him a
temporary pass and accompanied him upstairs. Denise barely looked
up and mumbled: “Go right in.”

“Some bastard’s frozen my accounts,” Gillespie blurted out.

“Good morning, Kelvin. I’m well, thank you for asking.”

“Don’t play fucking games with me,” Gillespie warned.

“Same here, pal.” Park walked up to the desk and challenged:

“So you want me to get you out of the shit again.”

“That’s your job.”

“Not any more. I told you that last time.”

“So why are you here?” Gillespie said defensively.

“To settle scores.”

“Don’t threaten me,” Gillespie warned. But then his tone became
conciliatory. “I can’t call in the IT people. I don’t want them to
know my business. I can trust you.”

“No you can’t and I can’t trust you either,” Parker said. “Not
any more. I’m calling the shots.”

“Bullshit. You’ve got nothing on me.”

“Wrong, Kel. I’ve got you by the balls. But you’ve got only
yourself to blame.”

“Are you taking me on?” Gillespie hissed.

“Yes. I’ve come to finish what Weber started.”

“Ah! Fucken hell! This is ancient history,” Gillespie said
throwing his hands in the air.

“Listen, Kelvin! I want to play fair. But before I tell you the
rules, I really want to understand what’s driving you. You’ve got
tens of millions in the bank, two casinos and God knows how many
other companies. So why are you into drug-trafficking?”

Gillespie protested but Parker wouldn’t have any of it.

“You’ve lied to me all along. You knew about Goldner’s
money-laundering runs. I bet you spit chips when I closed the Cook
Island account. But you couldn’t blame me because that would have
been an admission. The money is still all there by the way. So
Goldner robbed you of $20 million because Amphora held him
responsible for losing $18 million plus interest. So I stole from
Weber to pay back the $20 million Goldner had stolen from you to
pay back the $18 million I took. How stupid of me! It was all your
fucking money in the first place!”

“You had no right to meddle.”

“My intention, rightly or wrongly, was to protect you, because
to my mind the money-laundering becoming public would have killed
your casino tender chances,” Parker explained.

“So what? Everything worked out fine. I’ve got my money back,
the casino opens next week and you got your $2 million fee. What
are you whingeing about?”

“Harmsen. Jake Harmsen died because of you and me.”

“You’re wasting my time going over old ground,” Gillespie
growled. “You’re really testing my patience.”

“OK, Kelvin. You’re a gambler, big time. Indulge me. Where did
it all start?”

“If I tell you, will you help with my accounts? Promise?”

“Promise.”

“When I finished primary school in Kalgoorlie, Dad took me to
Perth and the races. And that was it. I saw him win. He was alive.
Others lost. I asked him why. He played the stock market just like
the horses and won because he knew more than the others. He placed
a bet for me. I won. What a buzz. I was hooked. I ran a book at my
first high school. Watching others lose was an even bigger buzz. I
got kicked out when one of the teachers ratted on me. He was into
me for three weeks’ wages. He paid. Same in another private school.
And another, that time for punching the deputy principal’s lights
out. He paid too.”

“Handy with your fists. Just like your father,” Parker said.

“Claude? Never.”

“No. Colin Fletcher,” Parker said and watched Gillespie turn
pale. He puffed nervously, stubbed out the cigarette and lit
another.

“You know about him? I knew you were dangerous. I just didn’t
know how dangerous. Too much for my liking and I think it’s going
to cost me. Is it?”

“I’ll play fair,” Parker promised. “Fairer than you when you
made a killing on Poseidon shares.”

“Dad paid his stockbroker to hire me. A learned a lot. It was a
crazy time. People made and lost millions. The partners were so
busy trading on their own account that they didn’t have time for
their customers. In those days, information came by telephone and
teleprinter. Most people in the office were too lazy to be there at
6 o’clock when the Melbourne and Sydney stock market opened. Not
me.”

“Skip the early years. I know about the Gillespie Nickel
swindle. What interests me more is why you weren’t satisfied with
what you had.”

“Why does a man want to be the gun shearer? Because he wants to
be better than anyone else. Because it feels good. When you’re top
dog, you can piss on everybody. I drove three bookmakers to the
wall. And then I came up against a bigger player and lost.”

“And you couldn’t take that.”

“Right. There was only way to make the sort of money I needed to
take him on again. It took five years. I financed drug imports and
doubled my money with every trade. That was until you interfered,
you arsehole. Do you know what it feels like to place a $10,000
bet?”

“No I don’t, Kel. I don’t need that sort of excitement.”

“It’s nothing compared with having a $1 million riding on the
next throw of the dice. Or the next card. Your heart’s jumping out
of your chest. It’s about going head to head with another player or
a casino that will let me in,” Gillespie boasted. “I can take on
all comers. Bring them on!”

“So you win. Big deal! You’re just another adrenalin junkie,”
Parker said.

“And what are you?” Gillespie challenged.

“A happy man,” Parker admitted. “Tell me, Kelvin: How will you
end up? Like Colin Fletcher who took on one too many comers?”

“Fast Fist Fletcher. That’s what he called himself. Poor
bastard. He wasn’t very fast when I caught up with him. The
battering in the ring had scrambled his brain and courage from the
bottle put an end to him. He was a 49-year-old dero hanging round
Jimmy Sharman’s tent. I put him in an old people’s home.”

“Thanks, Kel for helping me understand. Because people like you
finance drug-trafficking, people die. Like my friend James and
Florian. They were real people that you don’t know or care about.
The Second Chance Foundation will make a difference. So how about
coming good with your earlier offer?”

“No. Get on with it. Fix my bank accounts. I don’t give to
charity.”

“Don’t think of it as charity. More like paying tax.
Contributing to community welfare.”

“Get stuffed.”

“Pity you feel that way. Now, about giving you back your bank
accounts. First things first, Kelvin. We’re going to play two-up.
The rules.”

“Pig’s arse. You haven’t got the funds to play serious two-up,”
Gillespie said derisively.

“I have – you don’t. Not any more.”

“You? You little cunt! I might just call the cops.”

“Yeah right! And tell them about the millions you’ve got salted
away in tax havens and dodgy banks? And how you got it? Not likely.
So shut up and listen. The rules: you win if you get three heads
before I get three tails. Three odds in a row, we change spinners.
My first bet: unblocking your online gaming account. Your bet: $1
million. We play on until I lose, or you run out of money. You have
$8 million in the account.”

“You call: heads or tales?”

“Heads.”

“Heads it is.”

“Come in spinner!”

Gillespie spun heads, then three odds in a row. Parker spun
tails, two odds, heads and lost spinning a third head.

“What is the password?”

Parker told him and Gillespie logged on, changed the password
and closed the account.

”If you’re thinking of getting into my account again, forget it.
I’ll change banks and passwords once we’re done here.”

That’s what you think!

Parker next spun for the Luxembourg account and won three spins,
$3 million before Gillespie scored. Parker spun for the Cook
Islands account but got three odds in a row. Gillespie spun and
cleaned up with two heads, two odds, one tails and a third
heads.

“You’re not doing so good Parker. I’ve got three of my accounts
back. All this for three million.”

“Let’s not get too cocky,” Parker cautioned. “There are three
more. Next Switzerland: $43 million. Your bet: five million.”

It cost Gillespie dearly. He lost the toss twice and $15
million. The $65 million in the Cayman Island account came cheap at
$5 million when Gillespie won the second round.

“So, how much is in the Virgin Islands,” Gillespie wanted to
know.

“Your nest egg: $115 million,” Parker replied.

“And the bet?”

“Ten mill.”

“You’re going to be well short of what you need for the
Foundation,” Gillespie snickered.

“Shut up and toss,” Parker snapped.

Gillespie lost the toss. Parker won the first round. He spun two
tails, then three odds in a row. Gillespie tossed but couldn’t
improve on two heads when he spun two tails, two odds and lost the
second round spinning a third tail. He lost the third-round as
well. Parker was up $53 million when Gillespie won.

“What now, Parker?”

“The $18 million I have and $53 I won makes it $71. I’m
happy.”

“Now that I’ve got my accounts back, let’s see what you’re made
of Parkie boy!” Gillespie challenged.

“What do you have in mind?”

“Heads or tails?”

“Heads.”

“Tails it is,” Gillespie declared.

“First to get to three heads or tails, wins. Denise as spinner?”
Parker proposed.

“Agreed. What’s the bet?”

“All you have against what you need.”

“Seems fair,” Parker agreed.

 

“Come in spinner,” Parker asked on the intercom.

Denise didn’t bat an eyelid when Gillespie handed her the kip
and coins.

“First to get three wins,” Gillespie explained.

Denise spun heads, two odds in a row, tails, odds, tails.

“This is it then?” she asked.

One coin landed flat, the other rolled a short distance.

“Would you make out a cheque please to the Second Chance
Foundation,” Gillespie said.

“The amount, Mr. Gillespie?”

“$100 million,” Parker said.

Denise looked at him with raised eyebrows.

“What?” Gillespie barked.

“Nothing. I think that’s a very generous donation.”

“Donation my arse,” Gillespie said, looked at Parker and
offered:

“Double or nothing?”

Parker didn’t say a word.

“Only kidding! Before you go, Miss Lester, make sure that Mr.
Parker gets an invitation to the casino opening. Anybody else you
want to invite?”

“I’ll give Denise a list.”

With Denise out of the room, Gillespie dropped the façade and
screamed at him.

“Only one person has ever taken me for more than you have. I’ll
win the next round. The fight is still on.” He calmed down somewhat
and said: “I’ll grant you one thing: you might be a crook and a
standover merchant but you played fair in the end.”

“Same here, Kel. You’re game. But I wouldn’t take you on the
second time,” Parker lied and walked to the door.

He turned and said: “There isn’t going to be a problem with the
cheque?”

“What do you take me for?” Gillespie replied.

Parker just smiled and closed the door. He could have told him
but it wouldn’t make the slightest bit of difference.

 

A month before the opening of the casino, Acaria and Agnes met
in Sydney to finalise staff recruitment for the Foundation. Agnes
had contributed $20 million to Parker’s $100 million. Agnes also
contributed the interest from Weber’s ill gotten gains she had
invested. The combined funds generated sufficient income to finance
the Foundation’s aims.

Parker was really looking forward to the day when Acaria handed
over the Foundation’s work to fulltime staff. She had reluctantly
put her artist life on hold and longed to take up painting again
seriously. Her next exhibition would be a showing in Luxembourg.
There was, still to be taken care of, the sale of her house,
furniture and personal effects. Parker didn’t relish the idea of a
European late autumn and said goodbye to Acaria in Sydney. If she
needed ten days in Luxembourg to close the door on her previous
life, so be it.

 Agnes and Foundation staff were ready to move against
Gillespie with the Foundation’s website starting the fight
immediately by explaining how drug-trafficking was financed and how
drugs entered the country.

“Then, day by day, we become more specific. Ten days before the
casino opening, we name KEGIL Shipping in a full-page
advertisement,” Agnes proposed.

“And your brothers?” Parker wondered.

“They’ll deny any involvement and remind the public that they
have been cleared months earlier,” Agnes said.

“I can tell by your smile that there is more to it.”

“Sure is. Gillespie will have to make a move, especially so
because the boys have agreed to answer our accusations publicly. A
full-page newspaper ad will show all shareholders including
Gillespie and crucial dates in the company’s history.”

“So what do you hope to achieve?”

“To panic Gillespie into buying KEGIL Shipping outright to
protect his back and in that way stymie an investigation,” Agnes
explained. “And if need be, the boys will put pressure on him to
make it happen. And then we name KEGIL Finance and implicate
Gillespie again.”

“And this is when I hand over Gillespie’s bank account records
to the Australian Federal Police?” Parker asked.

“Yes. Hopefully the evidence will stand up in court. Maybe Alan
Wheaton will roll over and testify against his boss?”

“Don’t worry about the evidence, “Parker laughed. “It’s all
legit. Gillespie sanctioned monitoring your computer. We copied
every keystroke. When he docked his laptop to the same network,
well he got caught in his own net, didn’t he!”

“So that’s how you kept tabs on me. Cunning!” Agnes admitted.
“And we start asking probing questions about tax havens and secret
accounts. And leak Gillespie’s bank accounts to the media,” Agnes
confirmed.

“Gillespie will be under siege. He won’t be able to show his
face anywhere without being hounded by the media,” Parker
speculated.

“He’ll be there at the opening. He can’t avoid that,” Agnes
said. “I’ll be there too if I get past security, which I
doubt.”

“Come to think of it, it might be best if you can’t be found,”
Parker cautioned.

“The same goes for you and Acaria,” Agnes suggested.

“You have a point there,” Parker agreed. “I know a safe
place.”

“Are we in that much danger?”

“I think so. He’ll fight like a cut snake and come looking for
you and then for me. In that order,” Parker warned.

“Will it come to that?”

“You know him, Agnes. He’s a predator. I had to disappear a long
time ago for my own safety. You might have to go for witness
protection. Maybe the boys too?”

“He’ll have an army of lawyers. It might take years to bring him
to trial, if ever. Have you thought about that, Will?”

“Yes, but I still want to go through with it.”

“Same here,” Agnes said. “But I don’t want to spend the rest of
my days looking over my shoulder.”

 

There were dozens of people waiting at Kingsford Smith for
passengers coming through Australian Customs gates on a very busy
Sunday. Parker looked at the arrival board again. Acaria’s flight
had landed half an hour ago. “What’s the hold-up?” Agnes wondered.
Had they missed her? Parker was about to leave a message at the
enquiry desk when they saw her waving. Acaria walked to the end of
the barrier and shook hands with a smartly dressed man who bowed
his head, turned and disappeared into the crowd. Parker was sure
that this man had made eye contact with someone in the crowd. His
smile had said so.

Acaria’s embrace was passionate and the kiss full and lingering.
She took her handkerchief and wiped lipstick off his face.

“It’s good to be home.”

“It’s great to have you home,” Agnes agreed.

“Agnes insisted on coming to meet you,” Parker said.

They walked towards luggage collection when Parker spotted
Gillespie’s driver. He pulled Acaria aside and stood behind a
column.

“See the man with the peaked cap? That Gillespie’s chauffeur
Wally. Who is the man next to him?”

“Gustaf Dressner, the Chairman of Steinlicht. He was on my
flight.”

“Isn’t that interesting?” Parker exclaimed.

“He’s here for an international banking symposium,” Acaria
said.

“More likely, he’s come to see Gillespie and for the casino
opening next Saturday,” Parker thought. “Does he know of our
connection with Gillespie?”

“I don’t think so. I never mentioned Gillespie. Dressner was
flying first-class and I only met him in the Customs queue. Maybe
you’re wrong. Dressner has a clean bill of health at the bank.”

“Wally is carrying his suitcase. That answers that one,” Parker
concluded.

“What now?” Acaria wondered.

“Let me fill you in on what’s been happening while you were
away.”

 

There was a pile of newspapers at the apartment for Acaria to
read. Awkward questions were being asked about Gillespie’s
involvement with KEGIL shipping and KEGIL finance. Gillespie had
refused to comment on rumoured drug connections and
money-laundering and could not be reached to respond to full-page
advertisements inserted by Agnes and her brothers.

“Watch tomorrow’s papers. Agnes has leaked details of
Gillespie’s overseas bank accounts.”

“How is she?”

“Good. She’ll be here for lunch on Tuesday to talk about putting
a damper on Gillespie’s big day.”

“I might give her a call later to see how the Foundation is
going,” Acaria said.

***

 

Agnes was quite certain that Gillespie would not go down without
a fight. She had seen it all before. His lawyers would shield him,
find ways to delay, frustrate and obstruct inquiries, advise
silence and non-cooperation and do whatever else was at their
disposal to prevent an inquiry into his business dealings. There
would be few trails left to follow. Some, who had taken him on in
the past, had given up when they ran out of money. Others had quit
in sheer frustration.

But he wasn’t going to get away with murder. She could never ask
Brenda to testify against her own son and without her, there was no
case. Even if she did, it was still only circumstantial evidence
now nearly 40 years old. Gillespie may have been in town the night
before Claude’s accident. ‘So what?’ The defence would argue. There
was no proof of the lunatic proposition that Gillespie had
sabotaged his stepfather’s plane. The case wouldn’t even get to
trial. Time to make a move, raise some dust.

Agnes drove to Bankstown, called at the airport then headed
north, then west. The Toyota was going to get a good workout. She
had sufficient diesel to reach Bathurst and refuelled at an all
night service station. She slept curled up in a sleeping bag for a
few hours and made Orange at dawn. By the end of the day, Cobar was
in sight. Checking into a motel and paying in advance by credit
card was the start of the false trail. Cunning and careful timing
would do the rest. Gillespie, according to his flight plan, was
scheduled to depart Bankstown for Nyngan at 1600 Monday, returning
0800 Wednesday.

He would be over the Great Divide an hour later at 0900 and go
missing.

 

By two o’clock on Tuesday, with no sign of Agnes or a phone
call, Acaria was getting anxious and rang the office.

“What did they say?” Parker asked, alarmed at the look on
Acaria’s face.

“They don’t know where she is. She is not answering her mobile.
Or her home phone.”

“Has anyone gone to her place?”

“No. Her assistant suggested I should. What do you think?”

“I agree. Did she say anything about not making the
meeting?”

“No. She was very happy with the Foundation. I told her about
getting a good price for my house in Luxembourg and meeting the
Steinlicht Chairman at the airport.”

“What was her reaction to that?”

“Oh, him. That’s all she said,” Acaria replied.

 

Where could she be? Monday’s and Tuesday’s morning paper lay on
the front lawn. There was mail in the letterbox. Parker knocked
hard on the front door and went round the back when no one
answered. The four-wheel-drive Toyota was not in the garage. The
neighbours were of little help. They had not seen Agnes in recent
days but that was not unusual. The lights might have been on last
night but they couldn’t be sure. When were the papers delivered?
Around six in the morning.

 

“So what now?” Acaria wondered

“It’s too soon to get the police involved. Let’s leave it till
Thursday,” Parker replied.

“I’ll see if I can raise her brothers,” Acaria offered.

“I don’t have their number Acaria. With all the publicity, they
probably wouldn’t answer the phone anyway.”

“Guess you’re right. Let’s wait and see.”

 

On Wednesday, around 4 o’clock, Denise rang with bad news.
Gillespie’s plane was overdue. Wally had been waiting at the
airport for his return, now at least five hours late. No, there was
no doubt. Gillespie had left Nyngan at 0800 and should have landed
at Bankstown three hours later at most.

“I’m really sorry to hear that, Denise. But I can’t do anything
about that.”

“I know that. I’m calling because Mr. Dressner wants to see you
first thing tomorrow.”

Parker played dumb. “Don’t know anyone by that name.”

“Please Will, don’t be difficult. Be there at 9AM with your
laptop.”

“What was all that all about?” Acaria asked.

“Parker’s plane is hours overdue and Dressner wants to see
me?”

“Dressner?”

“Yes. No doubt about a connection now.”

“Are you thinking what I’m thinking?” Acaria asked.

“I’m not making any assumptions about the plane crash. I want to
be prepared.”

The state of Gillespie’s bank accounts said it all. There was
nothing left.

“Nothing?” Parker exclaimed. “Nothing?”

“The Luxembourg account went from $21 million to nothing on
Sunday night. So did Cook Island. $16 million,” Acaria said

“Then Switzerland? Virgin Islands too?”

“Yes,” Acaria confirmed. “$158 million for the two.”

“What about the online gaming account?”

“Gone from $6 million to zero last Monday.”

“$201 million! Gone.”

“Not gone. Transferred,” Acaria said.

“To one account?”

“Yes.”

“So what else does Dressner want? Acaria: am I jumping to
conclusions again,” Parker wondered.

Acaria had the answer within two minutes. Gillespie’s money was
not in the Chairman’s account at the Steinlicht Bank. But Dressner
had left a trail just the same and Acaria followed it. He had a
standing monthly debit to the same account where Gillespie’s money
was now.

“Can you tell what the regular payments are for?”

“Sure. His monthly pension plan.”

“Some pension. More like a slush fund!”

“Don’t!” Acaria warned.

“What?”

“Don’t. I mean it. I can’t access this Cayman Bank Account. And
Neither can you.”

Parker speculated: “What if he Dressner takes over Gillespie’s
drug operation?”

“I don’t think he will. I’ll keep an eye on his money, just in
case’” Acaria replied.

 

The 6PM TV news reported Gillespie’s plane nine hours overdue
and officially listed as missing. A search would commence in the
morning but without any eyewitnesses so far, difficulties in
finding the wreckage of the small plane had to be expected.
Thursday morning’s breakfast television news offered nothing new.
They still had not been able to raise Agnes by the time Parker left
to meet Dressner.

The reception area was an untidy scene of news people, cameras,
cables and lights. Parker waited until Denise finished a phone
call. She composed herself, called for silence and announced that
an aerial search had found wreckage of a plane some 20 kilometres
east of Orange in rough terrain following a lead from a bushwalker
who had reported an aircraft in trouble. Denise spoke into the
intercom and waited until the door to Gillespie’s office was
unlocked from the inside.

Parker introduced himself, shook Dressner’s hand and waited for
him to lock the door.

“They’ve found a crashed plane. Most likely Gillespie going by
the time and location.”

“That is most unfortunate,” Dressner said sincerely.

“You asked to see me,” Parker said.

“I must apologise for talking business at such an unfortunate
time.”

“Fair enough. You’re sitting in Gillespie’s chair. You in charge
now?”

“Thank you Mr. Parker for coming to the point so quickly.”

“You must be a busy man.”

“Indeed I am. I have a casino to open on Saturday.”

Dressner flipped open the docked laptop for Parker to view.

“Mr. Gillespie has signed over the casino to me. That however
does not clear all his debts. This spreadsheet shows that he still
has funds somewhere. $32 million to be specific. He paid $100
million to the Second Chance Foundation. Miss Lester tells me that
you are connected with this organisation. What is it about?”

“It’s about fighting the international drug trade,
money-laundering and we rehabilitate the unfortunate victims. Care
to contribute Mr. Dressner?” Parker said and watched a speechless
Dressner squirm.

“Mr. Gillespie spoke highly of you. I can see why,” Dressner
said, his composure recovered.

“That’s nice of Kel.”

“I’ll better your present contract, Mr. Parker.”

Here we go! Supping with another devil?

 

Dressner didn’t bother waiting for his reply. “Before you go Mr.
Parker, please help me out. What makes a man go ‘double or
nothing’?”

“Are you are gambling man, Gus?”

That threw Dressner and his face reddened.

“Gus?” His jaw set and he drew breath through clenched
teeth.

“I have much to learn about you Australians,” he said. The fake
exasperated tone didn’t quite hide his displeasure, anger and
affronting familiarity. Parker knew he had him rattled when
Dressner reprimanded him,

“I don’t like employees questioning me, Mister Parker.”

“Get used to it.”

“That’s exactly what I’m talking about. This ‘take it or leave
it’, ‘double or nothing’. Where does it come from?”

“It’s the country, Gus. Droughts and floods. Fire and rain.
Makes us winners and losers. All or nothing. Have a go. Makes life
interesting. Up the guts.”

“Up the guts?”

“Yep. Right up!”

“So that’s how you managed to get $100 million from him? All or
nothing.”

“Hmm. Very perceptive, Gus.”

Dressner’s expression prompted him to add:

“Same with you?”

Dressner ignored that.

“Find the $32 million he owes me.”

“Gillespie’s estate will cover that. He has a big property and
an office block. And life insurance.”

“All mine already,” Dressner grinned. “The $32 million is
unsecured.”

“Unsecured?”

“Just get the money. I’ll be in touch.”

“Well that’s an improvement,” Parker quipped.

“How is that?”

“To Gillespie’s ‘Piss off, Will’.”

“Piss of, Will?”

“Good-bye.”

“I didn’t mean it like that,” Dressner apologised and
smiled.

“Yeah, right.”

He could have said ‘Piss of, Gus’ but that might have been just
a little bit too much. He had no intention whatsoever of supping
with another devil. He stood in the doorway and turned.

“Mr. Dressner: I’m off the case. Get someone else.”

 

The long-awaited phone call came late that afternoon. Acaria
didn’t press Agnes for an explanation and simply accepted her
apology. She had heard radio news reports of the air crash.

“I know I have some explaining to do,” Agnes admitted.

“When can you come round?”

“Tonight?”

 

Parker was surprised at Agnes’s haggard and sad face. She hardly
touched the food Acaria had prepared. Had Gillespie’s death
affected her that much? Agnes said little at first and opened up
gradually when she realised the worries she had caused her
hosts.

“I just had to get away from Sydney. I drove to Cobar and hired
a Cessna. I always feel better when I’m up in the air. Your
troubles appear smaller sort of from up above,” Agnes
explained.

“We think that Gillespie’s plane crash needs a good explanation.
Sabotage hasn’t been ruled out,” Parker said.

Agnes responded defensively to his quizzical look: “I can
account for all my movements if I have to. I refuelled at Wilcannia
and then flew back to Cobar. My credit card statements will back me
up.”

“I’m not accusing you Agnes. Sorry I gave you that impression.
It’s just I didn’t know you had a pilot’s licence,” Parker replied.
“You weren’t anywhere near Nyngan, so you couldn’t have interfered
with Gillespie’s plane.” 

“If Gillespie’s death is not accidental then whoever killed him
is as bad as Gillespie himself.” Agnes was emphatic. “Even if he
had it coming.”

And as an afterthought commented: “It’s ironic. Running out of
fuel. Just like his stepfather. Ironic justice.”

 

Acaria decided to change the tone of the conversation: “We have
to rethink our plans now. Much has changed at the casino while you
were way. Gillespie used up all his funds and has signed over the
casino. And he still owes Dressner.”

“Gillespie must have put the lot on the line. He always wanted a
big game. His insurance doesn’t cover death by suicide,” Agnes
revealed.

“Accidental death then. Or suicide made to look like an
accident,” Parker guessed.

“Or murder made to look like an accident?” Acaria
speculated.

“Whatever,” Parker said. “A toast to Kel who took on all
comers.”

 

“I’m not going to the casino opening,” Agnes said.

“Me neither,” Parker said.

“And I’m not going on my own,” Acaria declared.

 

Parker just couldn’t fall asleep and his tossing and turning
kept Acaria awake. A bushwalker had reported an aircraft in trouble
Denise had said. What sort of trouble?

“What’s on your mind, chérie?”

“Gillespie’s crash. I can’t help thinking about it,” Parker
replied.

Acaria moved closer, cuddled him and stroked his worried brow.
Parker breathed more easily and fell asleep. The morning radio and
TV satellite midday news brought more crash details. The plane had
smashed into trees on rocky ridge, the wreckage strewn everywhere
but the plane had not exploded. The eyewitness described what
Parker didn’t want to know. The plane had either run out of fuel or
the engine malfunctioned.

Sput, sput, sput…. No fuel, no explosion. Simple.

 

Ironic justice. Just like his stepfather! Agnes could not have
known details of the accident, especially not about the engine or
the fuel.

‘Agnes is an accomplished liar!’ That’s what her father had said
to him. If Agnes was responsible, he was not going to buy into
that. No, not ever. She would have to live with Gillespie’s murder.
‘As bad as Gillespie himself’. That’s what she had admitted. That
was a worry. And she had not asked who Dressner was when his name
came up in conversation. That was odd, very odd. Forget it. None of
your business. Really!

 

The Second Chance Foundation, only two months old, was making a
difference. The rehabilitation and job creation programmes were off
and running. Parker had reluctantly taken time off from a new
project with Parks and Wildlife to attend a Foundation board
meeting. He didn’t like Acaria being away so much and ached when
she was absent. He missed her body and her company. Acaria had been
restless and crotchety lately. Parker understood, for after all,
she had a heavy workload with the Foundation, painting and
exhibitions. Now that the Foundation was well and truly
established, coming home should help.

“We have a surprise for you,” Acaria announced when they landed
at Hamilton.

“Acaria has shown me your poem. I hope you don’t mind,” Agnes
said.

“Not in the least,” Parker replied.

They took a cab to the marina and walked to the yard where a
30-foot cabin cruiser sat on the slips. At Acaria’s signal, the
sign writer unveiled the boat’s name.

Sternschnuppe

“For you chérie.”

“Love the boat. What is this sternsomething?” Parker
wondered.

“That’s my sign. Sternschnuppe means shooting star,” Acaria
explained.

 

So you’ll stay mine? Send me a sign.

Make it a shooting star.

 

“That will make up for when you’re away,” Parker admitted.

“It’s only a few trips to Sydney.”

“And the exhibitions and trips to Luxembourg?”

“Not as many soon,” Acaria said and winked at Agnes.

 

 They listened to the helicopter’s clatter fade and watched
it disappear in the midday haze. The house welcomed them and as
soon as they had put their suitcases down, Acaria took him by the
hand and led him along the beach. Around the rocks and inland but
not far from the shore. Parker had seen that part of the island
only by air.

“Behold the bunya tree.”

Acaria stood at the base of the magnificent pine. Branches, like
rungs on a ladder reached up to the sky but out of reach from the
ground.

“See the scars? Some are from the tree self-pruning. The deeper
ones are man made footholds. I climbed to the top. The view is
magnificent.”

In our tree, I’ll be a scar.

 

Acaria knew what was on his mind and walked around the tree to
the side facing the ocean. She had carved a heart, as big as three
hands across, in the smoothest section of the otherwise rough
bark.

“In our tree I’ll be a scar,” Parker said.

“We’ll be a scar.”

“I carved the heart the day after I arrived and it’s a scar
already,” Acaria said.

“It’s a big heart!”

“It’s for a big love,” Acaria confessed. “With room for
more.”

Parker carved Acaria’s initial below his. There was now a memory
of their love-forever.

 

He was still humming the tune when the satellite phone’s
insistent beeping broke the moment’s magic. It was Denise with a
message from Dressner who wanted a progress report.

“What the hell do I do about Dressner?”

“Did you promise him anything?” Acaria asked and took his
hand.

“No, I didn’t want to confront him. I told him I was off the
case and just walked out.”

“I don’t want Dressner in our life,” Acaria declared.

“D’accord,” Parker said and smiled.

“Tell you what I’ll do,” Acaria offered. “I’ll phone him.”

“No, don’t do that. I’ll get a new number.”

 

The world left them in peace after that. There was a glow around
Acaria and a strengthening in their relationship. To Parker, it was
what he had imagined their marriage to be, a love for which he had
yearned. When Acaria was certain, she told him that she was
pregnant. Parker was over the moon and insisted on a check-up,
straight away. They took the cabin cruiser to Hamilton Island when
the weather forecast promised a safe passage. Acaria went to the
clinic and Parker went to order groceries.

There was a frown on Kosta’s face, not the smile Parker had come
to expect from him. Kosta beckoned him to the office and closed the
door.

“I’ve been ringing and ringing but you, no answer. You forget to
pay your phone, eh?”

“I changed providers. Should have given you the new number.
Sorry.”

Kosta loaded the VCR and fast forwarded it. The surveillance
camera showed customers coming in the front door. It was too far to
make out individual features but as customers came closer to pick
up trollies and baskets, Parker saw faces quite clearly.

“Watch now,” Kosta said. “He’s coming into the store now.”

Parker froze as the man came closer. His heart sank and he sat
motionless, deathly pale. You are dead! Sam said so.

“That man trouble to you, mate?” Kosta asked.

Parker nodded. “Yes, mate. Big trouble.”

“He was here two days ago. He’s gone now. No worries, mate,”
Kosta tried to assure him.

“He’ll be back. What did he want?”

”He asked me about you, by name. Asked the chopper pilot too.
Told him don’t know anyone by that name,” Kosta replied. “Does this
man have a name?”

“Yes, best if you don’t know,” Parker decided.

“I’ll make us a coffee,” Kosta offered. “You look like you could
use one with a bit of my homemade brandy.”

 

Yes, this man has a name: Brad Goldner. And that’s when it hit
him. Dressner and his secretary knew only his old phone number. It
was doubtful they knew Goldner. So who had set Goldner on his
trail? And who told him to go to Hamilton Island. Who? Only one
person could have.

 

Time to rattle a cage. Acaria accessed Dressner’s laptop and
Denise’s desk top computer to check key logger details.

“The data is two months old,” Acaria said.

Parker turned deathly pale. “He has new computers.”

“How do you know?”

“There is no way to deactivate the Trojan programme. He must
have found out somehow and got himself new machines.”

“How could he have found out?” Acaria wondered.

And it him like hammer blows to the heart: He had told Agnes
about the key logger!

“Stupid! Careless idiot!” He berated himself.

“What is it, Will?”

“Agnes knows. I mentioned the key logger when we saw her and
Weber. She must have told Dressner. That’s how he found out.”

“Agnes? Never. She wouldn’t,” Acaria objected.

“Yes she would. A man has been looking for me. Agnes is the only
person who links him with me.”

 

Parker phoned Denise and asked how she liked the new computer.
Nice she replied and Mr. Dressner has a new laptop too. No, the old
ones were still good but they needed better firewalls or
something.

“I was wondering,” Parker said. “Is Mr. Dressner available?”

“He is in a meeting. Do you want to leave a message?”

“Just tell him I rang and will phone later.”

 

Parker didn't speak to Dressner but Acaria called him instead.
She spoke in Lëtzebuergesch, her tone first friendly and polite,
then insistent. She put down the phone gently and gave Parker a
reassuring smile.

“He won’t bother us again.”

“What did you say to him?”

“I told him the balance in his super fund.”

“So what did he say?”

“He was shocked and asked about our demands.”

“And?”

“I told him that all we want is to be left alone and that we
mean him no harm,” Acaria replied with a smirk. “And that I will
post my passe-partout card to our solicitor with all the statement
printouts we have. I mentioned that we know about Agnes.”

“He didn’t deny knowing Agnes? I think he made eye contact with
her the day he arrived in Sydney.”

“I think they will leave us alone now,” Acaria said. “I’ll give
Dressner ten minutes and then I’ll rattle another cage.”

“What else did you say to Dressner?”

“I told him that we had advised the AFP that Goldner has paid us
an unwelcome visit. He didn’t want to believe that Goldner was a
killer and threatened me. I told him to bite his bum.”

Parker laughed: “It’s not like you to be rude!”

“I’m learning.”

“So what did Dressner say then?”

“Called me names. So I told him he was just a barking dog and to
bite his bum again.”

 

Acaria phoned Agnes who hurled a torrent of abuse at her. Acaria
was unfussed and accepted her resignation from the Foundation.

“She’s just confirmed what we suspected. What a snake,” Acaria
said. “She betrayed the Foundation.”

“It also tells us that she was in bed with Gillespie, the
money-laundering and more. She then took up with Dressner,” Parker
concluded. “I wonder why?”

“Well, I think she killed Gillespie for revenge and conspired
with Dressner,” Acaria thought.

“You could well be right. Dressner is the last man standing,
Agnes at his side.”

“Remember Agnes said something to the effect that Gillespie was
just like his dad. If someone wanted to pick a fight, he’d be in
it.”

“Yes, I remember that,” Acaria said.

“Dressner is top dog now. I reckon Agnes was there to watch them
fight.”

“The bitch!”

 

Sensational accounts of AFP and NSW police arrests sold a lot of
newspapers and made for high rating TV news. Goldner was arrested,
charged and pleaded guilty to conspiracy to murder. The most
damming evidence had come from a DVD recording the police had
received from an anonymous source. Mananoa received a life sentence
for Harmsen’s murder. Agnes Weber became a wanted woman for
conspiracy to murder, but had disappeared. Augustus and Alexander
Weber were convicted of drug importing. Alan Wheaton, Gillespie’s
finance man, faced a lengthy prison term for money-laundering and
tax evasion conspiracy. 

Many months later, a short newspaper article reported a CAA
investigation into an aircraft crash. The accident cause was
unclear as no mechanical engine defects were found. Pilot error and
insufficient fuel might have been factors in the accident.
Gillespie the man, ceased to exist. His casino flourished under a
new owner. Dressner had left Australia for a new venture in
Macao.

 

Acaria gave birth in Sydney to a girl and named her Anita after
her mother. Parker was so proud of his baby, wanted to show her off
and went to see his parents in person to tell them the news. He had
not seen them since quitting the cruise ship. At least, he had
phoned them, when he remembered birthdays, but always at Christmas.
His father was surprised when he saw his son at the front door.

“G’day Dad,” Parker grinned.

“Who is it, John?” his mother called out from the kitchen.

“It’s Bill.”

“Bill!” his mother called out from the back of the house and
embraced him in the kitchen doorway.

“How are you?”

“Good, Mum,” Parker replied. “Real good.”

His mother breathed a sigh of relief and his father stopped the
nervous scratching behind his ears. Funny how little he has
changed, Parker came to realise and wondered what changes his
parents would notice about him. His mother had a few more wrinkles
but that wasn’t a bad thing for a grandmother.

“Guess what?” Parker teased.

“Good news?” his mum asked as she cleared cups and saucers from
the kitchen table.

“Hey! That’s new,” Parker commented when he saw the new kitchen.
“Like the granite bench tops.”

“Your dad’s been busy doing jobs. I finally got the new kitchen
I always wanted.”

“Come on Bill, what’s the news?” his father wanted to know.

“You’re grandparents. We have a baby girl,” Parker replied.

“When did you get married?”

“Don’t be so old-fashioned. Bill would have invited us to the
wedding, wouldn’t you?” his mum said in mild reproach.

“Not married. Not yet anyway. You’ll love Acaria and the
baby.”

“Are they on the island?”

“No, Mum. Here at the Women’s.”

“What are we waiting for,” Mrs. Pearson said. “Let’s go and meet
the new mother and child.”

 

Parker introduced his parents and stood to one side to let the
two women get to know each other. His father started fidgeting and
scratching his head.

“Why don’t you two go and wet the baby’s head?” his mother
suggested and looked at Acaria for approval.

“The baby’s had a bath this morning,” Acaria said, and that made
them laugh.

“Did I say something funny?”

“Dad and I are going to have a drink to celebrate. Wetting the
baby’s head,” Parker explained.

“Off you go,” Mrs. Pearson shooed the off. “Acaria and I have a
baby shower to organise.”

“I hate to ask,” Acaria admitted. “I am new to this motherhood
thing. What’s a baby shower?”

There was a smirk on Parker’s face as he left Acaria’s room. The
women in his life seemed to have hit it off. He wasn’t so sure
about his father who came straight to the point.

“You don’t owe me an explanation about what you’ve done since
you left the police. That’s all in the past. Now that you’re back
in our life, tell me what the future holds for you. Because your
mum and I have our life sorted out. Have you?”

“Yes, I have,” Parker replied but not convincingly enough for
his dad.

“You have a child. That, if my experience counts for anything,
changes things.”

“Oh, I’m not short of a dollar,” Parker boasted.

“I’m not just talking about money. I’m talking about making a
difference. Leaving a mark.”

Parker considered coming clean about his past but decided
against revealing how he came to leave the Police Force. Had he
made a mark? Yes! The Second Chance Foundation had been his
brainchild. Wasn’t that enough?

“Oh, I intend to,” Parker said.” Don’t worry about that.”

“Good!” his father pronounced. “Here’s to fatherhood.”

“I wonder how the women are getting on?” his father asked.

“Alright I reckon. Another beer?”

“No thanks. You coming back for tea?”

“Might as well. I’ll stay with Acaria for a bit and meet you
back at the house?”

“Bring a bottle of merlot,” his father suggested. “And a pinot
gris for your mum.”

 

The baby was wide awake when the two men entered Acaria’s room.
Mrs. Pearson was cooing, her face aglow with grandparental
pride.

“She’s gorgeous, isn’t she,” the proud grandmother said.

“She’s smiling at you Mum!”

“Wind,” Parker diagnosed. “Wind.”

“Rubbish,” his mother protested. “Newborns can smile, can’t they
Acaria?”

“Australian babies can do anything.”

“That’s right,” Will declared.

“Time for us to go,” Mrs. Pearson said.

“I’m coming round for tea.”

“Ah, that’s nice. Bring a bottle of..,”

“Yes I know. Pinot gris.”

 

Parker nursed the baby and watched it go to sleep. Acaria had
nodded off and woke up when the afternoon shift nurse came to check
on her and left with a smile for the new father.

“Your parents are nice. Your mum especially. I think I want her
around for a while until..”

“Until?”

“I don’t know, Will. A while. There’s the baby shower and the
christening. Visits to the health centre. Appointments with the
paediatrician. Lots of things to take care of.”

“Too inconvenient from the island?”

“Yes. The Foundation needs me too,” Acaria reminded him.

“You’ve got enough on your plate,” Parker decided. “The
Foundation can wait.”

“We need someone to replace Agnes. I can’t do it on my own.”

“I suppose I could stand in for you?”

“Would you, Will? It would only be for a while and you could
help me find a replacement.”

 

Parker enjoyed the experience of working with people who shared
his vision. He liked it even more for not having to be on his guard
constantly or having to watch what he said. Most of all, he felt
good for not having to con people.

Acaria had noticed the change too. He was much more relaxed, at
ease with the world. The baby had, if this was possible at all,
brought them closer together. They shared a belief in the
Foundation. Acaria mentioned that she was looking forward to going
back to work. Parker had reservations, she could tell, but waited
for the right time.

They were watching evening TV when a Hayman Island commercial
reminded them of their other home. Parker had returned to the
island every fortnight to check on the house and property. What
once had been a joy had now become a chore. He didn't want to
neglect what he had worked so hard at establishing. But he hated
being away from Acaria and Anita more. Would Acaria want to live on
the island, not just for a month or two but permanently?

Acaria guessed what was on his mind and made his decision
easier.

“The island has served its purpose. It’s been sanctuary for you
and paradise for me. It will always be special. Anita will get to
know it as she grows up,” Acaria confided.

“It’s been a prison for me as well. Idyllic but isolation just
the same. I guess you’re right. But now what?” Parker wondered.

“Give the island to the Foundation. Find a new use for it,”
Acaria suggested.

“You are going back to work, aren’t you,” Parker guessed.
“When?”

“Soon.”

“That, knowing you means-tomorrow?”

“Yes. The baby and I,” Acaria replied.

“She’s too young to work.”

“Very funny. We have a crèche.”

“And I will lose my job?”

“No. You’ll create one. Think of what the island can offer.”

 

Parker thought immediately of sanctuary, isolation and
protection, the factors that had given him a new start. He could
offer the same for people like Bryce Dewar. Kids, teenagers, young
adults at risk. A chance to redeem themselves and rekindle
self-esteem.

“What if we could find jobs for people at risk. Worthwhile jobs
and training away from the temptations of the city and supervised
accommodation for a while anyway?” Parker mused.

“You mean jobs in tourism?”

“Not just that. There are other opportunities in service
industries, but you get what I’m driving at?”

“Yes. And they commute from Edward Island. Is that what you’re
thinking?”

“Hey! That would put the cabin cruiser to good use as well.”

“Why don’t you and the Foundation project director develop a
proposal for the board?”

“I’ll do that. But not on my own. I want you by my side.”

 

A month later, the Parkers returned to Edward Island. By
creating the Foundation, Parker had lit a candle. The island would
be a beacon, a sanctuary for others, much as it had been for him.
They needed an accommodation block, classrooms and a facilities
block. There was a lot to be done.

Parker’s life had a new purpose and it showed. Acaria liked the
sparkle in his eyes and the far away look that reminded her of when
they first met. The occasional dark thoughts and nagging doubts
about the purpose of his life faded as they made plans for his
island. He could live with his past and his actions. The ends had
not justified the means - not at first anyway. He forgave himself.
Finally, there would be harmony. He was at peace with himself.

“That was a big sigh,” Acaria said and gently stroked his
cheek.

“Happiness is here, right here.”

“I know. That’s how I want it.”

 

Matches, need matches. Light candles. No, don’t snuff the
candles.

“Wake up Will! You are having a nightmare, chérie,” Acaria said
and gently shook him by the shoulder. She switched on the bedside
lamp and saw Parker in a cold sweat.

“The wind nearly blew out our candles and the beacon.”

“Do you know what it means?”

“It’s better to light a candle than curse the darkness,” Parker
replied.

“Philosophy at three o’clock in the morning?”

“Sorry, Acaria. Don’t know what brought that on. Haven’t thought
about James Ng for years.”

“Do you want to tell me about him?”

Acaria switched off the light and listened as Parker spoke about
his early days as a policeman and James Ng’s death.

“Who’s trying to snuff my candle?” Parker asked but Acaria was
asleep.

 

Acaria noticed the steep crease in his forehead and an anxious
frown as Parker sat on the porch. 

“Someone is thinking about me,” Parker said.

“Maybe the boys? They should be here in a couple of hours,”
Acaria replied.

“Did you check the stinger net?”

“Yes. There are a few bluebottles in the net. It’s safe. You can
go for a swim. Better move the Sternschnuppe to make room for the
trawler.”

“Wait for me. I’ll give you a hand.”

The morning swim had not relieved the uneasiness he had felt on
waking.

 

They waited on the jetty and watched the fishing boat round the
point. There was a third person aboard and Parker didn’t like that
at all. The boys knew better than to bring visitors with the
monthly groceries. He strained his eyes to make out the stranger’s
shape. Acaria felt his grip tightening.

“It’s a policeman!” she exclaimed.

“It’s Sergeant Kingston from Hamilton Island. I wonder what he
wants.”

Kingston waved to them, stepped ashore first, smiled and shook
Parker’s hand.

“You the missus?”

Acaria nodded. “Pleased to meet you.”

Kingston handed Parker a letter.

“We’re going to court.”

Parker turned away from Acaria, opened the envelope and started
reading. Acaria saw his head and shoulders sag. She looked at
Kingston who smiled and reassured her. “Nothing to worry about.
Your husband and I have been called as witnesses in a bird
smuggling trial.”

 

She felt the dampness of Parker’s palm when she grasped his
hand. He stared into the distance, his face in a scowl and pale.
She had not seen him like this, ever. So distant and cold. His
hands trembled.

“Please, Will. Don’t shut me out,” she pleaded and picked up
Anita and cuddled the toddler who had started to cry. She stroked
Parker’s face to lessen his pain.

“We can deal with this together, can’t we?”

Parker didn't reply and stuffed the letter into his pocket. They
walked to the house leaving the boys to unload their supplies.
Kingston followed them and sat on the porch and lit a cigarette.
Parker handed Acaria the summons from the Supreme Court in
Brisbane. Acaria read it and couldn’t see what the fuss was
about.

“You’re a witness in proceedings against Stephen Quick, Carol
Longley and Derek Turner for trafficking in protected species.”

“It’s not that simple. Quick stole my laptop last year and knows
from my e-mail files that I am under witness protection. Longley
was a Parks and Wildlife employee turned poacher. I’m not sure
whether Longley knows about my past,” Parker replied.

“And this Derek Turner?”

“He must be the organiser for the other two. Worst of all, he is
a connection to my previous life,” Parker replied. “I helped put
away a crooked cop by that name in Sydney a few years ago.”

“If he hasn’t found you by now, his won’t find you at all,”
Acaria tried to reassure him.

“My gut feeling tells me it’s the same man. He was my
sergeant.”

“He’ll recognise me in court. Am I being paranoid?”

“It might not even be the same person, darling.”

“Let’s hope you’re right,” Parker replied and smiled to reassure
his wife. But he had doubts. Information about people under witness
protection was worth a lot. If he were Stephen Quick, he would have
looked for a buyer.

But there was nothing he could do about that. His past decisions
had triggered actions, reactions and unforeseen outcomes. A
regrettable reality perhaps, but he had to live with that. Edward
Island was their sanctuary to be defended, if need be, to the
death.

 

Chapter 11

 

The cabin cruiser had kept well away from the western end of
Edward Island, circled around and was now on an approach from the
north. Stephen Quick took Boomer II unseen into the bay where
Parker’s boat was tied up. He squinted as the calmer water
reflected the noon sun. The boat had handled the rough passage from
Hamilton Island better than Quick’s passenger who had been seasick
for most of the trip.

Derek Turner came up on deck when the tossing stopped.

“You look green!” Quick said.

Turner said nothing and pointed to the boat at the jetty.

“That his boat?”

Quick nodded.

“He’s home then. Good.”

Quick slowed the boat as he approached the jetty when the
inboard motor stalled suddenly. Turner lost his footing and crashed
to the deck.

“What the fuck’s going on?”

“Something’s fouled the propeller. Bugger.”

“Start her up,” Turner ordered. “That’ll clear it.”

“No it won’t. I’ll have a look first,” Quick replied.

They peered into the water and saw tangled rope and net.

“You idiot! You’ve driven into a fucking net!” Turner
shouted.

“Didn’t see it. Sorry.”

“What are you going to do about it?”

“We. Not just me. We’ll cut the rope and net.”

 Turner held Quick by the legs as he leaned over and
started cutting and slashing. The net cut easily but he couldn’t
sever the wire rope.

“I’ll do it,” Turner said, took off his clothes and slid into
the water.

“You be careful,” Quick said.

“I’m not scared of bloody sharks,” Turner replied.

But you should be of stingers. Quick hadn’t admitted to Turner
that a stinger net had fouled the propeller. Here was a chance to
get rid of Turner who had forced him to go to Edward Island. Turned
had dived under the stern, came up for air and screamed.

“Something’s stung me. Help me out. Help me out.”

“I’m not touching you. That’s a box jellyfish stinger around you
legs. I’m not touching it.”

“Fuck you, Quick,” Turner screamed and tried to pull himself
into the boat. “What is the treatment for stingers?”

“Vinegar.”

“Got any?”

“Nope.”

“Please give me a hand. Pull me out,” Turner begged. “There are
more in the water.”

Quick reached to grasp Turner’s outstretched arm.

“No, you shit. Both arms.” Turner pulled suddenly and Quick
tumbled into the water.

“Why did you do that you stupid bastard?” Quick yelled. He saw
the jelly fish tentacles around his arm and felt instant pain. He
tried to pull himself up but Turner pushed him under. Quick was
struck with agonising pain as a stinger tentacles wrapped around
his legs as well. He swam away from Turner and managed to climb
into the boat.

“Help me out. Help me out. Please!” Turner begged again and
Quick helped him climb aboard.

Turner pleaded: “Get a bucket and wash my legs, please. I’m in
agony,”

“It won’t do any good. We need vinegar to deactivate the poison
cells. Rubbing it makes it worse. We need medical treatment. ”

 

Large red welts broke out all over Turner’s legs. He screamed in
pain and had trouble breathing. “Best to take you ashore,” Quick
suggested and reached for a life jacket. He made for the beach,
pulling Turner along. They stood up in waist deep water and waded
ashore.

“You wait here,” Quick said and ran up the path to the house as
Turner collapsed. “I’ll get help.”

Quick burst into the house and shouted. “Anyone home? Help!”

A startled Parker stood up from the dining table. “What do you
want?”

“I’ve been stung by box jellyfish. My friend too. Do you have
any vinegar?”

“Sure. Where is he?”

“On the beach.”

“I’ll get you some vinegar. Wash yourself first. I’ll get
pressure bandages for you and your mate. When was your mate
stung?”

“Just now,” Quick replied.

“If you feel up to it, come to the beach to help,” Parker
said.

Acaria came in from the garden. “What’s going on?”

“Two men with box jellyfish stings,” Parker explained.

Acaria ran to the garden shed for two emergency flagons of
vinegar. Parker went to the bathroom for the first aid kit and ran
to the beach. Turner was seated against the jetty, conscious. His
face was pale and contorted with pain.

“Thank you, thank you,” Turner said as Parker splashed vinegar
over his right lower leg, then his left. He helped his patient turn
over and emptied the remains of the flagon over the back of his
legs.

“How’s the pain?”

“Bearable,” Turner admitted, labouring with every breath.

 

Acaria arrived with more vinegar and bandages.

“How’s the man in the house?” Parker wanted to know.

“He’ll survive. This one looks in worse shape.”

“The pressure bandages will help. We may need to give him
cardiac massage.”

“That serious?”

“I’m afraid so. He’s too heavy for you and me to carry to the
house. Where is Anita?”

“Asleep.”

“Good. Stay here. I’ll see if the other man can help us.”

 

Quick sat on a kitchen chair and smiled.

“We’ve met before. Stephen Quick.”

“I thought you looked familiar. What are you doing on my island?
And who is the man on the beach?”

“Derek Turner is his name. Soon to go to trial, like me.”

“Shit. What is he doing on my island?”

“The way he put it: to intimidate a witness. But I guess he is
no shape to do anything at the moment,” Quick replied with a smug
look on his face. “Your stinger net saved you.”

“Your ran into it?”

“Fouled the propeller. We got stung trying to cut our way
out.”

“What does he know about me? And you better come clean. I know
you looked at my e-mail files.”

“He knows you are under witness protection.”

“You’ve told him?”

“Yesterday.”

“Is he from Sydney?”

“Yes,” Quick replied. “A bent copper, six months out of jail on
probation. How is he?”

“In deep shit my friend, deep shit. Just what did you imagine he
would do to intimidate me?”

“Look I only…”

“No, don’t come the ‘look I only’ with me. You are an accessory
before the fact to attempted murder. Has Carol Longley read my
e-mail?”

“No. And I am telling the truth,” Quick replied.

 

There were red welts now also on Quick’s legs and arms, but the
vinegar and pressure bandages did not neutralise the jellyfish
toxins. Parker went to the fridge, opened a packet of single use
adrenalin syringes and put one in his pocket. He then took a 20
cent piece from the tin where Acaria kept the loose change and gave
it to Quick.

“What’s that for?”

“We are going to play swy.”

“What’s that?”

“You’ll see.”

 

Acaria was glad to see Parker and Quick come back to assist
Turner who was in considerable distress. The walk had made Quick’s
condition worse. He was in pain and breathed with difficulty as he
collapsed next to Turner. Parker took Acaria aside and pointed to
Turner.

“That’s the cop who killed my friend James Ng.”

“And the other man?”

“That’s Quick from Hamilton Island.”

“You were right, Will. They were thinking about you,” Acaria
said.

“More than that. Turner wanted me silenced.”

“That explains your dream. Snuffing out candles.”

“The stinger net stopped them.”

 

“Well gentlemen. Let me acquaint you with the situation as I see
it. Mr. Turner here has come to intimidate a witness, namely me.
Mr. Quick is an accomplice.” Parker announced.

“I know you,” Turner interrupted. “I recognise the face. You
have a different name now. You’re Pearson, the dog who shopped
me.”

“And you’re the cop who killed my friend James. Remember him?
You kicked him to death. And you’ve come to kill again. Not just
me. You would have killed my wife and child as well.”

“I need a doctor. Please,” Turner said, his voice hoarse and in
a whisper.

Parker looked at the sky. “Don’t like the look of the weather. I
am not going out. It’s pointless. You wouldn’t make the hospital in
time anyway. Even cardiac massage won’t save you when the toxins
really hit. You’ll stop breathing. Turner, you’re cactus. And you
Quick, only marginally better.”

 

Parker pulled the syringe from his pocket and held it under
Turner’s nose. “Adrenaline can save one of you. But which one?”

Turner’s breathing was shallow. His lips were white and his face
had an ugly grey pallor.

“I think we’ll let a coin decide. Let’s play swy. Mr. Turner
will call and Mr. Quick will toss the coin.”

“That’s not fair. I don’t trust Quick,” Turner objected.

“Would Quick trust you to toss a coin, Mr. Turner?” Parker
said.

“I’ll toss,” Acaria said. “Turner, your call.”

“Heads.”

“Heads you live. Tails, Quick lives.”

Acaria tossed the coin. “Tails”. Parker approached Quick when
Turner called out.

“Two out of three.”

“That’s not fair,“ Quick objected.

“Acaria, please oblige Mr. Turner. Toss again.”

“Tails. Lucky you Mr. Quick,” Acaria announced. “Lucky you.”

“You bastards. You might as well shoot me,” Turner hissed. “You
are both murderers.”

“Put you out of your misery? Murder? No, Derek. You are the
murderer. Quick deserves to live much more than you.”

“Don’t leave me here to die, you cunts,” Turner yelled. He was
gasping for breath, his face turned ashen and he stopped
breathing.

Parker supported Turner as they walked back to the house.

“Thanks for the injection. You saved my life.”

“That’s alright, Quick. I need you. You have to take Turner’s
body away. When you’re up to it, we’ll cut your boat free.” Quick
nodded in agreement and slumped into the veranda seat.

 

“I’ll get you some coffee,” Acaria said and followed Parker into
the house.

“We have more adrenaline in the fridge,” Acaria said.

“I know. I didn’t question your coin toss.”

“I realised that we would never be safe with Turner alive. I
want my children to have a memory of their father’s love. Their
parents’ love,” Acaria declared.

“Children?”

“Yes. A brother or sister for Anita, later.”

“We are doing the right thing, aren’t we Acaria?”

“We do what is necessary, chérie.”

 

Acaria watched as Quick drank his coffee and draped a blanket
around him.

“How’s the pain?”

“I would appreciate something for it,” Quick replied.

 

Parker went into the bedroom, opened the floor safe and took out
the Glock pistol he had brought back by car from Sydney after
closing the safe deposit box. He checked on the sleeping Anita and
on the spur of the moment put the pistol in her cot. He was deep in
thought when Acaria came into the kitchen.

“Quick’s better already.”

“That’s good to hear. I’ve put a pistol into Anita’s cot.”

“I don’t know how to use it.”

“The safety catch is off. If you have to use it, hold it firmly,
point and pull the trigger,” Parker explained. “Nothing to it. Get
in close if you can.”

“Let’s hope I never have to.”

“What will we do about Quick for the night?” Acaria wondered as
it was getting dark.

“He can sleep on the Sternschnuppe,” Parker suggested. “I don’t
want him in the house.”

 

The sun was setting when Parker and Quick returned to the jetty.
Quick walked up to Turner who lay in the sand face down and kicked
him in the ribs. He didn’t move.

“Get on board. I’ll see you in the morning,” Parker called out
and walked back to the house.

 

Parker listened to the familiar morning sounds that brought no
comfort this time. It was going to be a shitty day. Quick would
have to help him take down the stinger net and disentangle the
propeller. Acaria stirred a little as he left the bed.

“I’m just going down to the jetty to check on Quick. Won’t be
long,” he whispered and kissed Acaria’s cheek.

 

Gone? Turner’s body was no longer there. Had the tide taken him
out?

Parker shouted: “Are you there, Quick?” No answer. His heart was
in his throat as he entered the cabin. Quick was in the bottom
bunk, his face and forehead a bloody mess. He had died in his sleep
from in a frenzied, vicious battering as was clearly evident from
his hands that showed no defensive wounds. A bloody fire
extinguisher lay in the corner. The body was cold to the
touch-Turner had a head start.

Why kill an accomplice? After all, Turner had come to intimidate
a witness, not to kill. What had he gained? Had he intended killing
his accomplice Quick all the while? There was no going back for
Turner now, Parker concluded. Turner was in too deep and would have
to kill everyone on the island.

There were too many footprints near the jetty to work out
Turner’s movements. Someone had used the dinghy!  Marks in the
sand showed clearly where it had been dragged up the beach and the
oars carelessly dropped. Had Turner rowed out to Quick’s boat? For
a weapon or clothing? Parker tracked fresh footprints from the
dinghy to the edge of the bush. What was Turner up to?

Parker ran along the beach as fast as his legs allowed, ran up
the path and slowed to a walk when he saw a figure on the veranda
that did not belong. Turner! Fear gripped his heart. Turner, a
hand-gun tucked in his belt, had not seen him. What now? How was he
going to con his way out of this one?

Conning, scheming, cunning lies and deceit-these had been the
weapons that had made him into a target. He would never be safe,
now that Turner had found him. The past would become a torrent of
revenge as others also sought to settle scores. No! He trembled
with fear, anger and rage at Turner intruding into his peace and
what he might have done to those he loved.

Women and children first!

Parker ran back to his boat for a weapon. There was a filleting
knife in the tackle box. Yeah! A sharp knife against a man with a
hand-gun? The gaff? Hook the bastard in the guts in a surprise
attack? Not likely. The flare gun! Shooting him with a flare gun?
From what distance? He gave up the frantic and pointless search and
sat on the jetty.

The sun was well up now in a sky of mottled white cotton clouds.
The barometer would be climbing. The fishing would be good. Parker
took off his sandals and walked towards his home. The sand was
still moist with dew in shaded spots. He ran his hands along
overhanging branches. It felt really good. The native kapok was out
in flower. He snapped off a few twigs and carried the bunch of
yellow flowers home. No more conning: the lives of his loved ones
were at stake if it wasn’t too late already. He held his head high,
sang a familiar song as loud as he could and approached Turner. So
be it.

“Hello, Willie boy! Isn’t that what we used to call you?” Turner
mocked him.

“Where’s my wife?”

“Don’t worry. She’s alright for the moment.”

“Acaria!!! Acaria!!!”

“Will!!”

Thank you God. They are alive.

 

Parker started humming his favourite tune, walked closer and
held out the flowers.

“Step back you idiot and cut out the fucken humming. It’s
annoying,” Turner shouted.

“Save the flowers for your funeral.”

“I don’t want aggro. Just leave. I won’t testify against you.
Honest,” Parker pleaded.

Turner laughed and gloated. “You’ve found Quick then? He didn’t
put up much of a fight. That kick really hurt!” Turner said and
rubbed his side. He waved the pistol.

“Do come inside. You lead the way.”

 

Turner had tied Acaria to a chair. “You OK?” Parker asked.
Acaria nodded.

“Anita?”

“She’s been crying a little.”

“Hey Willie boy! Why haven’t you asked me why I killed Quick
and…”

Parker interrupted him: “And then kill us? It doesn’t
matter.”

“I’m gonna tell you anyway. No way will I rot in gaol. If I get
convicted, it’s back to prison for what’s left of my sentence.”

Parker kept silent. There was no point in provoking Turner.

“What? No smart arse reply? You scared? You should be.” Turner
was having fun.

“And, Quick would rat on me. I know that.”

“And you’d go to gaol for murdering my friend,” Parker said,
resigned to what was coming.

“Yep. And die in gaol.”

 

The baby started crying. Acaria called out but Anita screamed
louder still.

“Bloody baby. Can’t you shut it up?” Turner yelled.

“She is frightened. What did you expect, you shit,” Acaria said.
“Untie me.”

“Say please and sorry for calling me names,” Turner
demanded.

“Sorry.”

“That’s better. Untie her, Willie boy. Your missus can then cook
breakfast for baby and me. Off you go,” Turner said to Acaria. “You
lead. I follow.”

 

He turned and shot Parker in the heart. Acaria screamed.

 

Turner stood in the bedroom doorway and pointed his weapon at
Acaria as she picked up the baby and the bunny rug. She had hold of
the pistol hidden under the rug, finger on the trigger. Turner
stood aside to let her pass. There was a perplexed look on his face
as the first bullet tore into his chest. He raised his pistol and
Acaria pulled the trigger again. Turner aimed his weapon but a
third bullet loosened his grip. Acaria pulled the trigger again.
Turner’s legs gave way and he fell sideways and lay motionless on
the floor. Blood oozed from his body and soaked into the grass
matting. Acaria bent down and put the Glock to Turner’s forehead
and pulled the trigger once more with eyes shut.

She rushed to the nursery and put the baby back in her cot.
Parker was still breathing. They looked into each other’s eyes. He
had enough life to utter: “Memory… love… you.”

Acaria understood, despite the blood in his throat and a final
gush of bright red blood.

 

She ran outside, away from the horror scene, dropped on her
knees and threw up in violent spasms. She screamed till her voice
was raw. She returned to the house to wipe her love’s lips, face
and neck clean of blood, then dried him with the softest towel.
Acaria put a pillow under his head and she kissed the still warm
lips most tenderly for the last time. Parker was at peace with
hands folded on his chest holding a bunch of yellow flowers. She
looked into his eyes and closed them.

“You knew, chérie. You knew. Thank you for letting us live.”

 

For Sergeant Kingston, a call at 7 o’clock in the morning never
brought good news. He had heard terror in a person’s voice all too
often.

“This is Acaria from Edward Island. My husband has been shot
dead,” she said with as much control as she could muster. She
sobbed for a few moments and composed herself again.

“I’m really sorry. Are you in danger now?” Kingston needed to
know.

“No. There are two other dead men here. The ones who were going
to trial over the bird smuggling thing.”

“Good to hear you’re OK. I’ll come by helicopter and will be
with you in ….. an hour.”

Acaria saw the helicopter as a pinpoint on the horizon and
watched it land on the beach. Kingston, another man and a female
police officer came up the path to the studio. Acaria welcomed the
consoling embrace of the woman police officer as the two men walked
to the murder scene. Four hours later, the police launch arrived
and took three bodies away. Acaria had packed a small case
meanwhile with essentials for the baby and herself. She waved
good-bye to Kingston and the detective as the helicopter took off
with her and the baby.

Don’t look back!

 

Acaria returned with Parker’s ashes. She had a place for them at
the base of the bunya tree. The heart scar in the tree had bled
fresh red sap as did ‘W’. Acaria waited until the helicopter’s
clatter faded as the pilot made for Hamilton Island without her.
She faced the tree and sang. The island listened as she said
goodbye to her own true lover. Acaria consoled herself knowing that
Parker had found love. He had to suffer love’s shadow so as to
recognize the real thing when it touched him.

Parker had left in his safe a letter addressed to her. He had
written it on the day they came to Edward Island for the first
time.

“Acaria, you have delivered me from the shadows of love. You
have taken me into brightness and given me a memory of real love.
That is all I ever wanted. I love you. Will.”

 

In our tree, I’ll be a scar. A memory of their love.

 

Acaria steered the Sternschnuppe over the reef in a rising tide
and throttled the engine to a soft murmur. The frangipani wreath
bobbed up and down and floated away quickly towards the island that
had been a place of happy memories. In time the memory of the
painful loss would fade.

 

The Foundation in Australia would have to continue without
Acaria when she decided to spread the word and build another
beacon. Parker’s light would shine elsewhere in the world.

***

 

Baby Anita screamed from pain in her ears as the aircraft
descended towards Luxembourg. Acaria hummed Denver’s ‘Perhaps Love’
as she cuddled and comforted the child and herself. She was coming
home with a memory of love. The roller-coaster ride was over.

In time, her child would see a sun rise, go beachcombing, watch
gannets work a school of bait fish and eat tropical fruit from
trees her parents had planted. Anita would see the scar in the
bunya pine and understand her father’s memory of love. 
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